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IV 

The mail} dark corners in the history of this period have 

been li^^hted up by the profusion of Marathi records and 

several contemporary Persian works liore used for the first 

time. Material in the European languaj^es, English and 

French, the work of actual actors in the Indian scene, here 

grows increasingly important, and just after the close of this 

volume takes the first place among our sources of information, 

while the recently printed Marathi records come uj^ close 

behind. The problems of the Delhi empire now (1772) 

change their character and the historian stands at the dawn, 

a misty dawn, 1 admit,—of a new age of which the noontide 

splendour was to bo seen in the 19th century. 

Darjiling, Jadnnaih Sarkar 

September, 1931 
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96, 1. 19, 
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189, last linel 
191, 1. 22 I 

is Persia 
tappa*‘‘division 

Azuddaulah 

„ in Persia. 
„ 12 m. n. of Nya 

Dumka. 
„ this. 

„ Azd-ud laulah. 

208, fn., lirnd thus—Hazrat Ishan, a saint honoured by 
fTahan^ir, lies buried close on the west of Beganipura, 
2 m. from Labor city, north of the Shahbagh Road. 

214.1. 19, fo7' such a Panipat read such as Panipat. 
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424.1. 22-23, „ to bring -restore „ for bringing... 

425.1. 9, 
440, 1. 18-19 

446.1. 23, 

542.1. 26, 

bread grow 
if we &c. to 
murdered. 
June 1737 

of the head 

restoring 
beard grow. 
All evidence agrees 
in pointing out that. 

Feh. 1736 lAshub, 
1. 364.] 

of the dead. 



FALL OF THE MUGHAL EMPIRE 
CHAPTER XIII 

Reign of Alamgir TI—A General StmvEY 

§ 1. Character of Emperor Alamgir II. 

The successor of Ahmad Shah on the throne of Delhi 

was an old man of fifty-five. He was the youngest son of 

the Emperor Muiz-ud-din Jahandar Shah, and therefore 

a grandson of Shah Alam I. Born at Multan on June 6, 

1699, he had lost his father at the age of fourteen, in the 

civil war which gave the crown to Farrukhsiyar. Since 

then he had passed his days in poverty and neglect, 

mewed up in the rooms of the “Emperors’ grandsons” 

{deorhi-i-salaiin) within the Delhi fort He had been 

denied any opportunity for learning war or administra¬ 

tion, or acquiring practical experience of the open outer 

world, but bad wisely guarded himself from vice by 

devoting his time to study and meditation. He had 

chosen for his ideal the Emperor Aurangzib (Alamgir I), 

whose title he adopted on ascending the throne. Like 

Aurangzib he loved to read books on history and 

shunned the usual diversions of royalty, such as dance 

and «oog. like Aurangzib, too, he made it a point to 
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say his five daily prayers in the outer palace mosque 

and the Friday afternoon prayer in full congregation 

in the Jama^ Masjid of the capital. He knew by rote 

the administrative rules and practice of the great 

Aurangzib, and his aim was to follow these to the letter. 

Condemning the slack and undignified conduct of his 

two immediate predecessors,—who used to sit in an open 

sedan chair held up on men^s shoulders when granting 

audiences,—Alamgir II laid it down that he would 

hold only regular darbars seated on the imperial throne 

in the Hall of Audience. Imitating the strenuous life 

of Aurangzib, he used to read all petitions, and even 

passports, and sign the orders on them. \TALSI. 46-5a, 

Mux. 98.J 

A renewal of the first Alamgir^s policy of temple 

destruction and levy of poll-tax on %e infidels^ was 

rendered impossible by the Maratha grip* on the throat 

of his namesake, but the Islamic ^heretics^ did not 

escape so easily. The Shias form a very small minority 

among the Indian Muhammadans and they had now no 

protector at Court. Their former leader Safdar Jang 

had been the mortal enemy of the all-powerful new 

• On 25 Oct. 1754, the Emperor issued orders abolishing the 

taxes on Hindu pilgrims at Gaya and Kurukshetra. 

He transferred them to the Peshwa, who appointed his Delhi 

agent Damodar M. Hingan^ as his tax-collector there, 9 Feb. 

1755. [Eajwade, vi. 328.] But Benares and Allahabad were under 

the control of the subahdar of Oudh, who clung to his levy at 

these holy places. 
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wazir Imad-ul-mulk. It was by beating the big drum of 

Sunni orthodoxy that Imad had been able to rally the 

Ruhelas and Badakhshis to his standard and overthrow 

the Shia influence which had dominated the imperial 

Court since 1743. He now took his revenge on the 

defeated sect by reviving Aurangzib^s regulation against 

Shia processions in Muharram. The news of Safdar 

Jaiig^s death reached Delhi on 11th October, 1754, and 

nine days later (on the 3rd of Muharram) this decree of 

prohibition was issued. ^^Since the reign of Farrukhsiyar, 

by reason of the rise of Shia umara, the practice of 

making tombs of the Imams, which had been forbidden 

by the former Sunni Emperors, was revived, till it 

reached the extreme point of display. In every lane 

and market-place countless stages were built and 

kettle-drums beaten. The Emperor Alamgir II forbade 

the making of the tombs of the Imams and stages. But 

the practice had been going on for 40 years and could 

not be stopped.^* [TAL8. 25&-2ba.] 

But unlike Aurangzib, his great-grandson had 

no contact with the soldiery, no love for outdoor 

exercises, such as marching, reviewing troops, or 

even hunting. His age and the sedentary habits 

of 55 years made it impossible for him to 

take to a strenuous life of activity all of a sudden, 

and he remained a bookworm immured in his closet or 

harem. The second Alamgir fell short of his illustrious 

namesake in another signal respect. Alamgir I 
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had been very abstemious in the matter of women and 

had never indulged himself even to the extent of the 

Prophet^s allowance of four consorts at a time. The 

second Alamgir, in spite of his being a grandfather and 

an invalid old man at the time of his accession, turned 

his belated elevation to sovereignty into an opportunity 

for making rapid and numerous additions to his harem. 

In February 1756, when Hazrat Begam, the daughter 

of Muhammad Shah, reached her 16th year, she excited 

the passion of Alamgir II. The old goat, now verging 

on sixty, shamelessly demanded her hand for himself and 

threatened her guardian, the ex-Empress Malika-i- 

zamani, saying, ^^Either consent to give her to me in 

marriage, or I shall take her by force.'" The girl replied, 

prefer death to [such a] marriage... I regard you 

as my father, and you too should look upon me in the 

same light as your three daughters. If you use force, 

I shall kill myself." The baffled suitor wreaked his 

vengeance by ordering the gates of the princess's 

quarters to be closed, so as to force her into isolation 

from the rest of the palace. Still later, on 1 September 

1758, he married Zinat-afroz Begam, when his own 

health was so broken that he had fainting fits and was 

unable to move in the midst of a march with his wazir* 

ITALS. 67, 185-186.1 

The new Emperor was intelligent, sober and decorous 

in life, but utterly wanting in strength of character and 

capacity for leadership. He used openly to declar e 
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himself a puppet in the hands of his wazir, without any 

power to guide the government. The crown could give 

him in the winter of his life only the wealth and pleasure 

which fate had so long denied to him. He was encumbered 

with a large family,—live sons and one daughter of his 

own and six sons of his late brother whom he loved like 

his own offspring, one grandson and one grand-nephew, 

fourteen princes in all, who had hitherto shared his 

palace-prison of poverty and seclusion. These had 

now to be provided for in a style worthy of Emperor^s 

children, out of the treasury. But the treasury was 

empty and the mansab of 30,000 horse or so which was 

conferred on each of them remained mere orders on 

paper, without any chance of their being assigned lands 

yielding the pay of these grades. His queens eagerly 

snatched at the only sure source of revenue still left in 

the empire, namely, the salt-marts and grain-markets 

near the capital, which yielded a regular income from^ 

their tolls and import duties. jDC.] 

§ 2. Waxir ImcuUul-muWs incapacity. 

The life and activity of such a State, therefore, 

depended on its wazir, but though Imad-ul-mulk was to 

all outer seeming a king-maker and his master^s master, 

he was in effect no less impotent for good than his 

creature the Emperor. He could not govern the State 

with the power and success of earlier king*makers like 
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the Sayyid Brothers. It was not the case that he had 

no army or treasure. His own Badakhshi brigade (over 

12,000 in number) were the best fighting force in the 

empire in that age, if only they could be punctually 

paid and worthily led ; and he had, in addition, the 

Maratha myriads at his beck and call. His parsimonious 

father’s hoarded treasure ^as worth a kroi^ or more, 

and by enforcing order and good government in the 

provinces round the capital, the new wazir could in a 

few years have ensured the regular and full flow of 

revenue from them to the central exchequer for meeting 

the daily expenses of the State. But ImM had neither 

the capacity nor the character required in the regenerator 

of a fallen State, and during his five-and-a-half years^ 

dictatorship the Delhi empire drifted on to ruin beyond 

hope of recovery. He was personally incapable, and 

his pride and selfishness would not. allow others to 

restore the monarchy. 

There has never been a wazir of Delhi whose rule 

was so barren of good result and so full of misery to him¬ 

self and to the empire, to his friends and foes alike, as 

Imad-ul-mulk^s. His nominal master Alamgir II was a 

mere shadow, never daring to assert his own will or 

express his own judgment, but leaving everything 

to his wazir^s discretion even more absolutely than 

Farrukhsiyar or Muhammad Shah had done to the 

Sayyid Brothers^ But Imad^s whole reign—for that is 

the correct description of his chancellorship—was 
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marked by utter futility, public misfortune and adminis¬ 

trative breakdown. His violent seizure of the wazir^s 

office brought him no glory, strength, or e7en security. 

He was subjected to the grossest humiliation ever borne 

by any wazir, having been dragged through the streets 

of Panipat by his own soldiers (May, 1755) and seen the 

women of his harem outraged and exposed to the public 

gaze by the brutal Ruhelas (August 1757.) 

The highest officer of the empire, he ever lived on 

a bed of thorns. After his accession to office, his first 

fear sprang from his deposed predecessor. Intizam-ud- 

daulah had been robbed of the wazirate, but had not 

been crushed. He continued to live in the Delhi 

mansion of his father and grandfather (each the premier 

peer of the realm in his time), defending it like a 

castle with a garrison of COO soldiers within ; and when¬ 

ever the two wazirs, past and present, rode out into the 

streets in the same hour, their armed retainers scowled at 

each other like the Montagues and Capulets in the streets 

of Verona, and a clash between the two parties seemed 

imminent. Such an ever-present enemy might overthrow 

Imad any day by joining some powerful ally and 

securing the Emperor’s blessing on his enterprise. The 

Maratha alliance had been bought by Imad at a ruinous 

price, but he could not, by reason of his frequent default 

of payment, count upon their support, and he was on 

two occasions so unwise as to embark on a futile anti- 

Maratha policy. The other elements of power in the 
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State were Suraj Mai, Shuja-ud-daulah and Najib Khan. 

The first of these Imad had antagonized by trying 

to wreak vengeance on him for his support of Safdar 

Jang in the civil war of 1753. Shuja hankered after 

his late father^s wazirate with no less intensity of 

desire and far greater strength “of resources than Intizam, 

and he had a hereditary friend in Suraj Mai. Najib 

had been Imad’s retainer since the war with Safdar 

Jang, but the upstart Ruhela had insulted and bullied 

the wazir and publicly flouted his authority even before 

1757, when Abdali made this Indo-Afghan chief his 

supreme agent at Delhi. Najib also usurped the 

wazir^s jagirs and the Emporor^s Crownlands in 

Saharanpur and Mirat in defiance of the Delhi Govern¬ 

ment. After Abdali^s retreat in April 1757, Najib 

became the foremost Muslim potentate in Northern: 

India and used to overshadow the official wazir in the 

Delhi Government. He subjected Imad to a humiliation 

which the meanest Indian would resent to the end of 

his days, by violating his seraglio during his absence. 

The tragedy of Imad^s wazirship in the midst of 

hostile forces beyond his control, was deepened by his 

want of political foresight and absence of a wise diplo¬ 

matic policy. He had originally (l^., since June, 17 54)^ 

dung like a helpless infant to the breast of the 

Marathas, but Deccani armed aid was a very costly 

thing, 13 lakhs a year being payable for every 5,000 

soldiers posted in Delhi,—while Imad^s administrative 
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incapacity and military impotence prevented the regular 

payment of the cash nexus on which alone Maratha 

friendship depended. His changes of alliance were 

equally ill-judged and ill-timed, and in their result left 

him weaker than before. Through weakness of will 

or error of judgment he agreed to Abdali^s project of 

ousting the Marathas from the Doab and Shuja from 

his two subahs (April-June, 1757.) This drew Shuja, 

Suraj Mai and the Marathas together, and left Imad 

utterly friendless during the absence of Abdali from 

India. Worst of all, he oflended the dread master of 

the Durrani legions more than once. 

§ ImaeVs policy and movements till 1758, 

We shall here trace in outline the devious course 

of Imad^s policy during the reign of Alamgir II. For 

the first seven months after that monarches accession^ 

Imad^s preoccupation was to raise the fabulous subsidy 

so heedlessly promised to the Marathas when hiring 

their arms to place him on the wazirate. An agreement 

was at last patched up and by February 1755 the 

Maratha hordes marched away from the Delhi region 

to their southern homes. The next few months of 1755 

saw the wazir making an eflRort to reconquer the country 

north of Delhi from rebel usurpers, but the attempt was 

nipped in the bud by his cowardice and the mutiny 

and consequent disbandment of his Turki soldiery 
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(May 1755.) On his return to Delhi from this inglori¬ 

ous and barren expedition, Imad was harassed by 

suspected palace-intrigues for overthrowing him and 

making 8huja wazir (June), the repeated open defiances 

of his authority by Najib, and the eternal bankruptcy 

of the State. His military and financial helplessness 

kept him quiescent throughout the second half of this 

year. 

In March 1756 he undertook the ill-judged Panjab 

adventure which ultimately drew down upon bis head 

the wrath of Abdali in January next. In the second 

half of the year (July-Septeraber 1756),, the wazir 

planned an attack upon the trans-Granges Afghans of 

Rohilkhand and Shuja-ud-daulah, but his utter lack of 

money and the mutiny of his starving soldiery fore¬ 

doomed the attempt to failure from the outset. In 

October 1756 came the Durrani conquest of the Panjab 

and in January 1757 the invader^s occupation of Delhi 

which subjected Imad to dismissal, spoliation and public 

humiliation at the hands of the Afghan king. But he 

bought the patronage of the Durrani wazir Shah 

Wali Khan and was restored to his office. He was, 

however, too weak to disobey Abdali^s order to 

accompany two Shahzadas of Delhi and march for the 

^conquest of the Maratha possessions in the Doab and 

the refractory Shuja-ud-daulah's provinces, and 

if . successful in this expedition to conquer 

Bengal and Bihar afterwards. Vain delusion! This 
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ambitious programme was to be carried out with the 

aid of Ahmad Khan Bangash of Farrukhabad, a lame 

invalid who could move about only in a litter and who 

had not money and clansmen enough to oppose even 

5,000 Maratha light horse. When in the middle of 

June 1757 fresh Maratha hordes poured into the Doab, 

the wazir^s expedition at once collapsed ; his Bangash 

and trans-Ganges Afghan allies hastened back to their* 

homes, his escort of mercenaries under Jangbaz Khan 

left him to exact the promised peace contribution from 

the Oudh ruler, and Imad with his two Shahzada 

puppets had to beat a hurried retreat towards Delhi 

(July.) 

There was no help for him but to make it up with 

the Marathas ^ he sent ditvan Nagar Mai to the Maratha 

camp to buy their pardon and alliance at any price, and 

some days later personally visited Raghunath Bao near 

Delhi (11 August) to cement an alliance for ousting 

Najib from power. This open reversal of the policy 

laid down by Abdali and accepted by Imad made the 

breach between him and J^ajib complete. The Ruhela 

at once took ferocious vengeance on Imad^s unoffending 

wives and daughters who were within his reach in their 

Delhi mansion, and after this outrage there could never 

be friendship between Imad and Najib. In September 

1757 the Marathas enforced the evacuation of Delhi 

by Najib and appointed Ahmad Bangash imperial Pay¬ 

master General vim Najib^ but that Ruhela chief retired 
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to his own jagirs in the upper Doab with all his troops 

and property and remained a potent source of danger 

ever after. Imad^s new ally, Ahmad Bangash, was 

more dead than alive, and the empire and the imperial 

family passed helplessly under Maratha control. From 

August 1757 to May 1758 large Maratha armies halted 

in Hindustan and established their nominee at Lahor^ 

but in the middle of June they withdrew from Northern 

India. 

§ 4. Imad tanis nffamst Shah A him and 

Alamgir 11. His doirnfall. 

Meantime, like the abortive expedition of the two 

Shahzadas into the Doab in the east, two other attempts 

to restore imperial authority and collect revenue in the 

Rohtak-Mewat region in the west, under princes 

Shah Alam (June 1757—June 1758) and Ali Jah 

(July—August 1757), had ended in total failure. Indeed, 

Imad^s selfish ambition would not allow any prince the 

chance of recovering a province and thus acquiring 

wealth, armed strength, and public prestige 5 he coerced 

the tame Emperor into starving and thwarting their 

enterprises. And his hostility to the eldest and ablest 

of the Emperor’s sons, Ali Gauhar (Emperor Shah Alam 

II of the next reign) broke out in an attack on that 

prince in his Delhi mansion on 19 May 1758. But 
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the latter boldly cut his way out, took shelter with a 

Maratha general Vithal Shivdev for some time, and 

when Vithal left him to join Raghunath, Ali Gauhar 

went into the wilderness in utter destitution and help¬ 

lessness. By way of the trans-Ganges Ruhela homes 

he reached Lucknow on 2 January 1759 and with 

Shuja's help tried to conquer the province of Bihar. 

But the English defence of the master of Patna and the* 

Emperor’s official disavowal of Ali Gauhar’s acts 

(dictated by the wazir) doomed the prince’s attempts 

to utter failure. 

About May 1758, Imad was foolish enough to 

renew his dream of an anti-Maratha coalition, of which 

we get the only details in the Marathi State-papers 

recently published. It ended in nothing. The wazir 

next (1 August—22 November 1758) led an expedition 

into the Rewari-Hisar region, dragging the sick 

Emperor with himself, in order to chase away Ali 

Gauhar and thereafter to plunder villages and exact 

revenue. [TALS, 182a, 188a.] 

When in January 1759 the Maratha hosts returned 

to Delhi under Dattaji Sindhia, Imad kept aloof from 

them and shut the gates of Delhi in their faces, putting 

the capital in a state of siege. The Marathas established 

their direct rule over Labor (April-June), plundered 

the upper Doab in Najib’s hands, and broke with Imad 

by demanding an impossible ransom for Delhi. So 

Imad shut himself up within the walls of Delhi through- 
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out this year and gave Dattaji no support in his invest¬ 

ment of Najib at Shukartal (July-November.) He even 

planned to play off Malhar against Dattaji, preferring 

the polite and accommodating spirit of the former to the 

brusque and exacting manners of the latter. His 

administrative failure and daily increasing poverty 

impotence and humiliation through insolvency, drove 

him mad, and when he learnt that his sole remaining 

hope the Marathas had failed to crush Najib after five 

months of exertion and had also lost the Panjab, and 

that Abdali was coming again, he in utter desperation 

murdered his master Alamgir II (29 November 1759.) 

The reign ended and with it Imad^s office as wazir, 

though he desperately clung to the name for some 

years after. 

§ 5. Raghnnath Rao^s doings in Hindustan, 

1754-1755. 

We shall next follow the doings of the Marathas 

during their expedition to the Delhi region at the 

commencement of this reign.* Kaghunath Kao, the 

Peshwa^s younger brother, had begun his march from 

the Deccan with a large army in September 1763, and 

after crossing the Mukandara pass had entered Bajpuiana 

at the end of October. Here he moved about for the 

♦ tSPD. xxvii. 79 (important itinerary), 92. TAL8. 166-21 a, 
306-35a. DO. 
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next two months and a half, collecting promises of 

tribute from Jaipur, Kota, Bundi and other States. Then 

from January 1() to May 22, 1754 he was involved 

in war with the Jat power, especially in futile attacks 

on Dig and Kumbher. Peace having been at last made 

with the Jat Rajah, the Maratha army moved on to 

Mathura (May 23.) From this place their vanguard 

under Malhar was sent across the river to surprise the 

EmperoFs camp at Sikandrabad (which was effected 

on May 2d.) Raghunath himself with the main army 

crossed the Jamuna near Mat (10 miles north of Mathura) 

on May 25 and marched up the east bank of the river 

to Patparganj, 6 miles s. c. of Delhi, on June 1. Here 

his presence lent support to Imad-ul-mulk in changing 

the Emperor and seizing the wazirship. Raghunath next 

set himself tc realize the money promised by Injad. 

This was no easy task, and after five months had 

been wasted in talk, only partial success was achieved* 

During the interval Raghunath moved round the capital, 

encamping for a few weeks at different villages 

in the environs of Delhi, till he had eaten op the 

available provisions and exhausted the grass trees 

and even house-timber of each region. Hia 

lieutenant was Malhar Holkar, who encamped at 

some distance from him in order to distribute more 

widely the pressure on the forage supply. Bapu 

Mahadev Hingan^, the Peshwa^s resident envoy at Delhi, 

who resided near Jai Singh’s Observatory in Jaisinghpura 
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(one mile s, w. of the Ajmir gate), was the medium 

through whom all proposals about the Maratha contribu¬ 

tion, all complaints of aggrieved citizens and officials, 

and all intrigues of nobles like Intizam were conducted. 

He took the men first to Malhar and then with Malhar 

to Raghunath for final decision ; this was the procedure. 

The course of the negotiations for the military 

.contribution will be detailed later along with the history 

of the events inside the capital. We shall here briefly 

follow the movements of the Maratha army outside. 

From Patparganj, Raghunath recrossed the Jamuna and 

by way of the south and west sides of Delhi, removed 

to the Shalimar garden, some 6 miles north-west 

>of the Lahor gate (June 17.) From this place he sent 

(23 June) Jayapa Sindhia with 4,000 Government 

troops, besides Jayapa^s own contingent, to Marwar for 

assisting Ram Singh against Bijay Singh. In the 

northern suburbs of the city Raghunath spent three 

months, roving from the Shalimar garden to Basai, the 

Idgah, the hermitage of Majnun faqir, and Wazirabad, 

till the middle of September, when he removed his camp 

to the south of the .city and lived there from Sep. 17 

to December 9, ranging over the country from the 

Badarpur nala^ to Tughlaqabad, Kishandas^s tank, 

Islampur (3 m. w. of Humayun^s tomb), Mehrauli, 

JSarapula and Chaharbagh. When changing camp from 

the western to the northern suburbs of Delhi 

(August 31), .the unruly Maratha soldiers plundered and 
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molested the villagers on that side. The suffering 

yeomen-farmers of the Dahiya clan (a branch of the Jats) 

living in Jalalpur and other villages near Narela, 

retaliated^ often surprised the foraging parties of the 

Deccauis, and carried off their mares and other property. 

So, Malhar fought them, and assaulted and sacked three 

villages, Jalalpur, Nahra and Nahri- where their 

leaders dwelt. But many innocent villages shared the 

^anie fate, and the booty carried off from them was 

offered by the Marathas for sale in Delhi. “The 

aggrieved villagers assembled under the jharoka window 

-of the palace and complained to the Emperor, who sent 

them to the wa/ir, but they got no redress. ' 

17a. 1 

On 12 Nov. Malhar took leave of Eaghunath near 

Badarpur and moved with his own troops to the south¬ 

west of the city,—Harin-mixiar, the Jinsi Topkbanab, 

Palam, and the outlet of the canal. On the 17th he 

arrived at Talkatora, where Eaghunath joined him in 

the evening, alighting near the Hauz-i-khas, in the 

diahar Bagh garden of Nazir Fattu, while Malhar 

•encamped near Shah Mardiin and Haidarganj. Here 

Intizam visited them. 

§ (>. lioijhmmih Rao in (he Voah, His retreat 

from the North. 

On 9 December Eaghunath and Malhar moved from 

the shrine of Shah Mardan to Jitpiir, on the west bank 

9 
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of the Jamuna^ two miles east of Iladarpiir. Th(?ir 

troops forded the river, plundering the houses and men 

at the ferry and even the Brahmans who had come to 

bathe in the sacred river. They robbed every traveller 

they met with on the way up to Patpar^anj (S m. n. of 

Jitpur) and other villages on the oast bank, fought the 

imperial collector of pargana Luni, and took away 

four elephants of the wazir which were out grazing near 

Ghaziabad. Raghunath himself crossed over at (Jhhalera 

(4 m. s. of Patparganj and due east of Okhla) and 

encamped there for a fortnight. “Destruction descended 

upon both the marts and the surrounding country the 

grain that used to come to Delhi from these places was 

cut ofll, and scarcity raged in the capital.” Two of the 

Hingane brothers were sent by the wazir to pacify 

Raghunath. On 14 December the wazir’s captain,, 

Shahdil Khan Afghan, had a severe conflict with the 

Marathas in withdrawing his outpost from Khurja, 

the casualties on the two sides together mounting up to 

2,500. \ TALS. 36nr.l 

On 25 December Malhar came back from the east 

bank to Hauz-i-khas, while Raghunath, who had moved 

up from Chhalera to Ghaziabad, started on the 27th by 

way of Dasna for Garh Mukteshwar, where he bathed 

in the Ganges (30 Dcc.-13 Jan, 1755.) While halting 

here, he settled the contribution of the Ruhelas, whose 

* Raghunath in the Doabaiid return i^TALS, 35^-41 rj ; DO, 
SPJ>. xxvii. 79, 106. 
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chief manager Hafiz Rahmat Khan had arrived on the 

opposite bank for negotiating. Raghunath obtained a 

sum in cash and written undertakings for the balance, 

then turned south to Palwara, Basi (on the Ganges) and 

Ahar (on the Ganges, 23 miles east of Bulandsbahar 

city), and finally struck due west through the Buland- 

shahar district, by way of Jahangirabad, Ladhant^", Utsar 

(on the Kali Nadi) and Nagah^*, to the Motipur ferry 

on the Jamuna, due east of Karidabad, arriving there 

on 2 February. "Everywhere his Deccanis plundered 

as they moved on. Wherever he went, if a man 

voluntarily paid something, his village was spared, 

otherwise it was looted. At his near approach, grain 

in Delhi became dearer still.” 

At Motipur Raghunath crossed the Jamuna (8 Feb. 

17 55), and by way of Badarpur and the southern side 

of Gurgaon city (14 Feb.), marched rapidly through the 

Jhajjar district, Kanaud, Narnol, Singhana and Sambhar 

to the Pushkar lake, where he arrived on 3rd March. 

Meanwhile Malhar Holkar, who with other Deccani 

generals had received on 21 Dec. robes of farewell from 

the imperial Court—10 for the men and 0 for the 

ladies—had come back to Hauz-i-khas (25 Dec.) and 

thence moved t^ia Naraina, s. w. of Delhi (7 January) to 

the Rewari and Pataudi districts, levying tribute from 

the Gujar and Baluch landlords throughout the month 

of January. Early next month, being reassured by 

Haghunath^s safe return from the Doab and the recon- 
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ciliation of Intizam (a Maratha piot^g^) with the wazir, 

Malhar set out for Rajputana, and quickly reached 

Lohagarh in Shekhawati, whence he began to dun Madho 

Singh of Jaipur for the long overdue Maratha tribute. 

Thus at the end of the first week of February 17.55, the 

Delhi region was freed from the Maratha army of 

occupation and grain again became cheap in the 

imperial city. 

§ 7. Money (onh'ihniion lerieil from Delhi 

hy liayhvnath Rao, 17.~>4. 

The first and most pressing problem of Alamgir II's 

reign was how to keep the waziFs word to his Maratha 

allies. They had been induced to come to Imad’s help, 

leaving the profitable Jat enterprise in which they were 

engaged, only by the promise of a large reward, in addition 

to the subsidy already due for their support during 

the late war against Safdar Jang. The Peshwa’s lack 

of money was daily growing more and more unbearable. 

The Jat campaign had yielded only two lakhs in cash 

after keeping the entire Maratha army of the north* 

looked up in that kingdom for over four months. In 

Mfllhar’s surprise of the imperial camp at Sikandrabad, 

the gain of the Marathas had been insignificant, a few 

elephants only, as all the other property had been 

* At that time the monthly pay of a Maratha trooper was 
Bs. 12 (m., Bs. Henoe, ^,000 hmnemen oost 12 lakhs In 
the five immths of the Jat cam{»lgn. 8Pip. xxril 81. 
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<|uickly seized and carried away by plunderers, especially 

the Jats, whose homes were nearer and who were present 

there in vaster numbers than the small Maratha 

contingent detached on this raid under Malhar. There¬ 

fore, after that surprise, Malhar refused to release the 

captive ladies of the imperial harem, unless the out¬ 

standing dues of the Marathas were paid. Imad and 

Aqibat Mahmud stood security for this money, amount¬ 

ing to forty lakhs, as the only means of saving the 

honour of the imperial family. |5P/). xxi. 60, xxvii. 90.j 

The Peshwa’s instructions to his brother were to 

squeeze as much money as possible out of the Delhi 

Government,—75 lakhs or at least 50 lakhs. Imad. 

on being appointed wazir (2 June 1754), was agreeable 

to paying 25 lakhs as the customary tmxar for this 

high office. But Raghunath^s insensate greed over¬ 

reached itself. After long discussions, through Malhar 

Holkar he fixed the Maratha dues at the impossible 

figure of 82V2 lakhs, out of which forty lakhs were 

promised to be paid down and the balance after some 

time. Both parts of the undertaking were impossible 

of realization in the then condition of the Delhi empire. 

By methods which will be described later, about nine 

lakhs were actually collected and paid to the Marathas 

at the end of September and bankers^ bills were given 

for 17Vs lakhs more, but the remaining ISVs lakhs of the 

furst moiety remained absolutely unsecured and without 

the least hope of its being provided in the near future. 
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Tho realization of the second moiety, 42V2 lakhs, was 

out of the question. As the resident Maratha envoy 

at Delhi wrote to his master (Oct. 1754). “For these 

13V2 lakhs we are daily dunning the wazir. There is 

no money in the EmperoFs house, there is not a pice 

with the wazir, their soldiers are dying of starvation, 

daggers and knives are being plied every day. In such 

a state of things v^e are pressing for our money. No 

cash, no jewel is available. In the last resort the wazir 

is asking us to take assignments for 13V2 lakhs on the 

revenue of the lands round Delhi which were set apart 

for feeding the Emperor and the wazir.’’ 

This second alternative had to be followed. On 25 

October the Emperor issued written orders giving to 

the Marathas assignments totalling Rs. 42^2 lakhs on the 

revenue of Bengal, Barily, Bairat, Sambhar, Kora and 

some other mahals. |DO.| But as these bills were not 

honoured, lands in the Gangetic Doab were ultimately 

alienated to the Marathas and the unwelcome presence 

of their predatory army removed from the environs of 

the capital, at the beginning of February 1755.* 

§ 8. Exaction of money in Delhi city, 1704, 

Wc shall now turn to the events within Delhi during 

the first year of this reign. The task that confronted 

Imad*ul-mulk immediately after his becoming wazir was 

to find money for paying the subsidy of 40 lakhs 

• SPD. xxvii. 89, 90. DC, TALS, 56-6A. 12a, 27. 
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promised to his Maratha supporters and the salary of his 

own troops and the Emperor’s artillery-guards and 

personal servants, which had fallen into arrears for 

“three years. Tint the treasury and palace-stores had been 

exhausted dfiring the last reign. The first victims of 

the now sovereign’s rapacity were the brother and sister 

of the ex-(iueen-mother IJdham Bai and their children^ 

^ho had been raised to princely wealth and rank during 

her son’s rule. Their jagirs were confiscated, their 

ladies were s(jueezed out of their cash and jewels, 

pressed to reveal the hiding places of their treasure, 

and finally driven out of the palace to live in Khaw- 

aspura, where the widows of former sovereigns were 

lodged in poverty and neglect. The fallen wazir 

Intizam-ud-daulah was similarly deprived of his jagirs 

^nd of such other property as lay outside his fortified 

mansion. In this way three lakhs of Rupees was 

oollectod and sent from the palace, secretly at night, to 

the wazir and paid to the Marathas (c. 10 June.) 

This was a mere drop in the ocean. The immediate 

dues of the Marathas and the imperial soldiery exceeded 

one kror. Plans were formed for collecting this huge 

amount by forced contributions * from the nobles and 

the public servants. The very proposal raised a tumult 

in the capital; the rich were too powerful to be fleeced, 

and nothing could be collected. Then Kagar Mai (the 

• Contribution from the Delhi people : TALS. 9^-116, ‘i7a-19a, 
25, 27«. Also DC, 
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diwan of Crownlands)^ in consultation with Bapu Rao 

Hingant^, attempted to levy the money from the traders 

and the common people of all the markets. On this 

question, Nagar Mai and his head assistant Majlis Rai 

quarrelled and almost came to blows in the camp of 

the Marathas, but Malhar managed to pacify them. The 

wazir posted guards to control the exit from every 

rich man^s house and ordered a levy on the traders and 

artisans. The bazars were closed in protest, thousands 

of citizens assembled under the palace balcony {jhm^oka)^ 

crying to the Emperor against the oppression. The 

Emperor was powerless ; he sent word to the wazir to 

redress the wrong, but Inoiad would not listen to him. 

Two days passed in this way, and then the Emperor 

threatened to starve himself to death unless justice was 

done to the people. Then the wazir withdrew his 

demand for mon(»y, and the trouble ceased for the tirao 

(end of June.) 

But how were the Maratha claims to be satisfied f 

By the end of August, the wazir^s utmost effort had 

produced only 9 lakhs paid in cash to the Marathas and 

a promise of 17 lakhs payable from the revenue of 

Bengal and the naxar expected from the two new 

Bakhshis,—which actually yielded nothing. The 

Marathas lost patience, and ""the wazir made a hot effort 

to raise money from the people of the city, the Emperor 

yielding his consent to the measure on condition of the- 

poor not being touched.” The exaction at last began^ 
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on 7th September, under Sarasam-ud-daulah (the Mir 

Bakhshi) and other officers, and the city was divided 

among the collectors and lists made of the houses to be 

taxed. This attempt also ended in failure, though the 

people suffered greatly. 

*‘Some fools had persuaded the wazir that if only 

Rs. 2 was realized from every person, a kror would be 

yielded. But though in the actual collection Bs. 5 or 

even Ks. 10 was taken from each man, not even one lakh 

was collected, because nothing was taken from any 

person who was in any way connected with the wazir^ 

but only the shopkeepers and artisans were taxed ! 

Then a new collection was ordered. From the rich 

thousands of Rupees were demanded, but the heirs of 

the rich founders were now beggars and could pay 

nothing. Many people were seized and beaten. A 

great tumult raged throughout Delhi. All the grain 

marts and bazar shops were closed. Thousands of 

common people and the head merchants of the city and 

of the marts in the suburbs assembled under the 

Emperor^s window, clamouring for justice and saying 

that they had been forced to pay three times already 

and yet another demand for contribution was now being 

made...with intolerable beating.... At last on 20tb 

October the wazir was induced to call off the levy and 

peace was restored to the citizens.” [TALS. 25.] The 

forced contribution ceased, and the wazir had to satisfy 

the Marathas by alienating to them 22 villages in 
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Saharanpiir and soino others from the Crownland and 

privy purse estates. 

>5 6. (\iH.st(uU lawlessness and wilitani 

rotrdiness in Delhi, 

This surrender of territory allayed only one evil. 

It did nothing to mee^. the just demands of the palace 

servants and the imperial soldiery whose salaries had 

remained unpaid for three years. Men with arms in 

their hands and trained to act in concerted bands 

cannot be expected to starve in silence in the midst of a 

wealthy and masterless city. Anarchy reigned in Delhi 

after Alarngir IDs accession in a worse form than before. 

The Marathas had been paid lakhs and lakhs, but the 

Mughal army could not actually get oven half a month^s 

salary in three years, in spite of the solemn promises 

of the wazir, and this fact exasperated the imperial 

soldiery beyond endurance j they daily plundered houses 

in the city on their own account. The powerful nobles 

put their mansions in a posture of defence, and the 

middle class,—especially the Hindu officials and traders, 

—alone suffered. \TALS.20b.\ 

Only three weeks after the Emperor^s accession, 

the wazir^s artillerymen made a row for their pay in 

his mansion, stopping ingress and egress and dragging 

out his chief manager, Aqibat Mahmud Khan, whose 

dress they tore off. Only an order on a banker could 

pacify them (2i June, 1754). Imad blamed Aqibat 
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for having brought this public humiliation on him, 

because that all-powerful servant used to control all 

his affairs and receive and dispose of all his revenue 

without his master^s knowledge. So^ he called Aqibat 

in the evening (of 24 June) for a consultation, severely 

censured him, and had him stabbed to death by his 

Afghan captains. The ex-favoiirite^s corpse was thrown 

down on the sand-bank below the wazir\s garden.* The 

same day the captive Ahmad Shah and his mrther were 

blinded. With the approval of Imad, his rogue of a 

Kashmiri henchman A(|ibat had forged a letter purport¬ 

ing to have been written by the ex-Emperor and sealed 

with his private seal, calling upon Intizam to rescue 

his former master from prison, take him to the Rajputs 

and with their help restore him to the Delhi throne, 

when the wazirship would be conferred on Intizam 

again. After repeated pressing, the reluctant consent 

of Alamgir II was secured and his rival was blinded 

soon after nightfall. But the moving spring of this 

atrocious deed had himself been killed two hours before ! 

Divine justice sometimes acts with lightning speed. 

The next day, the other soldiers of the wazir assembled 

before his house, clamouring to be paid their arrears as 

the artillerymen had been. The streets were blocked 

and the city gates had to be closed on account of the 

crowd and tumult. 

* Murder of Aqibat Mahmud,—66, DC. Muz, 101. 
Blinding of Ahmad Shah: TALS. 8a ; Mux, 99. DC, 
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There were many similar scenes of rowdiness by the 

starving soldiery* throughout this reign, ^.9., on 10 

August 1754, when half a month’s pay was promised, 

but even that pittance could not be actually paid ; on 

14 Aug., when the High Diwan Nagar Mai was stoned 

by the Emperor’s personal servants and had to be 

carried away to safety under cover of his followers^ 

shields ; on 5 September, when the musketeers of the 

fort garrison closed both of its gates, stopping all traffic 

on 2 October, when the Badakhshi cavalry of the wazir 

made a violent demonstration, their officers claiming 

from the wazir’s diwan lakhs of Rupees as their due, but 

refusing to bring their troops to the muster or to render 

accounts of the rents they had already realized from 

the jagirs assigned to them in lieu of pay, and the tumult 

was pacified only by putting their insolent commander 

Zahid Beg in prison ^ on 23 October, when the 

Badakhshis again assembled, surrounded the wazir’s 

mansion, mobbed their bakhshi and dragged him out of 

his paUd, while the wazir sneaked into the fort by a 

back door ; on 18 November, when these Mughlia troops 

again rose in lawless violence, occupying the Jama 

Masjid and the Qudsia Masjid all the day and looting 

the bakers’ and sweetmeat-sellers’ shops, and could be 

dislodged only by opening fire upon them from the fort- 

walls with some slaughter. Their crowning act of 

* Kowdiness of unpaid soldiery,—7148a, 12/?, 13/?, 18a, 22/?, 

26, 32a, 29/?-30a, 37/?, 75/?-79a. Also DC. 
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outrage was mobbing the wazir and dragging him on 

foot through Panipat city on 3 May 1755, as will be 

described at the end of this chapter. 

The wazir^s artillerymen, who had been promised 

payment in eleven days as the result of their clamour 

on 21 October 1754, f^gain crowded before his mansion 

after the expiry of the term, entered it, fought a eunuch 

who barred their path and plundered his property. One 

day they stopped the visit of Sholapuri Begam, the 

wazir^s grandmother, and insulted the wazir himself. 

"The trouble daily increased. Another day the 

mutineers entered the wazir^s mansion and carried away 

the food lying cooked ready for him and his family. 

Many people^s property was looted during these 

disorders.” ^^On 28 December Rs. 5 per trooper and 

Re, 1 per foot-soldier, only one week^s pay) were 

granted to the fort artillery, this being the first payment 

^ver made in the seven months since the Emperor^s 

accession. No other regiment got anything.” On 23 

July 1756 we read of a similar tumult created by the 

troops of the deceased Mir Bakhshi Samsam-ud-daulah, 

whose burial they hindered till their dues were promised. 

At the same time the wazir^s musketeers posted in the 

iort, took forcible control of it, stopped ingress and 

egress, and defied their master. Then taking some 

light pieces out of the ramparts, they planted them 

under strong pickets at many places in the city, such 

as the Jama Masjid, and held the city gates in force. 
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The Emperor was then at Lnni ; two of his wives, whi>m 

he had summoned from Delhi fort, could only evade 

the artilleryists holding the gates by walking on foot 

covered with common burqas \ like servant maids) from 

their harem to outside the fort-gates ; then they crossed 

part of the road mounted on bhishtis^ bullocks and 

disguised in bhishti-women’s robes, and from the city 

went to Luni in more worthy vehicles. The Persian 

chronicler adds, ^^The Emperor was greatly delighted 

to hear of this |trick j. The shame of it was not felt by 

him. In the end the affair could not be kept a secret 

and became known to the public.” \TALS, 76/>-78a.| 

At last on 29 August 1756, the artillerymen, 

despairing of getting their dues by any other means, 

^^absolutely closed all the entrances into the fort. So, 

the supply of grain, meat, vegetables and water to the 

inmate.s of the palace-harem was cut off from the 

morning.... After noon they opened the back gate, 

allowing some people to come in and stopping others 

at their caprice. At last the son of Jagjivandas (the 

Delhi agent of Jagatseth of Bengal) and Balgovind 

Sahukar personally undertook to satisfy their claims, 

by Najib-ud-daulah^s mediation.,.. Their accounts were 

produced and their dues admitted to be for ten months 

and a few days.” Taking an advance from Balgovind, the 

Mir Atish cleared the dues of the men employed within 

the fort and the gates were fully opened on 12 September, 

But the artilleryists outside Delhi fort, under their 
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captains R.ao Man and Harjiu Singh, at not getting their 

own dues, mutinied and tried to block the fort-gates from 

outside. Then they were paid in part, and the tumult 

ceased. \TALS, 78-79.1 The sickening tale need not 

be carried any further. 

S 10. Sufferinjfx of the people of Delhi from 

Idirhissness and anarehy, 1754, 

Within the capital itself the Badakhshi soldiers of the 

wazir plundered the houses of the rich citizens without 

fear or check. In August 1754, Kishancharid Sud, a 

high accounts officer, was carried off by Baqi Bog Khan, 

a captain of this Turki corps, to Mughalpura, put to 

torture by being suspended from a beam and asked to 

pay five lakhs. He underwent this treatment for fifteen 

days, but none sought to rescue him. He ultimately 

secured his release, we know not at what price ; but on 

7 June next year his house was plundered by the 

wazir^s troops, though he contiived to escape by a 

back door.* On 14 Nov. 1754 Nagar Mai, the High 

Diwan^ abandoning his own house in the city, fled for 

refuge to Bapu Hingan^ in Jaisinghpura. Imad sent a 

party to escheat the property of the fugitive, but the 

• TALS. 166, 546; DC, He appropriated all power as 

mustaufi of the Emperor and naib diwan of khalsa. after Abdali’s 
departure in April 1757, and caused great discontent by trans¬ 

ferring the jagirs of the smaller mansabdars to the Emperor’s 

sons, for which he was murdered in the streets, 16 April 1757, 

by some of these officers. (116«-117a.) 
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Marathas who had been sent to guard the house resisted 

the invaders. From Jaisinghpura Nagar Mai sent a 

small Maratha force to bring his family away from their 

asylum in 8amsam-ud-daulah\s house. But the waziFs 

Badakhsbis opposed these men, slaying twelve and 

wounding many of them and taking away their arms and 

mares. Then the victors went to Niigar MaFs house, 

expelled the Mai*atha guards from it, and finally cleared 

Pahara MaFs garden house, which was the residence of 

many Marathas, of every Deccani found there. Thus, 

not a Maratha was left within the walls of Delhi or in 

the marts around it. \TALS. 30/;-31/>. 1)(\\ The wazir 

immediately took away Nagar MaFs two diwanships, 

but when he returned to Court a month later restored 

these offices to him. 

We read that in September 1754, the waziFs soldiers 

were engaged in plundering the house of every man 

whom their informers represented as well dressed and 

well fed. They seized the householder and his women 

and would release them only after the payment of a 

ransom. No redress could be had even by appealing 

to the highest authority, ^^One day the waziFs Afghan 

captain Subhan Khan with his company began to loot 

the house of Hakumat Rai, the father-in-law of the 

daughter of Thakurdas (the head assistant of the 

EmperoiFs harem superintendent). Thakurdas complained 

to the wazir, who sent Saif-ud-din Muhammad Khan to 

stop it; but this officer entered into a concert with 
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Subhau Khan, severely beat Hakumat Eai, and even 

threatened to dishonour Thakurdas himself, and the 

house was plundered of all its contents/^ \TALS. 20.] 

A Muslim victim fared better. On 3 September^ 

Imad caught some Badakhshis in the act of robbing the 

house of the brother-in-law of Muzaffar Khan. He cut 

off the nose of the leader of the gang, who happened to 

be a sergeant in the regiment of Baqi Beg Khan. At 

this the other Badakhshis of the corps were displeased. 

Next day, as the wazir was entering the fort, a 

Badakhshi musketeer fired at him from his post before 

the gate. The wazir reprimanded all the captains of 

this force. \TALS, 17/>-18a.| 

11. DrUii Gorerfunenf banhrupi. 

The utter bankruptcy of the Government makes us 

only wonder that it did not collapse even earlier. All 

the provinces except Bengal had long ceased to send 

any revenue to the central Government, some having 

become independent under their subahdars and others 

having been usurped by Afghans Jats and Marathas. 

Thus, the territory still obeying the Emperoris authority 

was reduced to a belt round the capital, vix., the upper 

Doab or the Mirat Division on the east and the Rohtak 

and Gurgaon districts on the west. Here, as nearest 

and most easy to control, the Emperor had originally 

reserved to himself the rent of a number of villages for 

meeting the salaries of his household servants and palace 

3 
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guards (especially the Delhi garrison artillery) and the 

cost of clothing and feeding himself, his family, and State 

pensioners like the captive offsprings and widows of 

former Emperors. These lands formed his Crownlands 

(hhalsa) and privy purse estates (sarf-i-khm) But^ 

because they were nearest the capital and their revenue 

was least irregular and easiest to collect, they roused 

the greed of his wazir, whose cowardice and incompe¬ 

tence prevented him from subduing and administering 

his jagirs more distantly situated. 

The main prop of the empire^s centre was the newly 

recruited body of Central Asian mercenaries, called 

Badakhshis or popularly Siridagh. They were 12,000 

strong, large-limbed, well-fed, well-accoutred men, 

mounted on powerful high-priced horses of Khurasan 

breed, and cost much more than double the salary of 

a similar number of Indian soldiers, their pay-bill 

amounting to eight lakhs of Rupees a month. When 

their pay fell into arrears they took to plundering houses 

and holding rich men to ransom in Delhi, with the 

wazir^s permission, as is asserted by the Court chronicler 

of Alamgir II. They constantly demanded their pay 

and refused to bring their troops to the muster or to 

render accounts of the revenue they had already collect¬ 

ed from the landlords in Mewat and other parganahs 

where they had been sent for rent-collection. In the 

very presence of the wazir they abused his finance 

rinanager, while their commander Zahid Beg Khan drew 
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his dagger and wounded one of Imad^s generals. Zabid 

Beg was put in prison and the tumult ceased for the 

time, (2 Oct. 1754). The wazir, in order to stop this 

constant clamour, made some of the privy purse mahals 

over to the Badakhshis. \TALS. 415, 225, 29a.| 

‘^The parganahs in the province of Delhi and some 

other provinces, which had been made Crownland, and 

out of whose revenue the Emperor^s personal servants 

received their pay, had now gone out of his hands. 

Saharanpur, whose revenue had been assigned to 

jagirdars, was seized by Najib Khan Ruhcla ; the Jat 

Rajah had seized the mahals near Agra ; Madho Singh 

of Jaipur had taken possession of Narnol and that side. 

Not a single mahal remained under the k/iaha (Crown- 

lands department.) In addition to this, the wazir used 

to give the mahals of the privy purse in lieu of payment 

now to the Badakhshis, now to the Marathas... 

So, there was no money for the Emperor^s own meals 

and those of the ladies of his harem, whose only source 

of maintenance was the rent of the privy purse estates. 

The Emperor repeatedly pressed [this point] on the 

wazir, who signed orders for the release of these lands, 

but at heart wished to devote their revenue to the 

payment of his own troops. So he released Mirat and 

Luni only. Wafa Beg Khan (a Mughalia captain) 

enjoyed parganah Baghpat, and now Mirat and other 

privy purse mahals were given to the Marathas. The 

wazir rained the whole realm.^^ \TALS.22f 28-29.| 
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The wazir brought the Emperor and his family 

tcTthe point of starvation by alienating the privy purse 

estates to the Badakhshis and the Marathas. But there 

was nothing left for giving relief to the other sections 

of the army, such as the fort artillery, the musketeers of 

the guard (men from Oudh and Baksar), and the 

personal retinue and household officers of the Emperor, 

whose pay was equally overdue. These latter struck 

work and rioted in the city and the fort, creating scenes 

of the greatest humiliation and suffering to the Emperor 

and his wazir. 

§ 12. Hmniliatio7i and sufferings^ of the imperial familg. 

The hopeless poverty of the Emperor subjected him 

to deepening distress and insult. Only a month and 

a half after his accession, he had no conveyance left 

for the State procession to the place of the Id prayer.* 

The contrast between his miserable plight and the 

magnificence of his ancestors became painfully manifest 

when he held his birthday Court in the Diwan-i-am. 

The Peacock Throne of Shah Jahan, resplendent with 

gold and gems, had been lost, and its place was taken 

by an imitation in wood, with the figures of gold 

chasing and gems represented by paint ! 

^^All the palace stores were empty. Three years^ 

• 22 July 1754. {TALS, 156.] Again, on 10 May 1758, on 
account of his having no mount, the Emperor had to walk on 
foot from the harem to the Stone Masjid of the fort. [DO.\ 
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salary carried forward from Ahmad Shah^s reign was 

due to every officer from the mansabdars to the meniak. 

In the present reign, which was now six months old, 

they had not received a dam. The |starving| troopers 

had sold their horses, the infantry had no clothing on 

their backs...The animals [of the imperial equipage] 

could not be given fodder and hence they grew lean or 

died. The soldiers remained in their own houses, none 

attended in the Emperor^s retinue when he rode out. 

Sometimes even the royal band and standard did not 

accompany him.’^ [TALS. 155, 235, 52a, 285, 415.) 

Shakir Khan, the diwau of Prince Ali Gauhar, narrates 

how when he took a mug of broth from the 

pauper-charity-kitchen to the prince for official 

inspection, the prince asked him to give it to the 

palace ladies, as no fire had been kindled in the 

harem kitchens for three days ! We read, in the 

Court chronicle of this reign, how one day the princesses 

could bear starvation no longer, and in frantic disregard 

of parda rushed out of the palace for the city ; but 

the Tort gates being closed they sat down in the men^s 

quarters for a day and a night, after which they were 

persuaded to go back to their rooms. [TALS, 190.] 

8 13# Rebels and usurpers triumph over the 

imperial Government 

W hile such was the condition of the city and the 

palace, the countryside fared no better. The new 
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assignees on the districts north and east of the capital, 

namely the Badakhshis and later the Marathas, wore 

resisted by the parties already in possession, such as 

Najib^s agents and former grantees with more legitimate 

titles than these Ruhela usurpers ; and though the 

Marathas established themselves by main force after 

some fighting, their position in these regions fluctuated 

with each invasion or retreat of Ahmad Shah Abdali 

and the repercussion of such military movements on the 

Maratha power in Northern India. The Great Anarchy 

had already begun at the core of the empire. 

Even in the districts immediately bordering the 

capital, so weak rfnd despised was the power of the 

central Government that smaller usurpers set up their 

ownership and administration in several places,—which 

aggravated the evil of Imad-uhmulk^s alienation of 

Crownlands and privy-purse estates to the soldiery. 

The Jat and Gujar encroachments in the south and south¬ 

east of Delhi will be described in chapter 22. In 

the region north and west of the capital, ?>., the modern 

Karnal and Rohtak districts, the usurpers were Afghan 

and Baluch captains. Northwards, Kunjpura (80 miles 

north of Delhi and commanding a ford on the Jamuoa) 

was held by Nejabat Khan Ruhela. Then, in the west, 

Kamgar Khan Baluch (r. 1747-1760), the official governor 

of Farrukhnagar (30 m. s.w. of Delhi), held a vast 

territory embracing the whole of the present districts of 

Hisar and Rohtak and parts of Gurgaon, Jhind and 
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Patiala, His son and successor was Musa Khan. Another 

Baluch chief was Bahadur Khan, who had once been a 

servant of Kamgar but had later entered the service of 

Imad-ul-mulk and risen to be colonel of one of his regi¬ 

ments and to be granted the barony of Bahadurgarh 

(20 m. due west of Delhi.) He was succeeded in 1760 by 

his brother Taj Muhammad Khan, who ruled till 1775.* 

Other minor chiefs of this race were Hasan Ali Khan (of 

Jhajhar) the son of Kamgar Khan’s brother, Asadullah 

Khan of Taiiru (IN miles east of Rewari), Auliya Khan 

Baluch of Nizamgarh (in the Saharanpur district), and 

Qutb •Shah, wrongly called Ruhela, who had formerly 

been a collector in Saharanpur but later usurped parts of 

the Panipat and Sarhind districts west of the Jamuna, 

Above them all was Najib Khan Ruhela, who had 

been paid for his armed aid in 1753 by the grant of 

some jagirs in the upper Doab, but had illegally extended 

them by seizing many villages in the Saharanpur and 

Mirat districts. After 1760 Najib made himself the 

general protector of all the Afghan and Baluch landlords 

of these regions against their Jat and other enemies. Thus, 

the country north and west of Delhi was, for a semicircle 

80 miles wide, dotted with a !number of rebels’ dens 

like the castles of the robber barons of mediaeval Italy. 

The*Emperor being well-read in history, wanted to 

revive the good old practice of sending his sons out to 

* Hokiak DtsL Gazetteer, ed. 1883, pp. 18-19. 



40 FAf.L OF THE MUGHAL EME»JRE |CEi. XIII 

the provinces for the purpose of subduing and 

administering them, and thus restoring the empire to 

strength and prosperity. But mere wishing was not 

enough for achieving this end. These princes had so 

long lived amidst the vice sloth ignorance and isolation 

of their palace-prisons, and lacked the education 

necessary for commanding men and administering 

countries. Nor was any capable and devoted old noble 

any longer available to act as their guardian and tutor 

(ataiiq) during their apprenticeship as provincial 

governors. Finally, there was neither any reliable force 

nor adequate treasure for supporting them in the arduous 

task of recovering lost dominions from long-established 

usurpers or guarding them against attack. While the 

Emperor and his household were starving, it was 

impossible to fit out any expeditionary force for his sons. 

Alamgir IPs plan could not be given a trial even,^ 

because of the opposition of his selfish wazir, who feared 

that his own dictatorship would be gone if any of his 

master’s sons developed capacity and secured the control 

of an army. Thus, every path of reform and revival 

was closed to the empire of Delhi. 

§ 14. Ima(Vs quarrel with Tntixam ended. 

The Maratha forces having retired from Delhi at the 

beginning of February 1755, Imad was free to settle 

his score with his enemies near at hand. His first 

dread after becoming wazir was lest his deposed 
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predecessor Intizam-ud-daulah* should intrigue success¬ 

fully for the recovery of the chancellorship. This 

possibility had kept Imad’s heart throbbing with anxiety 

throughout Raghunath Rao^s stay near Delhi with 

Intizam as a refugee in his camp. On 2 September 

1754, Intizam had posted musketeers round his own 

mansion and that quarter of the city to resist the wazir^s 

levy of a property tax for paying the Marathas. On 

4 Oct. Holkar^s diwan, Gangadhar Chandrachud, made 

an unsuccessful attempt to effect a compromise between 

the two rivals. About this time Raghunath, in despair 

of getting the promised subsidy from JmM, discussed 

the alternative of making Intizam wazir again if he was 

more likely to yield the money, but he soon saw that it 

would not be a change for the better. 

On 22 November Imad sent a message to Intizam, 

who had absented himself from Court ever since 

the accession of the new Emperor, saying, “If you are a 

servant of the State, come to the darbar. If you are 

not, vacate your official mansion.’' Intizam’s reply was 

to go away immediately to the Maratha camp south-west 

of Delhi and take up his residence there, while his 

house in the city was guarded by his mother Sholapuri 

Begam. But the Maratha chiefs declined to go to 

war with the Emperor and his wazir for Intizam’s 

sake and even censured him for this rash act of defiance. 

TALS m, 386.39a. Da 
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On 12 December I mad’s agents opened negotiations 

with Raghunath and Malhar, requesting them to make 

a settlement between him and Intizam in any way 

they could. At last Malhar’s pacific efforts bore 

fruit, and on 17 January 1755 (the day of the 

Hindu spring festival) Imad paid a visit to Intizam’s 

tents at Badli, and induced him to return to his 

own house in Delhi and to attend C-ourt a few days 

later. 

15. Expedition against Qntb Shah. 

So, this trouble ended. The Marathas being gone 

and Intizam pacified, the wazir turned to reassert the 

authority of the Government on its own subjects. The 

first rebel to be attacked was Qutb Shah, who was not 

a Ruhela by birth, but was popularly known as such 

by reason of his being a constant associate and honoured 

religious guide or pir of the Ruhelas, (whence his title 

of Shah or Lord Spiritual). He had, soon after Alamgir\s 

accession, obtained an imperial grant for some lands 

in the Saharanpur and Mirat districts, east of the 

Jamuna. But when six months later the wazir transferred 

these villages to the Marathas, Qutb crossed the river, 

entered the Sarhind district, and began to seize villages 

there without any legal title. The wazir sent his 

Sindagh regiments to drive him away, but these lawless 

soldiers merely plundered the innocent people of Panipat 

and other towns as they advanced. On 11 March 1755, 
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th^v reached a place four miles north of Karnal and 

attacked Qutb.* The small rebel force (about 2,500) 

was on the point of being routed by the superior 

numbers of the Turks (11,000), when a sandstorm blew 

into the faces of the Sindagh men, the Afghans promptly 

charged the confused enemy ranks and signally defeated 

them. The wazir^s men fled away in panic to 

Sonipat, abandoning their baggage and tents to plunder. 

The victorious rebel, laden with his spoils, marched to¬ 

wards Thaneshwar, putting a strong garrison in Karnal 

and taking tribute from the richer villages on the way. 

At his approach, Sadiq Beg Khan, the faujdar of 

Sarhind, was deserted by his Afghan troops, and fled 

away to Adina Beg in the Panjab. Qutb by a forced 

march reached the masterless city and established his 

own rule over it and the surrounding district ^^He did 

not molest the poor, but repressed the strong refractory 

men, so that within his jurisdiction the roads became safe 

and his followers were held back from practising 

oppression.’' \TALS, 44/>.l 

Then he crossed the Satlaj above Rupar and attacked 

Adina Beg (11 April), but was signally defeated by 

superior numbers and put to flight, himself being 

severely wounded and most of his captains slain.. Adina 

Beg advanced to the east of the Satlaj and took over the 

* I here follow Mux, 107-108, against TAL8, 426, which says 

that Qutb attacked the Sindagh by surprise after keeping them 
deluded with peace talk. 
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administration of the Sarhind district, as far as 

Thaneshwar, Mustafabad and Kohram. The wazir 

recognized his rule in return for a tribute. Meantime, 

the news of the rout of the Sindagh troops on 11th 

March had reached the wazir in Delhi two days Jater. 

He pressed the Emperor to start with him at once 

against the rebel. Though there was no equipment 

transport or servant tit for an imperial march and no 

money to provide these, he dragged the Emperor with 

himself to one stage north of the capital (15 March.) 

servant, no tent had arrived there. The Court 

underwent great hardship. The Emperor^s food was 

sent to him there after being cooked in Delhi fort. 

The unpaid servants of both Emperor and wazir 

were starving and refused to go out of Delhi.” 

\TALS. 43ft. 1 

But the wazir was a coward; with fourfold odds 

in his favour he merely discussed plans for recovering 

the lost territory without fighting. He halted outside 

Delhi for four weeks, and called to his aid Kam^r 

Khan Baluch (of Farrukhnagar) and Najib Khan, 

both of whom urged him to advance and make 

a demonstration of force against the rebel, but in vain. 

At last the wazir began his onward march on 13 April 

and reached the garden of Pakhru, outside Sonipat,^ 

where he learnt of Qutb^s defeat at the hands of Adina 

Beg, and then moved on with the Emperor to Panipat 

(19 April) 
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§ 16. Imad mobbed b\j Jm TtirU soldiers 

at Panipat. 

In this last-named city the worst mutiny of the 

unpaid soldiery took place. The Badakhshi captains 

had been severely censured for their cowardly fligjht 

before Qutb^s handful of men and they had been sent 

to Delhi in disg^race. They were now recalled from 

Delhi to Panipat and ordered to bring their troops to 

the muster and receive payment according to the actual 

number of the men under arms. To this they had a 

rooted aversion as it would stop their dishonest gains. 

On 3rd May some two hundred and fifty of these Turki 

soldiers* gathered before Imad^s residence (the family 

mansion of the late Nawab Lutfullah Khan Sadiq), made 

a row, and seized the gate. When the wazir on hearing 

the noise came out of his harem to inquire, they suddenly 

made a rush, mobbed him, and dragged him on foot, 

half-dressed as he then was with only a waistcoat en, 

amidst every kind of insult and abuse, through the 

bazar and streets, exposed to the gaze of high and low. 

When they reached the tent of their captain Hasan Beg 

Khan, two miles away, further insult was heaped upon 

the chancellor. Thousands of Badakhshis crowded 

round him, tore his garment to pieces, and even dealt 

Hindagh mutiny at Panipat: TAf^S, 48ft-51a. DC. Shakir 
79 (present); Mm, 109-110, Styar, iii. 52 Gkahar Gtdxur 4^7 
(‘their disbandment a fit retribution for their faithless desertion 
of Safdar Jang in his war with Imad.') 
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some blows to his person. They forced him to sit down 

and shouted to him to call for their due salary from 

his house and pay it then and there. The infuriated 

soldiery would not listen to the messengers repeatedly 

sent by the Emperor entreating them to desist. After 

he had undergone this torment for two hours, the wazir 

was taken out of their hands by Hasan Beg Khan, who 

seated him on an elephant and conveyed him back to 

his mansion. 

Arrived there, I mad changed into a decent suit and 

promptly riding out with all his household troops and 

the contingents of Najib and Bahadur Khan Baluch, 

attacked the Badakhshis, proclaiming that his followers 

would be allowed to retain whatever plunder they took 

in the mutineers^ camp. The Badakhshis fled away 

before the Ruhelas, abandoning all their property to 

plunder. Next day a force was sent to Delhi to arrest 

slay or expel every Badakhshi found anywhere and to 

seize their houses. The same confiscation was decreed 

against the Badakhshi officers posted in the jagirs 

assigned to this regiment. Thus, the Sindagh, the best 

troops of the empire, were broken up and the wazir was 

left utterly without the means of making a stand against 

Najib Khan or any other enemy in future. 

§ 17. Imad\s doings in 1755 and 1756, 

The humbled wazir made a prompt return to Delhi. 

Here he smelt out a plot for removing him from his 
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high office and giving it to Shuja-ud-daulah with the 

connivance of the captive ICmperor^ who was sick of 

the impotence and poverty to which ImM^s domination 

had reduced him. The intermediary of the secret 

negotiations was Ali Quli Khan Daghestani, and the 

instruments of the change were to be Suraj Mai and 

Ahmad Bangash. The wazir at once struck at the 

alleged conspirators found in Delhi and expelled even 

the suspected eunuchs from the palace. Next, in the 

Emperor^s name he ordered Najib to expel Suraj Mai 

from his recent acquisitions in the Doab. Negotiations 

begun by Nagar Mai for a peaceful settlement delayed 

Najib^s departure ; but they naturally failed through 

Suraj Mal^s insistence on retaining all that he had 

usurped, and at last Najib was given formal leave to 

march on 17 June. Peace was, however, made through 

Nagar MaPs efforts, about 10 July, on terms which are 

described in chapter 22. | TALS. 54/>-58/vJ. 

In December 1755, Imad marched up the Doab from 

Luni to Shamli, Kairana, and Kamra-ghat. From the 

last place he sent to demand tribute from Nejabat Khan, 

the zamindar of Kunjpura. At the end of this month, 

the wazir, taking Prince Ali Gauhar with him, crossed 

the Jamuna and marched towards the Panjab by way of 

Panipat and Ambala, arriving at Sarhind on 7 Feb. 1756. 

Here he halted, while his ally Adina Beg Khan took 

possession of Lahor by driving away the Abdali agent. 

His betrothed Umda Begam, the daughter of Muin, was 
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brought to his camp from Labor on 4 March, and her 

mother Mughlani Begam on 2S March, as we shall 

see in chapter 14. \1ALS. (i4, 66c)f, D(l\ Completely 

successful in his Panjab enterprise, the wazir turned 

back from Machiwara on the Satlaj on 1 May and reached 

Delhi at the end of June. 

A fortnight later, he moved to Luni with the 

Emperor to force the Ruhelas of the Trans-Ganges 

country to pay their long withheld tribute ; but nothing 

came of the plan, as the wazir^s artillerymen made a 

row for their arrears of pay and closed the ferry from 

Delhi to Luni, while the musketeers of the Delhi palace 

garrison seized the fort and completely stopped all 

ingress and egress. This trouble raged throughout the 

month of August and the first half of September, 

detaining the wazir and the whole Court at Luni. 

Afterwards the expedition was abandoned and the 

Emperor and his wazir had to sneak back to Delhi. 

[TALS. 75a-79rL| 

Imad^s plan was to detach Ahmad Khan Bangash 

from Shuja-ud-daulah by transferring to the former 

Shuja^s province of Allahabad by an imperial letter-patent. 

Shuja, on hearing of it, strengthened the defences of 

Allahabad fort and took post on his frontier with a vast 

force and a large park of artillery, to oppose his enemy^s 

crossing. At this Ahmad Bangash ^^did not venture 

to issue from his own city of Farrukhabad and gave 
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up the idea of going out to assume the subahdari of 

Allahabad.’’ \TALS. 83a.| Nagar Mai and 

Najib Khan now intervened, the former keeping 

Suraj Mai back from going to Shuja's assistance and 

the latter inducing Ahmad Bangash to publicly disavow 

all desire for the Allahabad province. So, peace 

was made, e. 11 November 1756, when Abdali was 

already thundering at the western gate of India. 

These internal dissensions ceased, but no attempt was 

made by the chiefs of the empire to unite and oppose 

the alien invader. 

4 



CHAPTER XIV. 

The Panjab, 1753-1759. 

§ 1. Mughlani Beyam as regent of the Panjab, 

With the death of Miiiu-ul-mulk, the last imperial 

governor of the province, in November 1753, dissolution 

began in the orderly administration of the Pan jab. 

True, even in his lifetime the peace of that frontier 

province had not been as extensive and unbroken as 

under Zakariya Khan ; but Muin had succeeded in keep¬ 

ing his capital and a large belt of land around it intact, 

there had been no open defiance of the subahdar^s 

authority by his subordinates, and he had persistently 

fought the Sikh brigands and pruned their growth with 

the edge of his sword. By his attention to the ec^uipment 

and comfort of his soldiery, his liberal rewards to his 

captains, and above all by his personal sharing of 

campaigns and comraderie with the Turki soldiers (his 

own tribesmen) he had preserved his power and the 

respect of his people. His final defeat by the Abdali 

king and acceptance of Afghan vassalage had been, 

no doubt, a blow to his prestige ; but this humiliation 

he had halved by sharing it with his master the Padishah, 

and the Abdali suzerainty meant in effect only the 

sending of the provincial tribute to Qandahar instead 

of to Delhi. 



1754] MUGHLANI BEOAM^S VICES 51 

During the four months’ viceroyalty of his infant son 

Muhammad Amin Khan (January—April 1754), matters 

passed from bad to worse. The deputy governor, Mir 

Mumin Khan, though an experienced civil administrator 

and universally respected noble, could do nothing as all 

real power lay in the hands of the regent mother 

Mughlani Begam. All evidence agrees that the widow lost 

her character along with her husband and was led by her 

eunuchs, the instruments of her pleasure.'*' Her 

wilfulness and caprice discredited the administration, 

while her profligacy roused deep resentment and shame 

among her military officers who came from the same 

Central Asian stock as her husband and her father. 

Rebellion against such a degraded authority became a 

point of honour, no less than an object of personal 

ambition, with her Turkish captains. 

The visible break up of the Delhi empire and its 

utter impotence against the Afghan invaders had 

stripped it of the last shred of respect or claim to 

loyalty. Each general of Muin now thought of carving 

out a principality for himself and maintaining it by 

calling up new recruits from the homeland of Bukhara 

or hiring the swords of the Sikh myriads near at hand. 

* Ghulam Ali, i. 26, Miskin 98-99, 120. On 28 March 1756 

her name was connected with that of the youthful page Miskin 

under the same circumstances as those of Aisha and Bafwan ibn 
Muattal during the return from the Banu Mustalik expedition in 

year 6 of the hijera, [Miskin 122.] 
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They felt that their own rule would be worthier and 

more conducive to the safety and happiness of their 

retainers and subjects than the anarchy which prevailed 

in Labor from Mughlani Begam^s follies and vices. 

§ 2. Rebellions against Mughlani Regam 

in the Panjab. 

The earliest to rebel against her authority was 

Bihkari Khau (Raushan-ud-daulah, Rustam Jang) who 

had been ^‘^thc centre of all affairs of the province in 

Muin-ul-mulk^s time’^ and his dearest friend^ and who 

had secured a rescript for the deputy governorship of 

the province from the imperial wazir, which the Begam 

refused to recognize. But she succeeded in seducing his 

followers and putting him in confinement in her palace 

in charge of Khwajah Mirza Said Khan Qipchacj, about 

January 1754.* 

The next officer to raise his head in ambition was 

Qasim Khan^ an immigrant Turk, who had risen high by 

devoted personal attendance on Muin and had been the 

first to side with the Begam against Bihkari Khan. For 

this service, Mughlani had conferred upon him the 

faujdari of Pati in the Manjha country and lovingly 

called him her son. He recruited 300 foot-soldiers from 

* Bihkari Khan : Miskin 89-92, 107 (murdered). TAL8. b%~ 

66a. Murder, Ghulam Ali 26, Sit^ar, iu. 61. Husain Shahi 34. 

Qasim Khan : Miskin 65 (enters service), 93-96. Khwajah Mirza : 
Miskin, 91. 99, 102-106. TALS, 60a. 
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the Badakhshaais newly arrived to seek their bread in 

the Panjab, and 100 Turki cavalry, besides a force of a 

few thousand foot and horse and some pieces of cannon 

placed under him by the Government. In his advance 

towards Pati, he encountered the Sikhs, gave up all his 

300 Badakhshanis and many othtir followers to slaughter, 

and fell back towards Labor in shameful retreat. But 

this disaster did not damp the foolish man^s ambition. 

He planned to win over <S,000 Sikh fighters by friendly 

negotiation and pay, seize Labor with their help, and 

then after enlisting more troops take Delhi and make 

himself Padishah I He was profuse in offering in 

anticipation high posts in his future empire to his 

friends, such as the chancellorship to a fugitive 

penniless ex-faujdar of Sarhind and the imperial Pay¬ 

master-Generalship to the page Miskin, a lad in his 

15th year. Qasim Khan distributed thousands of Rupees 

worth of matchlocks and other arras and material to his 

Sikh allies. This exhausted his treasury and his soldiers 

began to dun him for their arrears of pay. At last in 

utter despair they cut his tent ropes, seized and dragged 

him to the Begam, who kept him under strict guard 

within her palace enclosure. 

Soon afterwards, her infant son Md. Amin Khan 

died (early in May 1754) and she threw caution and 

shame to the winds in the pursuit of pleasure. It now 

became eunuchs^ rule at Labor. “The diwan, bakhshi 

and other sardars of the Government used to go in the 
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morning to the subahdar to offer their salainfi and then 

proceed to the office {deorhi) of the Begam^s palace and 

receive her orders through the eunuchs. Three eunuchs 

took the lead in these discussions and became her chief 

confidants in all affairs great and small. But the three 

never agreed among themselves and constantly quarrelled, 

so that the affairs of the State daily declined. . .The 

public blamed these eunuchs for everything that 

happened. ” | Miskin ,98.| 

In the midst of this confusion and decay, the captive 

Bihkari Khan took counsel with Khwajah Md. Said 

Khan, “As a fissure had appeared in the family honour 

of the late Nawab,” the only remedy that these two 

favourites and confidants of Muin and guardians of his 

memory could think of was to invite Khwajah Mirza to 

come instantly, take the administi ation over in person, 

and better the state of things at Lahor before the evil 

and shame became irremediable. 

This Khwajah Mirzii Khan, an Uzbak captain, had 

been the most trusted and successful lieutenant of Muin 

in his campaigns and had often been sent out by him 

in independent command against the Sikhs. With him 

were 300 of his closely related clansmen. After Muin^s 

death he had at first sided with Bihkari Khan but had 

been won over by the Begam with the faujdari of 

Yaminabad and had helped her to undermine Bihkari’s 

power and to arrest him. At Yaminabad he had 

succeeded in asserting his authority, inflicted some 
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defeats on the Sikhs, and annexed the lands near about. 

Now, on receiving Muhammad Saidas appeal, he came 

to Labor by one night^s forced march, rode straight up 

to the Begam^s palace at dawn, cut down the two porters 

who disputed his entrance, and went inside. His 

Mughalia troops, in concert with the resident Turki 

guards (previously corrupted by Md. Said), looted the 

palace all day long and carried away lakhs of Rupees in 

cash and things. The very servants and officials of 

Miighlani Begam did not escape this general spoliation. 

She betook herself to another house in utter helpless¬ 

ness (about December 1754.) 

Bihkari Khan now pacified Khwajah Mirza and 

formed a pact with him, by which Mumin Khan was to 

remain the nominal subahdar of the Panjab as before, 

but the deputy governorship of the province would be 

held and the entire administration conducted by Bihkari 

Khan. Khwajah Mirza called off his Mughalia soldiers 

from the plunder, but “not a piece of furniture or any 

other article was left in the palace by this time.’’ The 

Begam was brought back to her official residence and 

a guard of Khwajah Mirza^s men posted at its gate. Next 

morning the Purbia (Oudh) artillerymen of the State, 

in a body seven thousand strong, marched out of their 

barracks to attack Khwajah Mirza. But the Turki 

guards promptly shut the gates of the palace and kept 

the assailants back, thus gaining time for the other 

Mughalia troops in the city to assemble and beat 
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the Purbias back. Mughlani Bcgam was now removed 

to her sister^s house on the city wall and confined 

there under guard. 

Khwajah Mirza declared himself subahdar of 

Labor, put on regal robes, gave titles of Khan (lord to 

his chief followers, and called upon all the leading men 

of the city to come and pay court to him. But he 

could not effectively control the administration, nor 

secure the necessary revenue. In a short time the other 

Turki generals, who regarded themselves as his equals, 

defied his authority, and anarchy reigned in the capital 

of the Panjab, while the districts were resigned to the 

local magistrates or rebel leaders. 

8 3. Khivajah Abdullah Khan selxes the 

(government of Labor, 

Mughlani Begam, finding herself really a captive of 

the usurper, sent out secret letters to Imad-uLmulk the 

wazir of Delhi and to Ahmad Shah Abdali at Qandahar, 

appealing to them to liberate her. Her mother^s brother, 

Khwajah Abdullah Khan (the younger son of the former 

governor Abdus Samad Khan, 8aif-ud-daulah I) had gone 

to the Durrani Court and secured an order on Aman 

Khan, Ahmad Shab^s agent in Peshawar, to accompany 

Abdullah to Labor with a force of 10,000 men of 

Kabul and Peshawar (but very few Durranis or 

Qizilbashes) and restore the Begam to power. Khwajah 

Mirza could make no stand against this force, and was 
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treacherously imprisoned with most of the Mughalia 

captains, by Aman Khan during a visit to that Afghan 

under a promise of safety.* Aman Khan now entered the 

defenceless city of Labor and by beating all the substan¬ 

tial men and conducting a ruthless general plunder, 

collected a large sum, and then left for Peshawar, after 

installing Mughlani Begam as subahdar and Khwajah 

Abdullah as her deputy and handing Bihkari Khan over 

to her. She at once had him beaten to death by her harem 

serv^ants, crying out, ^^The blood of the two (my husband 

and son) is on you. This is your due recompense for 

it This happened about April 1755. 

The Mughalia captains who had been the cause of 

the disorder and misrule in Labor ever since Muin\s 

death, were now dragged away to prison in Qandahar. 

But it did not bring peace back to the Pan jab. 

"Khwajah Abdullah disliked having to obey a woman. 

He began to act of his own will and collected 15 to 20 

thousand troops.^^ The Begam too made preparations for 

a conflict and seduced many of these recruits. But her 

troops, "led by eunuchs, nay by eunuchs^ servants,^^ 

could make no stand against Abdullah and fled away 

after a short street encounter. Mir Mumin and the 

Durrani Resident at Labor (Hadi Khan) then mediated 

between niece and uncle, appeased the tumult, and 

safely conveyed the Begam to her mother^s house. 

Khj Abdallah: Miskin 106-110, TALS, 60a. Mux, 82. 
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posting 50 Durrani soldiers to protect her there. 

Abdullah now became the undisputed master of Labor 

(July 1755.) 

In the meantime, the news of the death of Muhammad 

Amin Khan (early in May 1754) had reached Delhi, but 

the Emperor Ahmad Shah was then in the midst of his 

fatal entanglement with Imad-ul-mulk and could not 

attend to Pan jab affairs. After the accession of Alamgir 

II, the death of the titular subahdar was formally 

communicated to the new Emperor and an imperial 

rescript was issued appointing Mumin Khan subahdar 

with the title of Mumin-ud-daulah, (probably in July 

1754.) But, as we have already seen, this officer 

was ousted by the Begam, and she by Khwajah 

Mirza, and the last-named by Khwajah Abdullah. 

[DC, TALS, 59i-60a.| Abdullah^s rule was tyran¬ 

nical. His most pressing need was that of money, 

and for it he left no kind of oppression unattempted. 

^^Closing the gates of the city, he plundered much from 

the inhabitants of Labor, both Hindu and Muslim, on 

the plea of their having been associates of Bihkari 

Khan, and slew many people. Vast numbers were 

ruined. Grain and other stuffs became very dear.^^ 

§ 4. Rhivajah Ahdullah expelled from Lahor and 

Mughlani Begam made captive by Imad, 1756, 

But his authority did not last beyond six months. 

Mughlani Begam, finding her rival installed by Durrani 
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arms in her lawful seat, appealed to Imad-ul-mulk, who 
had now become the all-powerful wazir of Delhi, to 
rescue her and marry her daughter Umda Begam, who 

had been betrothed to him by her father. The wazir, 

too, coveted the province of the Panjab. So, at the 
end of the year 1755, he set out for Labor and reached 
Sarhind on 7 February 1756. In the meantime Adina 
Beg Khan, the faujdar of the Jalandar doab under the 

Government of Labor, had made himself an independent 
power by raising a vast army (rumoured to be one 
lakh of horse and foot), including many Sikhs, with 

a strong park of artillery and swivel-guns. After 
defeating (^utb Shah, the usurper of the Sarhind district, 

in a battle at Rupar (11 April 1755), he had occupied 
Sarhind and the country up to Thaneshwar. The wazir 

was glad to leave him in undisturbed administration 
of this country, as he realized that only the strong arm 

of Adina Beg could keep order in that tract, so full of 

refractory landowners, while the waziFs own militar}" 

force and resources were quite inadeijuate for the 
purpose. And now, at the beginning of 1756, while 

the wazir was marching on Labor, Adina wrote to him 

not to advance beyond Sarhind, but to send only a 

small party of his followers whom Adina would 

strengthen with 10,000 troopers of his own under Sadiq 

Beg Khan and help to capture Labor by stratagem. 

This force reached Labor by rapid marches, rode 
through the city in full military pomp to the Begam^s 
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residence (her mother^s house), and next paid a visit 

of courtesy to Abdullah, who however guessed out their 

object and at nightfall fled away to the Jamu hills, 

abandoning the city (middle of January 1756.) Next 

morning Mughlani Begam, beating her kettle-drums, 

rode in triumph through the city, reoccupied her official 

residence, and took up the government of the province 

once more. After a month, on completing her prepara¬ 

tions she sent her daughter with an escort of 3,000 

troopers and dowry and presents worthy of her high 

rank, to Imad^s camp near Sarhind, where she arrived on 

4th March.* 

Mughlani Begam^s triumph, however, was short-lived. 

Imad could not tolerate her doings. She was, after 

all, a Muslim woman, but used to do the work of a 

provincial governor in the manner of males, before the 

public gaze. This part of a virago that she played, 

quite apart from the stories about her loss of character, 

was felt as a personal disgrace by Imad, because she 

was his mother^s brother's wife and also his prospective 

mother-in-law. His family honour demanded that she 

should be removed from Labor, where she was enjoying 

unbridled liberty of action. A more sordid motive is 

said by some writers to have mingled with this feeling, 

namely greed for the hoarded wealth of her late 

husband. 

lALS. 47a-48, 66®, 69a; Miskin 114-119. DC. 
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So, 1 mad sent Sayyid Jamil-ud-din Khan with 10,000 

horsemen and ten eunuchs to kidnap her. This 

Jamil-ud-din had been a favourite lieutenant of Muin-ul- 

mulk, and had commanded the contingent sent by that 

governor to Delhi to assist the Emperor in his war 

with Safdar Jang in 1753. He had won the good 

opinion of Imad by devoted service under his eyes. 

And now, by a continuous rapid march, Jamil-ud-din 

reached Labor before any one could know of bis 

approach, encircled the Eegam^s mansion, forced her 

upon an elephant, and sent her off to the wazir^s camp 

at Machhiwara, where she arrived on 28th March. All 

her property was seized. Mir Mumin, ^the leading 

nobleman of Lahor^, was again appointed subahdar of 

the Panjab, with Sayyid Jamil-ud-din as his deputy and 

actual governor. The Sayyid was an honest God¬ 

fearing and experienced man j he administered the 

province justly, in strict accordance with the Islamic 

Canon Law, punished offenders without fear or favour, 

and tried to maintain peace as far as he could with the 

actual muster out of the 5,000 Mughal soldiers assigned 

to the province on paper. He sought to lower the 

unfairly enhanced price of grain by publicly flogging 

the headman of the markets, and led some expeditions 

against the Sikhs, whom he defeated after severe 

fighting,* 

* TAJ.S. m. Miskin 120-124, Mwi. 106. Shakir 79-80. 
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§ 5. Abdali conquest of the Panjah, Oct, 1750, 

His rule too did not last more than six months. 

Khwajah Abdullah, who had fled away before Adina^s 

troops, went to Qandahar and brought away a strong 

Afghan force under Abdali^s general Jangbiiz Khan, 

by promising to recover the Panjab from the hands of 

the Delhi Governments agents and restore it to the 

Abdali. With him came Khwajah Mirza and other 

Turki captains of Muin who had so long been held 

captives in Qandahar. 

Strengthened by a force of Afghans of Peshawar 

under Abdus Samad Khan, the detachment arrived near 

Labor. Sayyid Jamil-ud-din appealed to Adina Beg for 

reinforcements, but in vain. Adina durst not provoke 

the Durrani power by standing up against it, and so 

the governor retreated from Labor to join Adina. A 

wild terror seized that city ; the inhabitants remembered 

the atrocities of the former Afghan occupation. Every 

one who had anything to lose fled away, abandoning his 

property, as transport animals and porters were very 

scarce. The fugitive population swelled the train of 

their governor till they reached Adina Beg^s camp in the 

Jalandar doab, because a rumour had spread that Ahmad 

Shah himself was coming to wreak vengeance on the 

Delhi wazir for having carried off Mughlaoi Begam, 

whom the Durrani king used to call his daughter and 

whom he had posted as his agent in Labor. The 

invaders entered the city on 4 October 1756. Many 
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of the Labor fugitives deemed it unsafe to stay any¬ 

where nearer than Delhi. [Miskin 125-128. TALS. 80a.| 

Thus Khwajah Abdullah was again installed in 

authority at Labor by Durrani arms, with Khwajah 

Mirza Khan as his lieutenant. His Afghan allies roamed 

through the city, plundering whatever they could lay 

hands on, without any check. While an envoy of the 

Durrani Shah named (^alandar Beg Khan visited Delhi 

(end of October) to demand satisfaction for Imad^s 

attack u]>on his raaster^s authority at Labor, the main 

Afghan army set out to invade India once more. In 

the middle of November Ahmad Shah himself reached 

Peshawar,* his vanguard led by Timur Shah arrived at 

Hasan Abdal and pushed a detachment on to the city 

of Gujrat to collect provisions for the main army about 

to follow. Delhi itself was known to be Abdali’s 

objective this time. 

The Afghan invaders, passing through and plunder¬ 

ing Yaminabad and Batala, advanced upon Adina Beg^s 

camp at Jalalabad (25 m. s. e. e. of Amritsar.) The 

Beg fled away with his family and Jamil-ud-din and 

Sadiq Beg, abandoning his camp and baggage to 

plunder ^ by way of Nurmahal, Sodra and Thara he 

reached Hansi, while the Afghan commander-in-chief 

Sardar Jahan Khan occupied the Jalandar doab up to 

* Abdali crossea the Indus at Attock (26 Xov.), plunders 

Batala and Adinana^ar (13 Dec.), and enters Labor (20 Dec.) DC, 
Baj, vi. B65, TALS. Sba. 
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the bank of the Satlaj without a blow (early in 

December.) ‘'From Labor to Sarhind not a village 

was left tenanted, all men, high and low, having fled 

away/’ Towards the end of this month, an Afghan 

detachment under Hasan Khan crossed the Satlaj and 

occupied Sarhind, which had been vacated by its 

inhabitants. Jahan Khan, with the vanguard, arrived 

near that city about 5 January 1757 and then pushed 

on towards Delhi by way of Panipat. From Labor 

Ahmad Shah sent threatening letters to the Rajah of 

Jamu, who made peace by paying a large sum. The 

Afghan king then crossed the Satlaj, about 10 January, 

and, marching two stages behind his van, arrived 

before Delhi on 23rd January, 1757.* His doings there 

will be narrated in chapter 15. 

55 6. Timtir Shah appointed a.s Ahdalds governor 

of the Punjabj L7i)7, 

Gorged with the plunder of Delhi, Mathura and 

Agra, Ahmad Shah set out from Delhi at the beginning 

of April, on his return homewards. During his stay 

in India Mughlani Begam had risen to his highest 

favour. She had been chosen by the Delhi Emperor 

and his wazir as their mediator with the Abdali ; she 

had divulged to the invaders the secrets of all the 

nobles of Delhi, guiding the Afghans to the hiding 

• Abdali's conquest of the Panjab (1756); 7AL6". 86a-886. 

Miskin 125-129. 
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place of every noble^s treasure and giving information 

as to the exact amount of wealth that could be squeezed 

out of each ; and she had been Ahmad Shah^s agent in 

procuring the virgin tribute that was exacted for him 

from the imperial family. She had presented him 

with costly jewels on her own behalf. There was 

nothing that the Afghan king could refuse to her. In 

high delight he had cried out^ “Hitherto I had styled 

you my daughter ; but from today I shall call you my 

son and give you the title of Sultan Mirza.” He 

presented to her the very cap, aigrette, coat and other 

vestments that he was then wearing ; there could be no 

more exalted khtfaf than these. 

At the same time, the Afghan king promised to 

Mughlani Begam the Jalandar doab, Jamu and Kashmir 

as her fiefs. She sent agents to these places to establish 

her own government, and invited Adina Beg to come 

out of his retreat and administer the Jalandar doab as 

her deputy. But she was soon undeceived. Ahmad 

Shah had annexed the Sarhind district as the dowry of 

Alamgir^s daughter Muhammadi Begam, who had been 

married to his son Timur Shah, and at the time of 

withdrawing from India he decided to leave this prince 

as his viceroy in the Panjab.* An independent 

• Timur Shah’s first viceroyalty of Labor : Miskin, 145-170. 
As Adina Beg defaulted in paying the tribute of Jalandar 

doab, Timur Shah’s wazir threw DliarSm (the agent of Adina at 
the I^ihor subahdar’s Court) into prison* Mughlani Begam stood 

r> 
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authority like Mughlani could not be allowed to hold 

the Jalandar doab and thus interpose a break between 

Labor and Sarhind, nor could the Panjab province be 

shorn of its northern hill territories, Kashmir and Jamu. 

He, therefore, revoked his gift and told Mughlani to 

take instead jagirs worth Rs. 30,000 a year elsewhere 

from Timur Shah. This she refused to do, but followed 

Ahmad Shah to the bank of the Chenab, vainly implor¬ 

ing him to give her the territories first promised. Thence, 

by way of Sialkot she returned to Labor, where this 

unreasonable woman passed some time, dunning Timur 

and exasperating his wa«ir Jahan Khan by the violence 

of her wrangling. Her obstinacy only humiliated 

her and brought down upon her head poverty and 

scorn in a city which she had once ruled with sovereign 

power. A beggar cannot dictate the nature of her alms. 

The young prince Timur Shah was left in Labor 

as viceroy with his fathers ablest general Sardar Jahan 

Khan as his guardian and wazir. The backbone of his 

armed force consisted of 10,000 Persian troops of his 

security for the payment of the six lakhs due from Adina and 

thus effected Dilaram's release. Then she advised Dilaram to flee 

from Labor at night, go to Adina and procure the money, as his life 

at Labor was made intolerable by the Afghans constantly beating 

him for payment But Adina did not pay the money, and then 
the Afghan wazir beat the Begam with sticks with bis own hand 

severely ! For 2 days she was kept confined in a small room and 
unspeakable oppression was done to her. [Miskin, 170.] 
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father^s army. But Jahan Khan enlisted India-born 

soldiers on the lower scale of pay prevailing in this 

country. This military strength and the terror of the 

Abdali king who stood behind his son, imposed peace 

and order on that unhappy province after the late chaos. 

"Justice was done in the capital and the districts, and 

the roads became safe for traffic once more." Timur 

had the wisdom to lease out the government of the 

Jalaudar doab to Adina Beg for 32 lakhs of Rupees 

a year, conceding to him the privilege that he would 

not be required to attend the viceregal Court at Labor 

but would be represented there by his former wakil 

Dilaram. In fact, Adina Beg had administered that 

doab for such a long time,—ever since Abdus Samad 

Saif-ud-daulah^s regime,—and established such local 

influence there, especially by his understanding with 

the Sikhs, that it was recognized on all hands that he 

was the only man who could keep that territory in order 

and extract any revenue from it. [Miskin, 167.] 

After thus settling the new administration, Jahan 

Khan planned to cut off a large body of Sikh rebels who 

had assembled at Amritsar for a religious bath, and, as 

was their usual practice, had taken to plunder and 

violence. Two divisions, under Haji Atai Khan and 

the wazir, were ordered to converge upon the city and 

attack the Sikhs simultaneously. But Atai Khan delayed 

his inarch, so that when Jahan Khan approached 

Amritsar with 2,000 horsemen, he was unsupported 
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and had to meet the full force of the Sikh attack. 

“Many of our men turned to flee, but the Sikhs had 

left them no path to escape by, and they had to return 

to our group. We fought in desperation. Then Haji 

Atai arrived and put the Sikhs to flight. The victors 

gave chase, occupied Amritsar, and slew five Sikh 

infantrymen who were standing on guard before a 

screened door”—evidently the shrine of their Holy 

Book. IMiskin, 162.| 

§ 7. Timur Shakes (uiministratioH breaks 

down. Its causes. 

Timur governed the Panjab for one year, from May 

1757 to April 1758. But this fair prospect of the 

reign of law and order in the Panjab was soon over¬ 

cast. Two Afghan troopers when coming from Sarhind 

to Labor, were killed in the territory of the fort of 

Budha Ramdas. Jahan Khan at once sent some bailiffs 

to compel the headman of the place to produce the 

culprits. These men, following the Persian practice, 

beat him so hard that he was brought to death^s door, 

and saved his life only by escaping at night to some 

unknown village. The entire Sikh community felt 

insulted by this outrage on the headman, who was a 

notable religious guide (Baba) and a rich revenue farmer 

too. “Prom that day the peace and orderly rule which 

had been recently established in the country disappeared 

and the Sikhs rose in rebellion on all four sides.” 
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The mischief was only aggravated by the attempt 

to allay it. Adina Beg had accepted the governorship 

of the Jalandar doab on the express condition of not 

being required to present himself before Timur Shah. 

But now the viceroy, in despair, pressed him to come 

to Labor and devise means for subduing the Sikhs. 

Adina flatly refused, and when threatened for his 

contumacy, fled away to the Balwan (? Balsan) hills. “Tn 

consequence of it, utter disorder spread throughout 

the Panjab. The wazir Jahan Khan sent Sarafraz 

Afghan of Attock and Ghufran Khan as governors to 

Jalandar and Kashmir respectively, but both of 

them returned defeated in the course of a 

month. Utter lawlessness prevailed. Every force 

that was sent out by Timur was defeated. Even the 

environs of his capital were not safe. Every night 

thousands of Sikhs used to assemble and plunder the 

suburbs lying outside the walls of Labor ; but no force 

was sent to repel them, and the city gates were kept 

closed by way of precaution I’'* This was the sad 

state of things from November 1757 to February 1758. 

‘*Thc Sikhs gathering together, by our \i. e,, Maratha] 

advice, began to upset Abdali^s rule ; from some place 

they expelled his outposts. They defeated Sadat Khan 

Afridi, plundered all the Jalandar doab, and forced him 

to flee to the hills. By order of the subahdar, Kliwajah 

* Miskin, 165-170. Adina antagonized,-Ghulam Ali, i. 54. 
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Ubaid Khan came from Labor with 20^000 horse and 

foot to fight the Sikhs. In the end ho was defeated, 

many of his captains were slain, all his camp and baggage 

were plundered ; all the artillery left behind by Abdali 

was captured.” \SPD, ii. 83.| 

§ 8. First Maratha invasion of the Panjah, 17f)S, 

Adina Beg had no doubt succeeded in repelling 

Timur Shakes general Sarafraz Khan in his invasion 

of the Jalandar doab. But his armed force was only 

10,000 men, and he doubted if he would be able to 

defeat fresh attacks by superior forces of Durrani troops, 

or save his people from the atrocities of these ruthless 

foreign soldier}^ So, in helplessness, he opened 

negotiations with Raghunath Rao, the Peshwa^s brother, 

then posted near Delhi at the head of a vast army, and 

called the Maratlias to his defence, promising to pay 

them one lakh of Rupees for every day of marching 

and half that amount for each day of halt during their 

presence in his faujdari.* 

In August 1757 a large Maratha army under 

Raghunath Rao with Malhar Holkar and some other 

generals had arrived near Delhi as the ally and master 

of the wazir Imad-ul-mulk. They fought and drove 

* Raghunath Rao’s invasion of the Panjab : Miskin, 171-182. 

Ghulam Ali, i. 55-57. TALS. 1515, 1645-165, 178a (return.) 

SPD, ii. 41, 78. xxi. Ill, 116, 150. xxvii. 148, 220, 218. Mux. 
128. Husain Shahi, 44-45. 
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Najib-ud-daulah out of Delhi (6 Sep.), and for the next 

four months roved through the country round Delhi 

plundering the markets and exacting contributions from 

the landowners. Their success in taking away Najib^s 

jagir of Saharanpur emboldened them to talk of advanc¬ 

ing to Labor and wresting that province from Abdali’s 

son. On hearing of it, Abdus Samad Khan Mohmand, 

a native of the Peshawar district and Abdali’s faujdar 

of Sarhind, collected a large force and advanced to 

Thaneshwar, where he was joined by Najib^s son ; but 

the Deccanis shrank from advancing into the Panjab or 

even fighting him where he was (Oct. 1757.) Then, 

after raiding many places in the Gangetic doab, Malhar 

recrossed the Jamuna (end of December) and laid siege 

to Kunjpura (75 miles north of Delhi), plundering the 

country from Delhi up to Thaneshwar. 

This close approach of the Marathas to Sarhind 

greatly alarmed Abdus Samad Khan. He was at that 

time absent from his headquarters on a punitive 

expedition against Ala Singh. At the end of March 

1757, when the front division of Abdali^s army under 

Prince Timur was transporting the plundered wealth of 

Delhi to Labor, this Ala Singh in concert with other 

Sikh robbers had barred his path at Sanawar (between 

Ambala and Patiala) and robbed him of half his treasures, 

and again attacked and plundered him at Maler Kot. 

So great had been the success of these brigands 

that rumour had magnified it into the princess captivity 



7‘J FALL OF THE MUGHAL EMPIRE fCH. XFV 

and even death at their hands. When, next month, 

Abdali himself with his main army retreated by this 

route, Ala Singh had shrunk from provoking him. In 

December Abdus Samad invaded Sunam (40 m. s. w. of 

Patiala) in the territory of Ala Singh, and imposed a 

fine on him. Hearing of Malhar^s approach the faujdar 

quickly settled that business, hastened back to Sarhind 

(12 January 1758), and set himself to repairing its fort 

walls and digging defensive trenches round the city. 

But Malhar turned back from Kunjpura after exacting 

five lakhs, and Sarhind was saved. Just at this time, 

when Malhar^s women were on a visit to Thaneshwar 

and Kurukshetra for a religious bath, a local force of 

Abdus Samad besieged them in Shahabad, but the 

Maratha escort fought well, slew many of the Afghans, 

and captured their horses (middle of January.)* 

A month later the Maratha invasion of the Panjab 

began. Their main army under Raghunath and Malhar,— 

whose strength rumour swelled to two lakhs of men,— 

reached Sarhind and laid siege to it, while their 

raiding bands spread all over the district, plundering 

the villages around. Adina Beg with his own troops 

and a hired force of professional Sikh freebooters from 

the west of the Satlaj, crossed that river and joined 

the Marathas before Sarhind. After a few days^ 

e?:change of gunfire, Abdus Samad found his position 

untenable. In trying to escape he was wounded and 

♦ Eajwade^ i. page 85. TAL8, 1505451a. 
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captured^ along with Jangbaz Khan and other Afghan 

captains^ but well treated by Raghunath (21 March. DC.) 

“The Marathas and Sikhs so thoroughly looted Sarhind 

city that none of its inhabitants, high or low, male or 

female, had a cloth left on his person. Pulling the 

houses down, they carried off the timber and dug the 

floors up for buried money.’’ \TALS. 1()4/a Miskin, 173.1 

Flushed with this easy victory, the allies advanced 

towards Labor. In the meantime, at the first news of 

the defection of Adina Beg and the movement of the 

Marathas, Jahan Khan had got a force together and 

advanced to Batala in eight days. From this place he 

detached 2,000 horse under Yusuf Khan to enter the 

doab and scout for intelligence, each day roving 20 

miles on the right or left side of the road, or in front. 

After some weeks this force learnt that Sarhind had 

fallen ; they rapidly withdrew from the doab, and in 

two days recrossed the Bias at Rahila ghat, and joined 

Jahan Khan. That general fell back on Jalalabad, 

where he halted for eight days, but on learning that the 

Marathas had crossed the Satlaj and entered the doab, 

he made a forced retreat to Labor in four days. 

§ 9. Marathas occupy Lahor and expel Afghans. 

It was impossible for Timur Shah to defend Lahor 

against the myriads of Marathas \ the fort was out of 

repair and insiifBciently provisioned with food and 

material; the Sikh population throughout the province 
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was hostile, his reliable troops^ Afghans and F^crsian 

Turks, numbered only a few thousands, and there was 

no hope of relief from Ahmad Shah who was troubled 

by risings in Khurasan and had to go there in person 

with all his forces. So Timur decided on flight 

19 April.) Setting up a temporary camp on the other 

bank of the Ravi, he and his Durrani followers loaded 

their property in carts and sent it by repeated trips 

from the city to this camp. Every one was busy in 

preparing for the exodus ; none thought of making a 

stand or guarding the city. Next day news came that 

the vanguard of the invaders under Adina Beg and 

Manaji Paygud^ had crossed the Bias and arrived 

twelve miles north of Labor. That day at noon Timur 

abandoned his capital and crossed over to the camp, 

his wazir following him. Throughout that day of 

evacuation, utter confusion and terror reigned in the 

masterless city ; but Tahmasp Khan (pen-name Miskin)^ 

a former page of Muin-ul-mulk, on his own initiative 

shut the city gates and patrolled the streets all night. 

At about nine o^clock next morning, 500 Maratha 

horsemen and a hundred Mughalia troopers of Khwajah 

Mirza under ^Xshur Ali Khan, appeared at the Delhi gate 

of Labor. Miskin at once opened the gate and entrusted 

the city to their care. A day later Khwajah Mirza 

himself arrived with 1,000 Mughalia and 10,000 Maratha 

horse. But early in that morning Timur Shah had 

marched away from his camp towards Kabul, after 
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setting fire to the heaps of apparel and other things that 

he could not carry oif, and leaving behind him a small rear¬ 

guard under Mir Hazar Khan. Kliwajah Mirza crossed 

the Ravi and attacked this force, which fled while fight¬ 

ing, but was enveloped by the cloud of Maratha light 

horse and its leader taken prisoner. At this Timur 

quickened his pace. Jahan Khan at first halted at Sarai 

Kanchi, 36 miles north-west of Labor; but Khwajah 

Mirza, whose force had now been trebled by reinforce¬ 

ments from Labor, came up with him. Lack of artillery 

prevented him from storming the sarai, and taking 

advantage of this resj)ite, Jahan Khan slipped out of 

the place, and found safety by crossing the Chenab near 

Wazirabad. The depth of the river and the hurry of the 

flight prevented Timur Shah from taking to the other side 

any but his Durrani clansmen. All his other troops,— 

Lzbak, Qizilbash and Afghan, as well as his entire camp 

and baggage, wore left behind on the eastern bank of the 

Chenab and fell into the hands of the Marathas and 

their Panjabi allies. ^^The spoils were shared between 

the Marathas and Adina Beg. Khwajah Mirza and his 

troops thus became very rich. Every day some Central 

Asian horses came to hand. He enlisted the captured 

Uzbak and Qizilbash soldiers and officers in bis own 

army.^^ fMiskin, 179.] 

The Marathas did not venture to carry the war across 

the Chenab, because the river was too deep for fording 

and the country beyond it was mostly tenanted by 
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Afghan supporters of the Durrani cause.* Labor was 

captured about 10th April 1758. Raghunath passed one 

entire month there. He wisely realized that as his own 

troops could not be induced to garrison a province so 

distant from their home and subject to such severe 

winter, and as the universal rebellion of the Sikhs made 

its direct administration by Maratha officers impossible, 

the only means of keeping the Panjab in nominal 

allegiance to the Maratha power and getting any revenue 

out of it was to entrust it to Adina Beg, who had a very 

old understanding with the Sikhs and possessed the 

experience of many years’ successful administration of 

that country. So, Adina Beg was given the viceroyalty 

of the Panjab on promising on annual tribute of 75 lakhs 

of Rupees. After this settlement, the Maratha chiefs 

and their soldiers marched back towards Delhi, arriving 

at Sonepat on 14th June. Adina Beg went back to 

his home in the Jalandar doab, leaving his son-in-law 

Khwajah Mirza Khan to govern Labor as his deputy.f 

* Not a single Maratha soldier crossed the Chenab, The 

assertion that the Maratha standards were carried up to the Indus 
at Attock, is an ignorant boast. 

t SPD, xxvii. 218. Muz. 128. From this point the historian 

loses the primary source for Panjab history, namely, the auto¬ 

biography of the ‘Eye-witness’ Miskin, who now left Labor in the 

company of x4dina Beg and henceforth wrote of Labor affairs 

only on hearsay. 

Death of Adina Beg and administration of Khwajah Mirza: 
Miskin 182, 194. TAL8, 190^-191^^. SPD. ii. 96. 
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But this nominal Maratha domination gave no peace 

to the Panjab. Adina Beg Khan enjoyed his highest 

glory for five months only. On 13 October 1758 he 

died after a prolonged illness and in the fulness of 

years. Immediately afterwards, confusion broke out 

in the Panjab at the disappearance of the strong and 

clever hand that had held the realm in order for so 

many years. The wazir Imad-ul-mulk tried to escheat 

the dead subahdaPs property to the State, but he was 

prevented by a Maratha force which the retreating 

Raghunafch had hurriedly sent up from Malwa 

(November.) At Labor, Khwajah Mirza Khan now 

engaged in governing the province as substantive 

subahdar. ^‘The Sikhs were such rebels and robbers 

that the governor could not cope with them.^^ Maratha 

armies one after another reached Lahor and its districts 

and took up their posts. Beyond the Jhilara some 

Afghans and Gakkhars in concert looted the Gujrat 

pargana and crossed over to the east bank of this river, 

Khwajah Mirza with a band of Sikhs came up from 

Lahor, defeated and drove them back across the river. 

He followed them to the other bank and entrenched. 

But the Afghans and Gakkbars reappeared in vaster 

numbers and defeated him there. On hearing that 

Maratha armies were marching up from Lahor to his aid, 

the Afghans shrank from coming over to the eastern 

bank of the Jhilam again, (evidently in December 1758.) 
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The Sindhias in the Panjah, 1759. 

But Khwajah Mirza^s worst enemies were at home. 

^^The Qizilbash captains of Timur^s army whom he had 

captured [and afterwards enlisted] made a coalition 

with the Marathas. From among them, their leading 

captain, Mirza Ahmad Khan, made himself subahdar 

of Labor, and the second highest, Salih Khan, that of 

Multan. They paid some money to the Marathas in 

cash and promised more, and placed Khwajah Mirza 

and his brother Khwajah Said Khan in confinement.^^ 

jMiskin, 194.| This anarchy in the Panjab and ruin of 

the Maratha interests there induced the Peshwa to 

send a strong force to that province under the able 

and spirited Dattaji Sindhia. This general reached 

the eastern bank of the Satlaj in the first week of 

April 1759 and halted at Machhiwara for about three 

weeks. Here Adina Beg^s son came and saw him and 

paid some money on account of the tribute due from 

his father. By his advice, Dattaji sent Sabaji 

Sindhia* with an army to Labor to take over the 

governorship of the province directly into Maratha 

* A Marathi letter from Delhi [SPT). ii. 100] written 2 May 

says that Jankoji recalled Sabaji from Labor and ordered Naro 

Shankar there. But we find Sabaji actually serving as governor 

of the Panjab till the expulsion of the Marathas in October 

next. TALS. 2056 says that Jankoji crossed the Satlaj and 

entered the Jalandar doab; but the Marathi records prove that 

he turned back from Machhiwara to Delhi without crossing the 

Satlaj. 



17591 ABDAIJ KECONQUKKS PANJAB 79 

hands. finding that in Labor and around it the 

Sikhs were predominant and commanded a vast force, 

making the comjuest of the Panjab difficult, Dattaji 

turned back towards Delhi.^’ [TALS, 205/a] 

§ 11. Final Ahdali coruiucsi of ike Panjah. 

This second Maratba occupation of Labor lasted 

barely six months, but the terror of the vast forces 

of Dattaji lying within easy call of Sabaji, caused that 

governor to be obeyed by all the chiefs and landholders 

of the province. At the end of August Sabaji beat 

back an invasion of Jahan Khan from Peshawar. The 

Afghan general lost his son and many of his troops 

in killed and wounded, and himself retreated with 

wounds across the Indus. but Raj. vi. 378 credits 

the Sikhs with achieving this victory.] But the scene 

changed early in October next, when news came that a 

strong Durrani army under Jahan Khan as commander- 

in-chief had crossed the Indus and was marching 

towards Labor. By this time Dattaji was inextricably 

involved in the siege of Shukartal, 70 miles east of 

Panipat, and Sabaji finding himself too weak to 

confront the Afghans fell back from Labor. The 

advance of the invaders was rapid and unopposed. 

Arriving at Wazirabad, Jahan Khan sent out his troops 

to raid on all sides. The capital of the Panjab was 

without a governor or a garrison. Jahan Khan sent 

3 or 4 of his men ahead to Surat Singh, a banker of 
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Labor, with a letter bidding him stamp coins and read 

the khuiha in the name of Timur Shah and issue a 

proclamation warning all people not to oppress any 

citizen. 

Sabaji with his main force fell back precipitately, 

by way of Batala, Jalandar and Sarhind towards 

Shukartal, without halting anywhere.* Consternation 

and flight raged in Sarhind. Sadi(j Beg Khan, who 

had been the Maratlia faujdar of Sarhind, and 

Adina Beg’s widow and sons fled away from 

their places to Delhi at the report of the advance of 

the Afghans. 

The entire province of the Panjab was abandoned 

to the Afghans, but not without a severe loss of men 

to the Marathas. Though Sabaji did not stand up to 

a fight, his detachments, dispersed throughout the 

country, could not be withdrawn in absolute safety ; a 

general and several soldiers of the Marathas who had 

lagged too long behind near Labor, were overtaken 

and cut off* by the Afghan vanguard. One corps of 

(j,000 Maratha horse and foot posted in Multan retreated 

to the east of Labor without loss. But in the Jalandar 

doab the disappearance of all authority tempted its 

TALS» 21\h and 213/> and SPD, ii. 116 say that he 
retreated without halting or fighting. But an encounter between 

his troops and the Durrani vanguard is mentioned in Govind 

Pant Bundel^’s letter of 8 Nov. J(Raj. i. 142) and Mm, 175. 

Miskin (202) shows that it was the Maratha rear-guard that was cut 
off by the advancing Afghans. 
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notoriously lawless peasants to rise against these 

fugitives. When only a part of this force had crossed the 

Satlaj the villagers fell upon those left behind and 

plundered them of 4,000 camels (worth Rs. 40 each), 

and of most of their horses, treasure and other 

property. Only a thousand horses and ponies escaped 

<5apture, and 500 well-born Maratha cavaliers had to 

march on foot through this loss of their mounts. But 

though the Marathas failed, the Sikhs opposed the 

invaders, and in a severe battle with them the Afghans 

triumphed only at the cost of 2,000 of their own men. 

{Raj. i. 14G.| After establishing his government in 

Liihor, the Abdali king resumed his march and entered 

Sarhind on 27 November 1759. Thus, the Panjab 

was finally lost to the empire of Delhi. 

G 



CHAPTER XV 

The Af(4han Invasion of 1757. 

1. uib^hdi invades the Panjah, bnad fails to 

orffanixe defence. 

Early in the autumn of 175(>, Ahmad Shah Abdali 

set out from Kabul on the invasion of India. On 4th 

October a detachment of his troops entered Labor and 

reinstated Khwajah Abdullah as governor. His envoy 

Qalandar Bog Khan reached the Court of Delhi and 

was first received in audience on 31st October^ and 

though the wazir Imad-ul-mulk kept him in play for a 

months he could not be detained for ever and took his 

cong6 on 9 th December^ without receiving any 

satisfactory reply. 

Meantime the Afghan king, after a halt at Peshawar, 

had resumed his march on 15th November and crossed 

the Indus at Attock eleven days later. His vanguard 

under Sardar Jahan Khan had preceded him by some 

weeks and expelled Adina Beg from the Jalandar doab. 

Abdali himself entered Labor on 20 December and 

spent some twelve days there in arranging for the 

government of the province and exacting tribute from 

the Rajah of Jammu, reputed to be the richest feudatory 

of the Panjab. The way having been cleared by Jahan 
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Khan, who had crossc^d the Satlaj and occupied the 

country beyond it up to Sarhind by 6th January 1757, 

Abdali himself crossed that river [r, 10 January) and 

reached Sarhind, while Jahan Khaii made a further 

advance to Panipat (12 January.) 

AVe shall now see what the Government of Delhi had 

been doing all this time. The nows of the Afghan 

occupation of Labor (4 October) and the flight of its 

leading men to Sarhind had been followed a fortnight 

latei* by the arrival of the Afghan envoy at Delhi (end of 

October.) The popular report was that Abdali himself 

would follow his vanguard and wreak vengeance on Imad 

for having insulted and plundered Mughlani Ik^gam whom 

the Afghan king used to call his daughter. The danger 

was gi'eat, but Imad did not know what to do. The 

disbandment of the Sin-dagh risala had left him utterly 

without troops, except for a few hundred men under 

Bahadur Khan Baluch. He calh'd to his side Salabat 

Khan Zulfiqar Jang, ex-Bakhshi of the last Emperor, who 

had been living in unemployment and disgrace at Agra. 

But this last great noble of the age of Farrukhsiyar and 

Muhammad Shah was now an aged phantom only, and 

sank into the grave on 6 June 1757. Imad next 

appealed to Najib Khan for help, but the Ruhela 

demanded the unpaid salary of the troops he had been 

entertaining for the wazir’s service, and an acrimonious 

discussion between the two chiefs resulted. On 8th 

November Najib visited the wazir with a large force, and 
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on his way back at night looted five or six shop,s in the 

wazir^s camp bazar, ^^none daring to oppose him/^ 

\TALS. 81/a1 

Najib having failed, the next master of a respectable 

force was Suraj Mai Jat, and to him the imperial 

chancellor now turned. Through Nagar Mai he sought 

to placate Suraj Mai, whom he had been vindictively 

pursuing since October 1753 for his partisanship of 

Safdar Jang. At his call Suraj Mai came to Tiljiat, south 

of Delhi, and met the wazir\s envoy as well as Najib 

Khan. But the negotiations broke down on a conflict 

of policy : the Jat Rajah rightly argued that the best 
defence of the empire was for the wazir to take a 

personal lead in the war, combine the Ruhelas, Jats, 

Rajputs and old Mughal nobility in an anti-Maratha 
campaign, confine the Deccani spoliators to the south 

of the Narmada, and after thus ensuring the safety of 

their homes lead their united forces into the Pan jab for 

expelling the Afghan invader, as had been done in 1748. 

But the sole prop of Jmad^s power were the 

Marathas and he would not cast them off. So Suraj 

Mai, finding further discussion useless, went back to hLs 

forts in disgust, leaving Imad to his fate. | TALS, 82^>-84a.l 

§ 2. Afghan invaders approach Delhi, Fruitless 

peace efforts. Panic and flight from Delhi, 

The month of November 1756 wore out in holding 

such futile talks and the putting off of any decision, as 
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is the facile habit of men without strength of will* 

With December came alarming news. On the 9th of 

that month the capital learnt that Abdali had crossed 

the Indus 13 days before. There could now be 

no mistaking his intentions, ^^it became known 

that he wanted to come to Delhi.^^* Ten days later 

came reports of the nearer approach of the danger j 

Abdali^s troops had penetrated plundering up to 

Batala and Adinaiiagar. That day ^^the wazir sent 

otr letters summoning the Marathas, the Jat Rajah, 

and Shuja-ud-daulah. The great men of the capital 

* Ahmad JShah Abdali in Delhi, 1757 : the most detailed and 

authentic sources are DC, (invaluable) and TALS, 80-102, with 

graphic touches in the narrative of Shaikh Ghulam Hasan Samin, 

tr. by W. Irvine in Indian Antiquary, 1907, (which has many 

inaccuracies of date due to its having been written 25 years after 

the event.) The Maratha letters, so valuable and accurate at other 
times, fail us during this period, as Antaji Manakeshwar fled 

away from Delhi on 19th January and Bapu M. Hingano on 

7th Feb., and what they wrote afterwards was distant hearsay ; 

so also were the private newsletters received at Jhansi or 

Aurangabad and communicated to the Peshwa. Antaji s gasconade 

and reviling of Bapu must be taken with a grain (or rather an 

ounce) of salt. The two 18th century histories of Abdali, nix,, 

Mujmil and Tarikh-i-Husain IShahi^ are meagre about this period 

and the latter work is often confused and inaccurate. TariJch4-- 

Muxaffari and Shakir’s Memoirs are very brief, and Siyar-uD 

mutakkkJairin is only a secondary and very distant compilation of 

a quarter century later. Miskin only tells us of Mughlani Begam’s 

doings and his own sufferings (129-139.) Xur-ud-din is short but 

useful. 
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made preparations for Higlit” \DC-\ Next day (20 Dee.) 

Agha Raza Khan was sent off witli gifts worth two 

lakhs of Rupees to placate Abdali and turn him back 

from coming to Delhi. But this very day it was learnt 

at Delhi that the invaders had occupied all the country 

up to the western bank of the Satlaj, that Adina Beg 

had abandoned the Jalandar doab without a blow and 

fled away none knew where, and that ^^from Labor to 

Sarhind not a ])lace was left tenanted, all men, high 

and low, having fled away. A great distraction fell 

on Delhi also, the upper classes sent their families 

to Mathura and Agra in the jurisdiction of Suraj 

Mai, or to other places. The wazir, who wielded the 

empire without a sharer in his power, took no step 

to meet the danger ; he refused to go to Sarhind 

to oppose the invasion, but consulted darvishes how to 

overcome the enemy through their prayers without 

fighting. He would not spend money for raising an 

army. He only wrote letters summoning the Marathas, 

but they too demanded money. Najib Khan, in spite 

of the measureless favours shown to him by the wazir, 

planned to go away, crossing the Jamuna, to 

Saharanpur.” [TALS. 85/v-86a.] 

Feeble minds find their easiest refuge in consultation. 

The wazir held a council of the chief men in Delhi on 

25 December. They all advised him to march against 

the invaders taking the Emperor at their head. But 

the only effective force in Delhi was that of Najib, who 



17501 PANIC^ FLKJllT FKOM DELHI S7 

was known to be an enemy partisan. On the 29th, the 

wazir brought to the Empcror^s audience Yaqub Ali 

Khan (a cousin of Abdali’s wazir Shah Wali Khan, but 

long resident in India.) This man was created a ^-haxwri 

mansabdar and sent in company with Shah Fana, a faqir 

greatly honoured by Abdali, to go to the Afghan king 

and induce him not to invade the Delhi region. \ TAL8. 

iS()/y ; Raj. i. p. 437.] 

Further advance of the inv^aders was soon reported. 

Their vanguard (under Hasan Kban) had occupied the 

deserted city of Sarhind. “At this news great alarm 

prevailed in the capital, and an exodus began ^ the 

families of Khushbalchand, Lachhmi Narayan, Nagar 

Mai and Diwiili Singh migrated to seek refuge in 

Mathura.” Even Muhammadans did not feel safe. The 

wazir himself sent his family away to Rajputana. Antaji 

Manakeshwar, at the head of 3000 horse, hitherto paid 

by the wazir, came from Gwalior at his call and halted 

on the eastern bank of the Jamuna opposite Delhi 

(30 December.) The wazir now ordered him to stop 

the flight of the panic-stricken citizens. He barred thei 

path south of Delhi ; “at this the fugitives wanted to 

return to Delhi, but the Marathas would not let them 

unless they gave up all their money and belongings 

for paying the soldiers who would in future be appointed 

to guard them. The people paid more or less, and came 

back to Delhi. The imperial Lord Chamberlain 

Zia-ud-daalah’s family was similarly obstructed, during 
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their flight, in the Old Fort, but the wazir secured their 

release on oth January 1757. AntajPs men acquired 

much money and jewellery. Passage out of Delhi was^ 

entirely stopped. The people who had emigrated before, 

mostly took up residence in Mathura, because during 

Nadir Shah^s invasion they had found safety there 

through the friendliness of the Jats. But this time, on 

the contrary, the Jats took money from the fugitives, 

at every outpost from Badarpur to Mathura. Mathura 

itself was so ci’owded that few could obtain any residence.. 

Theft became very prevalent.'’ {TjUjS, 87a-88a.J 

On 9 January came the news of the main Afghan 

army^s amval at Sarhind and of their dread lord 

marching close behind them. Next day another council 

of State was held, but the wazir would not agree to 

offer battle, as a muster taken showed only 3,000 men 

actually present and only six bullock-carts for transport I 

So, at midnight I mad by abject entreaty induced 

Mughlani Begam to start for Abdali's camp, for disarming 

his anger, and making terms which would avert his 

coming to Delhi. Next day (11th Jan.) the wazir found 

his mansion blockaded by his own troops (under Shahdil 

Khan Afghan) clamouring for their arrears of pay ! 

Such was the state to which the defence of the empire 

had been reduced under Iroad-ul-mulk^s ministry. 

On the 14th, the baffled envoy Agha Raza returned 

from Abdali^s camp with the doleful message that the 

Afghan invader had demanded two krores of Rupeea 
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in cash, the hand of the Emperor^s daughter, and all the 

territory from Sarhind westwards, as the condition of 

his going back, and that he had severely censured the 

Delhi Government for provoking his invasion when 

they could not fight but were bent on making terms. 

“On hearing these words, the people of the city became 

very much alarmed ; so that, on that very day the 

family of Rajah Jugalkishor set out for Mathura. 

Nearly 500 carts loaded with the people of the city, 

consisting of the Bhatiwal and other classes, accompanied 

them.” “The Emperor and wazir, powerless to fight, 

powerless to raise this ransom, sent Agha Raza again 

(15th) with piteous entreaties to the Afghan king.” 

\D(\ TALS. 90/>.| 

3. Afghan rangawd orra/nrs Iho Doab, 

By the 12th of January the Afglian vanguard (under 

Jahiin Khan) had arrived at Panipat and his master at 

Karnal, 20 miles behind him. Here the invaders 

changed their route and plan of campaign : while a 

small body of fleet skirmishers was pushed on towards 

Delhi to feel the way and establish contact with the 

Ruhela traitors within, Jahan Khan himself with 

the full vanguard crossed the Jamuna near Panipat, 

entered the Doab, and pushed on down the east bank 

of the river, by way of Kairana, Jhanjhana, Shamli and 

Kandhla, driving out the Maratha collectors from these 

places and slaying the governor of Shamli who had 
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ofVered resistance. He then encamped at Luni, daily 

sending out foragers on all sides. On lOth January, 

in the afternoon, these enemy bands were first sighted 

from the walls of Delhi fort, plundinang and driving 

their horses on the river bank opposite. The eastern 

bank having been thus secured, the central division left 

behind at Karnal under Abdali and his wazir pushed 

on due south towards Delhi and encamped at Narela, 

wh(‘re they were joined (19 January) by Najib’s Ruhelas. 

who had been posted outside the north gate of the 

capital. The invaders’ front skirmishers penetrated to 

the northern suburbs like Wazirabad, Kalipahari, etc. 

§ 4. hnad's IndplessiH'ss and stdnnlssion lo Ahdali : 

he is made prisoner. 

We shall now turn to the city and the movements 

of the wazir. On the 15th he urged for the first time 

the raising of a rampart round the city ! "Men from 

the Old City, Mughalpura and other places outside the 

gates went, some to New Delhi (/>., Shah Jahan’s city), 

some to the Old Fort, some to the Arab Sarai or the 

shrine of Nizam-ud-din Auliya. During this alarm the 

soldiers of Antaji Maratha began to plunder on the 

river bank {retiif^ Next day (19th) at noon the 

wazir went with a few men out of the palace to the 

Labor gate of the city. It was reported that Abdali^s 

forces had reached Narela, where the Ruhelas of Najib 

had joined them. "The other captains with their troops 
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got ready and joined the wazir, who merely sat down 

in the Masjid Pari beyond the Labor gate, being over¬ 

come by terror and cowardice, consciouB of his inability 

to oppose Abdali and incapable of fighting in desperation 

like a hero.” 

‘^11 the morning of the 17th, Jahan Khan’s foragers 

again appeared on the other side of the Jamuna and 

stayed there till noon. The wazir went to the sandy bank 

of Rajghat, and planted some guns, but there was no 

cannonier! So, he stood under the jharolca balcony, 

on the river bank, in battle array, merely gazing*^ at the 

enemy troopers on the other side, for some hours ! All 

people advised him to go out and tight at least one 

battle, so as to remove the brand of infamy from their 

foreheads ^ the only pacifist was, (characteristically 

* Tniad defejided himself before Sayyid 81i(!r-andaz Khan, 

envoy from Ahmad T3angash to Abdali, thusWhen the 

[DiUTanil 8hah drew near to Delhi. I told Najib Khan, ‘We 

must deliver one battle against the Bhah.’ His answer was, 'Pay 

me this day two hrores of Riii)ecs, cash down, and I will fight.’ 

I replied, ‘Nothing is due to you by the State for your arrears 
and pay, seeing that... I have handed over to you more than 

one-half of the [Doab] territories. At a day’s notice whence can 

I produce such a sum of money f Najib Khan and Ids followers 

raised a tumult and for a whole day barred exit from and ingress 

to my house That very same day a letter came from the Shall 

inviting Najib Khan lb his camp. At midnight Najib came out 
of Delhi and marched off to the Shahs camp... T saw that ir) 

the realm of Hind there was no defender, I was left alone. 

[Ind. Antiqmnj, 1907, p. 44,] 
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enough,) a Kashmiri, named Ibadullah Khan. In the 

evening, after the invaders had retired |to their camp|, 

a party of Marathas and other soldiers crossed the river 

and roved from Patparganj to Mir Zeba^s garden, but 

there was no Abdali troop there at that time, and they 

came back to Delhi at sunset.^^ \TALS, 91fl^-92/>, D(\\ 

That very night (1 7-1 iS January), Najib Khan crossed 

over from Wazirabad to Jahan Khan’s camp at Luni. 

His mask was now thrown otf; he was openly known 

to be in concert with the alien invaders. It is impossible 

for the historian to apportion between Najib and Imad 

the responsibility for the atrocities endured by the Delhi 

Mathura and Agra people during this Afghan invasion ; 

if one was a double-dyed traitor, the other was an arrant 

coward ; both were extremely selfish and incapable 

of patriotism, because India was not their patria. 

In the morning of the ISth Agha liaza and Yaqub 

Ali came back from Abdali with the message that he 

desired the Emperor and his wazir to visit him, when 

the peace terms would be directly discussed. So, three 

hours before the next morning (19th January), Imad 

secretly left his mansion on horseback followed by only 

four attendants, and reaching Badli in 4^/2 hours entered 

the camp of Abdali^s wazir Shah Wali Khan, by whom 

he was most kindly received, and next day (20th) 

presented to Abdali, The Afghan monarch was wrathful 

with the Delhi wazir for his having married a dancing- 

girFs daughter (Ganna Begam) in preference to his 
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betrothed, the riobJy born Umda Begam, whose suit 

had been pressed by Abdali for the sake of Uinda^s 

mother, Mughlani Begani. The conqueror also asked 

with surprise and contempt how the first officer of the 

empire of Hindustan could make an abject submission 

without striking even one blow to save the nation^s 

credit. Imad explained how he had to marry Ganna in 

order to keep his earlier promise to that girPs family, 

whereas Mughlani Begam had insisted on his divorcing 

his other wife as a condition of marrying Umda. As 

for resisting Abdali by arms, it was a task beyond 

Imad^s power, owing to Xajib's defection, as ^^except 

that noble there was within the empire no other 

renowned commander with an arrny.^’ Ahmad Shah 

then told Imad that his rival fntizam had offered two 

kroros of Rupees as a consideration for giving him the 

wazirship, but that Imad could retain that post if he 

agreed to pay one kror only. Imad replied, ^^This 

slave cannot lay his hands upon even one lakh. Whence 

can I produce a kror ? . . . I cannot collect even a 

kror of broken pebble-stones in Delhi. What chance 

then of getting Rupees So, he then and there 

resigned the chancellorship of a State that had no army 

and no treasure. Abdali now issued a rescript conferring 

the post on Intizam, and carried Imad about in his 

train as a captive, because he was sure to call his 

Maratha allies back to Delhi if set at liberty.* 

• Imad in Antiquary, p. 45 ; (some confusion of dates 
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5. TJte invaders ocrapy Delhi ; Alaniyir II deposed. 

The encampment of the invaders in the immediate 

north of the city made it easy not only for Najib^s* 

Ruhelas but also for Shahdil Khan and two other 

Afghan captains of Irnad to go over to their invading 

fellow-clansmen. The Sindagh risala (or Central Asian 

troopers numbering 12,000) whom Imad had disbanded 

in 1755 and the Delhi artillery division of cannoniers 

and musketeers recruited in Oudh and Baksar, 11,000 

strong, who were still in open mutiny for their heavy 

arrears of pay, now sent to Najib, begging him to save 

them from unemployment and starvation by enlisting them 

in the Shah^s service. A contingent of Qasur Afghans, 

about 5,000 in number, led by Tsmari Khan Khweshgi, 

had joined the invader on the way. Thus an Indian 

force of 25,000 men was added to the 30,000 troops of 

his own country that Abdali had brought with him.* 

Any opposition from Delhi being clearly impossible, 

and therefore of the order of e>ent8, corrected from DC. and 
7'ALS.) SPD, xxi. 96. 

♦ “The correct number of Abdali’s troops is 30 to thousand 

men, not more.'* “The Pathan has 20,000 men ot his own and 
has engaged 25,000 troops in Delhi’^ [Marathi reports in f'eb. SPD. 

xxi. 100, 108.] Nur-ud-din Hasan's Life of yajih. 

The home of the disbanded Sindagh risala (or Turki troops) 

was Mughalpura, a suburb north-west of Delhi city. They later 

negotiated for service under the Marathas. Another captain of 

Abdali, named Jangbaz Khan Bangash, commanded a force of 

3500 or less, out of whom only fKX) were Durrani soldiers, the 
rest being Indian recruits. 
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the Afghan division under Jahiin Khan worked its way 

down the Jamuna from Luni and crossed over to the 

west bank, some miles south of the capital on 21st 

fianuary. A small force detached 13 miles further 

south to Faridabad to bar the trunk road at that point 

was cut off by Antaji Manakeshwar, and for a week or ten 

days the Afghan advance to the south was stayed. But 

Najib’s army crossed into the Doab (24th) and Abdali 

himself entered Delhi on 28th January. 

We shall now see how the imperial city fared in the 

claws of the rapacious foreigner. The capital of an 

empire which, in name at least, embraced the entire 

Indian continent, was now absolutely without a single 

defender oi* caretaker. In the morning of I9th January 

1757, the desertion of Najib Khan, the flight of the 

wazir, and the withdrawal of the last JMaratha soldier 

became known, and at midnight Rajah Nagar Mai (the 

imperial diwan) and the few remaining great men fled 

away. Next day five military policemen {nasaqchi) 

from Abdali’s army entered city and made its police 

prefect proclaim the Shah^s order that none should 

molest the poor. This assurance stopped a fresh exodus 

that had b(*gun. 

On Friday the 21st, while the Emperor was saying 

his afternoon prayer in the palace mosque, Abdul Ahad 

Khan (the Third Paymaster) and Saif-ud-din Muhammad 

Khan Kashmiri (the brother of Aqibat Mahmud) went to 

Raushan-ud-daulah^s mosque,—with its bloody memories 



96 FALL OF TIIK MU(iHAr. EMPIHK [CH. XV 

of Nadir Shah^s massacro,—\>a]led the Chief Sadr, 

the imperial Qazi, and the muftis there, and caused the 

khutba to be read in the name of Ahmad Shah Durrani. 

The same thing was done in th(‘ Jami^ Masjid. Not 

one theologian or scholar refused to read the khufha 

in another princess name, while the Emperor of the 

Age was living in the citadel of the capital and 

had not been slain or made prisoner or expelled !” 

There is no evidence that this step was ordered by 

the Abdali king ; it was the work of the native syco¬ 

phants who wished to gain the conqueror^s favour by 

this proof of zeal in his cause ! ^^Alamgir, then seated 

in the chapel of the fort, heard the news, washed his 

hands of kingship, vacated the royal chambers (the 

Rangmahal, the Khwabgah, &c.), the private portico, and 

the lower portico, for occupation by his successor, 

handed over their keys to an officer of Najib, and moved 

with his entire family to the Shahburj quarter. Two 

days later he was ordered to vacate even this refuge, 

and return to the small com monplace rooms in which 

he used to lodge before his elevation to the throne. ^Tt 

was found that these last-named quarters were totally 

in ruin and unfit for habitation.” [TALS. 93/>-95i.| 

§ 6. Ahmad Shah Abdali enters Delhi fort 

On 23rd January Ahmad Shah himself reached 

Wazirabad and a detachment of his Qizilbash troops 

took over the charge of Delhi fort from Najib^s hands. 
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For some days the palace chambers were cleaned and 

carpeted for the residence of Abdali. In the night of 

25-2() he sent Jahan Khan to the suppressed Emperor, 

telling him, bestow the empire of Hindustan on you. 

Visit me tomorrow in full royal state/^ Next morning 

(the 20th) the few nobles, high and low, still left in 

Delhi, marched with their sovereign lord to Wazirabad 

and were welcomed and feasted by Abdali. Intizam 

was now presented and invested with the robe of wazir. 

The entire Delhi Court returned to the capital the same 

civening.* 

Next day (27 th January) arrangements were 

completed under Jahan Khan^s care for the conqueror^s 

visit to Delhi. It was proclaimed that along his route 

through the bazar to the fort no Indian should stand in 

the streets or on the terraces of houses for looking at 

his cortcxje, and all shops should be kept closed. Early 

in the morning of Friday the 2Sth of January, Ahmad 

Shah rode into the fort, his soldiers lining the route on 

both sides and firing a salute from their matchlocks. 

The Emperor advanced up to the Fathpuri mosque 

in order to welcome his august visitor. Abdali^s women, 

* “Alamgir II issued from Delhi mounted on a takM-i-rau%n, 
with a cloth awning over it, one elephant and one horse carrying 
his kettle-drums.'’ That was what the full pomp of the 'king of 
kings’ had now shrunk to. Abdali welcomed the Padishah by 
advancing a few steps, seated him on his own carpet, and then 
the two exchanged turbans [in sign of brotherhood] and presented 

robes to each other. {TALS* 96, Z>C.] 

7 
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mounted on camels and horses, also came with him and 

occupied the palace rooms vacated by Alamgir. The 

escort of the Shah dispersed through the bazars and 

lanes, looting many places, while the rich and spacious 

market of Badalpurii was set on fire in addition to being 

plundered. The Afghan camp and baggage dismounted 

in the city round the fort walls. On the 29th the two 

sovereigns held a Public Audience seated side by side. 

Abdul Ahad Khxn (created Abdul Majid Khan) was 

appointed diwari of kknlm and A bridge was 

ordered to be thrown without delay over the Jarauna 

below the city, and the Hindus were ordered, on pain 

of fine, to put paint marks on their foreheads to 

distinguish them from the invader’s brethren of the 

faith. 

^ 7. Ahdairs oppre^ssion for r.rlorHujf tmmen at Delhi, 

Secure in the |)Ossession of Delhi, the conqueror 

began the exaction of a money tribute. Before this, 

stray groups of his soldiers had robbed houses and 

wayfarers here and there, but that was unauthorized 

occasional looting and a few of the looters had been 

brutally punished by way of example. Now a methodical 

official spoliation of the fallen capital was ordered. 

Abdali was pressed for time. He must realize the 

spoils of war as (piickly as possible, in order to avoid 

the Indian summer and also to allow the Marathas no 

time for assembling and bringing up a large army from 
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the Deccan. Ho oxpeetod a vast smii^ worthy of the 

richest capita) in Asia.* While Intizarn was urj^od to 

collect the two krorrs promised by him, the screw was 

put on other rich incii also, linad was ordered to deliver 

to the Shah all the jewels h(^ had removed from the 

palace stores during his two and a half years of dictator¬ 

ship, and on his pleading poverty he was abused and 

subjected to ^^an extreme degree of dishonour.^^ |Dt7.| 

His house had been esch(‘ated from the first and he 

naturally replied, luive given you all I possessed. 

Whence can I produce more At this, Abdali^s officers 

rebuked and insulted him, beat his head servants 

with sticks as only heartless Afghans know how to 

beat, and dishonoured tlmin in many ways. They also 

bastinadoed Sangi Beg and Abdur Rahman Khan, the 

chief officers of Jutizain’s household, and Basant Khan, 

the eunuch in charge of the Emperor’s harem. Other 

palace eunuchs and noblemen’s servants wore subjected 

to similar violence to make them yield money. 

But even this did not bring in any large sum. So, 

the torture was extended from the servants to the 

* AbdaJi's exactions and atrocities in Delhi.—/>(7., 7\iLS, 99- 
102a. Imad in fmL Antiq., KW, 47-48. Bvmin ShaUt 3(1-37. SPD. 
xxi. 99, 104, 118, xxvii. 141. 

Imad secured as his patron Shah Wall Khan the Durrani 

wazir (one of his female relatives bcin^c in the latter’s harem.) 

Tntixam bought the support of the Durrani sardar .Tahan Khan, 

the rival of the wazir. When Intizam failed to pay his promised 
tribute, .lahau Khan felt humiliated before his master and there¬ 
fore severely chastised Intizam. [Iltimm Shabt^ 30. Ind. Ant. 45.J 
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masters. Intizam-ud-daulah, who had recklessly 

promised two krores for the wazirship, was taken to the 

Shah^s presence, shown a wooden triangle fixed in the 

ground, and told that unless he produced one kror that 

day he would be tied down to it and bastinadoed. At 

that time, beyond the ring on his finger he had not even 

one Rupee to dispose of. So, he stood trembling by 

the side of the triangle, his face white as a sheet. When 

Asked to point out the hiding place of his father’s 

hoarded treasure in his mansion, he replied that his 

mother Sholapuri Begam alone knew the secret. This 

old lady, the daughter-in-law of one grand wazir, the 

widow of another, and the mother of a third, was 

summoned and told that unless she showed the spot, 

iron pins would be driven in underneath the nails of 

her fingers. She fainted at the threat, and on recovery 

pointed out the room of the buried hoard. After six 

hours of digging by a hundred pioneers, lb lakhs in 

coins, besides golden silver and gem-studded vessels, 

were found under the floor (4th February.) A search 

was conducted in the new wazir’s harem under Jahan 

Khan’s supervision and these august ladies were 

stripped and hustled like beggar-women (6 Feb.) The 

mansion of Samsam-ud-daulah (late Paymaster General) 

was similarly dug up in search of buried treasure 

(7 Feb.) and the city kotwaPs house was robbed of all 

its wealth (13 Feb.). “The Afghans broke open the 

houses of the people who had fled away from the city, 
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including that of Hiranand Jauhari, the prince of 

merchants, and appropriated everything they found 

there.” \I)(\; TALS, 100/y, Samin in Iml. AnHquary^ 

p. 47.1 

S 8. Agotty of Delhi under the Afghan terror. 

As for the common people, a levy house by house 

for the entire city was decreed, the town was divided 

into sections for convenience of assessment, offices for 

collection were opened, and the entire work put in 

charge of Yahiya Khan, a son of the celebrated Zakariya 

Khan of Labor and for a short time his successor as 

subahdar of that province, but living in unemployment 

and poverty since 1748. “The richer men were 

summoned by name by means of letters. In every 

ward of the city a kalaposh sardar was stationed with 

his troops. Counting the houses, he demanded from 

each householder more than he could possibly pay. 

Great beating and extortion went on. Men, in fear of 

torture, wanted to sell their ornaments utensils and 

clothing, but found no buyer. Gold sold at Rs. 8 to 10 

B.tola I’=^180 grains I, pure silver at 2 tolas a Rupee, 

and alloyed silver at three. Utensils fof copper or 

brass I sold at 3 seers to the Rupee. Many citizens 

took poison on account of their poverty, many died 

under torment from wounds or burns being inflicted on 

their bodies. Even men who paid the levy, had their 

floors dug up and their houses plundered. Not a man 
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ill th(‘ city could osca])c this calauiity. This trouble 

raged from the 4 th to the 20th of Fi^bruary, when at 

lust a rumour arose that the Shah was about to march 

away^ and the collectors w<‘re urged to speed up the 

collection. Then they made a second demand on those 

who had paid already and th<‘ lx ating and slaying began 

again ! Many houses that had at first escaped were now 

plundered.” [ TA LS. 100/>-l 0 la. | 

Mughlaiii Bcgam, the widow of Muin-ul-mulk of 

Lahor^ acted as Abdali’s informer regarding the secrets 

of ev(Ty Delhi nobh/s family and property and the 

beauty of the inmates of the imperial harem. Thus^ the 

conqueror’s desire for ITazrat l^egam, th(‘ youthful 

daughter of Muhammad Shah, was kindled. As a 

Marathi newsletter reports, “In Delhi many men have 

been slain and many women ravished. Some of the 

females have committed suicide [with daggers), otliers 

have drowned themselves. Wherever handsome Hindu 

women were reported, Abdali sent his men and brought 

them away to his <|uarters.” \SPD.xxi, 104,TALS. 

loowola. na\ 

The gold and silver thus collected was coined in 

the mint with Abdali’s name on them. The first fruits 

of the spoliation of Delhi were loaded on all kinds of 

transport and promptly sent out of Delhi towards 

Afghanistan, in charge of Abdali^s son Timur Shah, 

who had been married to Alamgir II^s daughter Zuhra 

Begam (also called Gauhar-afroz or Muhammadi Begam) 
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a few days before.* In cotnrnandeoring the transport 

needed by hira^ a fresh plunder of the citizens 

took place. 

§ AhdaU marches south from Delhi, 

Abdali on 19th February made further changes 

among the Delhi ministers. Intizam was found to be 

of little use^ and so the wazirship was conferred upon 

the Emperor’s eldest son Ali Gauliar, with Intizam as 

his deputy, while I mad, who had now been pardoned 

through the intercession of Shah Wali Khan and 

Mughlani Begam, was given a most dignified sinecure as 

WakU-i-mutlaq (or Supreme Regent), ^^with no business 

to do and no power,Najib Khan was created Mir 

Bakhshi or head of the army of the empire, Yaqub Ali 

Khan Lord Chamberlain, and Badr-ud-daulah Chief of 

Artillery and commandant of the Delhi palace. Finally, 

in his camp near Mathura, on 18 March tlie Afghan 

king restored Imad to the wazirship in recognition 

of his courage and zeal shown in the Jat campaign. 

Najib had crossed over to Dankaur with his followers 

on 24 January, and now moved down the east bank 

of the Jamuna to protect AbdalFs left flank during 

the campaign south of the capital. In the night of 

• DC, says that he was married in the night of 30-31 Jan. 

and began his return march on 10 Feb. But TALS>j gives 
14 Feb. as the date of the marriage. Timur’s retreat: SPD, 

xxi. 98, 108. 
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20-21 February, Ahmad Shah in his own presence 

married Imad to Umda Begam* and next day left 

Delhi on a campaign in Agra and the Jat country. 

On Friday the 25th of that month, the khuiba was once 

more read in the name of Alamgir II. \ TALS. 103. DC.\ 

Even the departure of the Afghan king from Delhi 

did not bring full security to the miserable capital. 

^^On 22 February Ahmad Shah marched out towards 

KhLzirabad, but the exactions continued in the city as 

before, and a host of people were ruined. Next day 

Alamgir went to the Shah and entreated him to spare 

the Delhi people from the ravage of his soldiery. 

Abdali sent back 200 horsemen with the Emperor to the 

city to beat and drive out to his camp all kalaposhes 

found anywhere in Delhi. This brought peace to the 

city in the afternoon (23 Feb.) 

8 10. More oppression and extortion at Delhi 

b\j the Afghans. 

The peace, however, was shortlived. The main Afghan 

army had withdrawn, but bands of soldiers from it 

* At first immediately after entering Delhi, Abdali had angrily 

ordered that Imad^s wife Ganna Begam should be marched away 

from Delhi and taken to Balkh, and she actually reached 

Badli on this exile. But on 22 February, he, at the entreaty of 

Imad, recalled her from the way and placed her under the orders 
of her rival Umda Begam. [Ind. Ant. 1907, pp. 46-49.] But DC, 

records under 21 Feb. that Imad, after his marriage with Umda, 

divorced his other wives and handed over Ganna to Mughlani 

Begam to be treated as a bond-maid. See Appendix, 
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contiiiiied to revisit the city under orders to secure 

transport, guns, or provisions for the Shah^s camp in 

the south, and utilized this opportunity and the absence 

of their master to rob on their own account. On 15th 

February the Delhi chronicler records, "The Mughalias 

and misaqehis engaged in plunder, and all day and night 

cries of distress were heard.^^ Next day, "the same state 

of things continued ; many wards of the Old and New 

cities were burnt and some remained safe. Intizam and 

Jahan Khan went out and set fire to Khori-ganj and 

other places.^^ On the 19th, "Three Turks and Peshwari- 

baehchas entered the female apartments of the people in 

search of horses, opened the chambers, and carried off 

whatever furniture they could find. They even seized 

the householders and pressed them to find out and 

supply porters |for the Shah's march], but afterwards 

set them free on receiving moneyIDCl] Again, "on 

28th February a thousand kalapoahes came to Delhi fort 

for removing four large cannon to the Shah^s army. 

They seized the bullocks of the passers-by and thus 

collected about a hundred cattle. Then going to the 

river-bank they plundered the people who were coming 

across the river and the washermen of their clothes. 

Wherever they heard of ropes, bamboos, or wooden 

beams in any shop bazar or house, they took them away... 

The plundering by the kalaposhes had stopped the coming 

of grain from Shahdara to Delhi.... On 5th March the 

kalaposhes left the city, and much grain having come 
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from Shahdara, wheat sold at OV2 seers against 7 seers 

before. The cheapness increased daily.^' \TAL8,, 104- 

105/>.| 

fi 11. Afffhan mat^sacres ail orrr the eoaatry, 

Th(' week from 28 February to (> March was the 

period of the Spring Carnival (//o//), when in ('very 

Hindu house there is rejoicing and playful bombardment 

with coloured powder and wat(T, singing and dancing 

day and night. Even the Emperor and his wazir used 

to disport themselves in this festive season. ^^Rut this 

year/^ as the Court historian of the reign writes^ ‘^not one 

man celebrated these rejoicings. Every one was sunk 

in grief and misery.” \TALS. 105/>.| lloii was no doubt 

played in Mathura and Vrindavan^ but there the dye so 

profusely poured was the life-blood of Hindus. But 

before we follow the invader in this southern campaign, 

we shall trace the course of the war in the country around 

during the period of his stay in the capital. From 

Delhi as a centre Ahmad Shah continued to send out 

parties to forage in the Doab on the east and the 

Faridabad district on the south, the bridge of boats 

thrown over the Jamurnl below Dellii facilitating the 

crossing and quick return of these detachments. In the 

middle of February the desolation created by them in 

the Sikandrabad district (modern Bulandshahar) is thus 

described by the eye-witness Ghulam Hasan Samin (,)f 

Bilgram :—^^Sikandrabad was full everywhere of fugiti%re8 



1757] DITUKANIS MASSAC^KE EVEkYWHERK 107 

frora the environs of Delhi. Thence to Anupsh^ihar (a 

four days^ inarch) in every village that we passed^ not 

a sign of an inhabitant was to be seen, and along the 

route unnumbered dead bodies were lying. Anupshahar 

too was crowded with fugitives from Delhi, to such an 

extent that it was difficult to force a way through its 

lanes. . . The Shall had ordered a general slaughter in 

parganah Dasna, the zamindari of Rai Bahadur Singh.” 

|///y/. J///., 1907^ pp. 1 0-16,1 

The same scene of slaughter and rapine met the 

eye in the region south of Delhi after Antaji 

Manakeshwar^s opposition had been crushed at Faridabad 

on 1 February. A traveller who reached Delhi from 

Agra oil 8 Feb. reported, “All the nobles of Delhi who 

had fled to Agra, have migrated from that city also, 

on h(*aring rumours of the coming of the Durrani troops ; 

all places from Delhi to Faridabad are without a lamp, 

the Jiits are plundering the caravans of the fugitives, 

and near Faridabad 2,000 corpses are lying on the 

ground stripped of all their clothing.” \DC.] From 

each halting place of the Afghan vanguard lines of 

skirmishers spread out, right left and in front, in the 

shape of a fan.* Their superb Khurasani horses easily 

covered 50 or 60 miles a day, and after scouting and 

foraging they fell back on their camp in the evening. 

Thus the path of advance was cleared for the invaders. 

* When Jahan Khan reached Agra (21 March), one corps 

under Barwar Kh. penetrated further south of Dholpur, while 
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APPENDIX 

Ali Quli Khan, Zafar Jang, popularly called the Six¬ 
fingered, from that excrescence on one of his hands, was 
sprung from an Abbaside princely family of Daghestan (a 
Persian province south of the Caspian.) His father’s paternal 
uncle Path Ali Khan rose to the chancellorship under 

Sultan Husain Safavi, and his father, Md. Ali Khan, held 
the high office of Beglar-begi of Irwan, Ali Quli (born at 
Isfahan in 1712) displayed a fine vein of poetry from early 
youth, and having fallen in love with Khadija Sultan (the 
daughter of his paternal uncle Hasan Ali) when at school 
with her, he addressed passionate odes to her,* which were 

collected in a volume of some popularity named Masnari-i- 
IVala Sultan, his pseudonym being Wala. During the 
Afghan Tisurpation of Persia his fair cousin was snatched 

away before he could gain her hand, and she was afterwards 
taken into Nadir Shah’s harem. So, in despair, Ali Quli 
migrated to India in 1731, and was appointed second 
Mir Tuzuk by the Emperor, with the title of Zafar Jang. 
In the next reign he became Khan-i-Zaman, and in that of 

Najib held Mathura, and Abdali lay at Gokul [text reads ‘at 
Vrindai>an\'\ SPD, xxi. 111. 

* When the bashful maiden entreated him to spare her 

blushes by not naming her in his odes, the enraptured poet 

wrote back 

“Thou sayest, ‘Link not my name with thy verses.’ 

But the verse that enshrines not thy name, of what use is it 

Khaxinah-i-Amira, 446-450 (from personal knowledge\ Mux» 
129-131 (incorrect), Ind, Antiquary, 1907, p. 44. 

Ali Quli edited an anthology of Persian poetry named Riy'^%- 
mh’^ShuWa, besides his own Masnavi, 
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Alamgir II a seven-hamri noble. In 1753 he migrated 

from Delhi to Oudh with Safdar Jang, and died at Delhi on 

31 March 1756, wlien on a mission from the Court of 

Oudh. 

In India Ali Quli married a highly accomplished poetess 

who had, alas, begun life as a professional dancing-girl. 

Their daughter Ganna Begam inherited the poetical talent 

an<l artistic culture as well as the beauty of her Hetera 

mother, and her hand was sought by the highest 

nobles in the land, such as Shuja-ud-daulah the Nawab 

of Oudh and Imad-ul-mulk the imperial wazir. 

After her father’s death, when at Agra on her way 

to Lucknow to be married to Shuja, she was surrounded by 

the men of Jawahir Singh Jat, who wanted to kidnap this 

famous beauty ; but she contrived to escape to Farrukhabad. 

Here her family friend, the Nawab Ahmad Khan Bangash, 

induced her mother to prefer the suit of Imad, to whom she 

was married later in the year. But this brought down on 

her head the vindictive fury of Mughlani Begam, whose 

daughter Umda Begam had been betrothed to Imad in their 

childhood. The Abdali king during his occupation of Delhi 

forced Imad to marry Umda Begam (21 Feb. 1757) and 

hand over poor friendless Ganna as a bond-maid to her 

rival ! She lies buried at Nurabad, 13 miles north of 

Gwalior, her epitaph being, Ah, gharn-i-Ganna Ikgam ! ‘alas! 

weep for Ganna Begam’,—which gives the year of her death, 

1775 A. D. 



CHAPTER XVI 

AbDALi’s (’AMPAIUN SOUTH OF DeIATJ, AND EVENTS 

vv TO June 1757. 

S 1. Autaji Mavakeshfrar s doings near Delhi 

in Jmtnorg 17oT, 

Abdali had marched from Attock to Delhi without 

a sword being bared against him, such was the dc'grada- 

tiori of the empire. The first opposition that he met 

with came from Aritaji Manakeshwar. This Maratha 

retainer of the wazir, on being summoned to the 

defence of the capital, had arrived near Shahdara 

(opposite Delhi) on 80th December 1756 and been 

employed by the wazir to prevent the flight of the 

citizens from Delhi. * On 7th January he had been 

presented to the Emperor with his two sons and some 

of his captains, and he now crossed over to the Delhi 

side and encamped on the sandbank below the fort. On 

15th January, during the panic raging in the city at the 

news of the Abdali troops’ arrival near Badli, he had 

pursued the congenial game of robbing the helpless 

people running about in confusion. He was next sent 

* Antaji in Delhi —-SPI), xxi. 55 ; Raj. vi. p. 4!{7 ; f)C, 

Hia lights with the Afghans and rovings,—NP/A xxi, 1)5 (29 .Jan.), 

96 (80 Jan.), 99 ic. 10 Feb.), 105. Haj. i. 68. Iraad in Ind>. 
pp. 48-49 (crushing defeat.) DC. 
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with a light force to the north of the capital to scout for 

news of the invaders^ exact position and strength. 

Najib’s Ruhelas, nominally in the Emperor's service, 

were posted at Wa/Zirabad, d miles north of Dellii, but 

their loyalty was more than doubtful. On the IHth 

Antaji advanced 12 miles north of the Kashmir gate and 

had his first bru-ih with the frv)fit skirmishers of the 

Afghan wazir's contingent ; after losing a hundred men 

and horses, Antaji fell hack four miles and halted. The 

retreating Maratlias were attacked by Najib’s men, 

supposed to b(* their omrades ; but Irniid rode up to the 

place in the afternoon and restored peace for the 

tim(*. 

The position of the small Maratha squadron, 

unfurnished with artillery or stores and wedged in 

between tlie Durriinis and the treacherous Jndian 

Ruhelas, m\< absolutely untenable. So, when in the 

morning of Idtii January it was learnt that a few hours 

earlier the imperial wazir himself had gone out to submit 

to the invader and ^‘half the population had flcfl away 

from Delhi to the Jots,” Antaji had no help but to fall 

back on his base in Delhi city. His retreat was severely 

harass<‘d by the Durranis and Ruhelas from two sides \ 

but after a great sacrifice of men and horses, the 

Marathas cut their way out, reached their camp on the 

sandbank below D(dhi palace, collected all their families 

baggage and elephants in a few hours, placed these in 

front, and constantly fighting rearguard actions with the 



112 FALL OF TIIK MUOIIAL EMPIKE [CH. XVf 

pursuing Afghans, reached Faridabad, 16 miles south 

of the city that night The contest was severe, but Antaji 

firmly kept his force together without allowing its order 

to be broken, and thus saved it from annihilation. The 

baffled pursuers turned back from Khwajah Sarai. 

Clearly foreseeing the fate of Delhi, Antaji sent off his 

camp, baggage and accumulated booty under escort of 

2,000 horse to Mathura (20 Jan.), while he himself turned 

back with a light force from Faridabad to Sarai 

Badarpur, 10 miles south of Dellii. Here next day 

(21 Jan.) he encountered Sarwar Khan, a general of 

Abdali^s wazir, who had been sent with 4,000 horse to 

establish a block house {naka) at Faridabad. The 

Afghans had no artillery, and the Marathas being 

unencumbered with baggage could pursue their Parthian 

tactics with success. After three hours of fighting, 

Sarwar Khan was completely defeated, 400 of his 

Durrani soldiers and the same number of horses fell on 

the field, and 400 more horses were captured along with 

his standard and kettle-drums. The broken survivors 

fled back to Barapula. Then for nine days no Afghan 

force advanced against Antaji. 

2. Antaji Manakeshtrar crushed by the Afghans, 

1 Feb. 

In that interval, Ahmad Shah had come to Delhi, 

established his control over the city and the empire, 

thrown a bridge of boats across the Jamuna, and sent 
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Jahan Khan^s army corps from the Doab to Khizirabad 

on the west bank, some 8 miles south of the capital. 

Thus, a force of 20,000 men threatened Antaji 

immediately in his front. Since his victory of 21 st 

January, Antaji had been swiftly roving in the south, 

west and north-west sides of Delhi, ^^practising raids 

{7a•. \ because everywhere government liad broken 

down and anarchy was raging, and every strong man, 

native or alien, had taken to plundering the panic- 

stricken defenceless population. At last, on 1st February 

a crushing blow was delivered on Antaji. A picked 

Afghan force,—which Antaji put at 20,000—guided by 

Najib^s Ruhelas with their local knowledge, marched on 

Faridabad in three columns. Two of these by a wide 

detour turned AntajFs flanks unperceived and closed 

upon his rear, while the third delivered an attack on his 

front at noon. The Maratha force, less than 3,,000 

strong, was completely encircled and outnumbered ; all 

its paths of escape were closed ; AntajFs camp was 

encumbered with the many men wounded in his earlier 

battles, but he fought desperately for four hours, facing 

the enemy on all sides, and giving up to slaughter a 

thousand of his soldiers (of whom 200 were men above 

the common rank) and 800 horses. ^MSTo one had the 

time to remove the corpses/^ At last towards sunset 

he cut his way out. He boasted of having killed 750 

men and 350 horses of the enemy. But they pursued 

him for eight miles till darkness compelled them to 

8 
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retire, and in this running fight Antaji lost 250 

more horses. The victors sacked and burnt the 

small town of Faridabad and next day returned to 

Delhi with 600 severed heads of poor people, represent¬ 

ing them to be Marathas and Jats. The Shah rewarded 

them at the rate of Rs. 8 per head brought in. 

The defeat was decisive ; Aiitajfs little army was 

annihilated ; there was nothing left for him but to fiiee 

to his camp at Mathura (arrival on 4 Feb.) where 

Trimbak Mukund subahdar was holding an entrenched 

village near tlie holy city. Henceforth, though Antaji 

Manakeshwar lingered for two months more in that 

southern region, (chiefly at Palwal), he used to maintain 

a safe distance of 40 or 50 miles from Delhi and never 

stood a battle again. Thus, at the beginning of February, 

the Maratha opposition to the invasion ceased even 

in appearance. 

§ 3. Abdali marekefi against the Jat coantrg 

south of Delhi, 

Three weeks after this last battle, having settled all 

his business in Delhi and given Alamgir II his throne 

again, Ahmad Shah Durrani, on 22nd February began 

his southward march for exacting tribute from the 

Jat Rajah. On the invadeFs first arrival near Delhi^ 

Suraj Mai had sent envoys to him professing submission 

and he had also joined Najib Intizam and other enemies 

of Imad in petitioning Abdali that if he removed Imad 
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from the wazirship as the sworn brother of their 

common enemy the Marathas and kept him in prison 

ill (iandahar, then these Indian chiefs would raise 50 

lakhs as tribute for him. When on 4th February the 

vanquished Antaji reached Mathura, Suraj Mai visited 

him, but positively refused to unite with him in a war 

against the Afghans, saying, ‘'The Iran Padishah at the 

head of 50,000 troops has captured the Padishah of 

Hind, and no oii(‘ has fired a shot at him, no one has 

died in resisting him. What then can I do | 5PZ>. 

xxi. JU), 99, 100.1 

A little later, Abdali wrote to Suraj Mai calling 

upon him to (a) surrender his recently usurped territories, 

(//) pay a tribute, present himself at the Abdali Court, 

and (rZ) serve under his banner. It was impossible for 

Suraj Mai to fight against such overwhelming odds, 

and yet he durst not place himself within Ahmad Shah^s 

reach lest he should share the fate of Imad. So, he 

pursued the policy of gaining time by sending an envoy 

to the invader^s camp to discuss terms and bribe the 

Afghan minister with two lakhs. If a Maratha army 

arrived for the defence of the north in a few weeks, he 

would (as he told Antaji) join it with his men and 

money and fight Abdali ; otherwise he would make his 

submission. Prom Mathura, he went for refuge to 

his strong fort of Kumbher, while his gallant son 

Jawahir Singh stayed behind for the defence of that holy 

city. 
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§ 4. Abdali captures Baltahhgarh, 

Leaving Delhi in the afternoon of 22nd F'ebruary, 

Ahmad Shah marched down the west bank of the 

Jamuna, by way of Khizirabad (two days^ halt) and 

Badarpur (2r)th Feb.), to a place about 6 miles south of 

Ballabhgarh. His objectives were Suraj MaFs strong¬ 

holds of Kumbher and Dig, and at first he left Ballabh¬ 

garh untaken in his rear, as a negligible fortalice. But 

as his foragers, spread over a vast area, approached 

this place, the Jat garrison attacked them, slaying and 

wounding many \TALS. 103/>, 1)C,\ The reduction 

of Ballabhgarh was immediately decided upon. The 

head of the Durrani artillery came to Delhi for taking 

away four guns of heavy calibre from the palace defences 

(27 Feb.); draught bullocks, ropes and beams were 

seized from private houses in order to transport the 

guns and munitions to the Shah^s camp. But, after all, 

these heavy guns were not needed. Ahmad Shah 

personally directed the siege, and his five mortars, 

firing with a high muzzle elevation a kind of shell 

(consisting of two iron hemispheres welded together, 

which broke and spread on impact with the ground) 

and constantly shifting their angle, inflicted such a 

destructive bombardment on Ballabhgarh and so 

completely overpowered the swivel-pieces and muskets 

which formed the only fire of the defence, that the place 

became untenable in a few hours. In the silence of 

the night the garrison (including Jawahir Singh) slipped 
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out and escaped by the Jamuna side (3 March.) 

The Afghans broke the gates open, and put all the 

inmates to the sword. The spoils taken included 

Rs. 12,000 in cash, pots of silver and copper, gilt idols, 

14 horses, 11 camels and a great store of grain and 

clothing.* 

S 5. Jfdnut lOmn fiyhts the Jats^ battle of Chauntuhfi. 

Here the Shah halted for two days more. Meantime, 

as early as the night of 26-27 P"eb., he had detached 

flahan Khan and Najib with 20,000 men, telling them, 

“Move into the boundaries of the accursed Jat, and in 

every town and district held by him slay and plunder. 

The city of Mathura is a holy place of the Hindus .. 

let it be put entirely to the edge of the sword. Up to 

Agra leave not a single place standing.The Shah 

also conveyed a general order to the army to plunder 

and slay at every place they reached. Any booty they 

acquired was made a free gift to them. Any person 

cutting off and bringing in heads of infidels should 

throw them down before the tent of the chief minister, 

wherewith to build a high tower. Five Rupees for 

each enemy head would be paid from the Government 

funds. ISamin, in Ind, Ant., 51.] 

The alien generalissimo and the Ruhela soldier of 

fortune carried out their dread master^s command to 

• Capture of Ballabhgarb,—Samin in Jnd. Antiquary^ 58-59, 

TALS. 1036-I05rt (no detail.) DC. (dates only.) 
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the letter. They fir st swooped down upon Mathura. 

But the fabled birth-place of the Divine Preserver was 

not to fall without a struggle. True, the Marathas, 

after sucking the Delhi-Agra region and the Doab on 

the other bank dry for three years, had fled away. Not 

a single Maratha bled in defence of the holiest of 

Vaishnav shrines ; their pan-Indian suzerainty 

{Hmdnpad Padshahi) did not involve the duty to 

protect. But the Jat peasantry were determined that 

it was only over their corpses that the ravager should 

enter the sacred capital of Braja. Outside the village 

of Chaumuha, eight miles north of Mathura, Jawahir 

Singh barred the invader’s path with less than 10,000 

men and offered a desperate resistance (2(Sth February.) 

From sunrise the battle raged for nine hours, and at 

the end of it “ten to twelve thousand infantry lay dead 

on the two sides taken together ; the wounded were 

beyond count,” and the broken remnant of the Jat 

army took the road to their homes. * 

§ 6. Afghans sach and massacre at Mathura, 

The Hindu Bethlehem now lay utterly prostrate 

before the invaders. Early at dawn on 1st March the 

* TALS, 306a. Raj. i. 63 quotes a report from Delhi via 
Aurangabad, 'A Jat force of 5,000 came out of Mathura and 

fought Abdali's army stoutly, but was defeated by superior 

numbers. Three thousand Jats fell and 2,000 fled away.” DC, 
K oes not record this battle. 
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Afghan cavalry burst into the unwalled and unsuspecting 

city of Mathura, and neither by their master^s orders 

nor from the severe handling they had received in 

yesterday^s fight, were they in a mood to show mercy. 

For four hours there was an indiscriminate massacre 

and rape of the unresisting Hindu population,—all of 

them non-combatants and many of them priests. Even 

the few Muslim residents could not always save them¬ 

selves by taking their trousers off* and showing that they 

were, really followers of the Prophet. “Idols were 

broken and kicked about like polo-balls by the Islamic 

heroes.” \IIasain Shahi, 39.| Houses were demolished 

in search of plunder and then wantonly set on fire. 

Glutted with the blood of 3,000 men, Jahan Khan laid 

a contribution of one lakh on what remained of the 

population and marched away from the smoking ruins 

the same night. 

After the tiger came the jackal. “When after the 

massacre Ahmad Shah’s troops marched onward from 

Mathura, Xajib and his army remained there for three 

days, plundered much money and buried treasure, and 

carried off many beautiful females as captives.” 

j[Nur-ud-din Hasan, 15/;. | The blue waves of the Jamuna 

•gave eternal repose to such of her daughters as could 

flee to her outstretched arms ; some other happy women 

found a nearer refuge from dishonour in the dark 

depths of their household wells. But for thos^ of their 

aisters who survived there was no escape from a fate 
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worse than death. A Muslim eye-witness thus describes 

the scene in the ruined city a fortnight later : ‘'Every¬ 

where in lane and bazar lay the headless trunks of the 

slain, and the whole city was burning. Many buildings 

had been knocked down. The water of the Jamuna 

flowing past was of a yellowish colour, as if polluted 

by blood. The man |a Muslim jeweller of the city, robbed 

of his all and fasting for several days] said that for 

seven days following the general slaughter the water 

flowed of a blood-red colour and then the water had 

turned yellow. At the edge of the stream I saw a 

number of huts of Vairagis and Sannyasis (lc., Hindu 

ascetics), in each of which lay a severed head with the 

head of a dead cow applied to its mouth and tied to it 

with a rope round its neck.”* 

Issuing from the ruins of Mathura, Jahau Khan 

roamed the country round, slaying and plundering every¬ 

where as directed. Vrindavan, seven miles north of 

Mathura, could not escape, as its wealth was indicated 

by its many temples. Here another general massacre 

was practised upon the inoflFensive monks of the most 

pacific order of Vishnu's worshippers, (c. 6 March.) 

As the same Muhammadan diarist records after a visit 

to Vrindavan, “Wherever you gazed you beheld heaps 

of slain j you could only pick your way with difficulty, 

♦ Massiacre and sack of Mathura,—Samin in hid, Antiqmry, 
60-62. Husain Shahi 38-39, TALS, 106a and 1096. DC, Nur-ud-din. 

8PD, xxi. 107; xxrii. 152. Baj, i. 63. 
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owing to the (luantity of bodies lying about and the 

amount of blood spilt At one place that we reached 

we saw about 200 dead children lying in a heap. Not 

one of the dead bodies had a head . . . The stencli and 

effluvium in the air were such that it was painful to 

open your mouth or even to draw breath.” 

S 7. Aftdali s attack on GoknL 

Moving a fortnight behind his vanguard, Abdali 

himself came upon the scene. He had stormed Ballabh- 

garh on 3rd March and halted there for two days. 

On the 15th he arrived near Mathura, and wisely 

avoiding that reeking human shambles crossed over 

to the eastern bank of the Jamuna and encamped at 

Mahiivan, * six miles south-east of the city. Two miles 

to his west lay Gokul, the seat of the pontiff of the 

rich Vallabhacharya sect. Abdali’s policy of frightfulness 

had defeated his cupidity ; dead men could not be held 

to ransom. The invader^s unsatisfied need of money 

was pressing him ; he sought the help of Imad^s local 

* According to Bamin in hid, Antiq,, p, 61. TALS. 109a says 

that on 2()th March his camp was at Sarai Kola, 3 kos from 

Mathura. Kolia is 6 miles south of Mathura and opposite 

Mahavan. hC, records that on I8th March the news reached 

Delhi that Abdali had marched from Mathura to Vrindavan. Raj. 

i. 63 says that from Mathura he detached a force to sack Gokuh 

VrindSvan. I believe that in both the above works Vrindavan is 

an error for Qokul^ which stands 12 m. south of it and on the 

opposite bank of the Jamuna. 
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knowledge as to the most promising sources of booty. 

A detachment from his camp was sent to plunder 

Gokul. But here the monks were martial Nagii 

sannyasis of Upper India and Rajputana. Four thousand 

of these naked ash-smeared warriors stood outside Gokul 

and fought the Afghans^ till half of their own number 

was killed after slaying an equal force of the enemy. 

Then, at the entreaty of the Bengal subahdar's envoy 

(Jugalkishor) and his assurance that a hermitage of 

faqirs could not contain aii}’^ money, Abdali recalled the 

detachment. '^All the Vairagis perished, but Gokulnath 

(the deity of the city) was saved/^ as a Marathi 

newsletter puts it. fRaj. i. 68.| 

8 flahaff Khan plunders and fines Aijra. 

Jahan Khan and Najib were now recalled to AbdalFs 

camp from their roving commission of raid and slaughter, 

and sent to levy contribution on Agra, thronged with 

the richest fugitives from the capital. The Afghan 

king’s plan was to advance from Agra as a base and 

capture the Jat forts or compel Suraj Mai to pay a 

large tribute. Jahan Khan at the head of 15,000 horse 

made a raid on Agra in the morning of 21st March. 

A deputation of bankers met him outside the gates and 

promised to ransom the city for five lakhs ; but it was 

impossible to collect the money promptly, and the 

Pathan losing patience entered the city and plundered 

four wards of it, up to the Blue Cupola. Some massacre 
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took place here also, the victims being estimated at 

2,000. But his progress was stopped by the walls of 

Akbar^s fort from which Mirza Saifullah (the son of the 

imperial qiladm') opened fire, thus preventing the invaders 

from showing their heads near it. Jahan Khan therefore 

halted for some days to exact the money from fhe bankers 

of the city. Only one lakh, out of the promised five lakhs, 

was raised by the local imperial officials (the qiladar, 

subahdar and city kotwal) from Samaldas the agent of 

Jagat Seth of Bengal, and paid, when Jahan Khan 

received a peremptory order to return to his master 

(23 March.) He set off at sunset and rejoined Abdali 

near Mathura on the 24th, and finally on the 28th the 

retreat to Afghanistan began. \TALS» 109a ; If?/;.. 121; 

Samin in 7/a/. Anfiq. 65 ; SPI). xxi. Ill, xxvii. 146, 

152. Raj. i. 63.1 

S 9. Atrocities of Ahdali'}^ troops. 

This sudden change of plan needs explanation. 

We have seen how Ahmad Shah had reached Mahavan 

(opposite Mathura) about 15th March. His track had 

been marked by the same desolation and havoc.* "From 

• Father X. Wendel wrote ten years afterwards, “'Suraj Mai 

looked from a distance at this catastrophe to his Braja, which was 

totally set on fire and bloodshed by the barbarity of the Durranis, 

joined to the Ruhelas, who gave quarter to none. It was on this 

occasion that the environs of Agra, and that city itself were 

desolated more than ever. We see, even at this hour, the sad 
marks of it.^' [P. 75.] 
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Agra to Delhi not a man was left in any hamlet ., . 

Along the route by which Abdali has come and gone 

back not two seers of grain and fodder can be had/' 

\SPJ), xxi. 99, 111.I The Muslim eye-witness thus 

describes the Afghan atrocities :— 

^'The Shah \r. 3 March] issued an order for slaying 

and plundering, llis soldiers were assured that every¬ 

one would be allowed to keep whatever plunder he 

took and would be paid Rs. 5 for every enemy head 

[brought in.I It was midnight when the camp-followers 

went out to the attack. One horseman mounted a horse 

and took ten to twenty others, each attached to the tail 

of the horse preceding it, and drove them just like a 

string of camels. When it was one watch (3 hours) 

after sunrise I saw them come back. Every horseman had 

loaded up all his horses with the plundered property, 

and atop of it rode the girl-captives and the slaves. 

The severed heads were tied up in rugs like bundles of 

grain and placed on the heads of the captives. . . Then 

the heads were stuck upon lances and taken to the gate 

of the chief minister for payment. It was an extra¬ 

ordinary display ! Daily did this manner of slaughter 

and plundering proceed. And at night the shrieks of the 

women captives who were being ravished, deafened the 

ears of people. . . . All those heads that had been cut off 

were built into pillars, and the [captive] men upon whose 

heads those bloody bundles had been brought in, were 

made to grind corn, and then their heads too were cut 
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off. These things went on all the way to the city of 

Agra, nor was any part of the country spared. In 

addition to all this, five thousand Ruhela foot-soldiers 

joined the army. Each man procured some thirty to 

forty buffaloes. The plundered goods, such as jewels and 

clothes, they loaded upon these buffaloes, and established 

a market of their own within the camp, where they sold 

all these things at low prices .... Copper and other 

vessels that had been broken up were strewed along the 

route of the army and no one stooped to pick them up. 

Excepting gold and silver nothing was carried away.^’ 

S 10. Cholera epideoiie iu Abdali^s canip at Mahavart. 

Such were the unspeakable sufferings of the harmless 

peasants and traders, whose only crime was their 

supposed wealth. Then outraged Nature rose up in 

wrath. Abdali had encamped at Mahavau 13 miles 

downstream of Vrindavan. The river, its level now very 

low at the height of the dry season, was choked with 

the half-burnt and unburnt bodies of suicides and 

slaughtered persons ; and in three weeks^ time the 

Indian sun did its work. The water reached Abdali’s 

camp after washing Vrindavan Mathura and other 

places, all upstream, which had been turned into 

slaughter-houses by his order. A cholera epidemic 

broke out at Mahavan and daily 150 of his soldiers 

began to die of it. There was no remedy, no medicine 

available ; ^^it cost Rs. 100 to buy a seer of tamarind, a 
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drink made of tamarind being prescribed with benefit.’^ 

The loss of horse-flesh was e<iually heavy in the Afghan 

army. His surviving soldiers clamoured for returning 

home. Abdali^s hands were forced. He wrote to the 

Emperor (on 26th March) that he was about to turn 

back, and he sent off fast riders to recall Jahan Khan 

and Najib from Agra.* These two rejoined him on the 

24th. A second domiciliary visit was paid to Vrindavan 

to realize the contribution laid on that city after the raid 

of the 6th. And in these four days a last despairing 

effort was made to get something out of Suraj Mai. He 

had promised a tribute of five lakhs to the Shah and a 

gift of two lakhs to his ministers, but, thanks to the 

unlooked for epidemic, he evaded ^‘paying even a kanriJ^ 

As Abdali^s^real intentions were not finally known for 

some time, Suraj MaFs envoys accompanied his camp 

parleying up to the north-western suburb of Delhi, and 

when from that place the Afghan army unmistakably set 

out for their home, fast camel-riders brought the happy 

news to Suraj Mai, and he unceremoniously turned out 

of his fort the two negotiators of tribute f Jugalkishor, 

and an Afghan officer) whom Abdali had left there. 

§ 11. Abdali retires from hidiciy April 1757, 

In his return march Ahmad Shah reached Faridabad 

on 30th March, Najib Khan moving parallel to him 

* TALS. 114b, 109h. Samin in I/id. Antiq. 64-65. Wendel 

p. 76. SPJ). xxi. Ill, xxTii, 147, 155, ii. 71,72. 
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along the east bank of the Jamuna and crossing over 

at Rajghat to the Delhi side. From Paridabad the 

Afghan king and his army proceeded rapidly to the 

northern suburbs of Delhi,—the plain beyond Sarai 

Basant and Sarai Suhail, avoiding the city and marching 

along the river bank between the fort and the Jamuna. 

At this place he halted for three days (31 March—2 April) 

in order to secure his virgin tribute from the imperial 

family, and here he received a farewell visit from 

Alamgir II. Then by way of Sonepat (10 April) he 

reached Tirauri (13th), and after taking 20 lakhs from 

Inayet Khan the zamindar of Kunjpura, pursued his 

way to Labor and Afghanistan. Jahan Khan who had 

been detached (end of March) to demand tribute from 

the Baluch zamindars of the Rohtak district (near the 

Najafgarh jhil) and had returned unsuccessful, now led 

his vanguard. \SPT). ii. 71.| 

S 12. Ahdtili\s bootij atitl prisoners from India. 

The plunder that Abdali carried away from India 

was valued by contemporary reporters differently, at 

3, 4, 9 and even 12 krores of Rupees. The human booty 

of war included Hazrat Begam (the maiden daughter of 

Emperor Muhammad Shah.) This princess, on reaching 

her 16th year, in February 1756, had excited the passion 

of Alamgir II., who had shamelessly demanded her 

hand in marriage, but the girl had replied, pre fer 

death to [such aj marriage.” And now this tender lamb 
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was to be pounced upon by a fierce Afghan of grand- 

fatherly age, whose two ears had been docked and nose 

was rotting from a leprous carbuncle. At Abdali^s 

demand for her hand, there was wailing and alarm in the 

imperial harem. The two Dowager-empresses cried out, 

^^We shall slay her and then kill ourselv’es, but we will 

not give her to an Afghan.’’ Fruitless efforts were 

then made to save her, by bribing Mughlani Begam to 

report to Abdali that the girl was really not handsome 

enough for him, and later by Alamgir IF falsely swear¬ 

ing that she had been betrothed to a Delhi prince. 

But there was no escape for her. On 5th 

April she was taken, decked as a bride, to Ahmad 

Shah^s tents ; Malika-i-zamani and Sahiba Mahal 

(widows of Muhammad Shah) and Muhtaram-un-nisa 

(a daughter of the late Emperor Ahmad and a nursling 

of Malika-i-zamani from her infancy) accompanied the 

weeping bride in exile out of India. Other Delhi 

princesses present in the retreating Afghan camp were 

Alamgir II’s daughter Gauhar-un-nisa the wife of 

Timur Shah, and Aiffat-un-nisa the daughter of Dawar 

Bakhsh and great-grand-daughter of Aurangzib whom 

Nadir Shah had married to his son Nasrullah in 173f) 

and whom Ahmad Abdali had taken to his bed after the 

murder of Nadir. With this party went 16 other ladies 

of the Delhi harem, but 400 maidservants who were 

being dragged away with their mistresses escaped from 

the way and dispersed to their homes. A Marathi letter 
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reports, ^^The Pathan has taken away the handsome 

wives of the amirs and of | other] people, and sent 

them off to Labor/' \TALS, 109^>—lll/>, 113a, 

112a, 114/>. T)(\ SPD, xxi. lltS^ 98, xxvii. 152. 

Eaj. i. G3.| 

The humbler captives fared better. At his farewell 

interview with the conqueror at Sara Suhail (2nd 

April), Alamglr JI entreated the Shah to release the 

poor men and women whom his soldiers had taken into 

slavery during their Indian campaign. The prayer was 

granted and thus several thousands of Indians, male 

and female, were sought out in the Afghan camp and 

sent back to Delhi with the returning Emperor. Next 

morning (3rd April) all whose relatives could be found 

were handed over to their care, the friendless were set 

free to go wherever they liked. ^^Among these captives 

there was no man or woman of any respectable family ; 

they were all villagers.'’ [TALS. 1126.] 

The imperial capital did not escape a second 

plunder during the retreat of the Afghans. On 31st 

March, we read, ^Tn spite of the Shah's prohibition and 

his appointment of Najib Khan to protect the city, the 

vast concourse of his kalaposhes \ could not be 

prevented from looting and exacting money on some 

new pretext every day. The people were oppressed." 

Again, on 8*10 April while Sahiba Mahal was on a 

final visit to Delhi to remove her belongings, the 

2,000 Durrani musketeers who formed her escort 

9 
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took to plundering the Delhi bazars. \TALS, illa^ 

llba,] 

The immensity of the booty taken away from India 

can be understood from the enormous size of the 

transport required for it. ^^Abdali^s own goods were 

loaded on 28,000 camels, elephants, mules, bullocks and 

carts, while 200 camel-loads of property were taken by 

Muhammad Shah’s widows who accompanied him, and 

these too belonged to him. Eighty thousand horse and 

foot followed him, each man carrying away spoils. 

His cavalry returned on foot, loading their booty on 

their chargers. For securing transport, the Afghan 

king left no horse or camel in any one’s house, not 

even a donkey. The guns he had brought for taking 

the Jat forts, he abandoned because their draught-cattle 

had to be loaded with his plunder, and the Jat Rajah 

took these guns away into his fort. In Delhi not a 

sword was left with anybody.” [SPD, ii. 71.| 

By Abdali’s direction, the Emperor conferred on 

Imad-ul-mulk the full powers of wazir, vice Shah Alam 

(3rd April), while Najib Khan was appointed his 

supreme agent in India and the real master of the 

Delhi Government. [rAL4S. 115fe, DC,] 

§ 13. Abdali sends two Delhi prmces to 

recover the Doab and Oudh, 

Ahmad Shah Abdali was throughout life determined 

not to make India his home, nor to personally conduct 
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the government of Delhi. He therefore sincerely 

desired to restore the Mughal Emperor to real power 

and wealth by winning his provinces back from the 

refractory governors and placing them in charge of 

loyal officers who would support their sovereign with the 

provincial revenue and troops. Shuja-ud-daulah, who 

held the rich suhahs of Oudh and Allahabad, was the 

hereditary enemy of the Emperor, his wazir I mad and 

Abdali^s agent Najib Khan alike, and the hereditary 

ally of the hated Marathas and the ever-rebellious Jat 

Rajah. He had kept aloof from Abdali during this 

invasion of 1757. His dominions also barred the way 

to the still richer lost provinces, Bihar and Bengal. 

Abdali^s first scheme of wresting Shuja^s provinces by 

means of Ahmad Bangash was dropped on account of 

Ahmad’s manifest incapacity and military impotence. 

Then, by the advice of I mad, it was decided to transfer 

these eastern provinces to two of the Emperor’s sons* 

and send them with a small Afghan force to occupy the 

country, because it was hoped that the prestige of the 

blood imperial would deter rebellious chiefs from 

opposing them by arms. 

The Emperor was requested to send to Ahmad Shah’s 

camp near Mathura two of his sons, after formally 

Expedition of the two Shahzadas with Imad into the 

Doab Samm in ImL Aniiq, 1907, 64-69 (unreliable), TALS, 106d, 
109a, 1176-1186, 121a-124a, 1276. DC SPD. xxvii. 146, 160-190. 
xxi. 111-138. Oul-i^R., 52-54. 
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appointing them subahdars of Oudh {rntn Allahabad) 

and Bengal (cum Bihar.) On 14th March he gave leave 

of departure to his son Hedayet Bakhsh and his nephew 

and son-in-law Mirza Baba with letters-patent for the 

governorships of Bengal and Oudh respectively, but 

nothing else. They reached Abdali’s camp on the 19th 

with a poorer retinue and escort than even the lowest 

nobles of former times. They had no money for 

raising an army, and Abdali could not spare any large 

detachment of his own troops to support this adventure. 

He therefore planned that the princes should first go to 

the Doab (the Bulandshahar district), join Ahmad 

Bangash the Nawab of Parrukhabad, drive out the 

Maratha posts there, establish their own revenue 

collection, and with the resources thus gained enlist 

more men, advance further east, oust Shujii from his 

provinces, and then proceed to the golden land of 

Bengal. To them Imad-ul-mulk was attached as 

guardian and diplomat, and Jangbaz Khan as commander 

of the escort with a miscellaneous force of 3,000 men 

1 stiffened by 600 Durrani soldiers, and Najib^s brother 

Sultan Khan and son Zabita Khan. 

This party arrived at Agra on 23rd March ; Jahan 

Khan left that city for his master^s camp that very 

night, and the princes, after being welcomed by the 

imperial officers of the locality, crossed the Jamuna on 

the 25th, and by way of Piruzabad (28th) reached 

Mainpuri on the 31st. Here Ahmad Bangash respect- 
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fully waited on them (4th April) and took Mirza Baba 

with himself to Qadirganj in the north-west, while 

Hediiyet Bakhsh moved south-eastwards to Etawa, 

from which the Maratha collector fled away. “The 

Durrani contingent merely plundered the ryots of the 

place instead of establishing a settled administration 

there, because Ahmad Shah^s soldiers knew nothing but 

looting. The prince gained no revenue there. Mirza 

Biiba remained at Qadirganj till the 20th, Ahmad 

Bangash supplying his shameful want of tents dress and 

other materials. Then came the news that Shuja-ud- 

daulah had sent a force under Anupgir Gosain against 

the two princes and that this force was coming to loot 

Farrukhabad. So, Ahmad Bangash hastened back to 

his own city and Mirza Baba arrived there soon after- 

waids and Hedayet from Etawa on 6th May. The 

trans-Ganges Ruhelas too came in a large body under 

Hafiz Rahmat Khan and encamped on the other side of 

the river, opposite Qadirganj. . . The wazir Imad tried 

hard to win Hafiz over and gain his armed support. He 

crossed the river and visited Hafiz on the 30th, and the 

two princes did the same next day and enjoyed Hafiz^s 

hospitality for four days.^^ 

§ 14. Failure of the f rimes' expedition. 

Marathas reappear. 

But the negotiations for an offensive alliance dragged 

on for a long time and promised no agreement, because 
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the Ruhelas shrank from provoking another attack of 

Shuja and the dreaded Marathas for the sake of a 

master who was impotent to help them. Sadullah Khan, 

the successor of Ali Muhammad Ruhela, was a personal 

friend of Shuja and worked at cross purposes with Hafiz. 

Imad returned to the princes^ camp after a visit to the 

Ruhela headquarters for talking their leaders over. 

Meantime Shuja-ud-daulali himself had arrived on the 

scene ^^with a numerous army and countless guns^^ ; he 

declared that he was a loyal servant of the princes, and 

would only attack his enemies Imad-ul-mulk and Ahmad 

Bangash if they did not leave the Shahzadas^ side. 

The princes marched towards him on 8th June and 

Shuja too crossed the river Garra near the village of 

Sandi and formed an entrenched camp 14 miles from the 

position of the princes. While negotiations for a tribute 

went on between the princes and Shuja, and Jangbaz 

Khan fought two skirmishes with the Oudh vanguard, 

the situation was suddenly changed by the arrival of a 

new Maratha army under Sakharam Bapu at Kasganj, 

only two marches from Farrukhabad, on 17th June. 

Immediately the nascent coalition collapsed ; a settle¬ 

ment was speedily made with Shuja : ^^the matter was 

settled at 15 lakhs, five of which were to be paid down 

and the balance after a year ; half of these five lakhs 

was to be paid to Jangbaz Khan for his expenses, and 

the other moiety was to be divided into five equal shares 

of Rs 50,000 each, for the two princes, the wazir, the 
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Bangash Nawab, and Yahiya Khaii (the Paymaster of 

Mirza Baba^s force.) * 

Ahmad Bangash, taking Mirza Baba with him, 

hastened back to his capital (24th June) ; the wazir and 

Hedayet Bakhsh followed the next day. Shuja and the 

Ruhola chiefs went back to their homes. At Farrukha- 

bad the two princes had to dismiss all the soldiers they 

had recently enlisted for the purpose of controlling the 

subahs assigned to them. Their adventure ended in 

utter failure and great loss of money, without gaining 

an inch of territory or a Rupee of revenue. Even the 

war-indemnity promised by Shuja was not paid beyond 

the first lakh. Jangbaz Khan, exasperated at not getting 

the means for meeting his soldiers^ dues during these 

three months of campaigning, ravaged the country,f and 

going to Barily extorted the balance of the indemnity 

from Rajah Man Rai, the diwan of Sadullah Khan, 

who had been Shuja^s intermediary in the late 

peace talks. 

♦ TALS. \22bA2'M), The Maratba envoy with Shuja estimates 

the Oudh army at 15-16 thousand men and 3-4 hundred guns 

(9 June), and again at 25,000 men and 7-800 guns (19 June.) We 

learn from a Marathi despatch that the Peshwa’s envoy with 

the wazir forced peace on the two sides by leaving the settlement to 

the Peshwa’s arbitration (25 June.) SPD, xxi. 127, 130, 132. 

t “Jangbaz Kh. after settling the tribute of Shuja, took a bond 
for 2| lakhs from Hafiz and other Ruhelas, and remained on the 

further side of the Ganges [for realizing the money.]’’ Keport 

received in Delhi about 21 July. TALS, \21b, Ind, Ant, p. 69. 
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On 4th July the princes started from Farrukhabad 

on return to Delhi, in the same humble guise and abject 

poverty in which they had set out from the capital on 

15th March. By way of Aligarh (15 July) and 

Sikandrabad (21 July) they arrived within eight miles 

of Delhi on the 23rd, but by that time so great was the 

Maratha predominance along the Jamuna that Najib had 

to issue from the capital and make a demonstration of 

force on the west bank to ensure the safe crossing over 

of the princes ! They had absolutely nothing to show 

as their achievement. Within a few weeks of their 

starting from Agra they had lost even that imj)erial 

city. When Abdali set out on his return, Suraj Mai 

finding the field clear, re-established all his outposts 

by sending back his men, who had fled away before the 

Afghan advance, to occupy them. The Jat detachments 

even re-entered their old posts on the eastern bank of 

the Jamuna, along the edge of the Doab. And the 

Marathas, secure in the friendship of the Jats in their 

rear, asserted their predominance in the Doab once 

again. This second expansion of Maratha power will be 

treated in the next chapter. 



CHAPTER XVII 

Raghuxath Rao’s northerx expedition 

AND EVENTS DURING 1757-1758. 

§ 1. Maratha recoocry in the Doab ; their difficulties. 

We have seen how by the month of May 1756, all 

tlie forces of the Maratha Government had vacated 

Rajputana and Hindustan north of the Chambal. There 

was left neai Delhi a body of 5,000 horse under Antaji 

Manakeshwar, but they were the Emperor^s servants 

whose salary of 13 lakhs a year the wazir had taken 

it upon himself to pay. There were, besides, small 

bands of escort with the Maratha managers of Antaji^s 

jagirs in the Doab, (Phaphund, Shukohabad and Etawa), 

the Hinganes’ jagirs further north (in the Bulandshahar 

and Mirat districts), and the Peshwa^s tribute-collectors 

in the south-east (Kora and Jahanabad.) But all their 

generals and regular armies had gone back to the 

Deccan. Raghunath himself had reached Puna on 10 

August 1755 after two and a half years of campaign¬ 

ing ; and in October 1756 we find him as well as 

Malhar Holkar at Puna and Dattaji Sindhia due to 

return there from Ujjain after the Diwali ceremony. 

At the end of this year Malhar and some weeks later 

Raghunath were again despatched to the north. 
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Raghiinath reached Indor on 14 February 1757, and at 

first talked of marching on Delhi, which was in Abdali's 

occupation. But we shall see in Chapter 18 why he 

could not for nearly four oiontlis afterwards leave 

llajputana nor make any attempt to restore the Maratha 

power and prestige in the Doab. At last about the 

middle of May, he detached a force of 20,000 men 

under Sakharam Bapu, with Vital Shivdev, Tatya 

Oangadhar (Holkar’s diwan), Antaji Manakcshwar and 

the Household troops {huxarai) They first reached Agra, 

where they came to terms with the Jats. Suraj Mai, 

on promising to pay the outstanding balance of the 

indemnity of 1754, was left in possession of his 

usurpations in the Agra district and the western border 

of the Doab (Dankaur &c.) Then the Maratha 

vanguard crossed the Jamuna and reached Kasganj on 

17th June. As the Maratha horse approached, every¬ 

where there was a panic flight of the agents of the 

wazir and the Bangash Nawab. The Marathas recovered 

their former outposts in the Doab with hardly a blow. 

Antaji Manakeshwar went to Anupshahar about 2nd 

July, and a strong Maratha force occupied the Sikandra- 

bad district. It was only at Mirat that Najib^s agents 

(his cousin and his bakJishi) offered fight at the head 

of 3,000 men, but their opposition was swept away 

with heavy loss on both sides after two battles (c. 10-15 

July) with Antaji. A Ruhela contingent, 1,000 strong, 

which was coming from beyond the Ganges to uphold 
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Najib's power in Mirat, was scared away from the way 

by Antaji^s lieutenant who held Hapur. \SPD, ii, 79, 76, 

xxi. 61. 126. TALS. 124/>.125/a Raj. i. p. 134. DC.] 

Saharanpur, Mirat, Sikandrabad, Shiikohabad, 

Phaphund, Etawa and even southwards as far as Kora- 

Jahanabad, were all freed from the agents of the Delhi 

Court or of Najib. The wazir Jmad-ul-mulk kept the 

diwan Nagar Mai at Anupshahar to entreat the Marathas 

to make friends with him again. Shuja-ud-daulah had 

readily agreed to the Maratha proposal to remain neutral 

during this war in the Doab, as Maratha encourage¬ 

ment had stiffened his opposition to the wazir^s recent 

attempt to dispossess him of his two subahs by means 

of the Shahzadas. But the financial gain of the Marathas 

was insignificant. Though the Muslim usurpers had 

been driven away from the region, the normal mainten¬ 

ance of order and the peaceful collection of revenue 

could not be restored so easily. Thanks to the last four 

years^ constant change of legally authorized owners, 

usurpations, political revolutions and foreign invasion, 

the whole of the Doab had become a No-man^s land, 

seething with disorder. The eclipse of the legitimate 

government during Abdali^s invasion and the Ruhela- 

Maratha contest had tempted every ambitious man to 

come out with his band, renounce all masters and 

encroach upon his neighbours^ lands. The Gujars spread 

in lawless activity through the Dasna sub-division. 

The Rajput landlords of this region were a sturdy 
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rebellious lot *, almost every village had been fortified 

with mud walls,—as the English found to their cost in 

suppressing the Mutiny in 1858,—and the petty Rajahs 

with their armed bands had seized as much land as they 

could. Two thousands of such mud-forts were reported 

in the Doab by the Maratha agents, and their conquest 

by force would have taken years and a full-sized army 

and exhaustless gun-munition. \SPI), xxvii. 195, 190, 

168, 169, 170. ii. 76.J 

Hence, the Marathas on their return to the Doab 

found neither peace nor money, and had even to beg 

for funds from the Puna Government to save their 

soldiers from starvation. At the same time the Peshwa 

was issuing assignments on the hypothetical Doab 

revenue to every one of his creditors and generals in 

North India and censuring his local officers there for 

default of payment. Both Antaji and Bapu Hingan(3 were 

accused of peculation of their mastePs dues and their 

properties were escheated ! The art of maintaining an 

empire eternally on credit has not been discovered 

by any human brain. 

§ 2. Plan for omiimj Najib Khan from Delhi. 

Najib had been the right-hand man of Abdali during 

the late invasion and had been left by the conqueror as 

his supreme agent in Delhi, thus replacing the official 

wazir as the EmperoPs keeper. “The Emperor, after 

Abdali^s departure, had placed all the districts round 
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the capital under Najib, authorizing him to appoint any 

collector he liked^ provided that the rents came to the 

imperial exchequer. But Najib appropriated everything, 

even the yield of the princes’ estates and gave their 

owners one-fourth or one-fifth of what he collected.” 

For instance, for the mir (transit) duties of this rich 

and important region he paid only Rs. 25,000 per annum 

into the public treasury. \TALS, 1205, DC, under 11 

May.] The Emperor found that he was no better off* 

under Najib’s dictatorship than under Imad’s, while the 

Ruhcla upstart treated him with a roughness unknown 

to the nobly-boru wazir. He sighed for his old 

bondage. Imad, too, after the collapse of his recent anti- 

Maratha coalition under the Abdali’s blessings, humbly 

made peace with the Marathas and turned them against 

Najib. The plan of the newly reconciled allies was to 

expel Najib from Delhi and restore Imad to power 

there as a creature of the Marathas, so that the imperial 

Government would again be subservient to every 

Deccani plan of expansion in North India. Moreover, 

half the indemnity promised by the imperial Government 

in June 1754 still remained unpaid, while the annual 

cost of 13 lakhs for Antaji’s subsidiary troops had 

fallen into arrears. Therefore, Raghunath himself 

turned his face towards Delhi. On 7th June, Bapu 

Mahadev Hingan^, the Peshwa’s resident wakil at Delhi, 

at last came back from his hiding place in Kumbher ; 

he was presented to the Emperor and given the 
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superlative title of Maharaja-dhiraj (15th June.) The 

Delhi Court thus openly abandoned the recent anti- 

Maratha policy, and made ready to welcome Raghunath 

for expelling Najib. \I)C, SPIJ. xxi. 120.) 

S 3. Raghunath Rao inarches from Rajputaua to Delhi* 

While Sakharam Bapu took post at Patparganj, 

facing Delhi fort, (middle of July) and thus dominated 

the eastern bank of the Jamuna, Raghunath at last 

began his march upon Delhi at the end of July. 

Shamsher Bahadur with the artillery and the advanced 

division reached Rewari (c. 27 July.) His orders were 

to hold this city to ransom and occupy the Crownlands 

in the district around, but he found that the land was not 

in the possession of the Crown but ‘^everywhere under 

Jat control, with the exception of a few villages held by 

Kamgar Khan Baluch and Sitaram of Kaliana^s widow 

Satbhani,—both of whom were already on the side of 

the Marathas.^^ Prince Ali Jah (the Emperor^s second 

son), who had come a few days earlier to Rewari for 

wresting the district from the hands of usurpers, was 

invited by Shamsher Bahadur to a meeting in a garden 

outside and treacherously made prisoner with his- 

women, (30 July.) The attempt to levy contribution 

from the Baluch zamindars of this district was fruitless* 

Raghunath and Malhar, who had left Jaipur territory 

This section is based upon TALS* 121a, 1246-125a. 129a-130a. 
SPIl xxvii 193, 197, 158. 
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at the end of July, moved rapidly to Rewari, absorbed 

Shamsher^s contingent, crossed the Najafgarh jhil to 

Kharwa (7 August), and arrived at Khizirabad (south of 

Delhi city) on 11th August, and the investment of the 

imperial capital immediately began. 

Meantime, when the dreaded Abdali was known 

to be out of India and the prospect of his return seemed 

remote, Raghunath from Jaipur had called upon Kajib 

Khan [c. 10 June) to pay the customary cJmuth as in 

the reigns of Muhammad Shah and his son, on the 

ground that the lands assigned to the Marathas in lieu 

of diaulh having been occupied by Najib he was 

responsible for the amount in cash. This letter was 

accompanied by the arrival of their vanguard consisting 

of detachments from the contingents of Naro Shankar 

(from Jhansi) and Sakharam Bapu (from Jaipur) in the 

Agra district. These men, on coming to the fort of 

Wer, demanded tribute from Suraj Mai, who agreed to 

pay it. The subahdari of Agra had been given by the 

Peshwa to Malhar Holkar, who nominated Vital 

Shivdev as his deputy there (c. 27 May.) From Agra as 

a base, the Marathas crossed the Jamuna and sent a 

network of detachments to occupy the Doab up to the 

bank of the Ganges (June and July), as we have seen in 

Ch. 16. Though the Marathas avoided Delhi at first, 

their coming caused great trembling and scarcity of grain 

in the capital. The wazir joined them. To the demand 

for chauih the Emperor had replied that the Afghan 
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plunderer had left him nothing for payment to the 

Marathas. Najib advised him to prepare for boldly 

opposing the Marathas if they offered force. 

§ 4. Xajih's measures for defotdmg Delhi. 

On 16th July from the walls of Delhi fort a Maratha 

force was sighted on the opposite bank, plundering the 

grain dealers engaged in bringing supplies from Shahdara 

to the capital. The IViaratha headquarters under 

Sakharam Bapu (Baghunath’s diwan) and Tiitya 

Gangadhar (Holkar’s diwan) were established at Patpar- 

ganj. Then the ferries over the Jamuna from Wazirabad 

in the north of the capital to Khizirabad in its southern 

suburbs, were closed, ^^none could come from either 

bank, and grain in Delhi became very dear,^^ (2 Aug.) 

Najib Khan had at first sent a part of his own troops 

(under his brother Afzal Khan and captain Mulla Aman 

Klian) with some artillery across the Jamuna to defend 

the Doab, but recalled them after four or five days on 

seeing the Maratha occupation of that tract complete, 

and even wrote to his collectors there to retire peacefully 

before the Maratha advance. Thus, the Doab was 

surrendered, and Najib concentrated his forces on the 

defence of the capital. * 

Najib had also run a line of trenches at Khizirabad 

outside the city, to bar the line of invasion from the 

i^outh, but he had not enough troops to hold these in force 

~2!lZ5ri256' xxviri98. 
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and therefore wisely withdrew most of his men from the 

Old City to the New. A garrison of 2,500 of his own 

Ruhelas under Mulla Arnan and Ciutb Shah was put in 

Delhi fort (21 July) and the artillery was planted 

below the fort, under the walls of Kalani Bagh, 

to oppose the Maratha advance by that open 

side. 

The rest of the month of July and the first week of 

August passed in this state of watching for develop¬ 

ments. Then, at the report of Raghunath^s near 

approach to the capital, the Marathas on the east bank 

of the Jamuna began to cross over to the Delhi side by 

boat near Okhla in small parties and formed another 

post some 20 miles south of the city. Patrols sent out 

by Najib had a brush with their most advanced foragers 

and drove them back with loss (Gth August.) But the 

invaders returned in greater strength and plundered the 

neighbourhood of Safdar Jang^s tomb and the Mankhan 

quarter of the Old City, and advancing still further 

looted the houses of Jaisinghpura and even the 

horses of Bapu Hingain$. Najib, at the same time, sent 

his wakil Meghraj (4th August) to Imad and the 

Maratha generals at Patparganj, proposing terms, but the 

latter obstinately demanded the removal of Najib^s 

troops from the fort and his own evacuation of the 

oity, saying that they had no quarrel with the Emperor 

himself. So, there was nothing left for it but to fight 

it out. 

10 
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§ 5. Raffhmiath attaalcs Delhi, 11 Au(fust 1757, 

It broke out on 11th August, when Raghunath with 

his lieutenants reached Khizirabad. Sakharam crossed 

over from the Doab and joined him. They sent their 

troops towards the city. * One division, marching 

towards the Lai Darwaza, entered the Old I^ort and 

slew Najib^s qiladar of the place, a Pathan named 

Bakhtawar Khan, who was a disciple of Qutb Shah, the 

popular spiritual guide and fighting ally of the Ruhela 

clan. Advancing further, they penetrated into Old 

Delhi and engaged in plunder. Narsinghdas Kayath^s 

son bravely withstood them, and with the help of 200 

Ruhelas sent out by Najib under Karam Khan, fought 

for some time, till overcome by sheer weight of numbers 

and driven in flight up to the Delhi Gate of the New 

City. Thus Old Delhi was plundered and all its 

inhabitants scared away. 

A second Maratha division attacked the river bank 

south-east of the city, near the garden of Javid Khan» 

Najib sent Qutb Shah with 2,500 men to oppose it. But 

Qutb merely fired at the invaders from the Blue Bastion 

of the city wall, instead of venturing into the open* 

Najib himself watched the action from the roof of the 

Delhi Gate. About 3 P.M, the firing ceased, Qutb 

retired, and went away with Najib^s permission to sack 

the waziPs Delhi mansion, in order to avenge the 

• Raghunath's attack on Najib in Delhi \--TALS, 
8PD, xxi. 136, xxvii. 199, 194. DC, (very useful.) Nur-ud-din. 
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slaughter of so many of his disciples and troops in the 

Old City. The infuriated Ruhelas found the wazir^s 

gates closed from within and guarded by 600 men. 

They entered by way of the thatched sheds projecting 

from the walls, slew the defenders, and plundered every¬ 

thing in the house, stripping and dishonouring Imad^s 

women and servants. At last Saif-ud-din Muhammad 

Khan (the brother of A(]ibat Mahmud Khan Kashmiri) 

pacified Najib, and going to Imad^s house removed the 

miserable ladies to the shelter of Rajah Nagar MaFs 

vacant house. Some of these grand dames were placed 

in the few covered waggons and litters [dolis) that 

could be secured ; all the rest had to walk on foot 

through the public streets and bazars, with burqas 

thrown over their persons. This was the greatest 

outrage that could be done to any Indian householder, 

not to speak of the hereditary grand wazir of the realm, 

and it made a reconciliation between Imad and Najib 

for ever impossible. 

Imad from the eastern bank crossed over to the 

Mai'atha camp in the evening and visited Raghunath 

and Malhar for cementing his alliance with the invaders. 

Next day, a Maratha force again approached the river 

bank below the fort and retired about 3 P.M., after 

being fired at from the city walls by Najib^s men in 

the Blue Bastion. Then active operations ceased for a 

few days. 

After these futile cavalry attacks on the impregnable 
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stone walls of the capital from the south, bands of 

Maratha light horse (under Malhar) were sent round 

the city, towards Naraina and Sarai Khwajah Basant 

(in the west) and other suburbs. Najib closed all the 

city gates and posted artillery and troops at each of 

them. The Triple Archway in front of the Labor and 

Kashmir Gates was built up with stones and earth, 

leaving only a narrow passage for traffic. The grain 

supply of the city was entirely stopped, and there was 

a great scarcity of food and consequent suffering. Wheat 

sold at six seers to a Bupee.^^ 

§ (). Malhar assaults Delhi from the north. 

Malhar Holkar, with Vital Shivdev and other lieu¬ 

tenants and the wazir’s troops under Bahadur Khan 

Baluch and Jamil-ud-din Khan, described a semi-circle 

round the western side of Delhi and entrenched opposite 

the Kashmir Gate in the north-east. "A vast force 

was assembled in this quarter. They took possession 

of the country up to Sabzi Mandi, the Horse Market, 

and Wazirabad. Many places in this region were 

plundered.^' Manaji Paygud^ was ordered to entrench 

opposite the Kabul (or north-western) Gate ; he nego¬ 

tiated for hiring the Turki troops of the Sindagh (4,000 

musketeers), who were living in unemployment in the 

Mughalpura suburb.* The main Maratha camp was 

* They asked for an advance of money and some guns and 

artillerymen. The negotiations did not mature. (SPD. xxi. 136.) 
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now removed to the imperial Artillery Arsenal (Jinsi 

Topkhanah) near the Idgah. 

On 2r)th August the fighting was renewed. Two 

hours before dawn, a Maratha force, accompained by 

Bahadur Khan and Nagar Mai, entered the Qudsia 

Garden, planted their guns, and attacked the Ruhelas 

posted in the mansions of Jafar Khan and Ali Mardan 

Khan. The exchange of fire continued all day, the 

defenders losing many men.* In the end the Ruhela 

trenches outside were carried, and they fell back inside 

the walls. The (Qudsia Garden and the Begam Bagh were 

captured. The victors occupied the ground won ; Bahadur 

Khan entrenched himself in the garden of Jafar Khan, 

and Malhar sat down close to the Kashmir Gate. 

These advanced positions were well within the range 

of the big guns which Najib dragged to the northern 

ramparts during the night, and next day, 26th August, 

seven hundred of Bahadur Khan^s contingent were 

killed by this tire. 

There was again a suspension of fighting. Najib's 

force had now been reduced to less than 2,000 men ; 

he had not a single friend in the city, and the Emperor 

was secretly intriguing against him. He sought to make 

terms by sending his wakil Meghraj day after day to 

Malhar, whose agent was Mujiram (a hania) The 

Marathas demanded that Najib should resign the post 

** From Salimgarh two large guns were fired on the assailants, 

but their shots fell short. 
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of Paymaster-General, which had been promised to 

Ahmad Khan Bangash, vacate the fort, go to his own 

jagirs, and pay an indemnity of 50 or 60 lakhs. Najib 

declined to resign his post or leave the capital unless 

Imad did the same on his part, and he offered only five 

lakhs. He preferred death in fight to the dishonour of 

accepting his enemies^ exorbitant demands •, he abused 

the Emperor for his cowardice and treachery and 

intercepted his letters to Imad. The Emperor was 

helpless, '‘neither side would listen to him.’' Imad 

continued to fume over the Ruhela outrage on his harem, 

and Raghunath grumbled at his august personality being 

ignored and Najib negotiating with Malhar, whom 

Raghunath hated. 

S 7. Renewed attacks on Najib in Delhi, 

So the war broke out afresh on 30th August. 

Raghunath fought against the Delhi Gate (in the south) 

and Imad against the Labor Gate (in the north-west.) 

In the night of 29-30 August, the Marathas opened fire 

from all sides of the city. “Their cannon-balls reached 

the Hayat Bakhsh Garden, the Diwan-i-khas, the 

Diwan-i-am, and the imperial Wardrobe, within the 

palace. Two bastions of the Delhi Gate were demolished. 

The 31st also passed in this kind of artillery attack 

from all sides of the city. The Ruhelas made a sortie 

from the Labor Gate, drove away the men of Imad and 

Ahmad Bangash who had advanced from the Id^h, and 
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returned after plundering the Tobacco Mart and carrying 

away everything there, even the timber of the houses.” 

They made another sortie from the Turkoman Gate, 

killed some soldiers of the wazir's diwan Dilel Singh, 

and captured his banner. 

S 8. Pea/e made with Najib^ 3 Sep, 1737. 

But the defenders were hopelessly outnumbered. 

Famine was raging within the city, and “many men 

dispersed and only a few remained true to Najib.” At 

last he bowed to the inevitable. The next two days 

(1 and 2 September) passed in peace parleys ; Malhar 

tried to soften Raghunath and Imad, while Majd-ud- 

daulah (Abdul Ahad Khan) pressed Najib hard. At last 

Najib consented to visit Malhar and accept any terms 

that the Maratha general might dictate.* On 3rd 

September first Qutb Shah visited Malhar to settle the 

preliminaries, aud, then about 3 P. M. Najib himself 

went to Malhar^s camp at Qudsiabad by boat and was 

* Najib’s message conveyed by Abdul Ahad Khan to Malhar 

ran thus: (1) I am your [adopted] son and I shall act as you bid 
me. You have done me many favours and it is not proper that 

you should [now] bare your sword against me. If you say so, 
I shall go away across the Jamuna, and you can entrust Delhi 

«nd the empire to the control of whomsoever you please. (2) Bid 

me and I shall go to the Abdali Bhah and arrange a peace between 

you by delimiting your respective boundaries, which would be 

respected in future by both parties, so that there might not be 

war again. (3) i shall depute my son Zabita Khan to serve you 
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welcomed. He accepted all the terras and returned 

to the city at night. 

The peace became operative on the 6th. Najib issued 

with his property and war material from Dara Shukoh^s 

mansion, left the city and entered his tents pitched at 

Wazirabad. His Ruhela soldiers vacated the fort, v/ith 

all their belongings, and the Marathas took post as 

guards at the gates of the capital. Baghunath set free 

the captive followers of Najib ; the ferries over the 

Jamuna were opened to traffic and grain again began 

to come to the city from the marts on the other bank. 

The triumphant wazir now replaced Najib^s agents 

by his own men as qiladdr of the palace-fort, superin¬ 

tendent of the Private Audience, peshkar of the 

Emperor, and superintendent of the canal. Ahmad 

Bangash was made imperial Paymaster-General vice 

Najib. The completeness of the Maratha supremacy 

over Delhi is seen from the entry in the official history 

of the reign, ‘‘The Emperor, as reejuested, sent robes 

of honour to Malhar to make new appointments at his 

own discretion”; “the persons thus inducted to office. 

with a contingent of 5 or 7 thousand men, as a proof of my 

fidelity. (4) If you do not agree to these terms but are bent on 

fighting me, T shall unite the Par Ruhelas and others and give 
you a good battle?. He will rule the whole realm whom God givea 

the victory. SPlh ii. 77, supported almost verbatim by TAL8. 
1366 and Nur-ud-din. 

Peace negotiations,—7L1L5. 1326-137a. DC. Ohulam Ali, i. 33.. 
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after putting their khilats on, made their bows to 

Raghunath Rao in his tent/’* 

Thus Delhi and its sovereign once more exchanged 

one master for another. Najib^s reign of five months 

was over. Fighting against all the other forces of the 

realm, Hindu and Muslim combined,—^except the trans- 

Ganges Ruhelas and the governor of Oudh,—-his hand¬ 

ful of troops had yielded only to famine, but established 

their reputation as the most indomitable warriors in 

India. He avoided paying any money indemnity, and 

went back to his estates, where he lived in open defiance 

of the Delhi Government and kept constantly writing 

to Abdali to come back to India and expel the Deccani 

infidels from Delhi. |Nur-ud-din.| 

S 9. StifferivAjs of the Delhi people fluriny 1757, 

The Afghan conqueror^s haughty agent had been 

expelled from Delhi, but the agony of the imperial 

city showed no sign of ending. It had been squeezed 

dry of its wealth twice by Abdali and his troops in the 

first quarter of the year 1757 ; NajiVs war requisitions 

had kept up the strain in July and August, and 

Maratha cannon had damaged its palaces and bastions ; 

the high price and scarcity of foodstuffs had continued 

* TALS, 138a-139a, DC. Najib’s halting place was “the plain 

of Jah^nnuma, close to the BUradUri of Abhay Singh/’ f.e., in 
Jaswantpura. Antaji Manakeshwar was appointed imperial faujdar 

of the environs of the capital. 
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throughout^ and now during the two months of 

September and October “a sliaking fever raged with 

violence through the entire city, and left the eyes 

aifected. Then came an epidemic of brain fever * in 

the following March and April. Grain became very 

dear, mwifj dal was so scarce that only half a seer 

could be had for a Rupee, mit^h dal 5 seers, and wheat 

9 seers ; even medicines became very dear and scanty 

on account of the exactions of the Marathas.” \DC.\ 

Inside the walls, "theft and dacoity prevailed greatly 

owing to the break-down of the Emperor^s administration. 

Respectable men like Sayyids, Mughals &c., who formerly 

used to earn a living by service as soldiers, now found 

no employment, while those in service could not get 

their salaries. The jagirdars received nothing from 

their jagirs, which other men had usurped. Every one 

[of these classes] took to burglary in the houses of the 

city, collecting large gangs armed with muskets. 

Their leaders were two Turki soldiers. The head of 

the city police was accused of shielding the burglars 

and sharing their spoils ! To crown this long-drawn 

agony came a visitation of earthquake on 2l8t Novem¬ 

ber, 1757. The first shock, felt about one o^clock in 

the afternoon, was a severe one, followed by six lighter 

* “Boils known as Kanphora became epidemic. When the boils 

appeared, their pus passed into the patient^s stomach and killed 
him.^^ Shakir, 90. 
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tremours. Then, about 9 P. M. “it was so violent that 

Doomsday seemed at hand/' | TALS, 148 ; DC, | 

During the three weeks^ war with Najib, Raghunath 

was not free from anxiety that the Abdali forces in the 

Panjab might attempt to relieve their ally in Delhi. 

He again and again urged the Peshwa to send Dattaji 

Sindhia to the north with instructions to keep his eye 

constantly fixed on Attock for news of Abdali's return. 

At the same time one of his officers, Manaji Paygude, 

scouted north of Delhi up to Thaneshwar to find out if 

any Afghan force was coming from Sarhind. 

S 10. Farther aiornaents of Baghanath and 

Malhar fro)yi Sep. 1757. 

After Delhi cit y had been placed in the friendly 

hands of Imad, Raghunath and Malhar on 18th 

September 1757 moved rom Barari Ghat in the north 

of the city, westwards to the Basi hillocks, liberated 

their captive Prince Ali Jiih, and sent to Musa Khan 

Baluch (son of Kamgir demanding tribute for his 

possessions in the Rohtak district. The latter paid a 

sum through his manager Satbhani (the widow of 

Sitaram Khazanchi of Kaliana) and took a lease signed 

by the Maratha chief for the possession of the villages. 

The Marathas now planned to conquer the Panjab from 

Abdali^s men. But on hearing that Abdus Samad Khan, 

the governor of Sarhind, had collected a large force to 

bar their way and that Najib^s son, after being ousted 
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from SaJiaranpur and other places in the upper Doab 

by the Marathas, had joined Abdus Sainad, Eaghunatli 

gave up the plan of conquest, ^^knowing a war 

with Abdali^s ti*oops to be beyond his power/’ 

\TALS. 142/>-146a.l 

Backed by Abdali, Q,utb Shah the right-hand man of 

Najib had expelled the Marathas, early in 1757, from 

the Saharanpur district and taken possession of it. 

But in May, the wazir^s partisans Kamgar and Bahadur 

Khan Baluch defeated Qutb in the Gohana pargaua and 

drove him wounded and with broken forces east of the 

Jamuna to Kairaua. After the Dasahara celebration 

(22 October) Raghunath and Malhar marched into the 

Doab, crossing the Jamuna at Khizirabad and withdraw¬ 

ing their outposts from the environs of Delhi and 

Shahganj. ^^Some sort of composure came to the city." 

On 26th November they crossed the Hindan and 

encamped on its eastern bank. From this place, six 

days later Raghunath himself marched to Garh 

Mukteshwar to bathe in the Ganges, plundering all places 

on his route as during his first pilgrimage of January 

1755 ; none of Najib^s local officers ventured to 

oppose him. Similarly levying ransom and 

plundering villages all along, Malhar with his own 

division advanced north through the Doab, by way of 

Luni, Baghpat (Rs. 20,000 levied), Baraut (Rs. 17,000 

ransom), and the Saharanpur district. Najib retreated 

before the flood of invaders, sending his family camp 
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and baggage from Saharanpur to the eastern side of the 

Ganges. The whole of the Saharanpur district, villages 

and towns, was mercilessly sacked as being Najib's 

jagir. At the plundering of Jhunjhana many men were 

slain. \TALS. I20a, 147-1506.] 

Turning from the desolated villages round 

Saharanpur, Malhar crossed the Jarauna at Ramra Ghat, 

looted Kama! and Tilaiiri, and sat down before 

Kunjpura demanding tribute. Nejabat Khan, the zamindar 

of this fortalicc, was helpless, as the country outside had 

been devastated as far as Thaneshwar. He agreed to 

pay five lakhs,—three lakhs to Malhar, one to Ahmad 

Bangash, and half a lakh to Dilel Singh, the wazi^^s 

diwan. 

Then the Maratha general crossed the Jamuna back 

into the Saharanpur district with Ahmad Bangash. It 

was now near the end of J muary 1758. [Ibid,, 150.| 

Raghunath and Malhar next met together and 

adopted the plan of withdrawing their forces from the 

Doab, abandoning a part of that tract to the wazir, and 

concentrating their eflForts on the conquest of the 

Panjab. Crossing the Jamuna again from Saharanpur 

and plundering Thaneshwar on the way, they took 

Sarhind (21 March 1758) and finally Labor (c. 20 April), 

as we have seen in chapter 14. During their absence, 

Najib drove out the wazir^s agents and recovered Baraut, 

Saliaranpur and other places which had formerly 

belonged to him ! As Najib had failed to pay the five 
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lakhs promised on 3rd September 1757, the wazir 

imprisoned his envoy Meghraj on 8 May 1758, and 

two days later issued an imperial rescript appointing 

Vital Shivdev faujdar of Saharaiipur vice Najib, in the 

vain hope of thus supplanting the Ruhela ! \TALS. 

loll), 164a, 1656, 1776, DC. SPD. xxvii 225, 224.1 

^11. Raghunaih and Malhar return from the 

Panjab cuid leave for the s'oufb, IToS. 

After the conquest of Labor, Raghunath left the old 

and experienced local magnate Adina Beg Khan as his 

governor of the Panjab and set out for Delhi. “During 

their return march, Raghunath and Malhar, as was their 

wont, demanded money from every village and revenue- 

collector on the way, and plundered the place if it was 

not paid. They reached Sonepat on 14th June and 

two days later turned south-westwards to Buana, and 

thence to Farrukhnagar and Rewari (arrival 20 June), 

eu route to Malwa and the Deccan.* Thus the main 

Maratha armies retired from Delhi and the northern 

provinces, a year after their arrival in June 1757, 

with the following gains to their credit:— 

(i) the restoration of the former Maratha possess¬ 

ions in Etawa and other places in the lower Doab, but 

not Sikandrabad nor the country north of it, 

Raghunath bathes at Thaueshwar (5 June 1758), leaves Navl^, 

32 m. s. w. of Ujjain, for Maheshwar ghat on the Narmada (19 
August), crosses the Kasari-ghat and reaches Puna (<?. 16 Septem¬ 
ber.) Da SPD. ii. 95, xxvii. 229. 
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(if) the nominal ownership of the Panjab with the 

promise of an annual tribute of 75 lakhs from Adina 

Beg Khan, 

(ui) a friendly settlement with Suraj Mai, by which 

the Jat was confirmed in his annexations and also allowed 

to hold the fort of Agra, on condition of punctually 

paying the instalments of his old promised tribute, 

and (/r) the Emperor^s agreement to pay 13 lakhs 

annually on condition of the Marathas keeping 5,000 

horse in Delhi for his protection, this subsidy to be paid 
only so long as the subsidiary force was present there. * 

§ 12. ItaghfDiatk Rao's acts and polictj 

criiicalltj examitted. 

This long expedition of Raghunath Rao caused 
the wildest exultation among the ignorant sycophants 

of the Maratha Court, and their baseless praise has been 

echoed by e(|ually ignorant historians of that people in 

our own days, as ^^carrying the Hindu paramountcy 

(Uindu-pad-Padshahi) up to Attock.'^ On a calm exami¬ 

nation Raghunath^s vaunted achievement is found to be 

politically a hollow show and financially barren. The 

* aS/VA xxi. 148. The Peshwa had fixed Rs. 12 as the 

monthly salary of a trooper. But Antaji Manakeshwar, who com¬ 

manded the contingent, rightly pointed out that, considering the 
high prices in Delhi, a cavalryman could not feed himself and 

his charger there on less than Bs. 25 a month. If therefore the 

full strength was maintained, the 5000 men would have consumed 

15 lakhs, leaving no surplus to be sent to the Puna treasury. 
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full force of the Maratha State^ with the exception of the 

Peshwa’s personal retainers and the Sindhia family 

contingent,—had been concentrated in Northern India 

for two years under him, and Raghunath came back from 

this enterprise without having secured a pice for the 

Puna treasury but saddled with a debt of SO lakhs to 

bankers, besides the arrears due to his troops. Politi¬ 

cally, his failure was even more fatal. His reckless 

annexation of the Panjab made a war a I’outrance with 

Abdali inevitable. At the same time he estranged 

Najib Khan beyond hope of reconciliation, and 

for the sake of whom ? The impotent and faithless 

Imad-ul-mulk and the invalid poltroon Ahmad Khan 

Bangash ! This was the most ruinous diplomatic 

alignment of forces possible, and it was due mainly to 

Raghunath’s folly. He scornfull}^ rejected Malhar’s advice 

to keep Najib in hand by following a policy of ^^live and 

let live^^ in the Doab ; and he paid no heed to Najib’s offer 

to act as a friendly mediator and make a permanent 

settlement by amicably marking out the Maratha and 

Abdali spheres of influence in Northern India. The 

blame must be shared by the Peshwa in an even greater 

degree, as the supreme anthority. The provocatively 

advanced frontier which he sanctioned, required a large 

well-equipped force to be kept constantly on the spot to 

defend it; and yet the Peshwa did not realize that 

suzerainty involves such a responsibility. No Maratha 

soldier could stand the winter of Labor, and no first-rate 
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Maratha chieftain (like the Peshwa^s brother or cousin) 

was regularly posted as Warden of the North-western 

marches ; no, not even a secondary general like Holkar 

or Sindhia. This policy bore its natural fruit on 14th 

January 1761. 

§ 13. Prince Ali GauliaPs campaign in the Rewari-^ 

Rohtak districtsy May 1757—March 1758, 

Prince Ali Gauhar (entitled Shah Alam II)* was the 

eldest and ablest of the EmperoPs sons, and the fortunes 

of the Delhi royalty would probably have been restored 

if he could have had a free hand in reforming the 

administration and collecting an army and treasury of his 

own. But the disloyal selfishness of the wazir Imad-ul- 

mulk would not let him do so, and indeed pursued him 

with such deadly hostility for over a year that at last 

the heir to the throne was driven out of the neighbour¬ 

hood of Delhi and had to ^^set his face towards the 

wilderness.’^ Abdali had at first (19 Feb. 1757) 

appointed this prince Chancellor of the Empire, but the 

latter ^^had been given no territory for his maintenance 

and hence he had no money and no troops. He got no 

control over the administration and could effect no 

improvement in the collection of revenue or the transac¬ 

tion of public business.’’ So, after a few days Abdali 

set him aside for Imad. 

•TALS. mb, 119^ 126, 143«-1456. />a Ghalam Ali, i. 30, 37-42. 
§iyar, iii. 59. 

11 
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In May 1757 the prince went to the Baluch settle¬ 

ments south-west of Delhi to get something out 

of his jagirs in that region. At Jhajhar its 

zamindar Hasan Ali Khan (a nephew of Kamgar) 

evaded payment of tribute to him. The prince 

sent a force against Kaliana, the seat of the late 

Sitaram Khazanchi^s widow Satbhani and sons 

(Devidat and Shambhunath.) They submitted and signed 

undertakings to pay tribute for their estate. Hasan 

Ali now followed their example. The prince 

next advanced northwards to the Hisar district; 

but the villagers evacuated their homes and took refuge 

in the hills in order to escape from his soldiery who 

lived solely on plunder. As the result of it, utter want 

of provisions forced his troops to disperse. The prince 

turned aside to Kanaud (16 m. n. of Narnol), put a 

small garrison there, and came to Jfarnol which waa 

vacated by the Jaipur Rajah^s officers. But his plunder 

of this unresisting town excited indignation and the 

Jaipur troops cut off the princess outpost at Kanaud. 

Reinforcements, 4,000 strong, now came from Jaipur 

to the local officers, and they hemmed Shah Alam in 

in a fortalice in the neighbourhood. The prince fled 

to Rewari and Farrukhnagar abandoning his artillery 

because the draught-oxen were seized by the 

Rajputs, and his own followers deserted him to 

return to Delhi. Musa Khan Baluch (the heir of 

Kamgar) who had paid to the Marathas and taken a 
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lease from them, was forced to promise revenue to the 

prince also ! 

Shah Alam next attacked Auliya Khan Baluch of 

Dadri (in the Rohtak district) and secured a promise 

of 50 lakhs as tribute (6 March 1758) ; he then came 

to Jhajhar to restore his outpost which the local Baluch 

zamindars had driven out in his absence. Meantime, 

the wazir had made the puppet Emperor issue orders 

for recalling the prince and counteracting his measures 

in that district. The news of this official antagonism 

emboldened the Baluches still further, and they robbed 

the prince’s baggage outside Jhajhar, while his soldiers 

plundered the villages around. A sort of compromise 

was then made and on 16th March Shah Alam started 

on his return to Delhi with all his hopes ruined, his 

only gain being the doubtful one of the town of Jhajhar, 

while its fort still held out against him. [TALS. 1526- 

154«.] 

§ 14. Imad's plots against AH Oatihar. 

Near the jhil of Masaudabad (Najafgarh) the despair¬ 

ing heir to the throne was visited by Vital Shivdev, a 

lieutenant of Baghunath, whom be bribed to support 

his cause with his contingent (26 March.) The two 

proceeded to Kbizirabad and thence to Patparganj. 

The news alarmed Imad, who sent a force under 

Balabash Khan Badakhsbi to bring the prince away in 

any way he could. A battle followed, in which many 
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of the Badakhshis were slain and Balabash fled away 

to the garden of Jugalkishor. This reverse utterly 

bewildered the wazir ; in impotent rage he abused the 

Emperor as the secret instigator of Shah Alatn\s 

disobedience. He put all the other princes in confine¬ 

ment within the fort and strictly forbade every 

communication between the palace and outside. “The 

Emperor remained a helpless and silent spectator of 

it.” In fear of an attempt to wrest Delhi fort from his 

hands with Maratha aid, the wazir brought Intizam-ud- 

daulah away from his mansion (30 March) and kept him 

under surveillance in the fort. Many other nobles were 

watched with similar jealousy, so that even Ahmad 

Bangash, the head of the imperial army, had to enlist 

new troops for defending himself against any coup 

intended by his friend and patron the wazir ! He paid 

his official visits to the Court only under full escort. 

[TAL8. 154M586.1 

At the same time, Imad kept negotiating with 

Vital Shivdev, through Rajah Dilel Singh, to tempt him 

to abandon Shah Alamos cause. Vital was promised 

six lakhs and solemnly assured that the prince would be 

left unmolested in his jagirs of Jhajhar and Kaliana. 

So, the two returned from Sikandrabad, after plundering 

Bulandshahar, to Khizirabad (21 April) The treacherous 

Imad continued to write to the prince through the 

passive Emperor, bidding him visit the fort. But the 

bird refused to enter the snare ; Shah Alam marched 
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round the capital to Wazirabad in the north (8 May.) 

At last, deluded by the oaths and assurances of the 

wazir^s envoys, the prince came inside the city and 

took up his residence in Ali Mardan Khan^s mansion 

(14 May), but he kept all his followers, 2000 in 

number, with him, while Vital encamped in Qudsiabagh, 

north of the Kashmir Gate. “The Emperor (in fear 

of the wazir) durst not send any servant to inquire 

after his son^s health and comfort, though he had taken 

up his residence in the capital.’’ \Ibid,f 162-166.1 

§ 15. Imad attacks Ali Gauhat' in Delhi^ 1758. 

After neutralizing Vital Rao with a large bribe, the 

wazir at last on 19th May, 1758, got all his troops 

under arms on the pretext of escorting him during a 

pilgrimage to Qutb-ud-din Auliya^s shrine, but sent the 

force under Balabash Khan to invest Ali Mardan^s 

house and arrest the prince. * The battle raged from 

3 r. M. throughout the night, Shah Alam making a 

spirited defence under his own command and checking 

the assaults with the fire of long flint-locks from the 

roof. The big guns of Salimgarh cannonaded the besieged 

house. One division of the wazir^s army, led by 

Sayyid Jamil-ud-din, was routed. But numbers at last 

told on the small body of exhausted defenders *, several 

* Imad’s attack upon Ali Gauhar in Ddhi,—TALES'. 167-170. 

DC. Ghulam Ali, i. 43-49. Shakir 93-94. Miskin 199. SPD. xxvii. 
220, 224. Siyar, ill 60, 
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captains of the prince were slain, and next morning 

(20th May) the wazir^s troops forced their way in. But 

Shah Alam with only a hundred devoted followers 

charged them sword in hand, slashed right and left, 

cut his way out through the mansion of Jafar Khan, 

Qudsiabad and Jaswantpura, and found safety in 

VitaPs camp. A charge of the Marathas drove his 

pursuers back, but all his property and war material left 

in Ali Mardan’s house were plundered by the wazir^s 

men and he was reduced to absolute penury. Next day, 

the wazir, yielding to VitaFs threat, restored the small 

portion of the plunder which had reached his hands, or 

could be traced by the police in the city, and also 

paid Vital the six lakhs promised. Then the wazir, 

through his helpless tool the Emperor, proclaimed 

Shah Alam a rebel in arms again&t the lawful 

Government! 

§ 16. Ali Oaiihai^'s wanderings after escape 

from Delhi* 

Prom the northern suburbs of Delhi the prince, still 

accompanied by Vital Shivdev, marched again to the 

Baluch country in the south-west. At Farrukhnagar he 

fought (30 May) Mirza Khan and other relatives 

of the zamindar Musa E[han Baluch and routed them. 

♦ TALS. 175-192a. DQ, Siyar^ iii. 60-61. Ghulam Ali 47-53, 
59-66. SPD. ii. 95. 
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Then, taking a promise of Rs. 2,60,000 from the defeated 

party, he went to Pataudi, where he received many gifts 

and provisions sent by Suraj Mai Jat in charge of his 

son Batan Singh. * During the first half of June 1758 

Shah Alam with VitaFs help continued roving in that 

region,—Farrukhnagar, Rewari, Nahra, Dadri,—plunder* 

ing the villages and levying contribution wherever he 

could. On 16th June Vital parted company with him 

at Dadri, under strict orders of recall from his chief 

Raghunath, who had been won over by Imad to oppose 

Shah Alamos interests. 

Vital had received orders to bring the prince away 

with himself ; but he left him with a small escort under 

his own son and told him to go wherever he pleased. 

^‘Shah Alam, after bidding farewell to Vital Rao, marched 

beyond Dadri on 16th June, turned his face to the path 

of the wildel*Qess in sole reliance on God, and told his 

followers that they were free to accompany him or not 

as they liked. Most of them left him.” By way of 

Churkhi he went to Hisar, where he found the Bikanir 

Rajah^s reply refusing to give him an asylum in his 

kingdom, a refusal softened by a purse of Rs. 10,000. 

At Hisar he gathered many military adventurers and 

some money, and resuming his march on 25th July 

reached Kunjpura on the 31st. Then crossing the 

J amuna, he reached Muzaffaroagar and was conducted 

* The wazlr sent Nagar Mai to the Jat camp at Palwai to 

Induce Suraj Mai not to side with Shah Alam (3 June.) 
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by Najib’s brother and eldest son with all honours to 

Jansath and lodged there. Here many Barha Sayyids^ 

joined him. Najib himself welcomed the prince at 

Miranpur (c. 20 August) and gave daily subsistence 

to his troops, but he refused to go to war with the wazir 

and the Marathas for the sake of his master^s son. 

Unable to effect his purpose here, the prince, after 

making an addition to his harem, marched from Miranpur 

across Ruhelkhand to Oudh, where Shuja-ud-daulah 

received him with full ceremony on 2nd January 1759. 

Shah Alamos adventures in concert with this ally will 

form a separate chapter, because they did not affect the 

history of Delhi or of the imperial Court, but concerned 

only an^outlying and lost province. 

§ 17. hnatVs campaign in the west of Delhi, 1758. 

We may complete this episode of Delhi history by 

briefly describing the wazir^s activities during the 

period. * When Shah Alam, abandoned by Vital 

Shivdev, entered the Hisar district, Imad decided to 

oppose him by arms. But his Maratha allies having left 

for the Deccan, the wazir was compelled to fight the 

prince out with his own resources. He dragged the 

Emperor along with himself in order to give validity to 

his acts and also to prevent the capture of the Emperor^s 

person by his enemies during his absence. A long time 

was lost in making a start from Delhi, as nothing was 

• TAL8. 182a.l88ff. 
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ready for a campaign for want of money. At the end of 

July 1758, the Emperor reached Kot Kalan (4 miles 

from Jhajhar) and the wazir Bahadurgarh. But by that 

time their prey was already beyond the Jamuna, So, the 

wazir set himself to exacting tribute from the villages 

and fighting them in case of default. From 10th August 

his troops began to range through Jhajhar, Dadri, 

Kaliana and other places on the Rohtak—Gurgaon 

border, and collected over two lakhs of Rupees, till 

they reached Hisar on 22nd September. In this region 

the sturdy villagers from behind their mud walls, 

frequently offered stout resistance, and fought the wazir; 

they could be subdued only by turning artillery upon 

them. On 19th September, when the Emperor and 

wazir were separated during their march by following 

two different routes, the people of Bhiwani, matchlock 

in hand, shut their sovereign o ut of their village, while 

the local robber population carried off many of the 

carts laden with baggage from both divisions of the 

imperial army. 

The wazir next attacked Bhatner, the seat of 

Muhammad Amin Khan Bhatti. But Amin Khan, 

strong in the strength of his fortress, the river Ghaghar, 

dense jungles, and abundance of soldiers,—continued 

to defy him. Every day the Khan^s men sallied forth 

from their fort and plundered all people who had 

occasion to leave the waziFs camp. Thus the invaders 

suffered from great dearth of food and drinking water. 
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Then 5.1a Jat came, waited on the wazir, and supplied 

provisions. The Bhattis even made a night attack on 

the Delhi camp, slaying and wounding many men and 

carrying away much property. The sufferings of the 

miserable imperialists were aggravated by a great storm 

of hail and rain which burst upon their camp at 3 p. m. 

on 30th October and continued far into the night. 

The Emperor’s residential tent fell down from 

the weight and he was buried under it. No servant 

was present to erect it; so he cut the canvas 

with his dagger and crawled out, crying out to his still 

buried sons, who shouted back to indicate exactly where 

they were. At last all the camp gathered round the tent, 

the Emperor and his sons were rescued and took shelter 

in a large waggon {rath)y but, horrible to relate, men and 

women were mingled together ! Then the wazir patched 

up some sort of peace and returned towards Delhi. At 

Bhawana, the Emperor’s tent caught hre, but he at 

last reached his capital on 22nd November 1758. 



CHAPTER XVJII 

Ra,ii*uta na, 1751-17 50. 

§ 1. Bajput-Maratha niatious dwittg 

By the middle of the year 1751 the three dynastic 

wars in Rajputana had ended in the victory of the 

claimants, as we have seen in Chapter 7. In Jaipur and 

Bundi the Maratha nominees had been installed, while 

in Marwar alone the new Rajah Bakht Singh had gained 

the throne unaided by any Deccani mercenar3\ 

These wars had left the Rajput States under a 

heavy load of debt due to the Marathas as the price of 

their armed support. It is possible to form an exact 

estimate of the monetary claims of the Marathas in 

Rajputana at this time. The fine of ten lakhs imposed 

on Kota by Baji Rao in January 1738 seems to have 

been paid in full. Leaving aside the absurd sums of 

one kror or even half a kror so recklessly offered to 

the Marathas by Maharana Jagat Singh II in his frantic 

desire to win for his nephew Madho Singh the Jaipur 

throne or at least half of that kingdom, we find that in 

1748 Madho Singh promised them a naxar of ten lakhs. 

To this sum must be added the indemnity of two lakhs 

imposed on him for the massacre of the Maratha visitors 

to his capital in January 1751. So, the dues from 
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Madho Singh were twelve lakhs in all. It was laid 

down by the Maratha king that out of the actual 

collection made here every year, half a lakh was to be 

paid to him, and the balance to be shared equally 

between his two generals Holkar and Sindhia posted 

there. At Bundi, Ummed Singh during his contest 

for the throne had bound himself to pay his Maratha 

allies ten lakhs, out of which two lakhs were paid in 

1749 and the remaining eight lakhs were yet to be 

realized. In Marwar, Bakht Singh was under no 

obligation to the Marathas ; but his defeated rival 

Ram Singh, immediately after the loss of his realm 

(July 1751), sent his priest Jago to hire a Maratha 

army and thereafter became entirely a creature of the 

Deccanis. 

No part of these contributions was paid * by the 

Rajput princes during 1751 and 1752, for it was long 

before the Marathas were in a position to enforce their 

claims by arms, and without the threat of war nothing 

could be collected. Throughout 1751 and the first four 

months of 1752 the Maratha forces in Northern India 

♦ Bundi,—‘in 1754 five lakhs remained unpaid, but Es. 60,000 

was actually paid in that year. SPD. xxvii, 86. JHarw'ar,—Vad, 

iii. 143 and 129. Udaipur, —the Maharana in 1747 repudiated his 

promise to Baji Eao I (made in 1737) to pay Rs. 1,60,000 annually, 

and he required to be coerced. In 1753 the Marathas planned to 
take from him bonds for 5 lakhs. SPD. ii. 34. Nathp, an 

aspirant to his brother's throne, offered to pay 15 lakhs after 
his installation, xxi. 58. 
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were entangled in Safdar Jang’s war with the Afghans, 

and no troops could be spared for Rajputana. When 

that war ended, their main army under Malhar Rao 

Holkar started for the South to instal Ghazi-ud-din II 

in the seat of the Nizam of Haidarabad, as we have 

seen (Chap. 8, § 10.) This plan ended abruptly in the 

death of the Maratha nominee by poison on 16th October, 

1752. Thus, Rajputana remained denuded of Maratha 

forces from February 17 51 till the end of May 1752, 

when a body pf 5,000 horse under Jayapa Sindhia, 

detached by Malhar from Delhi with Ram Singh’s 

envoys, reached Ajmir for attacking Bakht Singh. This 

force was quite inadequate for defeating the flower of 

Rathor chivalry under a most gallant and capable chief. 

The invaders, after reaching Ajmir, sacked that city, 

burnt many of its bouses, slew all who resisted, and 

then took to plundering the neighbourhood. Bakht 

Singh, on hearing of the invasion, had arrived with his 

full tribal levy and encamped about eight miles from 

Ajmir, guarding his frontier, but not advancing to the 

defence of Ajmir. He at flrst bided his time, and then 

in July struck his blow. Mounting guns on a hillock 

and planting strong block-houses (imkas) to hold the 

paths, he bombarded the Maratha position. His fire 

slew many of the raiders, including one captain ; the 

Deccanis were checked and fled away to the South, 

accompanied by the discomfited Ram SingL [TAL8. 

B8b, lOlo (regnal year corrected to fifth)] 
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2. Jayapa Sindhia invades Marivar on 

the side of Rant Singh, 1754. 

After this, Marwar enjoyed respite for a year and 

a half. But the hope of preserving that country from 

Maratha aggression vanished with the sudden death of 

Bakht Singh only two months after his victory at Ajmir. 

He had planned to go to Delhi in company with the 

Jaipur Rajah and there concert measures with the 

imperial Government for keeping the Marathas confined 

to the Deccan, when he died of cholera. His son, 

Bijay Singh, was quite unable to cope with the Deccanis. 

Not a farthing having been realized from Rajputana, 

the Peshwa sent a vast array under his brother 

Raghunath Rao with Malhar Holkar to that country. 

This chief crossed the Mukundara pass and entered 

Kota territory on 30th October 1753. Thence he 

proceeded through Jaipur to the Kumbher district of 

the Jat country (arriving there on 20th January 1754.) 

He was nowhere opposed ^ Kota and Bundi were old 

allies, while Madho Singh averted the desolation of his 

kingdom by sending his diwan Haragovind Natani 

(16 Dec. 1753) and agreeing to a contribution of 16^ 

lakhs of Rupees, *—15^ lakhs being the outstanding 

tribute, and 1 j lakhs a present to Raghunath for the 

* Out of this sum, Jago Pandit, the Jaipur minister, paid to 

Jayapa Sindhia (April 1755) Rs. 7,35,074 in cash and three lakhs 

in orders on banka», leaving a balance of Ks. 6,14,926 still due. 
8PD. xxvii. 108. Interviews,—xxvii. 79. 
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honour of his visit ! On 17th December, Ram Singh, 

the ex-Rajah of Marwar, waited on Raghnnath and 

begged his help in recovering his paternal throne. But 

Raghnnath could not be diverted from his main purpose, 

which was to go to Delhi and support Imad-ud-mulk 

in getting control of the Emperor. After losing four 

months on the way in a vain attempt to subdue 1 mad’s 

enemy Suraj Mai Jat, the Maratha army arrived opposite 

Delhi on 1st June 1754. Next day Imad made 

himself wazir and set up an Emperor of his own 

creation, and Raghnnath had nothing more to do than 

realize the subsidy promised by Imad and establish 

Maratha revenue collectors in the districts ceded in the 

Gangetic Doab and elsewhere. 

So, on 23rd June, Raghnnath detached Jayapa 

Sindhia from his side to Marwar, with orders to restore 

Ram Singh to the throne. The Gujrat division of the 

Maratha army, 10,000 strong, was told off for this task. 

On the way, Jayapa brushed aside the Rathor opposition 

at Rishangarh, 18 miles north-east ofAjmir. Bijay 

Singh wisely decided to fall back from the far advanced 

post of Ajmir to his old frontier fort of Merta, which 

he held in full strength with a large park of artilleiy. 

Here Jayapa arrived on 6th August and was joined by 

Ram Singh’s adherents. That prince set himself 

vigorously to enlist his clansmen and soon assembled 

12 to 15 thousand Rathors, besides tempting numbers 

of Bijay Singh’s followers to desert 
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Bijay Singh now issued from Merta and 

entrenched himself opposite the invader’s camp and 

engaged in daily skirmishes and cannonading. At last 

on 15th September a battle at close quarters took place. 

Rajputs of the same clan and even of the same family 

were ranged on the opposite sides and fought with the 

blind fury of civil war. "Father slew son, brother 

killed brother.” This unnatural contest raged from 

9 o’clock in the morning till sunset. By nightfall Bijay 

Singh had been completely defeated. The vanquished 

king spent that night and the next day in Merta, loading 

what property he could for removal, and then fled away 

to Nagor. On the 17th Jayapa and Ram Singh entered 

Merta, looted the city for three hours, and then 

proclaimed safety to the unhappy citizens. The victors 

immediately pushed on to Nagor and laid siege to it; 

but the siege was destined to last for a year and to cost 

the Marathas dear. * 

§ 3. Peshwa’s policy in Marwar koto thwarted. 

From the beginning of this campaign the Peshwa 

kept assuring Jayapa of his full confidence in his valour 

and wisdom, but urging him not to carry matters to an 

extreme, as the Marwar Rathors were a race of famous 

swordsmen, justly proud of their having never yet 

suffered defeat from the Marathas. He advised his 

• Jayapa goes to Marwar,—Aiti. Palrm, 122, 124. TALS. 21o. 

Baj. i. 37, DG. Tod, ii. (details of battle.) 
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general to conclude the Marwar business as quickly as 

possible by tact and compromise^ giving to Bijay Singh 

his father Bakht Singh^s appanage and to Ram Singh 

his paternal dominions, or even dividing the Marwar 

kingdom equally between the two. For, there was a 

far more important and lucrative undertaking before 

the Marathas in Hindustan than changing the succession 

in a poor and barren Rajput State. Safdar Jang had 

recently died, and his son Shuja-ud-daulah had succeeded 

him in the rich provinces of Oudh and Allahabad ; now 

was the time to get a large sum out of him and also to 

secure the transfer of the holy cities of Allahabad and 

Benares to the Peshwa. The force accompanying 

Raghunath. near Delhi was too small to exact these 

gains and to enforce the payment of the vast tribute 

promised by the wazir Imad-ul-raulk. And money was 

sorely needed by the Peshwa ^ he was helpless before 

his creditors and unpaid officers ; “my Government is 

eternally in the grip of that consumption, the malady 

of debt.” Fifty lakhs of Rupees if realized from 

Hindustan would be most welcome to him now. For 

achieving this object it was fatal to disperse the Maratha 

troops over a vast area. Jayapa was again and again 

ordered to free himself from the Marwar entaiiglemeirt 

by any means whatever, to satisfy Ram Singh somehow 

by placing four or five Rathor chieftains under him as 

his supporters, and to avoid the extremely hard task 

of crushing Bijay Singh altogether, which would 

12 
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kept the Maratha army engaged in Marwar till 

eternity.* 

But Jayapa would not listen to his master, and even 

less to his local chief Eaghunath or to his colleague 

Malhar. He was obsessed by the idea of capturing 

Bijay Singh's forts and winning the whole kingdom, 

for Ram Singh. 

i; 4. Early suceesses of Jayapa Sindhia 

in Marwar, 1755. 

At first fortune seemed to favour him. The strong 

fort of Ajmit was stormed by a Maratha division (under 

the local tribute-collector and not by Jayapa), on 21st 

February 1755. And shortly before this, the city of 

Jalor, where Bijay Singh's hereditary hoards were 

deposited and which was regarded as his safest refuge 

in a day of adversity, fell into the hands of a body of 

Rum Singh's partisans. A mixed Rathor-Maratha force 

under Jagannath Purohit and Santaji Babhl4 had 

invested Jodhpur itself and their sap was approaching 

the walls of the Rathor capital. 

At the same time, the rigour of the blockade of 

Kagor began to press its garrison hard. In March 1755 

one tank of water within that fort dried up and there 

remained only one other to keep the defenders and 

* AUi, P(^rm, 126, 127 {kshay-rogd, samM karx-rog), 131 
(petition proposed). Baj. •ri. 327, 341. 
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Other inmates alive. Famine raged in the beleaguered 

city ; salt sold at 1^ seers per Bupee^ rice at 13 seers, 

and opium—so indispensable to the Rajput, at Rs. 20 

per seer, while firewood and grass were totally unobtain¬ 

able. Men began to escape from Nagor whenever they 

could. Bijay Singh opened negotiations for terms 

through a holy abbot, Gosain Bijay Bharati, but Jayapa 

demanded the impossible sum of fifty lakhs. At the 

same time, Jayapa finding his own water-supply failing 

with the approach of summer, wrested from the enemy^s 

possession a well-watered village, Tausar, seven miles 

south of the fort, and shifted his camp there. 

Hence, there was every prospect of his being able 

to capture Nagor and end the war in a few weeks. 

So, when, towards the close of February, Malhar and 

Sakharam Bapu, now free from their campaigns in the 

Doab and Mewat, oflFered to come to Nagor to reinforce 

him, Jayapa told them that it was unnecessary as he 

would successfully conclude the Nagor business in a 

few days, and that they bad better go and attack 

Rupnagar. Raghunath Rao, too, was put off with 

exactly the same reply when he reached Pushkar (3rd 

March) and proposed to come to Nagor and personally 

effect a reconciliation between Jayapa and Bijay Singh 

and do what he could for reinstating Ram Singh on 

the throne of Jodhpur. 

Thus, the Maratha cause in Marwar, and in 

consequence of it, throughout Northern India too, was 
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for the time being ruined by the selfish insubordination 

of one over-proud officer. And soon things began to 

turn against him. In March Jalor was recovered by 

Bijay Singh^s men. Jodhpur held out, and so did Nagor 

in spite of deepening privation hunger and thirst.* But 

Jayapa clung to his trenches with blind obstinacy. He 

Wanted to wipe out the disgrace of his repulse by Bakht 

Singh in July 1752^ and after his recent boast to the 

Peshwa and Raghunath he had not the face to turn back 

from the walls of Nagor without taking it. 

§ 5. Murder of Jat/ajm Shidhia, 24 July 1755. 

The exasperation grew bitterer on both sides, and 

at last the storm burst on 24th July, 1755. Peace- 

talks had been opened on behalf of Bijay Singh by 

Gosain Bijay Bharati some time ago, but no settlement 

was reached. The negotiator and his associates used to 

go and come between the city and the Maratha camp. 

On 24th July the Gosain came to Jayapa^s tent with 

Raj Singh Chauhan and Jajneshwar from Nagor. They 

Wei'e joined by Rawat Jait Singh Sisodia, who was 

IMng in the Maratha camp as the Maharana^s am¬ 

bassador, to lend his services as a neutral mediator. 

That day the discussion Was prolonged and feelings ran 

* Raj. i. 44. SPD. xxi. 67 (for D^ndghds read lndUn^\ 
xxtil. 106, 108, 105 (Ajmir captured.) 
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high.* The Kathor envoy asked the Maratha general, 

^^What do you mean by coming to our territory and 

demanding tribute ? What do you take yourself to 

be Jayapa haughtily pointed to his sword as his 

authority. The Rathor pleaded, "Do not be too proud of 

your swordsmanship and strength of arm. Know that 

God alone can grant one man supremacy over another.^^ 

But these words only heightened Jayapa^s fury. After 

abusing the Rathor Rajah and his agents as cowards, 

he thundered out, "By the stroke of my shoes I shall 

collect tribute from you.’^ This was more than the 

ancient peers of Hindustan, claiming descent from the 

Sun and the Moon, could bear from a Brahman^s 

hereditary slipper-bearer. In an instant the R.athor^s 

dagger leaped out of its scabbard and was plunged 

again and again in Jayapa^s bosom ; bis companions 

completed the work with their swords. At once the 

alarm was sounded, and a wild tumult swept through 

Jayapa^s camp. The Marathas flew to arms ; the three 

envoys of Bijay Singh were cut down, and the innocent 

Murder of Jayapa,—59a and Chahar Ghdxar 4006 both 

assert that Jayapa abused Bijay S. and the Bajputs in general 

during the last discussion. Adi. Patren, 139, 141. (I have rejected 

143 written in 1799). 8PD. xxvu. 116, ii. 148. DC, under 26 July. 

The above are the authentic contemporary accounts. For the 

opium-eaters’ tales concocted later, see Tod, i (Personal Narra* 

tive) and Vmnsha Bhaskar, iv, 3649-3652 (10 lakhs fine for the 

murder) and their echoes in Marathi in BhUu Sahebdtnchi Bakhar^ 
A beautiful cenotaph was built at Nagor over Jayapa’s ashes. 
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mediator from Udaipur shared their fate. Every 

Rajput present in the camp was hunted out and slain. 

Only Sardar Singh, the dispossessed heir of Rupnagar 

and a protege of Jayapa, was saved, but with the utmost 

difficulty. 

The crime did not benefit Bijay Singh at all. The 

confusion quickly subsided ; Jayapa^s son Jankoji was 

proclaimed as the new chief in the masterless camp. 

The timid proposal to fall back on Ajmir was at once 

rejected as a cowardly surrender of Maratha rights and 

a blow to Maratha prestige throughout Hindustan. 

The siege trenches at Nagor were manned as firmly and 

the Maratha armies throughout the entire theatre of 

war presented as bold a front as before. This prompt 

and vigorous control of the situation was the work 

of Jayapa^s brother Dattaji, the guardian of the lad 

Janko, and a first-rate soldier in courage and enterprise, 

though lacking in sagacity and diplomatic tact. 

§ 6. Rajput efforts against Marathas fail, 1755.* 

Bijay Singh tried to seize the opportunity presented 

by the removal of Jayapa and to build up a coalition 

with Madbo Singh, the Emperor, Suraj Mai, and the 

Ruhela leaders, for driving the Marathas out of North 

India altogether. He sent his agent to Delhi and 

♦ This section,-5PZ>. xxvii. 112, 119, 117,275. xxi. 71, 73, 

77, 76, 80. ii. 49, 55 (which is completed by xxi. 74), 50, 51 

(—53), 54, 87 (reply to xxvii. 112). 
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through the wazir presented five lakhs to the Emperor, 

begging him to take the field against the Marathas and 

promising to pay him Rs 10,000 for each day of march 

and to join him with the Rajput tribal levies The 

puppet Padishah and his feeble wazir sent off letters 

summoning the vassal chiefs to the royal banner, and 

did nothing. Nearer home, Bijay Singh was more 

successful. Madho Singh, the Rajah of Jaipur, heartily 

entered into this plan of liberating his country from 

Deccani domination. He began to recruit new troops 

in Malwa and wrote to the Rajahs of Bundelkhand 

to join in this war of their common interest. He 

first got rid of the Maratha tribute-collector 

quartered on his capital, Govind Timaji, by encircling 

his house with troops and threatening to dishonour 

him, at which Govind took poison (September.) 

Attacks were now delivered on the Maratha posts 

throughout Marwar. A band of Bijay Singh’s men, 

strengthened by troops from Jesalmir and Pokbaran, 

started from Jalor against the Marathas who were 

besieging Jodhpur. But Dattaji was now completely 

master of the situation and promptly made effective 

arrangements for defence. While a detaining force 

continued before Jodhpur, a strong detachment from 

Dattaji’s own camp advanced against the oncoming 

enemy. The encounter took place at Godawas, 32 miles 

north-east of Jalor; the Bathors were defeated and 

driven into Godawas fort, vdiich was at once blockaded 
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by the Marathas and its provision supply cut off, so 

that gram sold in the beleaguered city at 2 seers a 

Rupee. While keeping his grip on Nagor unslackened, 

Dattaji sent out smaller detachments to every village 

where the Rathors had raised their heads.* 

Then a Jaipur force under Anurudh Singh 

Khangarot with allies from Shahpur, Rupnagar, Kerauli 

and Harawati, making a total of 25,000 men, and 

strong artillery, was reported as coming to the relief 

of Nagor [SPD, xxi. 74, 77.J The Jaipur army had at 

first marched in two divisions, under Anurudh and 

Jagannath Sah, against Naraina and Ramgarb 

respectively, but in fear of the Maratha detachment 

under Ranoji Bhoit^ advancing against them they had 

united at Ramgarh. Dattaji countered this move by 

pushing up to Bhoit^ a strong reinforcement of 6,000 

men, partly composed of his own Marathas and partly 

of Ram Singh^s Rather partisans. Anurudh was 

completely cowed by this superior force, and saw these 

Maratha generals on 10th October, asking for peace 

and agreeing to go to Dattaji for settling the terms. 

But on hearing that Bijay Singh^s retainers and a 

party of Bikanir troops under diwan Bakhtawar Mai 

were coming to his aid, in a body of some 2,500 fresh 

♦ Godaivas, on the Sukri river, 32 m. n. e. of Jalor. Didwana, 
55 m. n. e. e. of Nagor. Nagor, 43 m. n. w. of Merta. Datdatpur, 
5 m. s. e. of Didwana. Naraina, 8 m. s. of Sambhar town. 
^mgenrh, 32 m. n. of Naraina and 38 m. e. of Didwana. 
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men, he broke off negotiations, and on 15th October 

set out from Ramgarh towards Nagor. Next day, from 

Datia he crossed the frontier and entered the Marwar 

territory. But during the preceding night a light force 

of Marathas under Bhoit4, Narsingh Rao Sindhia, and 

Khanaji Jadav, had made a forced march from their 

halting place, and they now overtook and attacked the 

rear of the Jaipur army three hours after dawn. An 

obstinate combat raged for four hours. The Deccani 

moss-troopers galloped upon the cumbrous artillery of 

Jaipur, cut down the gunners, and in the end gained a 

complete victory. Anurudh lost seven to eight hundred 

men slain, and a thousand horses, 50 camels, two guns, 

and six tumbrils of munitions given up to plunder 

(16th October.) But a still greater disgrace befell 

him ; his dead were not allowed to be removed for 

cremation. The Maratha losses were only two killed and 

forty-three wounded among the men and 70 horses. 

Severely shaken by this defeat, the Jaipur general 

turned his face towards Didwana, moving by regular 

marches, his baggage jplaced in the ceatre of the 

column and his artillery in front. Constantly harassed 

and robbed of horses and transport cattle by the 

Maratha bands roving round him and his men and 

beasts worn out by want of water, he could not 

advance more than five miles a day* In this sorry 

plight he reached Didwana, 38 miles from Ramgarh 

on 20th October. During the last day of this march he 
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had to pass twelve hours absolutely without any water, 

the Marathas having blocked up the wells and seized 

the tanks along the entire route in advance. The enemy, 

by repeatedly charging his rear and flanks, killed 300 

of his men and took 125 of his horses and three of his 

guns, while large numbers succumbed to thirst. 

He durst not move out of Didwana. Similarly his 

expected allies, the men of Bijay Singh, were cooped up 

at Daulatpur (5 miles e. of Didwana.) A convoy of food 

coming from Bikanir to the Jaipur army in Didwana 

was cut off by the Marathas near Daulatpur, a 

hundred men of the escort being killed and the 

rest put to flight. The greatest scarcity raged 

in the Rajput camps \ rice sold at 3 or 4 seers 

the Rupee, while fodder was almost unprocurable. 

Anurudh saw all hope of succour vanish and the way 

for advance and retreat alike closed. He came out with 

200 horse and saw the three Maratha generals facing 

him on 31st October, but nothing was settled. Bijay 

Singli, too, sent envoy.s from Nagor proposing to visit 

Dattaji for arranging terms of peace (about 5th Novem- 

ber.) 

§ 7. Jaipur and Marwar Rajahs make peace with 

Marathasy Feb, 1756.* 

In the mean time, on hearing of Jayapa^s murder, the 

* This 8ection.-<SPZ). xxL 70. 82, 83. 85. ii. 54, 56. 62, 63, 65. 
xxvii. 128. Aiti, Patren 142. 
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Peshwa had ordered reinforcements to Marwar for 

retrieving the Maratha position there. The first to 

arrive was Antaji Manakeshwar, with 10,000 men (includ¬ 

ing Jat and Bhadauria allies), who had started from 

launch on the bank of the Jaumna on 4th September, 

and by making a safe detour through the hills by way of 

Tndragarh, Khatauli and the Lakheri pass, had entered 

Jaipur territory near Nevai. Without coming to Nagor, 

he first ravaged the Kachhwa territory and then joined 

the Maratha force before Didwana (4th November), 

helping to make the blockade complete. 

The year had been marked by drought, and even in 

the open Maratha camp grain was selling at five seers 

a Rupee, while fodder was so scarce that a Rupee’s 

worth of grass a day did not suffice for one horse. The 

water level in the wells had sunk to 225 feet below the 

surface. The situation within the blockaded city of 

Nagor was even worse. At last life there became well- 

nigh unbearable, and on 12th November Bijay Singh 

slipped out of Nagor with 300 foot and 100 horse, 

intending to join the Jaipur army at Didwana. But 

finding that place enveloped by large enemy forces, he 

quickly changed his route and fled in headlong haste to 

Bikanir, where he arrived after ten hours of ceaseless 

riding. 

But the situation was no better at Bikanir. Around 

that city all the wells had dried up for 24 miles round, 

and Bijay Singh’s attempts to raise a fresh army there 
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failed. So, early ia December he returned to Nagor, 

and reopened peace parleys with Dattaji. Madho Singh 

decided to secure the release of his army in Didwana by 

promising five lakhs of Eupees to the Marathas. 

The Maratha forces assembled in Rajputana were in 

overwhelming strength at this time (the end of 1755) 

and the Rathors could make no head against them. So, 

at last. Bijay Singh bowed to the inevitable and agreed 

to make peace on the following terms (end of February 

1756) : 

(?) Ajmir fort and district were to be ceded to the 

Marathas in full sovereignty. 

{ii) A war indemnity of fifty lakhs was to be paid,— 

25 lakhs in the course of one year and the balance in 

two years more. 

{ni) The city of Jalor and half the territory of 

Marwar were to be delivered to Ram Singh, while Bijay 

Singh would rule over the other half and the cities of 

Jodhpur, Nagor and Merta. None of these terms except 

the first one was ultimately fulfilled. 

These negotiations having been concluded, at the 

end of February 1756, Dattaji halted before Nagor for 

some time, in the hope of collecting the money, and then 

moved on to Merta, and thence to Rupnagar, against 

which city he opened trenches on 22nd April. Here 

another division of the Maratha army under Shamsher 

Bahadur joined him on 5th May and completed the 

investment. Bahadur Singh, the usurping junior prince 
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of the Rupnagar State, submitted to the invaders and 

yielded his city to his elder brother Saniant Singh, whom 

he had ousted and whose cause had been taken up by 

Ram Singh and the Marathas. Then Dattaji returned 

(early in June) to his own fief of Ujjain,* while 

Shamsher Bahadur went back to Malwa. Thus, the 

Marwar adventure of the Sindhia family, begun four 

years ago, at last ended. 

§ 8. Raghimath Rao mmdes Rajjjntana^ 

1757—his failure and sufferings. 

At the end of this year, 1756, first Malhar Holkar 

and some weeks later Raghunath Rao were again ordered 

by the Peshwa to Rajputana to exact the promised but 

long-delayed tribute. Raghunath reached Indor on 14 

February 1757, and on being joined by Malhar there, 

at first proposed to march on Delhi, which was then 

being robbed by Ahmad Shah Abdali. 

But such a task was really impossible for him. 

Apart from his own constitutional lethargy and 

* On 15 October 1756 Antaji writes,—'‘Before this the Maharao 
of Kota [ Durjan Sal ] died childless. On hearing of it Dattaji 

by rapid marches went to Kota and secured promise - of 40 Uidis 
as naifcor,—20 lakhs were paid down and bonds given for the 

remaining 20 lakhs. He has come bock to Djjain.'^ SPD. ii. 60. 

Vamsha Bhaskar^ p. 3654-‘5 places the death in July and gives 

12 lakhs as the succession fine impost on Ajit S. Hada, the new 

B^jah. 
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incapacity, he was severely handicapped by his utter 

lack of resources and his constant friction with his 

great lieutenant. The Peshwa had inherited from his 

dashing father Baji Rao vast territorial claims, but 

also a crushing legacy of debt, which he had only 

increased by following a policy of aggressive expansion 

during 15 years, and he looked to this north- 

Indian expedition as his only possible means 

of relief. He had therefore been unable to fit 

out Raghunath in proper strength. Raghunath^s own 

force (led by Vital Shivdev) was 4,000 and Malhar^s 

contingent 2,000, making a total of (5,000 men 

immediately under his banners. And even counting 

the scattered detachments of Shamsher Bahadur and 

Naro Shankar and Antaji^s army (which last was really 

an imperial service corps), the full Maratha strength in 

the north did not exceed 16,000 men. But their leader 

had no money, nor any prospect of getting money soon ; 

the Rajput States were themselves impoverished and 

merely negotiated to gain time. In consequence, 

Raghunath and his soldiers were starving. Far from 

being able to remit tribute to the Peshwa, he constantly 

begged for funds from Puna, in order to subsist ! As he 

writes, "I am feeding myself only by looting villages. 

In this countiy most places are fortified, and not a grain 

of food can be obtained without fighting. 1 have no 

money, and cannot even raise a loan. My soldiers have 

been fasting for one or two days at a time.” He laid on 
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Malhar the entire blame for the failure to clinch matters 

with the Rajput Rajahs and hasten the collection of 

tribute. [Raj. i 52, 67, 71.| 

From Indor, through Mewar,—where he took 

a ransom of one lakh from Jawad and plundered Rani- 

kheda (March),—Raghunath Rao reached Jaipur territory, 

and while dunning Madho Singh for payment, laid siege 

(April) to the fortalice of Barwada* belonging to the 

Shekhawats, who were the most stubborn fighters in 

the Kachhwa kingdom. Raghunath had no siege- 

materials and was long held up by this garhi. His 

insane pride and lack of business capacity prolonged 

the sufferings of his army. The Jaipur minister Kani- 

ram offered to buy him off by paying the same tribute 

as agreed upon in the past; but "Raghunath would not 

listen , he demands 40 to 50 lakhs in cash and the 

cession of the 14 lakhs worth of jagir given by the 

Emperor to Jaipur some years ago as appertaining to 

fort Ranthambhor, in addition to Rampura-Bhanpura, 

Tonk-Toda, and Hinglajgarh. He is determined either 

to secure these gains by consent, or to remain here for 

four months and gain territory worth 40 to 50 lakhs 

by war.^^ \c. 12 April, SPD. xxvii. 152a\ Rajah Madho 

Singh wisely rejected these exorbitant terms and put 

his capital and other forts in a vigilant and active state 

* Marked on modern maps under the expressive name of 

Chauth-ka Barwara, 20 m. w. of Ranthambhor fort and 16 m. 
n.w. of 8awai Madhopur Ely. station. Raj. i. 63. 8PD. xxvii. 155. 

Jawady 10 m, n., and Ranikkeda, 18 m. n. w. of Neemuch. 
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of defence. The total Maratha force in that region, 

including Malhar’s contingent now numbered 13,000. 

But Jaipur fort had a garrison of 17,000, and the 

Bajah’s generals patrolled round it in strength day and 

night. Sanganer was held by Dilel Singh Rajawat, who 

was strengthened (10 May) with six tumbrils of powder 

and shot. Madho Singh called his feudatories one b}' one 

and made them swear on the sacred bri leaf to resist the 

southern invaders to the death. His determination to 

fight rather than accept Raghunath’s humiliating terms 

became manifest to all. \Sn). xxi. 121 and 120 ; Raj. 

i 71 differs from xxvii. 152fl.] 

But though there was no actual clash of arms, except 

for the ineffective siege of Barwada, the strong attitude 

of Madho Singh, forced Raghunath to lose more than 

three months and feed his huge army in idleness in 

Jaipur territory. At last he came to his senses and 

about 10th July agreed to accept eleven lakhs from 

Jaipur, six of which was paid down, and shared between 

Raghunath and Malhar in the proportion of 2 to 1. By 

this time Raghunath Rao had been reduced to a 

desperate state of destitution ; as he wrote to the 

Peshwa on 12th July in support of his prayer for a 

remittance, “I have no money, nor is any loan available. 

My troops are in debt. Prices here are very high. I am 

daily getting my food only by sacking the villages.” 

{Raj. i 71.] 

Meantime Ahmad Shah bad come and gone without 
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Raghunath lifting a finger to defend the holy places of 

Hindustan or to prevent the foreign invader from 

carrying away the treasures of the land and leaving it 

sucked dry for the Marathas who would come after him.* 

Having thus at last settled the Jaipur business^ 

Raghunath and Malhar waited for some days more in 

Jaipur territory for the arrival of Holkar's wife 

Gautami Biii, and on being joined by her left Rajputana 

at the end of July 1757, and that country enjoyed peace 

for nearly a year after. 

§ 9, The Shidhias in Rajpntnna^ 1758, 

The tribute of 50 lakhs which Bijay Singh of Marwar 

had been forced to promise to Dattaji Sindhia (in Feb. 

1756), was beyond the resources of that desert land and 

remained unpaid for years after, keeping a source of 

friction perpetually open. During Raghunath's march 

through Rajputana in June 1757, the Marwar ministers 

had waited on him and begged him to abate these terms 

and dictate some reasonable compromise between their 

* Eaghunath assumed a despondent tone from the outset. 
*‘Our troops are not yet assembled. I have no money. Abdall 

is strong ; it requires very great resources to chastise him. Send 

Dattaji Sindhia quickly to me from the Deccan'’ (Raghunath's 

letter, 16 Feb.) 
Oh 16th Feb. his diwan Sakharam Bapu writes, 'The month of 

Falgun (Feb^Marchy will be over before my contingent and that 
of Malhar are mustered. Abdali is a powerful enemy.” [Raj. i. 52 
and 53.] 

13 
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Rajah and Sindhia. But Marwar had been assigned by 

the Peshwa as the special hunting-ground of the Sindhia 

family, and therefore Raghunath did not choose to 

interfere, even if he could have imposed his will on 

Dattaji which was doubtful. [ Raj. i. Gb. | 

So, Rajputana received another visit from the locust 

swarms of the south about the middle of 1758. In the 

July of that year Jankoji Sindhia was pressing Ummed 

Singh Sisodia of Shahpura for his tribute, and he paid 

a hurried visit to Raghunath Rao, then on his return 

journey from the Panjab to Maharashtra through eastern 

Rajputana and Malwa. At the end of that month 

Jankoji secured a promise of four lakhs from Shahpura 

and went to Kota, where the new Rajah had died. 

Here he imposed a succession fee on the late Rajah^s 

successor, and here Malhar soon afterwards joined him 

(August) and helped to realize the money. The two 

Maratha generals now came to some sort of settlement-of 

the long-standing rivalry between their families for 

sharing the Maratha acquisitions in Rajputana and 

Malwa. Jankoji then passed into Jaipur territory via 

Malpura. Rajah Madho Singh had entered into every 

anti-Maratha coalition since 1754, and he was now 

coerced into promising 36 lakhs, payable in four years, 

the present year's instalment of 9 lakhs to be enhanced 

by the addition of a naxar of three lakhs (September.) 

Since July last Jankoji had been receiving repeated 

letters from the retreating Raghunath Rao, urging him 



17581 SINDHIAS and RAJPUTANA 195 

to leave Eajpiitana for the present and march to Delhi, 

where a strong Maratha force was needed for defending 

their new gains in the Doab and the Panjab, as there 

were persistent rumours of Abdali^s intention to invade 

India again. Jankoji halted during October and 

November on the eastern side of the Jaipur kingdom 

for the coming of his uncle and guardian Dattaji, who 

had at this time taken post in Rupnagar, ^^thinking day 

and night how to lighten the Peshwa^s load of debt.” 

At last uncle and nephew united, started for Delhi, and 

reached Najafgarh on 26 December 1758. * 

The land being clear of the southern invaders, Madho 

Singh, who received a visit from Suraj Mai at Amber in 

March 1759 and probably concerted a defensive plan 

with him, soon afterwards expelled the Maratha outposts 

from his dominions, f TALS. 202a. ] 

§ 10. MaUmr Holkar^s campaign in Rajputana, 1759, 

Soon after parting from Jankoji at Kota, Malhar 

returned to Indor (September 1758) and had a severe 

illness. On recovering, he made a journey to Puna, 

f where he arrived in January 1759, after having been 

detained for some weeks at Sendhwa (midway between 

the Narmada and the Tapti) by a general Bhil rising in 

Khandesh. At the Maratha capital his tact and diplomacy 

♦ SPD, ii 95, 94, 96. xxvii. 230, 236. Jankoji writes to the 

Peshwa that he was delayed long near Pushkar by his efforts to 

collect the promised tribute. ( ii. 101.) 
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removed the Peshwa^s recently kindled suspicions 

about him, and he ^as sent back to Malwa, reinstated 

in trust and power. In July he received orders from 

the Peshwa to go and put pressure on the Maharana of 

Udaipur, who had not paid a pice of his annual tribute 

for the last four years, nor the extra contribution laid 

on him by Jankoji in 1758, The Peshwa’s need of 

money was most pressing and he wrote to his agents in 

ilajputana not to spare the Maharana^s feelings, but to 

exercise every kind of harshness that was likely to enforce 

payment from the defaulter. [SPD. xxi. 167, 172.] 

But the main task of Malhar was to realize the heavy 

contributions laid on the Jaipur Bajah,—namely 12 

lakhs for 1758 and 9 lakhs for 1759. This was no easy 

task, because Jaipur was now the strongest power in 

Rajputana, and its master, safely sheltered within his 

strongly fortified capital, could laugh an invasion to 

scorn. Moreover, as Raghunath had found in 1757, in 

this kingdom most of the villages had protective walls 

and a martial population. Thus, the Maratha general 

could only occupy a portion of the country and try to 

starve the enemy out by stopping cultivation and 

commercial traffic. At last,in November the Rajputs came 

out in a body 4,000 strong, under Jot Singh Nathawat, 

to attack the Marathas. Malhar had been praying for 

such an opportunity of fighting in the open. With 

his superior numbers and artilleiy, he enveloped the 

Rajputs at Lakhori and completely crushed them, twenty 
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of their captains being slain. Thereafter the Rajputs 

ceased to confront him, and merely held their outposts 

at different places. 

Malhar next laid siege to Barwara, which was 

defended by Vikramajit and other captains of the 

Rajawat and Shekhawat clans. Calling up his big guns 

from Rampura, he pressed the garrison so hard that they 

cried for quarter and were allowed to go away with their 

lives only, and the Marathas occupied this fort renowned 

for its strength. Their signal success frightened the 

Rajput chiefs all around ; from Uniara, Isarda, Sewarh, 

and Jhilara envoys came to Malhar’s camp with offers of 

tribute as the price of peace. His aim was to make 

them restore the Maratha jagirs in Kota-Bundi lately 

usurped by them and then to confirm these local chief¬ 

tains in the possession of their ancestral estates, on 

condition of their agreeing to pay tribute annually for the 

rest of the lands they held. But before these arrange¬ 

ments could be completed, he received, on 27th Decem¬ 

ber, an urgent call from Dattaji Sindhia to come at once 

to his aid, as Abdali had crossed over into the Sarhind 

district and a decisive trial of strength with him was 

imminent. So, Malhar abruptly abandoned the Rajput 

business just at the point of maturing, and set off on 

2nd January 1760 for Delhi, by way of Jhilara (3rd 

January.)* 

♦ 8PD, ii. 113,115,117 (=xxi. 177). Raj. i.l50. Jhilara to 

be Jhilaiy 23 m. n. w. of Barwara and 40 m. s. e. s. of Jaipur. 
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Thus, the Maratha interests in Bajputana remained un¬ 

settled and uncared for throughout the entire year 17()0, 

that intervened between Malhar’s departure and the 

battle of Panipat. It was only after the retreat of the 

Afghan king from India about the middle of 1761 that 

the Marathas were able to turn again to Bajputana 

and settle accounts with the Bajput princes who had 

been exulting over the debacle of Panipat. 



CHAPTER XIX 

Dattaji Sindhia’s campaigns in the North, 

1759—1760. 

§ 1. Dattaji threatens to attack Delhi and oust Imad. 

We have seen in Chapter 18 how Dattaji, with his 

young ward Jankoji Sindhia, had left Rajputana and 

reached Najafgarh, south-west of Delhi on 26th 

December, 1758. His arrival at the capital effected a 

complete reversal of Maratha policy in Hindustan. The 

smooth-spoken conciliatory practical politician Malhar 

Rao Holkar, who had so long guided Maratha diplomacy 

in the North, was replaced by the rough impatient 

hustling soldier Dattaji Sindhia. In addition, while 

Malhar had publicly befriended Najib Khan as his 

adopted son, Dattaji was under orders to crush Najib 

altogether as the sole remaining thorn in the path of 

Maratha predominance in the northern empire,—after 

which the Marathas would be free to send their main 

forces into the Pan jab and Bihar and realize untold 

amounts of tribute from these provinces, in order to 

remove the Peshwa^s crushing burden of debt which 

had been only increased by Raghunath^s barren expedi¬ 

tion of 1757-1758. Dattaji was not the man to tolerate 

the delay or evasion of payment, which had now become 

a habit with the Delhi officials. Besides, every friend 
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of Malhar was a suspect and every arrangement made by 

Malhar was a mistake in his eyes. * 

Arrived within four days^ march of Delhi, Dattaji 

sent word that he had been appointed by the Peshwa to 

replace Malhar as the subahdar of Agra, and that the 

capital must pay its tribute or be put to plunder. Iraad 

in great alarm strengthened the guards at the gates of 

Delhi in order to keep the Marathas out; the residents 

of the southern suburbs (or Old Delhi) took refuge 

within the city of 8hah Jahan. The wazir opened 

negotiations with Dattaji, offering to pay 7 or 8 lakhs 

if he avoided the capital and made a detour round it in 

his march to Labor. On 4th January 1759 the Maratha 

army reached Barari Ghat, some ten miles north of the 

city, and here the wazir had a long talk with Dattaji two 

days later. After 2 or 3 days a Deccani corps crossed 

over to the eastern bank of the Jamuna and raided Luni 

and the country around. The wazir protested to Dattaji 

against these acts of hostility ^^at a time when there was 

friendship between your sovereign and mine,^^ and Dattaji 

* Aid. Patrm, 166, 167. TALJ§, 192-198. DC, Nar-ud-din, 21^. 

Jankoji being the legal successor of Jayapa, all official letters 

were issued in his name and under his seal, and the writers of the 

time used the word Jankoji where Dattaji was the person really 

concerned. I have made the necessary change of name throughout 

as Dattaji was the executive head of the Sindbia’s army and 
affiairs in the north. The Peshwa aptly characterized Dattaji thus 

in a letter of 30 Aug. 1755, ^Datta^'s nature is that of a [mere]; 

soldier; hence he presses violently on at the wrong time and 

pbce.’' [AUihasik Patren, 139]. 
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recalled his men. He next detached a large force to the 

Saharanpur district, which was Najib^s jagir, ordering 

them not to molest any village on the way. On 14th 

January, Dattaji came southwards, close to the northern 

gate of Delhi, but refused to see the wazir and 

spoke scornfully about him. So the wazir guarded the 

city more vigilantly than before, entrenching in the 

environs and posting artillery to meet any assault. 

Roving bands of Marathas threatened Shahdara (from 

which all the rich men fled away) and robbed the villages 

in the north-west of Delhi and the wayfarers. The 

sturdy peasantry retaliated, ‘^in many places lonely 

Maratha soldiers were robbed of their mares and bullocks 

by the villagers.^^ 

The Maratha headquarters had been shifted from 

Barari Ghat to Takia Majnun (19th January.) From this 

base, a large detachment appeared near Kali Pahari 

(beyond the Idgah) and attacked the outposts of Phatak 

Misri Khan and Jinsi Topkhanah (near Sarai Ruhela.) 

The imperial troops in the trenches here made the 

mistake of sallying forth, with the result that they were 

defeated and driven back, suffering heavy losses. The 

exultant Marathas pursued them up to the city gate, 

burnt the carriage of the largest imperial cminon (named 

Attock), and plundered Sarai Ruhela and other 

suburbs outside the Delhi Gate, ^Vhere the traders 

had stored grain and other merchandise beyond 

calculation/^ This sort of irregular fighting and plunder 
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of the western suburbs wont on for four days, small 

Maratha bands and stragglers being occasionally cut 

off by the wazir’s troops. On 23rd January Dattaji 

sent Antaji Manakeshwar, Purushottam Hingaui^ and 

other mediators to renew the peace negotiations, but 

no agreement was reached. 

In the course of three or four days, the food supply 

of the Maratha camp failed altogether, ^^as the traders 

ceased to convey grain there for fear of plunder, and 

extreme scarcity appeared. Nine or ten thousand 

Deccani troopers, crossing the Jamuna, went to Ghazia- 

bad, but the inhabitants opposed them with artillery 

and matchlocks. The Marathas, baffled here, went on 

and looted Dasna, belonging to the wazir .. . They sent 

the captured grain and other provisions from that place 

to their own camp [near Delhi.] . .. The wazir protested 

to Dattaji against this outrage during peace negotiations, 

and the raiders were recalled. On 29th January, the 

Maratha army, which lived only by foraging, recrossed 

the Jamuna and went towards Shahdara and Patparganj. 

A force sent by the wazir effectually guarded the 

markets in these two places, but some traders who were 

bringing grain to Delhi were intercepted on the way 

and robbed of their goods. Next day an agreement 

was reached as to the amount of money contribution 

payable by the wazir, and on 1st February Dattaji 

began his northward march, and peace returned to 

Delhi.'' fTALS. 197W986.] 
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§ 2. DattqjTs polieij after returnhip from the Panjah, 

The Sindhias next entered the Panjab, and after 

effecting the reconquest of that province returned to¬ 

wards Delhi in May 1759. Crossing the Jamuna at the 

Ramra Ghat (east of Panipat), they halted at Shamli 

and opened negotiations with the wazir. At the end 

of this month, Dattaji proceeded south to Baghpat and 

induced Najib to pay him a visit* It was at first 

agreed that Najib would support the Marathas with his 

troops in the invasion of Bihar by way of Oudh, if the 

Sindhias respected his possessions. It was necessary 

for Dattaji to keep Najib in hand, because he had 

decided to overthrow the false and incompetent wazir 

Imad, and take over the administration of the empire, 

in order to secure a more regular collection of tribute. 

On 1st June he sent Abdul A had Khan and Antaji 

Manakeshwar to the wazir with an ultimatum calling 

upon him to resign his post and place the empire under 

his (?*. e., Dattaji^s) control, as ^Tmad was unfit for the 

management of the empire and all bis comrades were 

peculators.'^ In case of refusal, the Maratba chief 

threatened war. But after some days, he was induced 

in return for a bond for the payment of an indemnity, 

to turn back from Baghpat, and Delhi escaped an attack. 

• Dattaji reaches Kairana, 23 May [SPD. xxvii. 239.] Najib^s 

visit to him and rupture described in Nur-ud-din 22 and TALS, 
2086. Dattaji's detailed plans for the future (letter to Peshwa, e. 

15 May), SPD. ii. 104. TALS. 209a. SPD, ii. 102 (c. 22 April) 

gives important details. 
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3. Rupture beiiveepi DattajiSmdhia and Najib, 

But there could be no real union of hearts between 

Dattaji and Najib. The Ruhela chief was naturally 

unwilling to go away with his troops on the distant 

Bihar expedition, leaving his territories in the upper 

Doab within easy reach of the greedy and faithless 

Maratha local officers posted lower down that tract. 

An example of their unscrupulous rapacity had occurred 

in March 1759, when Govind Ballal Bund4l<5 in his 

northward march from Etawa had wrested the outpost 

of Sikandrabad from Najib^s agent, though the two 

sides were then at peace. On this occasion Dattaji had 

been induced (by Antaji) to restore the usurped 

territory, so as not to antagonize Najib, whose services 

he was then proposing to utilize. A shrewd observer 

like Najib could not but suspect the secret intentions 

of the Marathas in the Doab. He also came to fear 

that Dattaji, angry at his refusal to cede his jagirs, 

was planning to arrest him during a friendly interview. 

The plot failed before it could be attempted, because 

NajiVs chief officers forced their way into Dattaji^s 

tent along with Najib, brushing aside the opposition of 

the guards at the gate. The Marathas were cowed into 

quiescence and terminated the interview very quickly. 

On returning to his own camp, Najib remarked, ^Tt is 

not safe to visit these men ; their looks seem malignant 

to me.^^ So, he marched away to his own territory. 

From Shamli Najib returned to Saharanpur, while 
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Dattaji advanced to Mirat, and near that city attacked 

a fort built by Jeta Gujar. ^^The garrison, overcome 

by superior numbers, fled away. Thence Dattaji went 

and encamped near the home of the Barha Sayyids,* 

who were the hereditary enemies of the Ruhelas [end of 

June.] He asked Najib to cede some parganahs of 

Saharanpur, but the Euhela offered to pay the flxed 

tribute only if the Marathas vacated his country, and 

he refused to alienate any of his villages. Dattaji 

did not agree to this ; he sent detachments to 

the outposts of Najib, from which the Ruhela^s agents 

retired without a blow.’^ [TALS, 209, Nur-ud-din 22.] 

Thus, at last open war was precipitated by Dattaji^s 

hustling tactics. 

§ 4. Najib Khans defowes at Shiikartal described. 

The sagacious Ruhela veteran matured a masterly 

scheme of defence, which enabled his small force to 

withstand the myriads of Maharashtra for nearly six 

months and triumph in the end. Some sixteen miles 

due east of the city of Muzaffarnagar, there is a low 

place on the right bank of the Ganges, named Shukartal.t 

* These Sayyids were Shias, while Najib was the Sunni 

champion. Moreover, he had snatched away many of their estates 

in the district round Miranpur. 
t 8kukartalj—N, FF.P. Gaxetteer, iii. 444-446, 641-642 (description.) 

Siege,210-213. SPD, xxix. 56. Kaj. i. 142-146; ii. p. 
153. DC, Nur-ud-din, 226-275. Govind Ballal’s raid east of 

the Ganges,-2106. 3Iux. 17M74. Raj. i. 138-142. 
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Along the western side of it stretches the edge of the 

upland running north to south parallel to the river. 

North, east and south of Shukartal there are numberless, 

tortuous ravines sloping down to the river, the loose 

sandy bed and sides of which render the terrain 

impossible for cavalry, while they afford excellent 

opportunity to foot musketeers to dig themselves in 

and form perfect ambushes. In the north of the place, 

a bend in the Salani (a feeder of the Ganges) formed 

an effective natural cover, while the entire eastern 

flank for many miles above and below was protected 

by the mighty Ganges and its network of channels, 

parted by sandy islands. Najib completed this natural 

fortress by forming entrenchments and redoubts, and 

mounting guns and posting his sharpshooters towards 

the west and south-west, whence only an enemy could 

approach. Thus, a perfect sunken fort was formed 

which only starvation could have made untenable in 

the age before the invention of modern shells. But 

the fear of starvation was removed by Najib throwing 

a bridge of boats over the Ganges south-east of his 

entrenchments, in an absolutely safe position, unless 

the enemy could cross the mighty river and storm the 

fortified bridgehead on the left bank, which was 

impossible during the rainy season just then beginning. 

Here Najib retired with his army at the end of June, 

8PD. xl. 126. Nur-ud-din, 25-26. Husain Shahid 47-48. Siyar^ 
iii. 62. 
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and here the Marathas followed him up in a few days, 

Dattaji encamped two miles west of Shukartal. Finding 

the enemy^s position impregnable to assault, he prepared 

to besiege it, and built a large redoubt of his own a 

mile from the first line of Najib’s trenches. Skirmishes 

began on the debatable land between the two camps, 

accompanied by a fruitless exchange of gunfire. 

S 5. DattajPs siege of Shukartal : fighting, 

A severe engagement took place on 15th September, 

when the Ruhela skirmishers advanced too far into the 

Maratha lines, and Dattaji, after detaching a small force 

to keep them in play in front, made a detour with 

7,000 select cavalry to cut off their retreat. But the 

eagle eye of Najib detected the manmuvre from the line 

of dust raised by these horsemen, and he prepared for 

it by posting tea thousand Ruhela infantry with loaded 

flint-locks in ambush in a dry nala bordering the path 

of Dattaji^s advance. The Ruhela skirmishers fell back 

towards their entrenchment and the front division of 

the Marathas gave them chase. Just then Dattaji 

arrived on the scene at the gallop, and "from the midst 

of the dust cloud the naked pattas (long swords) and 

spears of the well-mounted Deccani troopers flashed 

like lightning. As soon as they approached the 

Ruhela trenches and the artillery was turned on them 

with effect, they swerved aside towards the nala. 

Two thousand muskets [at a time] were discharged at 
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them when only twenty paces from the ambush^ so that 

in the force under Dattaji corpses were piled up in 

heaps. It came to such a pass that a Ruhela seized 

the bridle of Jankoji with one hand and slashed at him 

with his sword with the other, inflicting a wound on 

his arm. The assailant was cut down and Jankoji 

brought back to safety.^^ The Barha Sayyid allies 

fought with their customary valour in the van of the 

Marathas and were mostly cut ofl‘. Five hundred 

Deccani troopers and many good horses were killed, 

while the loss on Najib^s side was 50 killed, and one 

hundred wounded. His manoeuvre having failed, 

Dattaji retreated in order to his camp. ^^From that 

day the Marathas ceased to make assaults.’^ * But 

skirmishing went on as before, with no result. 

§ 6. Oovind Bundele^s mid near Najibabad fails. 

The war thus dragged on indecisively during the 

height of the rains, throughout the three months of July, 

August and September. Then when the river level 

began to fall and the uppermost course of the Ganges 

became fordable, Dattaji (about 20 October) detached 

ten thousand horse under Govind Ballal to cross the 

* Xur-ud-din, 23b-24b, TALS. 210fl. The former asserts that 

from that day assault was stopped, but the latter says that two 
or three pitched battles took place. The latter gives 15 September 

as the date of the battle, aud DC. 1st September (evidently a 

mistake for 15 September, as the news reached Delhi on 
19 September acc. to DC.) 
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river a little below Hard war (32 miles north of 

Shukartal) and make a raid upon Najibabad, where Najib 

had built a city and fort and lodged his family as well 

as those of his followers and their property. Its only 

defender was his son Zabita Khan with a handful of 

troops, as all the military resources of Najib had been 

concentrated at Shukartal. The Maratha hordes, 

descending from the north-west, swept away the feeble 

defence of Sakalgarh, a half-way fort, and burst into the 

environs of Najibabad, plundering and burning. There 

was no field army of the Ruhelas to oppose them. But 

the Afghan clansmen of Rohilkhand proper, came 

forward under Sadullah Khan (Ali Muhammad Ruhela’s 

successor), Dundi and Hafiz Rahmat, and held Najibabad 

in full strength. So, the light raiders shrank from 

approaching the city, turned back from Jalalabad, 

8 miles west of Najibabad, and swerved south-westwards 

to the bridgehead opposite Shukartal, ravaging the 

defenceless country on the way. They captured about 

a hundred horses and even destroyed two boats of the 

bridge,—no very serious damage. 

Ten days passed in this way, and though Hafiz 

Rahmat mediated for terms, Najib was not induced to 

abandon Shukartal for the defence of his home. During 

this raid the food supply of Shukartal was for a time 

cut off and wheat sold there at four seers a Rupee and 

the besieged mostly lived on peas boiled whole 

{ghughni) ; the Afghan garrison became alarmed for the 

14 
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safety of their families left behind in the threatened 

villages, and began to give way to bewilderment and 

despair. But their veteran chieftain held on with a grim 

tenacity of will and reassured them, saying, ^^Remember 

God. Ahmad Shah is coming. From the first day of 

the siege, I have set my heart on death. Whatever is 

destined will happen. Seek no other course than fight.^" 

The militar}" effect of Govind Balliil^s raid was therefore 

nothing. 

Then, as the Maratha raiders, with no enemy in 

sight, were lying scattered and careless in fancied 

security, early one morning {c. 3 November) they were 

surprised by the vanguard of the Oudh army, 10,000 

strong, under Umrao-gir and Anup-gir Gosain. Rumours 

about the approach of the main body of the Oudh army, 

(30,000 strong) under Shuja himself, magnified the terror 

felt by the raiders. They offered no resistance ; some 

fell under the enemy^s sword, but most took the direct 

road to the river, and missing the ford, about half of their 

number was drowned, while the rest, abandoning all 

their provisions baggage and spoils fled northwards and 

found safety only on reaching Dattaj^s camp, having 

^^undergone great hardship and imminent risk to their 

lives,as their leader Govind Ballal wrote. Five 

thousand Oudh horse under Umaraogir rode into 

beleaguered Shukartal over the bridge of boats and 

afterwards took post at a fortified camp of their own a 

little to the south of that place. 
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A few days after this, Shuja himself arrived on the 

opposite bank in full strength. The terror of the 

returned raiders infected the Maratha siege army. A 

rumour arose that Najib, thus reinforced and now 

secure about his eastern flank, was preparing to make a 

sortie. At the mere report of this, before a single enemy 

had been sighted, all the followers in the camps of the 

three Maratha generals crowded together and fled in 

uncontrollable confusion for eight miles to the rear. 

It was only when Dattaji overtook them after his 

morning reconnaissance that the panic was {u^rested and 

the army induced to halt. 

§ 7. Dattaji is compelled to raise siepe of ShnkartaL 

More alarming news now came from the west: 

Abdali^s troops in overwhelming force had again entered 

the Paejab, and the Maratha governor of Labor, Sabaji 

Sindhia, bowing before the storm, was hurriedly escaping 

to Dattaj^s side after abandoning the Panjab to the 

invaders. Who could say that the Afghans would stop 

at the Satlaj and not come to Delhi, as they had done 

in 1757 ? 

The fugitive governor of the Panjab arrived in the 

siege camp on 8th November. Dattaji was utterly 

bewildered. His work in the Panjab had been undone 

at one stroke, and his five months^ siege of Shukartal 

had proved barren of any result except a heavy loss of 

men and money to him. And now> if Abdali occupied 
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Delhi in his rear, with the unsubdued and reinvigorated 

Najib in his front, his own army would be crushed 

between the two enemy hosts. And yet he could not 

show his face at Puna if he retreated from Shukartal 

without realizing any indemnity. It was Jayapa^s posi¬ 

tion before Nagor once again. 

Dattaji, therefore, held a council of war on 9th 

November, at which it was decided that the camp and 

baggage should be stationed at a safe distance, sixteen 

miles in the rear, while the general with his troops in 

light equipment should continue to hold the siege lines 

and present a bold front to the enemy. Shuja offered 

his good offices as a peacemaker, threatening to enter 

into the war on the side of Najib if any attempt was made 

to crush the Ruhela chieftain altogether. An indemnity 

of 25 lakhs was demanded from Najib, but no agreement 

was reached, and the war was resumed. 

Dattaji turned to securing allies. A Jat force of 

5,000 men sent by Suraj Mai (under Rupriim Kothari) 

joined him on 8th November. Ahmad Bangash, the 

Nawab of Parrukhabad, too, arrived about the same 

time. Fast camel-riders were sent to hasten the coming 

of Malhar from Rajputana. Envoys were despatched to 

Delhi to urge the wazir to go to the siege-camp and join 

in the attack on Najib, their common enemy. Dattaji 

wrote to Imad, “In what sleep of negligence are you 

sunk ?•.. I am engaged here in fighting at your request, 

and you are planning to flee away to Bharatpur I"* His 
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envoy was authorized to offer the wazir two lakhs for 

his travelling expenses if he would start for the Maratha 

camp. On Ihth November, Jmad took formal leave of 

the Emperor and went to Muradnagar on the eastern 

side of the Hindan, m route to Shukartal. Here he 

received definite news of the Afghan invaders having 

taken possession of the entire Panjab up to Sarhind 

and of the Marathas having everywhere fled away before 

them without striking a blow. 

§ 8. Imad murders Alamgir 11. and 

Intixam-iid-daulah. 

Imad saw the danger of leaving the Emperor in 

Delhi, to be captured by Abdali and used as his tool 

against the wazir, as had been done in 1757. He got the 

harmless crowned puppet murdered on 29th November 

and his long powerless old rival Intizam-ud-danlah 

strangled the next day. 

Zafarullah Khan (the brother of Ubaidullah) at the 

command of Mahdi Quli Khan (the chief adviser of 

Imad) tempted the Emperor Alamgir II to visit the 

Kohtila of Firuz Shah, by falsely telling him that a 

very saintly darvish possessed of miracle-workiag power 

had come from Labor and taken up his residence there. 

When in the afternoon the party from the palace reached 

the spot, the Emperor entered a chamber under one of 

the bastions of the Kohtila, the door of which was 

guarded by a party of Central Asian troops of Balabash 
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Khan, the wazir's captain. Only one eunuch was 

admitted with him and all his other attendants (including 

Prince Mirza Baba) were detained outside. Biilabash 

Khan stabbed the Emperor to death with his dagger, 

came outside, disarmed Mirza Baba, and seizing him by 

the wrist took him back to Delhi. The Central Asian 

troops plundered the horses and all other property of 

the imperial cortege, and flung the Emperor^s corpse 

down on the river bank below the Kohtila, circulating 

a false story that he had died (like Humayun two 

centuries ago) by an accidental fall from the wall of 

that ruined fort. The murder of Alamgir II was an 

insane and absolutely profitless crime, because, if Imad 

had spared that meekest of meek usurper's hoary head, 

it would not in any way have added to the number of 

his enemies, nor weakened his own strength, which was 

already reduced to nothing. 
* 

Alamgir II was buried at midnight in Humayun’s 

tomb. Mirza Baba was kept under guard by Balabash 

in the Delhi palace, without food or drink all that 

night. The next morning the regicides crowned Muhi- 

ul-millat, the son of Muhi-us-sunnat and grandson of 

Earn Bakhsh (the youngest son of Anrangzib), under 

the title of Shah Jahan II. Intizam the ex-wazir and 

Mirza Lutfullah Beg, when engaged in reading the 

fatiha prayer in their prison in the artillery office within 

the fort, were strangled by these foreign mercenaries of 

Tmid, and their corpses were thrown into the Jamnna 
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with hoavy stones tied to their feet, from the Salimgarh 

gate. The murderers falsely gave it out that Intizam 

had secretly fled away. \TALS, 214a-215a. I)C.\ 

A reign of unrelieved weakness and misery for sovereign 

and subjects alike thus fittinglj^ closed in a bloody 

sunset, amidst the ruin of the imperial family and the 

old nobility and invasion and chaos in the country. 

Even for the arch-traitor Imad, Delhi ceased to be 

a refuge after this. 

§ 9. DattajPs po.^ition at S/mkarfal hp.eoiaes untenable. 

Meantime Dattaji Sindhia had been dreaming the 

vain dream that when the Emperor and the wazir would 

arrive in his camp and strengthen his legal position with 

their prestige, he would detach a large force under that 

constant failure Govind Ballal to Farrukhabad, with 

orders to absorb the feeble levies of the lame invalid 

Ahmad Bangash, throw a bridge over the Ganges at 

Farrukhabad, and sack and burn the Ruhela country 

east of that river. This was the very strategy that had 

failed at the end of October. But rumours about Shuja 

having decided to make a counter-attack by crossing the 

bridge below Shukartal and joining Najib, kept Dattaji 

in alarm and suspense and detained Govind Ballal in his 

camp for some days. While the two sides were higgling 

for the amount of the war-indemnity, events moved 

apace. The murder of the Emperor hastened the 

advance of the justly incensed Abdali upon Delhi for 
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punishing the traitors and rebels. In the past two 

months the Afghan hold upon the Panjab had been fully 

established, the Sikhs brought under control,—at least 

along the main route,—and the conqueror was free to 

cross the Satlaj in person. On 23rd November, five 

hundred troopers, stripped of all their clothing above 

the waist and all their baggage,—the sole remnant of 

the six thousand Maratha soldiers posted in Multan,— 

straggled into Dattaji^s camp, proving beyond any doubt 

that “a great disaster has befallen us.”* 

§ 10. Abdali defeats Sindhia near Thaneshivar 

and crosses into the Doab. 

There was nothing left for Dattaji now but to raise 

his futile siege (8th December.) He effected the 

withdrawal of his camp in safety, because Najib, with 

his smaller army, wisely abstained from tempting Fate 

by coming out of his trenchesf and meeting the 

Maratha horse in the open before he could be reinforced 

by the invincible legions of Abdali. From Shukartal, 

by way of Muzaffarnagar, the Barha Sayyids^ country,, 

Dattaji marched northwards and crossed the Jamuna 

* Letter of Govind Bailal, 24 Nov. [Raj. i. 146,] 

t We find Najib at Shukartal up to 16 Dec., if not later. 

SPD. ii. 114a. 

Dattaji after leaving Shukartal,—Raj. i. 147, 150, 157. 
SPD. il 109, 111 (at Kunjpura), xxvii. 243 (at Sonepat.) DO,. 

Battle near Thaneshwar,-4$PZ). ii. 112 (= xxi. 178), 117. 

|fur-ud-din, 28a—29a. Shmin Shahi^ 49, 
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at Bamra-ghat near Panipat (c. 20 Dec.) Here he got 

the correct intelligence that Abdali^s vanguard under 

Jahan Khan, Shah Pasand Khan, and Abdus Samad 

Khan had entered the Banur and Chhat district (16 miles 

north of Ambala city) on the 15th, and that their front 

skirmishers had occupied Ambala and “were advancing, 

daily foraging right left and in front, beating the jungle 

and shouting for 20 or 30 miles on each hand.'' 

From Ambala the Maratha position at Kunjpura 

was only 48 miles south south-east, and the first 

encounter with the enemy could not be delayed beyond 

four days. Dattaji immediately divided his army into 

two bodies ; be kept with himself one corps of 25,000 

chosen and dependable troops, under noted and well- 

mounted oflBcers, all lightly equipped, without tent or 

heavy baggage. The second corps was placed under 

Jankoji as a support twenty miles to the rear with the 

artillery and Imad and his contingent, while the camps 

of the wazir and the Maratha generals were stationed 

still further behind for safety. Govind Ballal, who bad 

been given leave for Etawa at the end of November and 

then detained in the upper Doab with the main army, 

accompanied Jankoji, crossed at Kunjpura on 22 Decem¬ 

ber, and was charged with the duty of conducting the 

camp baggage and families back to the South in the case 

of a disaster in the field. 

This arrangement was completed on 22nd December^ 

and Dattaji immediately advanced from Kunjpum to 
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seek the enemy out, while Jankoji with the baggage 

took the road to KarnaL* The Afghan vanguard was 

20,000 strong, but their movements were completely 

hidden by a wide-spread screen of skirmishers. After 

some preliminary brushes between the rival scouts, the 

first battle was fought on 24th December. The scene of 

this encounter was not far from the historic plain of 

Taraori (south-east of Thaneshwar) where six centuries 

earlier the Hindu chivalry of Delhi had first confronted 

the invader from Afghanistan. The most advanced troops 

of the Marathas were 5,000 horse under Bhoit<^ with a 

thousand Turkish auxiliaries from the wazir’s contingent 

led by Md. Said Khan Qipchaq. They charged and 

swept back the hundred front skirmishers of Abdali^s 

army. The practised Afghan horsemen fell back 

fighting, while the Marathas, in the pride of ignorance, 

pursued them shouting in tumultuous disorder. At the 

first news of the conflict, Abdali had pushed up 4,000 

horsemen from his vanguard under Shah Pasand Khan, 

and ^^at the sight of that famous gcneraPs banner, the 

Mughalia Central Asian] troops of the wazir, who 

had often beheld battles with the Durranis, slipped 

away.^^ Shah Pasand opened a hot fire with his flint¬ 

locks in front, while a second squadron detached by 
* Dattaji's plan was “to come face to face with the enem^ 

watch their tactics and strength and then decide whether to fight 
immediately or follow Fabian tactics. He would take his own 
Uteps according to the indications of Abdali’s plan of war.'^ SPD. 
iL 109. 
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Abdali took the Maratha^ in Hank. Bhoite was out¬ 

numbered outgeneralled and outolassed in weapons, 

and fled away utterly broken, after giving; up four 

huridred of his men to slaughter. Their head'^ were 

severed and carried away to Abdali, as the fir«it fruits of 

his victory. Dattaji himself then rode up to the battle¬ 

field, and saw the headless trunks of his soldiers strewing 

the ground. But by this time the short winter day had 

come to a close, the battle which had lasted a little over 

two hours could not be renewed, and each side fell back 

on its own camp with twenty miles between. It was the 

first clear defeat of the Marathas in an open engagement. 

Next morning (25th December) when the dust-screen 

lifted over the country, it was found that during the 

preceding night Abdali with all his troops had forded 

the Jamuna near Buria (IS m. ii.w. of Saharanpur) and 

entered the Doab. By moving along the foot of the 

Himalayas and striking the river shortly after its outflow 

from the hills, he had secured the easiest crossing 

possible. Najib, with whom he had been in constant 

correspondence and who had pressed this move upon 

him by letters, had already 'started from Shukartal and 

now joined his protector near Saharanpur. The Afghan 

invader and his Indo-Afghan ally marched down the east 

bank of the Jamuna towards Delhi. Najib acted as the 

guide ; he had his own revenue collector at every town 

in the upper Doab, and the invader's food supply was 

assured. 
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§ 11. Dattqji falls back ioirards Delhi ; his 

defence plan. 

Thus Dattaji found that while his front was blocked 

by the Afghan conquest of the Panjab and Sarhind, his 

right flank was uncovered by the enemy^s occupation of 

the entire Doab. The invaders might easily cross over 

to the western bank at Delhi, or further south near 

Mathura, and cut into the Maratha rear. Dattaji quickly 

fell back upon Delhi, in order to avoid the very trap in 

which the Bhau was caught ten months later. Leaving 

Kunjpura on 27th December, he reached Sonepat on the 

29th and halted there for five days to observe the enemy. 

The wazir re-entered his mansion in Delhi on 28 Decem¬ 

ber and set about entrenching the eastern face of the 

capital along the bank of the Jamuna. Ahmad Shah 

Abdali, who had now been joined also by Hafiz Rahmat 

Khan, Dundi Khan, Mulla Sardar, SaduUah Khan and 

other Ruhela chieftains of Rohilkhand proper, encamped 

at Luni, six miles north-east of Delhi, on the other side of 

the Jamuna. So, Datta fell back from Sonepat to Barari, 

some ten miles nortli of Delhi, on 4th January 1760. 

The Maratha chief now prepared for the worst. 

He was clearly outnumbered; his enemy^s strength 

was daily growing by Indian adhesions, while his own 

followers had been thoroughly demoralized by the 

severe handling they had received at Taraori and 

their constant retreats without one victory over Najib 

or the Durranis. Reinforcements under Malbar, which 
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had been urgently called for, would take at least a 

fortnight to join him. On 6th January Dattaji paid a 

visit to Delhi and started his camp, heavy baggage, 

accumulated spoils of a yearns campaigning, and the 

families of himself and his officers,—including his 

pregnant wife Bhagirathi Bai,—for Rewari under 

proper escort. Thus freed from anxiety about his 

non-combatants and camp impediments, Dattaji set his 

face to the fight in the same formation as before,— 

himself with the light division of picked troops taking 

the front line, while Jankoji stayed some miles 

behind with the rest of the troops and the barely 

necessary baggage. 

The fog of war hid the entire eastern bank of the 

Jamuna, where the Marathas had not a single friend or 

news-reporter. There was no knowing what step 

Abdali would take next, or where he would cross the 

river. The Maratha general posted small parties to 

watch the fords of the Jamuna 5 seven hundred men 

under Sabaji holding the Barari-ghat, nearest to 

Dattaji^s own position, with other bands at two or three 

places further down the river and nearer Delhi. In the 

depth of winter the river level was at its lowest and 

the Jamuna opposite Barari had been parted into two 

channels by a broad island ; the main volume of its 

water flowed by the eastern bed, while a shallow stream 

running along the western or Delhi bank had dried and 

left a marshy nala behind it The island was covered 
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with a jungle of the jhati shrub and tall reod-biishes, 

dense that one horseman could not see another^^ in it. 

§ 12. Battle of BarUri-ghal : Dnttaji slain* 

Here Siibaji was surprised at his post on 9th January 

17 GO. Najib crossed the river unperceived and 

arrived at the western side of the island about three 

hours after daybreak^ his own Ruhelas leading the van 

and the Durriini supports bringing up the rear. The 

island was impossible for cavalry action ; the Ruhela 

chiefs came mounted on elephants, with their light 

artillery (swivel-guns) tied to the sides of these beasts 

for convenience of crossing. To the Maratha patrol 

at the Barari-ghat, the sky above the jhan bushes on 

the western edge of the island suddenly became alive 

with the fluttering pennons of the Indo-Afghan infantry, 

every officer of which, however humble, carried a banner 

of his own. Sabaji immediately engaged the enemy, but 

was driven back by the pressure of numbers and the 

dominance of musketry fire over sword and spear, 

across the nala to the Barari side, with heavy slaughter. 

He had waged this losing combat for an hour, when 

reinforcements came up from the rear, three miles away, 

under Dattaji himself, to restore the battle. The 

new-comers charged at the gallop and forced the 

* Last battle of Dattaji,—Raj, i. 156, 165, ii. p. 154 (list of 

the slain.) SPD. ii. 114, xxi. 181, 182, 185, xxvii. 247. Mtn, 176. 

Bmain Skahi, 50-51. Nur-ud-din, 296-31a (very useful.) Miskin, 203. 
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victorious Ruhelas back over the nula, A small band 

of Marathas advanced before the rest and pressed the 

counter-attack to the very edge of the island. At their 

head rode a very dark short and thickset man, barely 

forty years of age, who was foremost in darting his 

spear at the enemy. This seasoned warrior could no 

more restrain himself amidst the din of battle than an 

old war-horse that hears the trumpet note to charge. 

He was too good a target to be missed by the Ruhela 

sharpshooters lying concealed among the jhau bushes 

with loaded muskets. As his horse was ploughing its 

way up the loose sand on the further bank of the 

mda, the Afghan jixails rang out at point-blank range 

and Dattaji fell down with a bullet through his eye.* 

With him fell many of his brave companions. At this 

psychological moment, Najib charged with fresh troops 

into the mingled mass of Afghan infantry and Maratha 

horsemen in the bed of the nala. Once again the tide 

of battle turned against the Deccanis ; they fled away 

giving up their chieftain’s body to crows and jackals ; 

Sabaji’s entire contingent was destroyed, though he 

himself escaped. As Dattaji lay on the ground, Mian 

Qutb Shah cut his head off and took it to Abdali. 

Roused by the fatal news, Jankoji hurried up with 

the reserve and tried to renew the fight. But there was 

• According to Nur-ud-din, B06. But Baj. i. 165 has ‘in the 

neck.^ Purushottam M. Hingan^ at the same time received a 

bullet in his thigh. SPD. ii. 114. 
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no heart left among his troops. The Maratha army, 

20,000 strong, stood in the background, looking at the 

fate of their vanguard, without venturing to advance 

to their support. Jankoji himself pushed on, but 

the story of spear against musket was repeated. After 

an hour and a half of renewed conflict, he 

received a bullet through the fleshy part of his upper 

arm and was dragged out of the field by his 

followers. The Maratha army now totally broke and 

fled towards Delhi; ^^the enemy gave chase and there 

was a heavy slaughter.’^ Imad left Delhi for Bharatpur 

on hearing of the ruin of his ally. 

§ 13. Flight of Jankoji Sbidhia to Kot Pntli ; 

Malhar Holkar joins him. 

From the fatal field of Barari-ghat the Maratha 

army fled headlong towards the south-west, with the fresh 

Durrani horsemen on their heels. The pursuit was kept 

up for about 24 miles. But Dattaji^s wise foresight now 

bore abundant fruit ; he had kept his fighting force 

lightly equipped and ready for rapid movement, and 

Jankoji sooA succeeded in rallying them and bringing 

them in some sort of order to Paniala, five miles north of 

Kot Putli (which latter is 25 m. south of Narnol) in the 

Jaipur kingdom, on 14th January, after catching up on 

the way his baggage train, women and other non- 

combatants who had been sent off from Delhi four days 

before the battle. A day after his arrival here, he was 
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joined bv Malhar Rao Ilolkar, who had started from 

Jhilare in Rajputaiia on the 3rd. Some time was 

necessarily taken up by the funeral rites and condolence 

for the dead Sindhia chief and the discussion of the future 

plan of operations. It was decided to send oH* the baggage 

tents and non-combatants to the Deccan in charge of 

Oovind Ballal. This party started from Kot Putli on 

23rd January, and after passing through the friendly 

territory of Kerauli crossed the (Uiambal river near 

Sabalgarh (4S miles due west of Gwalior) on 3rd 

February. The following night a posthumous son was 

born to Dattiiji. 

Malhar and Jankoji, thus freed from encumbrances, 

undertook to follow the traditional Maratha system of 

war, by discarding artillery and tents and moving in 

light kit j so as to be able to rove round the enemy’s 

flanks or make lightning raids on his distant and 

undefended grain-depots and revenue collection offices, 

or even, if favoured by the enemy^s slowness or 

ignorance, to ravage the dominions of his Ruhela allies 

in the upper Doab and trans-Ganges. For such a task 

Malhar was eminently fitted by his lifelong experience 

and settled belief. It was also necessary for the 

Marathas to shape their mevements by watching carefully 

for indications of Abdali^s plan of action, because before 

the arrival of heavy reinforcements from the Deccan 

their forces in North India were too small and too 

• Raj. i. 153, 156,162. SPD, ii. 114, xxi 181. 

15 
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demoralized to face the victorious invaders in a pitched 

battle. Jankoji, by reason of his youth and inexperience^ 

remained safe in the rear, while Malhar took the 

command of the operating force, and began his advance 

on 24th January. He avoided a direct march on Delhi, 

but, passing through Kanaud (where he levied a ransom 

of Rs. 10,000), he hovered south-west of Delhi, in the 

broken Mewat district, watching for opportunities. 

S 14. Ahmad Shah AhdaJi proceeds apainsf 

Siiraj MaL 

Meanwhile, after the victory of 9th January, xihmad 

Shah halted for a few days to complete his arrangements 

for the temporary government of the kingless and wazir- 

less capital of the empire, and to secure his communica¬ 

tions and regular provision supply. Then, skirting the 

city of Delhi, instead of entering it, he encamped at 

Khizirabad, south of the capital, on 14th January, and 

sent off letters to Suraj Mai Jat and the Rajahs of 

Rajputana calling upon them to pay him tribute and 

present themselves before him. only his promise 

of safety could be relied upon, everyone of the Rajaha 

would gladly wait upon him,^^ writes Badrinath (the son 

of Keshav Rao), so greatly were the blood-sucking 

leeches of the South detested by the Hindu potentates 

of the North. But in equal fear of the Afghan king's 

faithlessness and his military power, and not knowing 

how soon he would leave India and abandon them to the 
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vindictive fury of the Marathas, these princes decided to 

sit on the fence, prolong their negotiations with Abdali 

for settling the amount of their tribute, and thus gain 

time till they could see how the decisive contest between 

him and the Marathas would end. It was, therefore, 

necessary for Ahmad Shah to visit the territories of the 

Hindu Rajahs if he hoped to get anything out of them. 

Najib Khan acted as his medium in his dealings with the 

Indian princes. 

Leaving Khizirabad on 27th January, Abdali first 

marched * against Suraj Mai, by way of Shergarh 

(20 m. n. of Mathura, 4 Feb.) to Dig (6 Feb.), 

which fort he invested but not very earnestly. From 

this base a detachment of his troops made a rapid march 

and completely defeated a Maratha force in their west 

by a night-attack (c. 11 Feb.) Abdali next moved into 

Mewat, on the way to Narnol, where Malhar was 

reported to be. But the Maratha vanished into the 

north and Abdali proceeded to Rewari (c. 18 Feb.) 

On the 22nd he marched eight miles towards Delhi in 

ignorance of the elusive Maratha^s position. But the 

Southern light horse again gave him the slip : Malhar 

was at Bahadurgarh (40 m. north of Rewari and 18 m. 

west of Delhi) on 22nd February, and two days later he 

appeared near Kalka Devi (close to the Qutb Minar), 

and on the 26th~27th crossed the Jamuna into the 

* Abdali’s campaign against Malhar, Feb. 1760,—(very 
imp.) SPD. xxi. 182, 186. ii. 118 (-xxvii. 251.) 
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Doab. Abdali marched to Dhankot (20 miles s. w. of 

Delhi) on 27th February, reached Khizirabad on the 

29th, and sent Jahan Khaii across to the eastern 

bank of the Jamuna the next day. 

§ 15. Malhar Hollar roalvd near Sikanrlrahnrl 

hjf Johan Khan, 

The Maratha raiders under Malhar reached 

Sikandrabad on 2<Sth February, sacked that large city 

totally, and halted for news of Abdali’s movements. 

Here they learnt that ten lakhs of treasure sent from 

Najib^s estates in trans-Ganges had arrived opposite 

Anupshahar on the way to Abdal^s camp, as the Ruhela 

chiefs contribution to the war-expenses of his protector. 

Malhar immediately sent out scouts to search for 

a ford near Anupshahar and halted for three 

or four days. This delay ruined him. Ahmad Shah 

sent a strong cavalry detachment under his best 

general Jahan Khan, who after a forced march surprised 

MalhaFs vanguard, under Gangadhar Tatya (Chandra- 

chud), eight miles in front of MalhaFs camp, at the 

dawn of 4th March. The Maratha resistance was short; 

they fled away ^^on unsaddled horses, giving up all their 

property to plunder.’’ Three high officers,—Anand Ram 

Jadav, Shethyaji Kharad6 and his son (named Faqirji 

in a Persian MS.),—besides many common soldiers, fell * 

* Malhar surprised near Sikandrabad,—ii. 120, 121, xxi. 

187, 188. Baj. vi. 403, i, 178 (false rumour of survival.) Mm, 178. 
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in the fight and the pursuit. Malhar himself fled away 

at a breakneck pace^ and came to Agra after crossing 

the Jamuna, while Gangadhar reached Mathura behind 

him. 

The light foray plan of campaign even under Malhar 

Holkar, the ablest cavalry leader among the Marathas, 

had entirely failed against Abdali. Returning to 

liharatpur, Holkar called for Hafi//s envoy and resumed 

the discussion of the peace terms proposed by that 

chief. As Purushottam Hingane wrote on 12th March, 

“Hafiz olfers to come and meet our sardar and set 

Abdali on the path of return, and then join us with his 

troops for humbling Najib. He promises never to 

help Najib. Our sardar has agreed not to cross his 

path, nor to molest his territory. This has been sworn 

to by both sides.,.. When Malhar arrived about 30 miles 

from Bharatpur, Suraj Mai came and met him, and was 

given assurances of friendship and protection, sworn to 

on hrl leaves and Ganges water. Then the Jat Rajah 

was dismissed with robes of honour to Bharatpur, while 

Malhar marched to Saroti 111 m. s. w. of] Bayana.^^ 

\SPI). ii. 121.1 

Jahan Khan followed up his victory by pushing on 

to opposite Mathura, his master moving one day^s march 

behind him. On reaching Koil (Aligarh), Abdali was 

Nur-ud-din, 31(Faqirji captured alive.) Siyar, iii. 65. Khari. 17 
and 20 (which speaks of Shethyaji, Anand Ram and Gangadhar's 

nephew as slain.) Miskin, 209. 
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advised by Najib,—hLs supreme confidant and guide on 

Indian questions,—to canton here for the approaching 

hot weather, which had been so fatal to the Afghan 

invaders in 1757, and the following monsoon. A large 

Maratha army was reported to be coming up from the 

Deccan to restore their lost predominance in the North 

and account must be settled with it before Abdali could 

leave India, unless he wished to abandon Najib to 

Deccani vengeance. 



APPENDIX 

I. The Peshtoas North-Indian ijollcjf in 17.If). 

Peshwa’s letter to Ramaji Anant (the manager ot the 

Hinclhias), correct <late Feb. 1759 

Dattaji was to have realized a large sum from JNIarwar. 

What has he done there ?••• Lead an expedition into 

Bengal and Bihar; realize vast sums of money there for 

repaying my debts. Bengal is a province capable of yielding 

one kror or a kror and a half. It ought to be [your master’s] 

determined aim to collect a large sum, clear my debts and 

sustain our troops. Occupy Bihar, it is a country fit to be 

retaine^l. Dattaji himself and Jankoji with a strong force 

should go there, capture Patna and remain encamped 

there. From that place make your plans about Bengal. 

Raghunath Rao Dada will go to Hindustan when the rainy 

season is over. Thereafter he will march into Bengal and 

collect a vast sum.' If, as in the past, the envoy [of the 

Bengal ruler] comes to you for making a compromise about 

the Bengal tribute, do not agree to any settlement. My 

debts would not be cleared unless a huge amount is extracted 

from Bengal. It is (therefore) necessary to march with a 

vast army and secure a kror or a kror and a half Jfrom 

that province.] If without an expedition a tribute of 50 or 

60 lakhs is promised, then accept it. If not, plan Jyour 

campaign] after Dada’s arrival. For the present you should 

go to Bihar and seize Patna. 

There are two or three undertakings to be achieved in 

connection with Shuja-ud-daulah. Take Benares, Ajodhya 

and Allahabad from him. He had pronlised to Dada fin 
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I?')?! to cede Benares and Ajodhya, but the case of 

Allahabad is still under discussion. If a settlement on the 

last point can be easily reached, make it. 

Vital Shivdev had settled the tribute |of Bihar | at 12 

lakhs only, because at that time we were not free |to lead 

an expedition there. | But now we have a grand opportunity 

of collecting money. If [the ruler of Bengal and Bihar[ 

agrees to pay down 50 lakhs within one year at Delhi, 

then accept the settlement. He will not pay at the mere 

<lemanding ; but if the generals mentioned above go in force 

up to Patna, then he will soften and pay a large contribution. 

I have to repay a debt of one kror of Rupees. Half 

of my troops have been sent to their homes as without 

employment. I have retained 20,0<JO men for necessary 

services and must pay them. My creditors have received 

only 30 lakhs. You must extinguish 50 lakhs of my debt. 

I am relying upon Dattaji’s assurance to me on this pointy 

at the time of his taking leave to depart. 

The Peshwa’s letter to Dattaji and Ja/nkoji Slndhia, dated 

21 March 1759: 

The wazir [Imad-ul-mulk|’s heart is not sincere. Mansur 

Ali Khan’s son will pay 50 lakhs if he is given the wazir- 

ship. If I order you to make this change, effect it on your 

return from Labor. Formerly, when Dada was near 

Delhi, Mansur Ali Khan’s son bad voluntarily offered to 

cede Benares to us. If he is now made wazir |by us], he 

must cede both Benares and Allahabad and pay 50 lakhs. 

If he refuses to make the above Uirritorial surrenders and 

asks for 2 or 3 years to complete the payment [of 50 lakhs], 

do not give him the wazir-ship. But give it if he pays 50 

lakhs and at least Allahabad. 

You have written that if Najib is made imperial Pay¬ 

master-General he would pay 30 lakhs. But he is very 
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treacherous. He a]ienate<l Dada in the past. If he is 

established in Delhi, know that an outpost of Abdali has 

been planted in that city. Advancing him is like feeding 

a cobra with milk. Crush him. 

If you can go towards Bengal with the Emperor and the 

wazir after the rainy season, a great impression would be 

created ; many Ruhela zamindars would join our side. From 

here Dada will go towards Allahabad via Bumlelkhand. You 

march through the Doab, and this our superior strength will 

enable you to seize Allahabad by surprise. Thereafter, if 

Shiija-ud-claulah, on being thus threatened from two sides, 

cedes Benares and Allahabad and pays a heavy do 

you persuade the Emperor and the wazir to give him the 

Bakhshi-ship. This is our second alternative plan. 

The third course is that, if the wazir refuses to leave 

Delhi I for Bihar|, then you should go and join Shujfi, take 

from him Benares and Allahabad only but do not demand 

a money contribution, promise him half of Bengal and Bihar, 

make him accompany you, wrest Bengal and exact a large 

tribute from that province. 

Out of these three plans, adopt whichever is found to be 

soundest. 

Your going to th^ Panjab, where there is heavy work to 

be done, has thrown this [Bengali enterprise into delay. Take 

it in hand after the rains. 

\Aitihasik Palren Yadi Waijaire, 166 and 167. Of. SPJX 

ii. 104, Dattaji’s reply to the second letter above.] 

II. IVas MaUiar Holkar responsible far the 

disaster to Dattaji Sindhia on /> Jan, 17(iO Y 

No. That Malhar did not join Dattaji before this 

fatal battle was due solely to Dattsji’s pride and 

miscalculation of enemy forces. When Datta first 
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heard of Abdali’s invasion of the Panjab, he was at Shukartal 

and Malhar near Sawai Madhopur. This j^reat distance 

between them and the fact of Malhar bein^* tlien involve<l 

in the siegfe of Rarwara and therefore unable to disentanjprle 

himself from his Rajput enemies and to march to Datta’s 

avssistance at a day’s notice, should be carefully borne in mind. 

Datta first asked Malhar to come to him, [SF^D. ii. 115| 

and the latter sent his siege-^fiTuns back to Rampura 

and got ready to march away. “On the day he joined his 

van” he received a letter from Datta to say that there was 

no report of Abdali’s coming soon, and that he was still 

holding the trenches against Najib. So, Malhar, “feeling 

reassured about that quarter,” recalled his guns and laid 

siege to Barwara. But on 27th Dec. he, all of a sudden, 

received Dattaji’s frantic call to come to his aid in the 

campaign against Abdali, and began his march towards Delhi 

five days later. \SPIl ii, 117. | He could not possibly have 

been in time to join in the battle of Barari-ghat. And, from 

the fact of the Marathas being hopelessly outclassed in weapons 

and outgeneralled by Abdali, I am convinced that if 

Malhar had joined Dattaji, he would have merely led larger 

hecatombs to the slaughter. What Malhar could have done by 

his guerilla tactics {(/hmiiml) was seen at Rikandrabad 

on 4th March 1760. 



CHAPTER XX 

Sadashiv Rao Biiau’s Dklht Expkditiox, 17()0. 

1. Peshfva selpcfs Sadashiv Hhan to tpad his 

arnn/ to Hindustan, 

There was boundless exultation in the Peshwa^s 

camp at Ahmadnagar in the night of 13th February 

17()0. His recent campaign against the ruler of 

Haidarabad had met with the completest success. The 

Nizam had been hemmed round during his advance 

from Udgir, defeated with heavy loss, and brought to 

an absolute standstill at Ausa on 3rd February, when 

still forty miles short of his refuge at Hharur. He 

could save himself from annihilation only by agreeing 

to cede to the Maratha^ erritories worth 45 lakhs of 

Rupees a year, with an additional 15 lakhs as nhaufh 

for his dominions, and transfer to the victors the two 

strongest forts in Mughal Deccan (Daulatabad and Xsir) 

and two cities (Burhanpur and Bijapur) each of which 

was the capital of an imperial province, as well as 

Mulher, the chief fort of Baglana. Ahmadnagar, the 

capital of a third Deccan subah and the largest depot 

of arms and munitions in the South, had been gained 

by bribery on the 9th November before, and the Peshwa 

had entered it with due pomp on the 29th of that 
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month. Oil 11th Kebruary the -Nizam had signed 

formal orders to his local oflicers to hand these places 

over to the Peshwa^s agents. The result of this 

campaign is best summarized in the words of a learned 

Muslim protege of the first Nizam-ul-mulk, ^^The 

descendants of Asaf Jah retained nothing more than 

the subah of Haidarabad, some portions of the Bijapur 

province^ and a little of Bidar^ and that too on condition 

of paying the Marathas one-fourth of their revenues.’^ 

I Azad Bilgrami.j The Pcshwa^s courtiers burst into the 

wildest panegyrics,—^Tlis Highness was born under the 

same natal star as Alexander the Great Wherever he 

casts his angry glance, his enemies are crushed into 

atoms. He has attained to the height of glory.It was, 

indeed, the apaijee of Maratha expansion. 

But there was a fly in the Peshwa^s cup of honey. 

On 27th January he had received a letter from his 

oflicers in the Delhi region written on the Sth before, 

reporting that Abdali had invaded India again, swept 

the Marathas out of the Panjab, forced Dattaji Sindhia 

to raise the siege of Shukartal without securing any 

indemnity from Najib Khan, and had himself crossed 

over to the Gangetic Doab and eflected a junction with 

the Ruhelas, while Dattaji had fallen back on Delhi, 

and that a decisive battle was expected to be fought 

on the next day. After this followed an ominous 

silence from Northern India for three weeks, while the 

Peshwa^s anxiety went on deepening day by day. Then 
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iiewr^ began to trickle through from the JVorth-Indian 

correspondence of bankers received at Aurangabad, 

that Dattaji had fallen, Jankoji had fled away in head¬ 

long rout to Rajputana, and the Maratha army in 

Hindustan had ceased to exist. An official letter 

reached the Peshwa on the 15th (or 16th) of February 

to confirm this tale of disaster. At one blow all his 

gains in North India had been wiped out, and he must 

again fight for the Maratha control over the Delhi 

empire and build up his supremacy in Hindustan from 

the very foundations. |Raj. i. 155, 157, 164, 165. 

flPI). i. 83,9.| 

There was no help for it but to promptly send a 

very strong army under a chief of indisputably high 

position,—such as a member of the Peshwa^s own 

family, if he was to recover the lost ground at Delhi. 

A mere general and vassal like Holkar or Sindhia was 

not adequate for such a task. So, the Peshwa set out 

from Ahmadnagar on 19th February, after recalling his 

generals and armies from the Ausa region to his side. 

They met him at Patdur* on 10th March, and long 

consultations began as to the future plans. 

At the end of the Udgir campaign, the Bhau had taken 

post at Parli, 40 m. n. of Ausa and 12 m. n.e. of Ambajogai or 

Mominabad. Patdur (spelt Partur in Atlas^ sh. 55) is 27 m. 8.e. 

of Jalna and a railway station on the Hyderabad Godavari Valley 
Railway, ^ijidhkhed i^ 26 m. n. of Patdur. Amhad is 80 m* w. of 

Patdur. 
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Almost up to the last moment the I^eshwa had 

intended to give this command to his own younger 

brother Raghunath Rao Dada (aged 2(i), as he had 

conducted campaigns in Hindustan in 1754-55 and 

1757-58. But in the inner council of 13th March 

there was a stormy scene. Raghunath had brought 

back from his last Delhi expedition only a debt 

of 80 lakhs in addition to the unpaid salaries of his 

soldiers, and he had been taunted for this negative 

result by the Peshwa^s chief manager, Sadashiv 

Rao Bhau, the son of Baji Rao Ps younger brother 

Chirnnaji Appa. This Sadashiv, though not yet fully 

thirty years of age, had already gained a high reputation 

and popularity with all classes of suitors and civil 

officers by his close attention to finance and the 

punctual transaction of administrative business, while his 

quick and complete overthrow of the Nizam in the 

recent campaign had made him suddenly spring to 

fame as a great organizer of victory. The hero 

of XJdgir alone was believed to be capable of 

restoring Maratha glories in the north. Raghunath 

Rao sulkily declined the • command, and it was 

finally decided that the Bhau should lead the northern 

expedition. But lest he should set up an independent 

principality of his own in Hindustan when enjoying 

supreme command there without a partner, a brake on 

him was devised by sending the Peshwa’s son Vishwas 

Rao (a lad of seventeen) with this army as its nominal 
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commander-in-chief, while the Bhau was to act as his 

guardian and the executive manager of all his affairs, 

like the experienced nobles joined under the name of 

Aldlhjti to the young princes of Delhi in their first 

campaigns. [Raj. i. 16S, 167. Khare, i. 14.1 

s; 2. Thr Bl/dn’s froops aiul innnilt()n >sfqjply. 

From Patdur the Bhau moved to Sindhkhed, 26 miles 

northwards, on 16th March. Two days later at an 

auspicious moment he made the formal commencement of 

his journey by entering into his marching tents pitched 

four miles in advance of that village, and halted there 

for some days in order to complete the necessary pre¬ 

parations for his campaign. He had to organize an 

army in its entirety in view of the long distance he was 

to march and the powerful enemy he was to meet. The 

Peshwa had begun the Udgir campaign with 40,000 

horsemen of his own, and 12,000 French-trained sepoys 

under Ibrahim Khan Gardi, a former officer of Bussy. 

From this total must be deducted the wastage of the 

recent war and sickness. Even then all the remnant 

could not be spared for the northern expedition. The 

Nizam had to be watched; he was exulting over the fall 

of Dattaji and trying to evade the fulfilment of the 

severe terms of peace that he had signed under compul¬ 

sion. The Peshwa, with 10,000 troops of his own and a 

similar contingent of the Nagpur Rajah, stayed near 

Aurangabad for some days till the Nizam brothers should 
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go back to their capital. Another division of 10,000 

was detached to the Karnatak under Visaji Krishna 

Biniwal^. So, the Bhau could be supplied with only 

22,000 Marathi troops (namely 10,000 of the Household 

Cavalry called Huxarat or kbm paga) and 12,000 men 

from the forces of his subordinate generals), in addition 

to 8,000 disciplined sepoys under Ibrahim Khan Gardi, 

—a total of 30,000 regular troops. 

The munitions sent with him from the Ahmadnagar 

arsenal consisted of 8,184 cannon balls of large size 

(against 19,000 required), 160 maunds of lead, 800 

maunds of gunpowder, 99,150 flints for muskets, and a 

quite inadequate quantity (65 sheets against 2,000 

requisitioned) of European paper for charging the 

muskets. * 

The expedition for the recon(juest of the Maratha 

dominion in Hindustan could not even make its start 

without overcoming great difficulties. The Udgir 

campaign had cost much money, but not a pice of the 

promised indemnity had been actually realized. The 

Bhau\s soldiers were in arrears and required an 

advance {nalhmidi) to equip themselves for the coming 

♦ Raj. i. 168, 169. Kharc, i. 14 (misprinted as 11), 21 (this 

last letter gives 20.000 Deahche fauj, evidently meaning Pindharis, 

in addition to the above 30,000.) The civil officers attached to the 

Bhau were Nana: (l c., Trimbak Sadashiv) Purandar^, Balwant 

Ganesh Mdiend^e, Mahipat Avji Chitnis, Bhivaram Khasgiwal^,— 
and to Yishwas Rao, Sakharam Bapu and Krishna Rao Parasnis. 

,8PD, ii. 122 (munitions sent.) 
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campaign properly. Some of them who had lost their 

horses in the Sindhkhed campaign of two years ago, had 

not yet been paid the price of new remounts. However, 

after a halt of some days near Sindhkhed, the Bhau 

distributed advances to his troops and put them in 

proper trim for campaigning. 

§ 3. Sadaskiv Bhaids march from Sindhkhed to 

the north hank of the Chambal. * 

Leaving Sindhkhed about 25th March the Maratha 

grand army reached Burhanpur on the Tapti on 4th 

April, crossed the Narmada at Handia on the 12th, and 

by way of Sihor (c. 24 April) and Bersia (c. 28 April) 

arrived at Sironj on 6th May. Here he received from 

the Peshwa bankers^ bills for Ks. 1,88,000 payable at 

Ujjain and Indor, and halted for some days to cash them 

and also to receive intelligence from the north by which 

to shape his future movements. He had started on this 

campaign almost at a day^s notice; he had not studied 

this scene of action before; he had never served in 

Northern India and had no knowledge of its people and 

* Bhau’s northward march,—Raj. i. 171, 174, 176, 180 (Sironj), 
18G (Araun), 187, 188 {MW>na^ misprint for Miana), 194 (Gwalior), 
195, 196, 199 (north bank of the Chambal), 202 (Bodsia, misprint 

for Bersia,) SPD, ii. 125, Aiti. Patren, 183 (across the Narmada.) 

Khar6, i. 18, 22 (does not mean that the Bhau himself went to 

Kaniadhan, which was off his route.) 
Sf/ior, 20 m. w. of Bhopal. Bersia, 25 miles due north of 

Bhopal. Sironj, 37 m. n. e. of Bersia (which last is 24 m, w. of 
Bhilsa.) 

IG 
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their manners^ the climate aud face of the country, its 

leading men and political problems. He was quite in 

the dark even as to the respective positions and strength 

of the rival forces north of the Chambal, beyond 

the bare fact that Abdali was sitting astride the 

Jamuna, in possession of the upper Doab and Delhi 

city, while the remnant of the Maratha army of 

Hindustan was dispersed somewliere in the Jat kingdom 

and the Etawa district in the middle Doab. He could not 

even decide for himself what was the best route to 

take across Malwa, or where to strike the Chambal, or 

whether he should first enter the Agra district west of 

the Jamuna or the Doab east of that river. 

On all these points he was helplessly dependent for 

his guidance on the advice and information called for 

from Malhar Holkar the general and Govind Ballal 

Bundel^ the revenue-collector, these being the Maratha 

officers best experienced in North Indian affairs and now 

present on the spot. As for his plan of campaign, it 

could not be determined without a personal discussion 

with Holkar. The Bhau had, therefore, at first sent 

only general directions to Govind Ballal to beat up for 

local allies everywhere, enlist the armed support of all 

the Rajahs of Rajputana and Bundelkhand, make an offen¬ 

sive alliance with the Nawab of Oudh by promising him* 

the wazirship of Delhi with Maratha support after the 

expulsion of Abdali, and recruit two to three thousand 

musketeers of the Bundela and Rajput races in the Doab*. 
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In addition^ there was the eternal insistent demand for 

money in every letter from the Bhau to Govind Ballal, 

the commander-in-chief’s tone growing harsher and more 

reprimanding at the prolonged delay and default of that 

collector. The monthly expenses of this expeditionary 

force reached five to six lakhs of Rupees, and all the 

remittance that the Bhau had received from the Deccan, 

less than two lakhs, had been eaten up in a fortnight. 

The monotonous burden of almost every letter received 

by Govind Ballal from the Bhau week after week, was, 

^^Send me 25 lakhs quickly, or at least 12 lakhs in 10 

or 12 days. Your failure to pay is very surprising.” 

As the Bhau advanced beyond the Ahir country 

north-east of Sironj, the villagers rose in his rear and 

made the roads unsafe for traffic and couriers, but he 

could not torn back to chastise them. From Sironj he 

made a detour to the left by way of Araun (25 m. n. w. 

of Sironj, 14 May), Miana (32 m. n. of Araun, 19 May), 

and Narwar, arriving at Gwalior on 30th May. During 

a two days’ halt in this last city, he received information 

from Malhar which decided him to cross the Chambal a 

little east of Dholpur and not near Kerauli, as in the 

alternative plan. Leaving Gvralior on 2 June, he crossed 

the Kumari (a feeder of the Chambal) on the 4th and the 

Chambal, some ten miles below Dholpur on the 8th, and 

issued strict orders to his soldiers not to molest the 

Jat territory which they entered on that day {SPD. ii. 

126], as it was the Peshwa’s policy to keep the Jat Rajah 
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on the Maratha side. The Bhau\s artillery and stores 

took a long time to be carried over the deep ravines 

intersecting both banks of the Chambal, and he halted 

more than a month (8th Jane—12 July) on the north 

bank of the Chambal, at some distance south of the 

Utangari river, which flows 20 miles south of Agra, 

roughly parallel to the Chainbal. 

§ 4. The sititaUon in the Doab and Maratha 

diplomacy. 

On 15th June Grangadhar Yashwant (Holkar^s diwan) 

came and saw the Bhau, and two or three days later 

Malhar himself joined them. Suraj Mai presented vast 

quantities of foodstuffs and other supplies to the 

Maratha army, and they enjoyed a month of plenty and 

repose after their constant marching for two months and 

a half. Consultations now began between the Bhau and 

Malhar as to their future course of action. Suraj Mai 

himself visited the chief on the last day of June. 

The Bhau met with two severe disappointments at 

this stage. It was learnt that Shuja-ud-daulah had 

decided to cast his lot in with the invaders, and that all 

the Rajput princes, great and small, were confirmed in 

their policy of sitting on the fence and keeping both 

sides in play till some great battle should prove which 

of the two powers was decidedly the stronger.* 

* Raj. i. 194, 203, 212 and 216 (halt s. of the Utangan), 217 

(2 Ziqad is a mistake for 2 Zihij^lQ July, the correct date of the 
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A long diplomatic tussle had been going on at the 

Court of Lucknow between the Maratha envoys and the 

agents of 4bdali for securing the adhesion of Shuja. 

While the Nawab of Oudh was hesitating to which of 

these two powerful sides he should add his weight, the 

Bhau hoped that the arrival of his army near Delhi 

would put heart into Shuja to reject Abdali^s invitation, 

or at least keep him neutral by the fear of a Maratha 

invasion of his realm if he openly declared against them. 

Following this policy, the Bhau from Malwa had ordered 

Govind Ballal to collect boats near Etawa for enabling 

the grand army to bridge the Jamuna, cross into the 

Doab, drive out the Afghan outposts, and thus insert 

a wedge between the Abdali camp and Shuja^s domi¬ 

nions. But Govind failed to secure any boats, the 

rains began very early this year, and by the end of 

June the water-level of the Jamuna was too high to 

allow fording. To spoil the Maratha plan more 

thoroughly, while Govind with his unreinforced 

contingent could neither raid Shuja^s province across 

the Ganges, nor make reprisals on Najib’s jagirs in the 

upper Doab, the Maratha posts in the middle Doab 

were menaced by a southward march of Najib Khan and 

Jahan Khan, in the middle of May, when the Bhau 

was still far away beyond the Chambal. The 

Afghans besieged the Maratha thanahs of Etawa 

Bbau’s arrival at Mathura.) SPD, ii. 127 & 124, also Raj. i. 217a 

(Malhar meets the Bhau.) 
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and Shukohabad, and pushed on to Bithur (north of 

Cawnpur.) 

The shuck of this invasion emboldened the 

dispossessed local Rajput landlords to rise against the 

Maratha usurpers everywhere in the Doab. The Bhau, 

on receiving reports of it, wrote frantically to Govind 

Ballal, ^^Urge all your thanahdars to hold on to their 

posts patiently. In a few days I shall arrive and all 

will be well. It is better to die with honour in defence 

of your posts. The Ruhela besiegers have no artillery 

with them. . , It is surprising that your collector of a 

place like Etawa has fled away Shukohabad was 

abandoned by its Maratha garrison, but that of Etawa 

held out, and Najib, leaving it untaken, passed on to 

Oudh, where he achieved a momentous triumph by 

inducing Shuja to declare for the invaders. The news 

of this diplomatic reverse reached the Bhau on 4th July, 

and he planned to send his troops across the Jamuna 

into the Doab, whence they were to ford the Ganges 

and invade Shuja^s territory. But the plan failed 

through his lack of boats and the early flooding of the 

rivers. 

At the same time the blin(l^stina^_pfJhe^ 

made a war to the de^^^^^ inevitable for them. When, 

on 16th May, the month of Muslim fasting ended, 

Bafiz Rahmat came from Abdali to open peace talks 

with Malhar Holkar. At Mathura he was met by 

Gangadhar Yashwant ( Holkar^s diwan ) and Suraj Mai, 
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as the intermediaries from this side. They conducted 

him to Bharatpur, but nothing came of his efforts, as 

the Maratha demands were exorbitant* and they were 

only waiting for the vast reinforcements under the Bhau 

to reach them, when they would be able to crush Abdali 

and thus keep possession of everything they had ever 

gained in Northern India. So, they deliberately spun 

the negotiations and at last on the arrival of the Bhau 

(middle of June) sent the baffled peace-maker back to 

his master. 

§ 5. The Bhait's plan of ivavy to seize Delhi first. 

The Bhau had arrived on the north bank of the 

Chambal on 8th June, but halted there,t some twenty 

miles south of Agra, with the Utangan river (also called 

• Raj. i. 186, 191, 194-196, 198-200, 204, 209, 212, 215-217. 
SPD. ii 124, 127. DC. 

t I was at first tempted to regard Pahari, 16 m. n. e. of 

Dholpur, 26 m. s. of Agra, and midway between the Utangan (now 

called Ban-ganga) and the Chambal, as the Bhau’s halting place. 

It exactly agrees with his known movements. But in Raj. i. 188, 
PdJiari‘tmr means the hilly country north-west of Sironj and 

not a village named IWiari, as the Bhau^s route north of the 

Chambal was still uncertain. “From the difficulty with which its 

:flood-stream is crossed, the Utangan takes the title of GhorU- 

paehhUr or Overthrower of Horses.,..Its character is essentially 

that of a mountain torrent.*>*Its bed, 800 feet wide, is of sand 

mixed with shingle, -it runs between lofty banks cut up by 

numerous ravines, some of which penetrate deeply into the 

adjoining lands.” N. W, P. Gazetteer, vii. 423. 
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the Gambhir) interposing between him and that imperial 

city, till 13th July. This five weeks^ inactivity can be 

explained partly by his uncertainty about his future line 

of action, but mainly by the early and excessive rainfall 

of that year, which prevented him from crossing the 

Jamuna into the Doab and also made the raging torrent 

of the Utangan impassable for horses, artillery and 

transport carts for weeks together. Govind BallaKs 

failure to build a bridge of boats near Etawa led the 

Bhau to abandon his first plan of attacking Abdali in 

the upper Doab and raiding Oudh. 

Malhar Holkar first met the Bhau about 18th June. 

He then allayed Suraj MaFs suspicion of treachery by 

taking personal oaths and giving solemn assurances, and 

conducted him to the Bhau, who advanced two miles 

to welcome so valued an ally (on 30 June.) Arrived 

outside Agra {c, 14 July) with JVlalhar and Suraj Mal^. 

the Bhau inspected the Jamuna and was forced ta 

abandon the plan to which he had clung so long for 

throwing a bridge of boats over the river and sending a< 

strong detachment into the Doab with orders to con¬ 

verge upon Aligarh. Early in that month some troops 

of Suraj Mai had crossed the river, probably by a boat 

or two, and attempted to restore the lost Jat posts on 

the east bank facing Mathura and Agra. But their 

number had only reached two thousand when the rising 

level of the rain-swollen Jamuna cut them off from their 

supports assembled at Mathura. Not a single Maratha 
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trooper could follow these Jats to the assistance of 

Govind Ballal. 

This stern decree of Nature forced a change of plan 

on the Bhau. If he could not, for the next three months, 

cross over to the cast bank to attack Abdali or his allies^ 

neither could Abdali cross to the west bank in support 

of his agent at Delhi. The Bhau^s mind was quickly 

made up. Two days after reaching Agra he advanced 

to Mathura (16 «Iuly), informed Govind Ballal of the 

suspension of the long-talked of march into the Doab^ 

and on the 21st sent a strong detachment ahead to seize 

Delhi, which, he knew for certain, was held by a very 

weak garrison.* 

§ 6. Affairs of Delhi city, 29 Xor. 1759-21st 

July 1700, 

We shall now turn to the doleful story of the lord¬ 

less city of Delhi. Immediately after the murder of 

Alamgirll (29 Nov. 1759), the wazir’s agent in this atro¬ 

cious deed, Mahdi Quli Khan, silently enthroned in the 

fort Muhi-ul-millat (the grandson of Aurangzib^s 

youngest child Kam Bakhsh) under the title of Shah 

Jahan II. But the new ‘king of kings^ was even more of 

a shadow than his luckless predecessor. The harem 

apartments of the palace were ransacked by the regicide 

wazir and the story went that fifty lakhs in cash and 

Raj. i. 216, 217, 223. 
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jewels were taken away, even the marriage portions of 

the princesses not being spared. But retribution was 

close at hand. Abdali was coming, and at the news of it 

an exodus from Delhi began on 8th December, even the 

princes being removed from the palace (in bnllock-carts) 

to Hasangarh fort (in the Doab.) * On 28th December 

the wazir returned from the army of Sindhia to Delhi 

and began to entrench the river bank by way of 

precaution. [DC,] 

Then events moved apace. The baggage of the 

Maratha army set out from Delhi on retreat to Rajputana 

about 6th January, 1760, and two days later the remnant 

of their rearguard plundered the shrine of Nizam-ud-din 

Auliya and carried off some rich men of the city for 

ransom,—thus making a last grab at the capital before 

abandoning it to the foreign invader. On the 9th 

Dattaji Sindhia fell in a battle ten miles north of Delhi 

* Delhi, ‘After the fall of Dattaji, Abdali entered Delhi fort. 
The men of his camp plundered the property of the citizens by 

violence. For three days great disturbance raged there. On the fourth 

day the Shah ordered his soldiers to leave the city and dismount 
outside it.’ [Bmain Shahi, 51.] ‘Abdali came back from Narnol 
and slew and plundered the people of Delhi to an extreme.’ 
[Mux, 178.] Miskin (204-206) gives a graphic and detailed eye¬ 

witness’s account of this plunder and slaughter of the city people. 

On 19th October 1760, the Delhi Chronicle records, “Bhauji has 

captured Kunjpura. Throughout this entire month, a state of 

death settled on the inhabitants of Delhi city from rumours of 

the coming of the Shah, who had decided on a battle near 

Kunjpura.” 
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and his army fled away in headlong rout to Rajputana, 

the wazir following their example. The victorious 

Durrani king encamped at Khizirabad^ south of the city, 

and on 21 January made a pilgrimage to Nizam-ud-din^s 

shrine. Next day a foraging party from his camp went to 

the Old City and Paharganj, and carried away the beams 

and planks of the houses for firewood. \T)C.] Yaqub Ali 

Khan, a cousin of the Abdali wazir, but long settled in 

India at the city of Shahjahanpur, was appointed 

subahdar of Delhi on behalf of the Shah (31 January.) 

This able and good governor^ applied himself to the 

pacification protection and relief of the ruined and 

distracted population of the city, enlisted a defence force 

of 600 men, mostly sehhatidi or militia of little fighting 

value, from the Indian ex-soldiers and idlers, with only 

25 or 30 Turks and Diirranis to stiffen them, and 

appointed his own kotwdl to re-establish police 

control over the capital and his superintendent of 

markets [karora-i-ganj) to ensure its food supply. 

\DO,] 

Throughout February 1760 the Abdali king was 

absent campaigning against the Jats and Malhar Holkar 

in the Bharatpur State and Mewat. On the last day 

of that month (29th), he returned to the capital, but in 

a day or two crossed over to the Doab in pursuit of 

Malhar Holkar, as we have seen in Chapter 19, §15. 

After expelling the Marathas, he encamped near 

Aligarh, while Delhi continued in charge of Yaqub 
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Ali Khan with the puppet Emperor Shah Jahan II 

sitting on the throne and receiving presents from the 

officials on ceremonial occasions like the Nmirox 

(20 March.) The political centre of gravity shifted 

from Delhi to the Doab, and diplomacy and intrigue 

were conducted in and from Abdali^s camp there. 

At the end of May rumours arose that Shah Alam II, 

after being defeated by the English in Bihar, was 

coming at the invitation of Abdali to ascend the throne 

in Delhi, but he held back and stopped in south Bihar. 

[DC.] 

At the end of June, while the new Maratha army 

under the Bhau arrived near Agra, the unusually early 

flood of the Jamuna cut Delhi off from the Doab. 

Taqub Ali Khan, therefore, turned to the defence of his 

city. The Delhi Gate of the palace-fort was kept 

closed ; as for the city wall, the two leaves of the Labor 

Gate having been burnt before, he replaced them with 

the large wooden front-entrance of the Sarai of Mihrban 

Agha (9th July), in order to meet any Maratha attack. 

I DC. ] 

§ 7. The Bhau captures Delhi. 

That attack came on 22nd July, when a strong force 

detached by the Bhau from Mathura under Malhar, 

Jankoji, and Balwant Ganesh M6h^nd^l^, accompanied 

by the titular wazir Imad-ul-mulk (whom Suraj Mai had 

introduced to the Bhau at Mathura), appeared in the 
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morning and assaulted the city-gate.* The defenders 

were so few that the resistance was prolonged only by 

the huge stone walls of the capital. But in the afternoon 

the invaders broke into the city by way of Javid 

Khan^s mansion. The fort held out under Yaqub Ali 

Khan, who kept the assailants back by fire from the 

ramparts. One body of Marathas crowded before the 

Asad-burj and attacked the Khiziri gate, another body 

assaulted the Delhi Darwaza. For nearly two hours 

Malhar and Jankoji tried to break the Khiziri gate, but 

it was covered with brass plates and braced with iron 

bars, and defied all their efforts. 

The garrison was very small, the Hindustani 

militiamen disappeared, and only a handful of Turks 

and Durranis kept up the defence with their muskets. 

From their small number they had to leave large 

portions of the walls undefended, while the flood of 

Maratha light horse swarmed round the fort on all sides. 

Seizing this confusion, while the garrison^s attention 

was fixed on the Khiziri gate, about a hundred men of 

Vital Shivdev, followed by groups from Holkar and 

Sindhians contingents climbed the wall on the side of 

the Asad-burj and entered the palace unperceived. 

But they had no leader and no foresight. Instead of 

first opening the gates to their brethren outside, they 

recklessly dispersed for plunder through the royal 

• The Bhsu’s capture of Delhi,—DO, Raj. i. 222-224. 

JSur-ud-din 33. Siyar, iii. 66. Mux. 180-182. 
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apartments^ each man blindly seizing what he could and 

throwing the booty down from the ramparts to his 

comrades on the sandy bank below. The alarm soon 

spread to the garrison, and some fifteen Durranis came 

up from the Salimgarh side and advanced against the 

dispersed Maratha looters, shooting down a dozen of 

them and then charging sword in hand. The rest fled 

away and leaping down from the walls in abject terror 

fell on the sand bank with broken limbs. Thus, a 

captured fort slipped out of the Maratha hands, through 

the selfish greed and thoughtless cowardice of their 

soldiery. 

The Maratha generals then assembled in Sadullah 

Khan^s house and laid a regular siege to the fort, 

digging trenches before the gates and mounting guns. 

The city nominally passed into Imad^s control, while 

the Marathas encamped in the suburbs. Ibrahim Khan 

Gardi planted three guns on the river bank below the 

fort and bombarded the palace from the east side, 

which was lined with beautiful edifices like the 

curvilinear roofed mansions {hancjla) of the Asad-burj, 

the Octagonal Tower, and the harem chambers. ^Xarge 

breaches were made in the Diwan-i-khas, the Bangmahal, 

the Moti-mahal, and the Shahburj, but the strength of 

the fort-walls was not impaired in any way.” For some 

days this exchange of fire continued. On the 29th of 

July, the Bhau himself arrived from Mathum and 

encamped near Kalkadevi, the Qutb Minar village ; 
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and Yaqub Ali^ having exhausted his food supply and 

knowing relief by his master impossible, begged for 

terms of peace. The Bhau jumped at the proposal and 

allowed Yaqub Ali to march out witli his property and 

troops, and cross the Jamuna to join his master. Thus 

Delhi fort passed into Maratha possession on 2ud 

August, 17bO.. u W • 

§ (S. S^raj Mai Jal abandons ike Mamiha side. 

Meantime, Shuja-ud-daulah from his camp on the 

eastern bank of the Jamuna had sent a letter and an 

agent, Rjijah Devidat, proposing to bring about a peace 

between the Peshwa and Abdali through the mediation 

of the Bhau and Najib, on condition that the absent 

Shah Alam should be recognized as Emperor, his eldest 

son Jawan Bakht installed in the government of Delhi 

as his vicar (wali ahad or Heir), and Shuja appointed 

imperial wazir, and that the Shah should return to his 

own country and the Marathas to the Deccan. The very 

entertainment of this proposal antagonized Imad and 

his patron Suraj Mai, and these two went away in anger 

from their camps at Tughlaqabad to Ballabhgarh, 

without taking leave of the Bhau. Next morning 

(4th August) the Bhau^s secretary Mahipat Rao, MalhaPs 

diwan Gangadhar, and Sindhians manager Ramaji 

Anant went there to pacify and bring them back, but 

without success.* 

• Defection of Suraj Mai,—Raj. i. 222. SPD, xxi. 390 
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The defectiou of Suraj Mai was even more ruinous 

to the Maratha cause than Shuja^s choice of hostility a 

month earlier. The Bhau had no longer a single friend 

left north of the Narmada. The Maratha relations with 

the Jat kingdom had been marked from the first by 

grasping tyranny. Their unprovoked siege of Kumbher 

(1754) had been ended only by the promise of a tribute 

of 30 lakhs. Moreover, the expansion of the Jat power 

from the Mathura-Agra district over the Jamuna into 

the middle Doab crossed the line of Maratha ambition 

there. Suraj Mai had built and richly stored the fort 

of Eamgarh (now called Aligarh), intending to make it 

a second Kumbher in the midst of his Doab possessions, 

and Govind Ballal, the Maratha governor of the tract 

immediately south of it, had planned (middle of May) 

to capture this fort and replace Jat rule by his own in 

that region. [Raj. i. 187.] Though the design could 

not be put into execution, thanks to Afghan pressure, 

this unfriendly attitude could not be kept a secret from 

Suraj Mai. When the Bhau entered Jat territory on 8th 

June, he no doubt issued strict orders to his men not to 

molest or rob his ally^s subjects. The Peshwa had also 

advised the Bhau not to dun Suraj Mai for the unpaid 

balance of the tribute of 1754. [ SPD. xxvii. 255. ] But 

(assurances given.) xxvii. 258. Mux, 184. DC. Imad-us-sadat, 180, 

(also 81) and Wendel, 81, say that the Bhau insulted Suraj Mai 

by calling him a mere landholder. (I doubt it, though the Bhau 

certainly rejected the war plan of Suraj Mai and Malhar.) 
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even a less astute man than Suraj Mai would have 

guessed that as soon as the Abdali menace was removed, 

the locust swarms of the South would come down upon 

him for their old dues. Even then, as between Abdali 

and the Marathas, he would have preferred the latter if 

only they had the sense to adopt a live and let live 

policy and honest enough to keep their plighted word. 

Such an assurance the Bhau failed to give to Suraj 

MaPs complete satisfaction. On the contrary, he 

insulted and alarmed the Jat king beyond hope of 

appeasement. 

All evidence agrees in showing that the Bhau 

antagonized Malhar Rao Holkar, and even if he did not 

openly insult his veteran lieutenant by calling him a 

dotard past his usefulness, he certainly disregarded 

Malhar^s counsels and thus lowered him in the eyes of 

the army and the public. Malhar^s angry remark that 

if these proud Brahmans of Puna were not humbled by 

the enemy they would make him and other captains of 

the Maratha caste wash their soiled clothes, is histori¬ 

cally true,* in view of his natural feelings, after this 

scarred veteran^s advice had been brushed aside by a 

youth under thirty years who had never seen North- 

Indian warfare. Suraj Mai, who was the shrewdest 

Hindu potentate then alive, naturally saw eye to eye 

* This does not mean that Malhar turned a traitor to his 
master’s cause ; he merely took care to save himself out of the 
wreck of the Maratha army on 14 January 1761. 

17 
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with Malhar Rao for his strong sense of realism in 

politics and war, and distrusted the Bhau, who trod the 

air of theory instead of planting his feet on the bedrock 

of the real facts of a situation. Suraj Mai had before 

this placed himself under the protective wings of Malhar, 

and sided with him in the Bhau’s council-chamber ever 

since their coming to Agra. 

§ 9. Sadashiv Bhwds character and policy examined. 

The Bhau had started from the Deccan with a whole¬ 

some respect for the Durrani military power and a 

persistent belief that his own resources must be greatly 

increased by the addition of fresh musketeers, firearms^ 

munitions, and North-Indian allies, before he could 

confront such an enemy with any hope of victory. His 

almost daily correspondence during this campaign 

effectively disproves the popular tradition that his head 

was turned by insolence and pride ; it could not have 

been so before his capture of Delhi ( 3 August), when 

Suraj Mai had already been estranged. His letters 

[ SPl), xxvii. 265, 257 | to the Peshwa show that 

even after the capture of Delhi he realized the 

gravity of his position and the difficulty of defeating 

Abdali in pitched battle, so that he still preferred a 

waiting game and the policy of starving the enemy out 

as the best in the circumstances. A durable and 

honourable peace with Abdali was possible by sharing 

Hindustan with him, vix,, by ceding the Panjab to 
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Ahmad Shah and confirming Najib^s possessions in the 

Doab. But such a settlement he had rejected in June, 
long before his capture of Delhi, because the Peshwa^g 

instructions were clearly against ceding the Panjab to 

the Afghans. Therefore, a fight to the finish with the 

Durranis was the only course left to the Bhau, and for 

this choice of an extreme policy the responsibility rests 
not on the Bhau but on his master in Puna. 

Sadashiv Rao^s capture of Delhi forms a turning- 

point in his career. Its immediate effect was to restore 

the prestige of Maratha arms which had been ruined by 

the fall of Dattaji and the rout of Malhar early in this 

year. Abdali^s partisans were now dismayed and began 

to waver, and even to intrigue in secret with the Bhau. 

The Shah himself passed through a period of anxiety 

and avowed his readiness to return to his own country 

if only an honourable peace could be made with the 

Marathas and the Ruhelas could be assured of safety 

from Maratha aggression during his absence. This far- 

resounding success, secured with the loss of less than a 

score of men and after only a week of exertion, blinded 

the Bhau to the realities of the situation. He regarded 

Shuja^s proposal of peace as a proof of the hopeless 

weakness of Abdali^s cause. As he wrote to Govind 
Ballal on the day of his entry into Delhi (3rd August), 

^^Ahmad Bangash and some Ruhelas are going away 

[from AbdalPs campj to their homes. Shuja now realizes 

what to expect from his having joined Abdaii! 
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Internal dissension is increasing among the Durrani 

sardars. Rly capture of Delhi has broken his waist. 

I have put off the fight with him only in consequence 

of the high level of the Jamuna.^^ Eighteen days later 

he was still puffed up with the same idea and wrote, 

^^Yes, my conquest of the capital has struck awe into 

Abdali and caused a split in his camp. Many Turanis 

wish to desert his service for ours. His troops are 

greatly frightened. Many of the Ruhelas have gone back 

fto their homes] beyond the Ganges, and the rest are 

about to do so. Najib alone is keeping up his spirits. 

Shuja, as the result of his joining Abdali, finds himself 

bogged.’' The lame Ahmad Khan Bangash, who merely 

enjoyed the prestige of his office as imperial Paymaster- 

General and held the strategically important position of 

Farrukhabad, now began to make secret overtures beg¬ 

ging the Bhau’s favour through Govind Ballal, and 

peacefully evacuated Farrukhabad before the advancing 

Marathas (29th August.) [Raj. i. 224, 233, 236, 237.) 

Shuja and Najib continued throughout August and Sep¬ 

tember to hold peace parleys with the Bhau, but without 

success, as the Peshwa’s demands were impossible. The 

Bhau continued to receive intelligence about the Abdali 

camp of a kind most flattering to his vanity and tending 

to confirm him in the delusion that the Muslim league was 

broken up and that the invaders would be thankful for 

a retreat home with their bare lives. Fov example, on 

29 August Govind Ballal wrote, ^^At night a consultation 
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was held by the Shah ; all his followers, high and low 

alike, advised him, ^You ought not to stay in this 

country. The strength of the Marathas is increasing 

daily. Therefore, do not listen to anybody else^s [i, e., 

Najib^sj counsels, but make peace with the Marathas and 

go home.^” On 21st September was sent this report : 

^^There is a tumult in Abdali^g army. High and low, all 

urge him to come to terms with the Marathas and return 

home. Besides, he has no spirit for fighting left in him. 

At Anupshahar, ten thousand of his horses, camels 

and mules have died, and more are dying daily. Thank 

God ! the Peshwa^s star is dominant.^^ [Raj. i. 236, 247- 

246.] 

§ 10. Difficulties and distress of the Bhau after 

the conquest of Delhi. 

But the Maralha acquisition of the Mughal capital 

was in truth a barren spectacular succes^. It actually 

aggravated the Bhau^s difficulties in two ways. His 

residence in the dry sterile north-western suburbs of 

Delhi (the Shalimar gardens) far away from the friendly 

and fertile old base in the Jat country, caused the 

draught-oxen of his guns and munition-tumbrils to die 

of famine and sickness. The stoppage of food supply 

from the Doab by reason of Abdali^s occupation of 

the tract immediately east of Delhi and the flood in the 

Jamuna, caused his soldiers and horses to starve. At the 

same time the occupation of the imperial city brought 
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him no gain in money, but actually increased his ex¬ 

penses by one lakh a month. As the official guardian 

of the imperial family, he had now become responsible 

for the maintenance of the princes and the salaries of 

the palace guards and menial servants and the Court 

officials. \SPD, xxvii. 257.] 

On 16th September we have this astonishing report 

from the Bhau^s camp in Delhi, “In our army even big 

men are fasting, the horses have forgotten what it is to 

eat gram. Our soldiers are ruined ^ nowhere is a loan 

obtainable. There is no life left in any man or horse; 

our men can procure rice with difficulty. The end of 

it all threatens to be very hard. None has seen such at 

year ever before.^’ Each trooper and his horse now 

required Rs. 200 a month for food, and yet for three 

months the Bhau had not been able to pay any subsis¬ 

tence money to his soldiers. 

Even a fortnight before this the Bhau had written 

to the Peshwa : ^^There is starvation in my camp ; 

but no loan can be had ; no revenue is being paid to me 

by any kaniavisdar (collector), in spite of ray frequently 

writing to them. My troops are going through many 

a fast.^^ Up to 5 th September, the Bhau had received 

from two Maratha collectors in North India only 

Rs, 2,80,000 and ^^not a kauri from any one else.^^ The 

two lakhs that he had received at Sironj (6 May) 

from the Peshwa bad been exhausted in a fortnight. And, 

as early as 26th June, when he had not yet 
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reached Agra, he makes this piteous appeal to the 

Peshwa for financial assistance : am getting no money 

from any side,—neither from our mahals [in the Doab] 

which are disturbed, nor from tribute which is being 

evaded [by our vassal chiefs.| If we are to overcome 

Abdali we require 30,000 horsemen. Many of my troopers 

had lost their chargers in the war with Nizam Ali, or 

from disease, and they have to be supplied with 

remounts. The parting gift for last year is still unpaid 

to my troops. As I cannot give them their full subsis¬ 

tence even, whence can I pay their overdue parting gift 

and bounty for equipment {nalhmid!) ? The troubles 

around Delhi have dispersed the bankers of this region ; 

hence no loan can be raised here.^^ ih 130, 131, 

xxi. 193, xxvii. 257, 255, 258.1 

§ 11. Sadashiv Bhangs fmamial 

during the Panipat campaign. 

The Peshwa had sent the Bhau off with such small 

funds as he could immediately spare and had supple¬ 

mented them with two lakhs after a month. He himself 

was overwhelmed with debt (a legacy from his father) 

and expected the Bhau to support his troops with the 

revenue of the Maratha jagirs in Hindustan and the 

tribute due from the Rajahs there, which would now be 

more promptly paid by reason of the Bhau^s presence 

there in overwhelming force. But both these calculations 

went wrong. The northern vassals sat on the fence. 
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paying nothing unless the Bhau attacked them (which 

was not expedient during Abdali^s presence in India.) 

The Peshwa^s orders were that his local revenue officers 

should pay half their actual collection to the Bhau and 

remit the other half to the Puna treasury. In conse¬ 

quence of it^ the Bhau received nothing beyond Rs, 

2,80,000 (as against 25 lakhs due on paper from Grovind 

Ballal alone.) He wrote to the Peshwa complaining that 

the rascally collectors had taken advantage of the 

Peshwa^s order and ^^paid to neither, telling the Bhau 

that they had transmitted their entire receipts to Puna,, 

and reporting to the Peshwa that they had paid the 

whole amount to the Bhau It is clear that the Bhau 

entirely misjudged the situation from his ignorance of 

North India j he refused to accept Govind BallaFs very 

reasonable explanation that the Maratha districts in the 

Doab had been too much ravaged by the late wars and 

were now too convulsed by Abdali’s presence in force in 

Aligarh to yield their normal revenue. 

All that was remitted to the Bhau by the Maratha 

collectors in Hindustan, besides the above Rs. 2,80,000^ 

was 4.2 lakhs which reached Naro Shankar at Delhi on 

17th December, aud out of which only Rs. 1,10,000 was 

safely conveyed to Panipat,—or a total of Rs. 3,90,000 

actually received. Adding to this the 9 lakhs he made 

by coining the remnant of the silver ceiling of the Diwan- 

i-khas of Delhi and the 7 lakhs of booty secured at 

Kunjpura, as also the Rs. 1,88,000 received at Sironj 
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and the lakh or less of starting gift at Patdur,—his 

total receipts during this entire campaign of 

just under ten months was about 22V2 lakhs. But his 

raothly expenditure ran to 5V2 lakhs for the first four 

months and a half, seven lakhs for the next two months 

and a half, and about ten lakhs during the last three 

months,—or a total of over 72 lakhs, i. e., more than 

three times his income. And this at a time and in a 

country where he had not a single ally nor a single 

banker willing to give him credit. \SPD. xxvii. 254- 

258. Raj. i. 281.] 

§ 12. The Bhau's doings in Delhi. 

Delhi palace passed into Maratha hands on 3rd 

August 1760, but the coveted capital of India proved a 

Dead Sea apple to them. It had been emptied by the 

repeated spoliations of Nadir and Abdali, and what little 

remained had been taken away by the wazir Imad-ul- 

mulk before his flight. Imad had even stripped oft' a 

portion of the silver ceiling of Shah Jahan’s Paradise on 

earth^—the Diwan-i-khas within the palace-fort. The 

new masters of the imperial city were actually starving. 

On 5th August they write from Delhi, "There is no 

money for paying even one week^s subsistence in a 

month y our men and horses are fasting. If we could 

discover the hiding-places in the fort, ten or twenty 

krores could be secured. But we cannot enter the 

female apartments of the palace. The Bhau is trying 
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persuasion [for discovering the secret.]^^ | SPD, xxvii. 

257, 258.1 

On Oth August the Bhau took out what remained 

of the ceiling of the Diwan-i-khas and coined the silver 

into nine lakhs of Rupees. This sum maintained his 

army for a month and enabled him to meet the cost of 

feeding the imperial family and palace servants, which 

was an additional burden of one lakh a month. On the 

10th, which was the Maratha festival of the lunar 

conjunction of the month of Shravan, the Bhau ceremoni¬ 

ously bathed at the Nigambodh c/hafy (near the old 

Calcutta Gate),—at which holy spot the sages of ancient 

India had sat in religious coratemplation and attained 

to a true knowledge of the Vedas (Nigama.) He then 

distributed alms to the Brahmans and also to the 

Muslim mendicants haunting the Jarai Masjid. Jankoji 

Sindhia visited the fort, and sitting down in the 

Octagonal Tower called for the sons of the ex-Emperor 

Ahmad Shah and held a whispered conversation * with 

them, giving them robes of honour and jewelled crests. 

[SPD. xxvii. 257. DO,\ 

Then, leaving Naro Shankar as subahdar and qiladar 

of Delhi with a force t for the defence of the city, the 

* Did he try to pump out of them the secret of the treasure 

hoards within the palace, by promising to restore their branch 
to the imperial throne in return ? 

t DC. merely says that the Bhau ordered Naro Shankar to 

enlist infantry for the garrison. Raj. i. 237 states that he 
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Bhau moved {12th August) to the Shalimar gardens 

near Badli. This northward advance with artillery 

effectively blocked the Barari-ghat to the Ruhelas who 

were trying to cross the Jamuna there. The Bhau lay 

encamped here for two months, from 12th August to 

10th October. But by the end of September his position 

had become intolerable by reason of the failure of 

his food and fodder supply and the utter exhaustion 

of his funds and credit. He felt that he must remove 

elsewhere, or his entire army would perish through 

famine. The swollen Jamuna forbade any action in the 

Doab, where his enemies were concentrated, till the 

river should become fordable again at the end of 

October at the earliest. He had, therefore, as early as 

the first week of September, begun to think of advancing 

north and attacking Kunjpura. 

§ 13. The Bhau captures Kunjpura, 

This fortified town commanded the ferry over the 

Jamuna on the road from Karnal and formed a most 

convenient half-way house for the passage of reinforce¬ 

ments and provisions from Sarhind (then in Afghan 

possession) to Abdali^s camp in the upper Doab. Its 

master was Nejabat Khan Ruhela, a protege of Najib. 

During the Durrani invasion of January 1757, he used 

to dress his Indian followers like the Qizilbashes and 

placed under N. 8. 3,000 foot and 3,000 horse (evidently local 
recruits) and some materiel. 
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rob caravans on the grand trunk road between Labor 

and Delhi, giving out that these were Abdali^s soldiers 

IMiskin, 133], whom none durst resist. His castle was 

a robbers^ den where other Afghan freebooters and 

Abdali agents of that tract used to lodge their booty 

and find a secure asylum in need. Enormous quantities 

of grain were stored here for the Shah^s army across 

the Jamuna. 

The conquest of Kunjpura was absolutely necessary 

if the Bhau was to cut Abdali’s communications with 

his country and bring him to an action on the west 

bank of the Jamuna. The Maratha chieTs plan was to 

capture Sarhind (as had been done in Raghunath^s 

campaign in March 1758), join Ala Singh Jat and other 

Indian zamindars of the cis-Satlaj region and rouse 

them against Abdali, as the first step towards driving 

the foreign invaders out of the Panjab. Such a policy 

required at its very outset the destruction of the enemy 

depot at Kunjpura. But the strongest allurement of 

Kunjpura for the starving and bankrupt army of the 

Bhau was that this place was stored full with provisions 

and money belonging to Abdali and his partisans, and 

yet the flooded river would defeat every attempt of 

Abdali or Najib to come to its aid. 

The Bhau started on this enterprise. Prom his 

camp at Laleri (3 miles south of Ganaur) he sent back 

Nana Purandar^ and Appaji Jadav Rao to Delhi, and 

these two agents, on Friday the 10th of October, deposed 
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the titular Shah Jahan II, proclaimed Ali Gauhar as 

Emperor under the title of Shah Alam II, struck coins 

in his name, and installed his eldest son Mirza Jawan 

Bakht in the Diwan-i-khas as his Heir and vicar. They 

also conferred the wazirship on Shuja-ud-daulah in 

ahseatia, in the hope of luring him away from AbdalFs 

side. [Raj. i. 258, 259. DC. Siyar, iii. 67.| 

Having strengthened his base at Delhi and in 

fancied security about his long-extended line of 

<50mraunicatioa along the west bank of the Jarnuna 

for a month to come, the Bhau arrived before Kunjpura 

in the evening of 16th October. Outside the city were 

encamped Abdus Saraad Khan (the Durrani governor 

of Sarhind) and Mian Qutb Shah (the preceptor and ally 

of the Indian Ruhelas, whose brigandages have been des- 

oribed in Ch. 13, §15) with about 2,000 men. There 

were at least 8,000 more fighters within. The immense 

Maratha host halted for the night, encircling the city, 

and early next morning advanced to attack the Afghan 

•camp outside. Ibrahim Khan Gardi with his artillery, 

supported by his eight regiments of foot-musketeers, led 

the van. Abdus Samad and Qutb issued from their 

tents and tried to charge the Marathas, but the withering 

fire of these disciplined troops broke their ranks up be¬ 

fore they could come to close quarters. Abdus Samad 

was shot dead, and Qutb wounded. The remnant of 

their troops filed to the city gates and demanded 

entrance, which Nejabat Khan at first refused, as he 
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trembled at the deadly power of the Maratha army which 

he had witnessed from the walls. After a long wrangle 

they induced him to open the gates by threatening 

Abdali^s wrath if he refused them help. But the Marathas 

had now arrived close behind the fugitives and entered 

the city pell-mell with them. Thus Kunjpura fell into 

Maratha hands at one blow. Evidently there was much 

street fighting as the Afghans defended their homes^ be¬ 

cause the Marathas admit nearly a thousand casualties on 

their side (but no officer slain.) The booty secured was 

immense,—3,000 horses, besides all the camels and guns 

found in the fort. Two hundred thousand maunds of 

wheat and other goods of a total value of 10 lakhs, andi 

six and a half lakhs of Rupees in cash came to the 

public treasury, while the soldiers and camp-followers on 

the day of the assault looted much property in the houses,^ 

So vast was the quantity of the captured provisions that 

the Maratha troops were paid their weekly subsistence in 

grain. 

The Bhau halted at Kunjpui’a for seven days, cele¬ 

brating the Dasahara festival (19 Oct.) with great exul¬ 

tation and pomp, and digging up the floors of houses in 

search of buried treasure.* Besides Abdus Samad Khan 

who had fallen in the plain outside, Nejabat Khan died 

of his wounds in captivity. A sterner fate waited on 

« Bhau^s capture of KuDjpura,—Raj i. 255 (wron^^ly dated),258- 
260, 265. vi. 405. SPD, xxi. 198, 192, 193. Biisam Skahi 57* 

Nur-ud-din, 34-35. Mm. 185-186 Imad, 186, 78. 
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Mian Qutb Shah^ who had fled wounded to the city and 

been seized. Nine months ago, when Dattaji Sindhia lay 

wounded and writhing on the field of Barari-ghat, Qutb 

Shah had severed his head and carried it away in 

triumph to the Afghan camp. He had shown no mercy 

to a fallen foe, and in his day of defeat he could expect 

none. So, he opened his mouth in abuse of the 

Marathas when brought as a prisoner to their camp, and 

was sentenced to death, — with torture, according 

to one account. The severed heads of Samad and (^utb 

were placed on lances and paraded in triumph through 

theMaratha camp, and, as we can easily imagine, specially 

in the bazar of the Sindhia contingent. Two sons of 

Ncjabat were captured in the fort and taken with the 

Maratha army to Panipat. Only one son, J)ilir Khan, 

who was absent, escaped and lived to recover his father^s 

seat. 

§ 14. Sadiishiv Shaft comes to PattipaU 

After a week’s halt at Kunjpura for digging out buried 

treasure, looking after his numerous wounded, arranging 

for the proper care and transport of his vast booty in 

grain and animals, and setting up his own outpost in the 

captured fort, the Bhau on 25th October started for 

Kurukshetra, 30 miles to the north. He had covered 

only half the way, when next day at Tarauri, near the 

scene of Sabaji Sindhians repulse ten months ago, he 

learnt that Abdali had crossed the Jamuna at Baghpat 
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and arrived at Sonepat (two days earlier), thus cutting 

his communication with Delhi and the South. The Bhau 

immediately turned back to meet the enemy, reached 

Panipat on 29th October and halted to learn of the 

enemy^s position and plans more clearly. On the 1st 

of November the Afghan array was sighted seven miles 

south of his position,* and the long looked for decisive 

contest at last began. 

§ 15. Ahdali enmmpfi in the Doaby his poliefi, 

March-' October y 1700, 

We shall now turn to the invader^s camp and see 

what Abdali had been doing in the meantime. After 

crushing Malhar^s rearguard near Sikandrabad in the 

morning of 4th March 1760, and sweeping the Marathas 

out of the upper Doab, he sacked and occupied the city 

of Koil (modern Aligarh) about the 26th and laid siege 

to its fort (then named Ramgarh), which was held 

by Durjan Sal on behalf of Suraj Mai. The Jat Rajah 

had strongly fortified it and stocked it with provisions 

artillery and munitions, wishing to make it a second 

Kumbher for the defence of his trans-Jamuna possessions. 

He naturally expected the place to hold out for many 

months •, but in the meantime AbdalPs roving detachments 

drove out the Jat posts along the eastern side of the 

Jamuna in the Bulandshahar district, so as to bring the 

«entire upper Doab into the bands of his faithful Najib. 

• SPD. xxi. 194, 197. Raj. i. 265. Kashii^j (wrong.) 
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The garrison of Aligarh, being thus cut off from all 

hope of succour from their brethren west of the river 

and remembcTing the massacre at Ballabhgarh after its 

capture by Abdali in March 1757, capitulated within a 

fortnight, and this unexpected reverse greatly damped 

the spirit of Suraj Mai. The Rajah now sent an agent 

to Abdali to beg for terms ; the victor demanded 45 

lakhs. [26tli April. DC, Wendel 79-80. Husain SJmhiy 

52-53. Nur-ud-din, 32. Miskin, 210. Imad, 76-77.] 

If Ahmad Shah had been left to himself, he would 

have immediately gone back to Qandahar, in order to 

avoid the Indian summer which had killed off hundreds 

of his soldiers daily in 1757. His task in India was 

done by the middle of April ; he had annihilated the 

Maratha power in the North, slain Dattaji Sindhia, 

routed Malhar Holkar, captured Delhi, cleared the 

upp er Doab of every enemy of the Ruhelas, and brought 

the Jat Rajah to promise tribute. It only remained for 

him to confirm the work of his sword by inviting Shah 

Alam II to take the throne of Delhi with the loyal Shuja 

as his wazir. This expedition, unlike that of 1757, had 

brought in no rich tribute or booty, and the invader 

was hard pressed for money to feed his soldiers with. 

But Najib Khan begged him hard not to abandon the 

Indian Afghans to the mercy of the vast army that the 

Peshwa was sending to retrieve his prestige in the 

North ; he even contributed ten lakhs of Rupees in cash 

to meet Abdali^s war charges and also undertook to 

18 
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supply his army, if it remained in the Doab, with 

provisions from his estates there and east of the Ganges. 

Thus it happened that as the rainy season approached, 

Abdali made up his mind to go into cantonments near 

Aligarh. Mere grass and bamboo huts were constructed 

for his army and tents were brought from the Delhi 

imperial stores by writing to his agent there, Yaqub Ali 

Khan. {DC. Nur-ud-din, 31-32^lJ Each side now began 

to beat up for allies. 

From this camp Abdali sent Hafiz Rahinat Khan 

to Mathura (16th May) to settle terms with Suraj Mai, 

and if possible with the Marathas also. We have seen 

how this embassy failed through the blind greed of the 

Marathas, and Hafiz returned to the Shah (e. 20 June.) 

16. Hole Shuja-ud-daalah was won 

over to Ahda,Ws side. 

The Nawab of Oudh possessed by far the strongest 

army and best artillery in Northern India. His Gosain 

troops were the most reckless fighters among the Hindua 

and formed a compact brotherly corps of ten thousand 

horse and foot, and he had besides a number of able and 

devoted Shia officers in his service. Each side held 

out to Shuja the bait of making him the wazir of Delhi 

after placing Shah Alam on the imperial throne.* On 

behalf of Abdali, Malika-i-Zamani, the honoured widow 

* i 187, 179, 189, 191, 196, 215, 236. ii. 127, Imad. 
76, 79-81. 179. Husain Skahi, MujmU. 127. 
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of the Emperor Muhammad Shah, visited Shuja, and 

later Jahaii Khan (the Durrani commander-in-chief) and 

Najib Khan (the invader’s plenipotentiary in his Indian 

diplomacy.) The Bbau tried hard, by means of special 

ambassadors (Shyamji Ranganath) and personal letters 

to counteract this move. He assured Shuja that it was 

the duly of both of them to bring about the restoration 

of the Timurid dynasty at Delhi and that the Marathas’ 

sole aim was to administer the empire in concert with 

him in the way best for all. But it was well known that 

Maratha support alone had enabled Imad-ul-mulk to 

murder two Emperors and all but succeed in killing a 

third ; hence, the Bhau’s present anxiety for the glory 

and welfare of the Delhi royalty was hardly convincing. 

He next appealed to Shuja’s mother in the name of the 

old friendship that had existed between the Marathas 

and her husband. But she could not forget that they 

had, ever since his expulsion from the wazirship, 

backed Imad, the mortal enemy of the house of Uudh 

and of the Shia sect in general. 

Shuja’s clear-sighted advisers saw that the victory of 

the Abdali king would in no way injure their master’s 

interests, while a Maratha triumph would be ruinous to 

him. Ahmad Shah, as every one knew, was determined 

not to live in India nor create an Indian empire of his 

own 5 he was sure to go away after his Indian expedi¬ 

tions, leaving Delhi and its government in the hands of 

his Indo-Muslim supporters. But the Marathas were 
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natives of the land, their northern ambition was bound¬ 

less and had been fully unmasked since their Delhi 

expedition of August 1757. They had been openly 

demanding the surrender of Shuja^s most lucrative cities, 

Allahabad and Benares, and he had barely managed to 

evade compliance with this demand up to now, but could 

not hope to jjractise his delaying tactics for ever. Their 

design to annex Bihar as soon as they would be free 

from their entanglement with Abdali, had been publicly 

avowed in 1759, and once in possession Bihar, they 

were sure to seize Shuja^s province of Allahabad, which 

would otherwise have interposed a troublesome alien 

wedge between their territories east and west of it. It 

was therefore Shuja^s true interest to defeat the Maratha 

designs in the North. 

When Najib Khan on his diplomatic mission from 

Abdali reached Qanauj on the Ganges, Shuja came to 

the opposite bank at Mahdiganj. An envoy of such 

exalted rank was entitled to the highest respect and 

attention on personal grounds. Najib waited on Shuja 

and presented Abdali^s letter soliciting an alliance with 

him. In reply the Nawab showed him the Bhau^s letter 

which pointed out the friendship of the Peshwa with 

Shuja^s late father and urged the duty of the two to 

reinstate the Emperor of Delhi by expelling the foreign 

invader from India and giving the imperial Chancellor¬ 

ship to Shuja, as the ex-wazir’s son. Najib, on the other 

hand, pressed the Nawab of Oudh to side with Ahmad 
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Shah in this conflict between Islam and infidelity. 

Shiija was at first loth to commit himself^ and proposed 

to remain neutral. He was a notorious profligate and 

drunkard^ nursed in the lap of unimaginable luxury and 

extravagance from his childhood upwards, and he 

naturally preferred ease and enjoyment at Lucknow to 

the hardships of a campaign. His family feared lest 

Abdali should still be harbouring vindictive feelings 

towards the House of Oudh for Safdar Jang^s victory 

over him at Manupur in 1748, or that the Durrani nobles 

should insult him when he was once in their power. He 

was India-born, and such men are regarded with con¬ 

tempt by the natives of Persia and Afghanistan 

(cilmjet-xa) Above all, he was a Shia, while the Abdali 

was a Sunni champion. Therefore, life in the Abdali 

camp threatened to be intolerable for him. 

These misgivings were answered by Najib, who 

pledged his honour and took the most solemn oaths to 

assure Shuja of the fullest safety and honour if he 

visited Abdali, The ambassador warmed up and 

exclaimed, ^^What have you to do with the nobles in 

Abdali^s camp ? God be my witness that if the Shah 

himself frowns at your Highness, I shall immediately dig 

his two eyes out. If I do not do it, I am not my fathers 

son. There are 1| lakhs of Afghans in India ; consider 

them as your servants. If any other envoy had come 

and you had rejected his message, I should not have 

complained. But as I have come, putting my faith in 
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your grace, listen to my words. Do one of two things 

now: either go to Abdali^s side, or here is ray dagger 

and here my neck; cut it with your own hand. If you 

so desire, I shall give you a writing, sealed with my seal, 

absolving you from the consequences of my murder.^^ 

His persistence and reputation for sincerity overcame 

Shuja^s fears and hesitation, and the Nawab of Oudh at 

last agreed to go if Najib could bring for him a signed 

safe-conduct and the robe of investiture as imperial 

wazir from Abdali. 

The successful ambassador turned back to Koil 

(beginning of June.) Abdali sent the required letter and 

promise, and Shuja after some further wavering and an 

attempt to go towards Bihar and join Shah Alam (who 

had been defeated by the English) finally cast his lot in 

with Abdali. His mother, the imperious daughter of 

Burhan-ul-mulk Sadat Khan, who watched over him 

like a guardian angel, had been most doubtful about his 

safety among the hated Afghans and the wisdom of 

alienating the Marathas. His old officers, true to the 

traditions of Safdar Jang^s time, had spoken in support 

of a Maratha alliance. But all had failed before Najib. 

Escorted by 7,000 picked horsemen and a devoted 

Gosain corps with a good park of artillery, Shuja made 

a start, early in July, for the Abdali camp at Anupshahar. 

Some miles outside the place, he was welcomed in 

advance by Shah Wali Khan the Durrani wazir and then 

conducted to Ahmad Shakes presence (18 July), where 
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lie ^as received with the highest honours and given 

the title of that sovereign's son, Farxand Khan. * 

This was tlic most splendid diplomatic success of 

Najib. The Marathas now had not a single Delhi 

grandee left on their side. 

§ 17. AljflalTs difficulties dtirinji his encampment in 

fJte Doah ; Xajil/s services. 

When the rainy season fully set in (during July), 

Abdali removed from the neighbourhood of Aligarh to 

the high ground on the west bank of the Ganges at Anup- 

^haliar and cantoned there. The swollen river and rain- 

fioaked plains made the movement of troops impossible 

before next October, and Abdali, wishing to lessen the 

pressure on the food and fodder supply of his neighbour¬ 

hood, allowed the Ruhelas to go back to their homes 

beyond the Ganges for two months (August and 

September.) Throughout these two months peace talks 

went on between Shuja and the Bhau, but nothing 

resulted from them, as the Bhau^s head had been turned 

by his capture of Delhi and he refused to agree to any 

reasonable compromise. The intelligence he was 

* Govind Ballal from Tirwa, 10 m. s. of Qanauj, gives (on 

29 Aug.) the following intelligence : The day after Shuja^s arrival 

at Anupshahar Abdali offered to give him investiture as wazir, 

but the former replied. ‘Who is the Emperor ? Whose wazir am 

I going to be? You sit on the imperial throne and I shall serve 

you as wazir. Why are you making me ridiculous by giving me 

the robes of an office without the functions ?’ [Raj. i. 236.] 
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receiving from the Afghan camp during the rainy season 

confirmed his belief that the invading army would be 

starved into surrender or dissolve through internal 

dissension. For, during these two months and a half 

Abdali was really in a difficult and alarming position. 

His army was saved from disaster only by his iron will 

and influence over his troops, Najib’s unfailing loyalty 

and resourcefulness, and the safe strategic position which 

the invaders had chosen in the upper Doab with no 

enemy left near them on the land side, their western 

flank protected by the raging Jamuna and eastern flank 

bordering on the fertile and friendly countries of the 

Ruhelas and Shuja. But he needed money for feeding 

his troops. Famine prices were then raging, and^ 

as a Maratha officer wrote, it cost Rs. 200 to 

maintain a trooper and his horse for a mo!»th. The 

Doab had been ravaged by almost unceasing war and 

rebellion ever since 1756, and large tracts of fertile 

country bad lapsed into the jungle. The provisions for 

the Afghan army had to be bought in distant places like 

the Ambala and Karnal districts and Rohilkhand and 

Oudh, and transported at heavy cost to Anupshahar. 

The few lakhs paid by Najib were soon exhausted, and 

Ahmad Shah had to press the Indian Ruhelas for 

contribution, saying that he had come not to found an 

empire for himself, but to rescue them from the Marathas. 

They pleaded poverty. 

He next turned to Shuja, who was reputed to be the 
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richest prince in Hindustan after the Jat Rajah. Early 

in August he told the Nawab, “You are a grandee, with 

two krorrs’ worth of territory under you. I am hard 

pressed by the increasing arrears of my soldiers^ pay. 

Make some arrangement for it.” The request was a 

veiled threat of extortion, and Shuja in consequence 

had a rupture with Najib who had induced him to come 

within Abdali^s clutches, and the Nawab in his inner 

council repented of having chosen the Afghan side. In 

addition to this want of money and foodstuffs, the 

monsoon months are unusually unhealthy in the Doab. 

In the cantonments at Anupshahar ten thousand of his 

horses camels and mules had perished of disease by the 

midddle of September, and more were dying daily. 

iRaj. i. 247, 24().l 

To aggravate these difficulties, backsliding appeared 

among his Indo-Muslim allies except the one constant 

Najib ; Shuja sulked in his tents repenting of having 

joined Abdali ; the timid Ahmad Bangash and Sadullah 

Ruhela of Rampur, alarmed by the Maratha conquest 

of Delhi, began to intrigue secretly with the Bhau and 

his agent in the middle Doab, Govind Ballal ; some 

Tuiki troops of Abdali (Miskin says the remnant of 

the Sindagh mercenaries) left his camp in disappoint¬ 

ment and offered their services to the Marathas. [Raj. 

i. 236, 237, 244.] But the Bhau could not take 

advantage of this distress of his enemy; he had no clever 

and energetic lieutenant nor any efficient troops in the 
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Doab. The fat old revenue-collector Govind Ballal 

v^ith his rabble retainers could do nothing greater than 

taking potty mud-forts from the zamindars and their 

rustic militia. He could not even lead forays into the 

undefended trans-Ganges country, as the bitter experience 

of his attempted raid on Najibabad and disastrous flight 

in November 1759 (under Dattaji^s orders from Shukartal) 

was still fresh in his memory. 

§ 18. AhflaJi af Bacfltpaf mtd marches to Panipai. 

Abdali, like a veteran general, grimly set his teeth 

and kept his army together, till his chance came towards 

the end of October. By reason of the flooded Jamuna 

he had not been able to raise a finger to save Delhi or 

Kunjpura. And now the massacre of his partisans in 

the latter city roused him to the fury of impotent rage. 

""When the sack of Kunjpura was reported to Ahmad 

Shah, his heart was inflamed to the extreme. Calling 

his Afghan generals together he told them that he could 

not bear it that while he was alive Afghan people should 

be so dishonoured.” [Nur-ud-din, 35^.| He had moved 

to Shahdara, facing Delhi, sometime at the beginning of 

October, only to look helplessly across the Jamuna till 

the river should become fordable again. The fall of 

Kunjpura forced his hands. On the 20th of that month 

he marched northwards and arrived within four kos of 

Baghpat. Here he halted for four days to find out if 

the river could be forded. Some of bis Durranis who 
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drove their horses into the river for discovering a 

fordable passage were swept away by the current and 

drowned. His Indo-Muslim allies, with all their local 

knowledge and influence, failed to provide a guide. So, 

the Shah fasted and prayed to God for two days, 

and on the third a ford was at last found. This 

miraculous reward of his piety roused the enthusiasm 

of the army to the highest pitch. The narrow passage 

across was lined with posts to mark it off from the deep 

water on the two sides, where men and horses would be 

drowned. The vanguard plunged into the river on 

25th October, the day following the full moon, and 

reached the other bank in safety. 

The Shah himself followed (2()th) when half the 

army had crossed over. The liver bank on the other side 

was boggy and had been churned into a sticky mud pool 

by the passage of thousands ; but the numberless Jl/an 

bushes growing near were cut by the willing hands of 

the soldiers,—the grand wazir setting the example, - and 

thrown in to form a dry landing place. Some boats 

were seized on the western bank and these were 

employed in ferrying the camp baggage and heavy 

armament over. Three days were occupied in complet¬ 

ing the crossing for the whole army. Owing to the hurry 

and the crowd, some thousands of men were drowned, but 

the Maratha grand army was at last caught in a trap.* 

* Shah fords Jamuna at Baghpat,—Kashiraj (best.) DC, Nur- 

ud-din, 36-37. Mujmil, 129. Imad 188. Raj. i. 260, 261. 
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On the 27th the Shah began his advance from the 

west bank of the river. At an upper ferry east of 

Sonepat a Maratha patrol, less than a thousand strong, 

mostly second line troops or militiamen,—was posted 

to oppose any Afghan attempt at crossing. They were 

keeping watch in their usual slack and sleepy way, when 

4,000 Durrani horse under Shah Pasand Khan, guided 

by Najib^s men, surprised them by hard riding and cut 

off the entire force. That night the Shah slept in 

Fakhru^s garden, two miles north of Sonepat city* 

|Nur-ud-din, IJ(\\ “On the 28tb, at three quarters of the 

day, the Maratha vanguard jreally advanced patrols] 

were sighted near Sarai Sambhalka. From our side a 

force went to meet them and a battle was fought, with 

two to three thousand casualties in the two armies taken 

together,—but more on the Maratha side and less on the 

Durrani. In the evening the Marathas retreated and 

the Shah^s detachment fell back to their place of 

camping.” [Kashira]]. The Shah then advanced to 

Ganaur (9 miles north of Sonepat and 8 miles south of 

Sambhalka), where he halted for three days (28-30 Oct), 

and on the 31st reached Sambhalka, 12 miles south of 

Panipat. On 1st November he arrived five miles nearer 

to Panipat and established contact with the main enemy 

force holding that town. 



APPENDIX 

I. TJir relaline strejujtJi of thp. two nrmirs at Panipat. 

According- to Kashiraj Pandit, Ahmad Shah took a 

muster of his army one day before the Dasahara, i.e., on 

18th October, 17()0, which showed horse and 38,000 

foot under his banners. He continues, after giving the 

strength of each contingent in detail, “These made altogether 

40,000 horse and 40,000 foot. Out of this total, 30,000 

cavalry and 10,000 infantry (composed of the heroic 

tiger-cubs of Kabul) and two thousand camel-swivels 

belonged to the Shah, and the rest to his Indian allies.” 

This totalling must be considered as a rough one, as it 

does not quite agree with the detailed numbers he himself 

has given before ; r.//., in the details he has missed out the 

10,000 Kabuli infantry whose name occurs also in the 

account of the battle, while the Indo-Muslim auxiliaries 

total 51,000 against the 40,000 which would be left to them 

if in an army of 80,000 the Durranis numbered 40,000. 

Four thousand infantry, each carrying a zamburak, were 

mounted on 2,000 camels ; these and the gunners serving 

Abdali's 70 to 80 pieces of cannon are evidently included 

in the above total of 40,000, though in that age the 

musketeers were placed under the artillery department and 

not counted among the cavalry or infantr5^ 

We may, therefore, take it as approximately correct that 

Abdali’s fighting force was divided into two equal halves of 

about 40,000 men each,—the Durrani portion (including the 

camel corps and unspecified infantry) being composed of 

“30,000 horse and 10^000 foot, and the Indian portion of the 
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same number of men, bufc in the inverse proportion of 

horse to foot, namely 10,000 an<l 80,000 respectively. The 

Indian Ruliela army consisted preponderantly of foot 

musketeers. 

The Bhau held his muster a day later, which showed 

55,000 horse and 15,000 foot (including 9,000 disciplined 

sepoys under Ibrahim Khan Gardi), or a total strength of 

60,000. 

As for the irregulars, on Ahmad Shah’s side, “they were 

four times the number [of the regular Durrani troops 

mentioned above), and their horses and arms were very little 

inferior to those of the regular Durranis. In action it was 

their custom, immediately after the regulars had charged and 

broken the enemy, to fall upon them sword in hand, and 

complete the rout. All the Durranis were men of great 

bodily strength, and their horses of the Turki breed; naturally 

very hardy and rendered still more so by continual exercise.” 

[Kashiraj, 12-13.J On the Maratha side there were 15,000 

Pindharis (Ghorghorl and Hid sawar.) These were employed 

in ransacking the battle-field and searching for the wounded 

of their side, after the fighting was over, and they could not 

therefore be used as reinforcements to turn the tide of an 

obstinately contested battle. In fact, their valour was 

reserved for unarmed peasants, defenceless women, and 

footsore solitary stragglers, and they were more of a danger 

to their own employers (by eating up the available grain and 

grass supply of the neighbourhood) than to their foes. 

The above figures, though correct for 19th October 1760, 

were modified to a great extent in the battle of 14th January 

1761. The wastage of war between these two dates did not 

exactly cancel each Other, because (i) the Maratha casualties 

at Kunjpura, some 800 to 1,000, were not set off in the 
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Durrani army, as the latter did not participate in that fight, 

(ii) in the intervening two and a half months^ skirmishing 

the Bhau’s losses exceede<i those of the Shah by one-half or 

even two-thirds, and (iii) Ahmad Shah received reinforcements 

from home a month before the final battle, and this body 

may be safely estimated at about 8,000 men 2,000 

regulars and 6,000 irregulars or more correctly raw recruits 

anil apprentices.) These last were really soldiers in the 

making, born fighters, only lacking in the discipline an<l 

experience of their regular brethren. 

Hence, the odds against the Marathas at Panipat were 

approximately 60,OO() against 40,000 actually present in the 

field; but behind the Afghan fighting line there were about 

8O,000 second class troops as against 15,000 Pindharis. Above 

all, a famished army on lean half dead country mares met the 

finest cavalry in Asia, mounted on thorough-breds purchased 

straight from their breeding grounds in Khurasan and Trans- 

()xiana, and the most efficient mobile artillery known in that age. 

The scale of deduction from the full strength of the 

muster of 18th October necessary in order to get the numbers 

that actually took part in the battle of Panipat, can be 

correctly inferred from Kashiraj’s own admission ; e. g,^ 

Najib brought to that field only 15,000 men, against the 

26,000 he had passed at the muster ; and Shuja fought at 

the head of 8,000 men (against 4,0tM) counted at the muster.) 

Hence, a reduction by one-fourth from the full muster- 

strength would be well within the truth. 

Kashiraj’s detailed figures for the Bhau’s muster of 19th 

Oct. are all in thousands, never in hundreds; and his 

number for the total troops of the “several smaller bodies” 

whose captains were too humble to deserve mention by 

name, is 10,000* This last is such a large and round figure 
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that it must be discredited as based on conjecture or bazar 

rumour and not on actual counting*; I reduce it to 4,00(^ 

actual. Kashirij assignss to Ibrahim Khan (on 19 Oct.) 

nine thousand foot and two thousand horse ; but in the 

battle he gives Ibrahim only nine battalions of sepoys. A 

French battalion (forming one regiment) in those days had 

a normal strength of one thousand infantry only. |E. M. 

Lloyd’s Rpvipm' of tJiP History of Infayitry^ 119] Hence, his 

actual strength, allowing for the wastage of the Udgir 

campaign, was about 8,000, or 900 men per battalion which 

would correspond exactly to the Marathi report from 

Patdiir (Khare, i. p. B2) that he started with 8 000 sepoys. 

I cannot explain the 2000 horse assigned to the Gardi ; 

no other writer mentions such a force, nor do they 

figure at all in Kishiraj’s detailed story of the battle, I am 

sure that if they readied Panipat, they must have been 

reduced to ^unmounted men’ !^y the privations of the siege. 

No doubt, he had originally contracted for entering the 

Peshwa’s service with 12 battalions, each normally containing 

a thousand men. 

Kashiraj Pandit is the best authority on the campaign 

of Panipat, in which he was present throughout. No other 

author can be set agai nst him in point of authenticity. Siyar^ 

Nur-ud-din and other later writers give grossly exaggerated 

numbers—culminating in the 31/2 lakhs of troops and 

30,000 Gardis assigned to the Bhau by Md. Jafar Sbamlu I 

Shamlu, who was present in the battle under Shah Pasand 

Khan, gives that general 12,(XM) men. But from the fact 

tihat this writer s figures are invariably inflated to at least 

three times the reality, 1 consider it safer to reduce Shah 

Pasand’s force to 5,000,—which was the strength of his 

patrol, according to the more sober Kashiraj. 
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Ahmad Shah’s own troops, brought from Afghanistan 

and Persia and forming the backbone of his army, did not 

undergo any material change in their number during the 

three months intervening between the muster at Shahdara 

and the battle at Panipat, except for the addition of the 

newcomers under Haji Atai Khan (about 8,OOP.) The 

fluctuation was greatest among his Indo-Muslim allies, as it 

is definitely stated by Kashiraj that Najib had 15,000 in the 

field (against 20,000 at the muster) and Shuja 3,000 (against 

4,000.) Accepting this scale of shrinkage and allowing that 

no appreciable portion of the Durrani regular troops was 

kept back to serve as baggage guard in the camp during 

the battle, we can make this fairly approximate calculation of 

the forces on the two sides actually engayed in the battle, 

eounting each line of battle from its left 

Durrani.—[Left wing] Shah Pasand (5000, all horse), 

Najib (15,000, all foot and dismounted cavalry), Shuja (3,000, 

one-third being foot-musketeers). [Centre] Shah Wali Khan 

{19,000 men with 1,000 camel-swivels). [Right wing] Ahmad 

Bangash (1,000 foot), a small gap, Hafiz Rahmat and 

Dundi Khan (14,000, only one-fourth or less being cavalry), 

Amir Beg (Kabuli infantry) and Barkhurdar Khan (Persian 

cavalry), these last two together 3,000 men. Total 00,000, 

Maratha.—[Left wing] Ibrahim Khan Gardi (8,OCX) all 

foot-musketeers), Damaji Gaikwad (2,500 horse), Vittal Shivdev 

(1,500 horse). [Centre] some petty captains (2,000 horse in 

all), Bhau and Vishwas Rao with the Household Troops 

(13,500). [Right wing] Antaji Manakeshwar (1,000 horse), 

Satvoji Jadav (1,500 horse), minor captains (2,000 horse), 

Jaswant Rao Pawar (1,500), Shamsher Bahadur (1,500), 

Jankoji Sindhia (7,000), Malhar Holkar (3,000.) Total 45^000, 

19 
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IL ihe organhatioH and discipline of the Durrani 

and Maratha a7inies contrasted. 

Ahmad Shah Abdali had been trained under the eyes of 

the great Nadir Shah, first as his personal attendant and 

then as his favourite lieutenant. After his master’s death he 

had inherited Nadir’s veteran army and Nadir’s system of 

military discipline. The Turks,—whether belonging to the 

tribes long settled in Persia and called Qiiilhashes (‘Red 

Caps’) or mercenaries from their cradle-land in Central Asia, 

—were not only hardy soldiers and born horsemen, but also 

amenable to training and discipline in a degree unequalled 

by any other Asiatic race of former times and surpassed 

only by the modern Japanese. Under a great cjiptain who 

shared their camp-life and hardships and led tliem personally 

in battle, and whose banners were ever victorious, these 

soldiers were prepared to perform every exertion, bear every 

hardship, and undergo every strictness of control and punish¬ 

ment almost to the extreme verge of human endurance. 

Nadir’s strict control of his troops and their willing 

submission rivalled the condition of Frederick the Great’s 

army. Two examples of it are recorded by Ashub (the 

foster-brother of the Emperor Muhammad Shah) during the 

Persian conqueror’s occupation of Delhi, which contrast 

vividly with the slack chaotic condition of the Indo-Mughal 

army. 

Ahmad Abdali was only a lesser Niidir ; less of an 

original genius, working in a narrower field and achieving 

less brilliant suxess than his master, no doubt, but still the 

only Asiatic of that age who could be at all compared to 

Nadir in capacity and spirit, and certainly no unworthy heir 

to his empire and tradition. The strict enforcement of 

order in camp and battle-field, the rigid punishment of 
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th(^ least disobedience in any subordinate, the control of 

every o^iicer^s movements according to the plan of the 

supreme chief, the proper gradation of officers forming an 

unbroken chain between the generalissimo and the common 

soldier, the regular transmission of his orders by an efficient 

staff* organization, and above all the*, fire control of the 

troops,—which distinguished Ahmad Shah's army were 

unapproached by any other Asiatic force of that age. Above 

all these was the transcendent genius for war and diplomacy 

and the towering personality of the master—who had risen 

like Nadir from nothing and attained to almost the same 

pre-eminence of fortune and invincibility in war. 

The Maratha captains, on the other hand, were to a 

man individualistic in spirit and military tactics. Their 

common soldiers and lower officers alike were refractory and 

hated discipline with the hatred of “lesser breeds beyond 

the law" who extol lawless caprice as liberty and howl 

against the disciplined self-control and organized team-work 

of a true army or school as the marks of a ‘slave mentality’ 

and the destroyer of their elan vital. 

This point will become quite clear when we contrast the 

rival races that met at Panipat in respect of their manner 

of camping, marching and discipline,—leaving out of consi¬ 

deration the relative genius of the two supreme chiefs. 

Marching and Enc amping. 

“The Shah advanced alone amidst the ranks of his 

slaves, riding a horse , .. There were four bodies of slaves,— 

each of 3,000 men,-one division in front, one behind, 

and one on each side. Each division of them wore a hat 

of a different style. It was prohibited for a slave belonging 

to one division to ride with another division; he must 

keep with his own set . . . on pain of such severe beating 
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that he was left half-dead. They rode fast horses of 

Kabuli breed, and guided them, each in his own station, 

with a grave demeanour. They moved at the distance of 

a musket-shot from the Shah^s person, all their faces turned 

towards him. The Shah rode alone in the middle, with 

an open space around him. 

The treasure and the food supplies, the store of clothes, 

etc., were carried in the following manner. On the left flank, 

outside the ranks of the slaves, there were 100 camels loaded 

with bread, baked and then dried, 200 camels loaded with 

grain {mrsaL) This grain was given out daily in allotted 

portions ... On the right flank were 200 camels loaded with 

clothes and vessels. ... Such treasure as there was came 

in the rear of the guard of slaves, which followed the 

Shah ; it was carried on mules and two-humped dromedaries. 

Shah Pasand Khan and Jangbiiz Khan, with the 

qiiwachi-hashl, were told ofi* to the rear-guard and held 

command over its movements. The three thousand slaves, 

who rode in front as advance guard, fully armed and ready, 

bore each a lance whose head was either gilt or silver-plated, 

having a decorated and fringed pennant... It was wondrous 

as a garden in springtime, and a sight worth beholding. 

The camp of the Shah was pitched in two portions. The 

first was the male and the other the female quarters. 

Between the two was left an open space of about the width 

of 2 or 3 arrows’ flight. [The part of the male camp| where 

the Shah sat was styled Khargahy and where the office 

scribes were placed wa*^ called Darikkanah, In the screens 

of the Khargah^ facing the Darikhanah there was one large 

entrance of wood. ... At each of the two wings of this 

entrance stood a large standard in a gold-embroidered scarlet 

cover. From the top of each standard hung a 
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bow upside down ... (to which signals for a halt or a 

march on the next day were attached.)^' 

[From the diary of Samin in Abdali’s camp near 

Ballabhgarh in March 1757. Indian Antlqmrif, 1907, pp. 55-58.] 

Among the Maratims : “Orders for marching are signified 

by rhlts (notes) to the chieftains and promulgated by a 

cryer to the army the preceding night. And about four 

the ensuing morning the signal for moving is given by the 

great nauhat or drum, on the second beating of which the 

Biniwala (Quarter-master General) sets out with the Peshwa’s 

flag, escorted by his own corps. ... With him proceed parties 

from all the different chieftains with their respective flags, 

followers, bazar, infantry, artillery, etc. (bahir and hungah,) 

These all proceed promiscuously in vast multitudes and 

without the smallest order till they see the Peshwa’s Dal 

flag, which is erected in a situation where the convenience 

of water is the principal consideration ... By this flag the 

erection of all the others of the army,—and every chief 

has one,—is regulated for the camp. Except in the line of 

the bazar which generally forms a fine street in front of 

the chief^s tent, there is not the smallest internal regularity 

in the pitching of a Maratha camp ; yet with respect to 

Headquarters all the chiefs have their relative stations to 

the right and left, from which a deviation is by no means 

allowable. ,.. But, as no distances are marked out, and 

the numbers of no chief are definitely known, the whole 

exhibits an appearance of utter confusion. 

The only part of the camp that carries the appearance 

of regularity is the Bazar, which generally forms a very 

long and broad street to the tent of the chief, whereas the 

rest of the camp is so straggled an^l destitute of all order 

that it is a most difficult thing to get through the crowds 
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of camels bullocks horses etc. to the interior of the camp, which 

subjects them to the utmost confusion in case of an alarm..,. 

As soon as the camp is pitched the baggap^e tattoos 

(ponies), attached in great quantities to the Pagas, gallop 

off with wonderful activity in quest of forage,•••nor are the 

camels far behindhand with them. .. . These foraging 

parties are more destructive to a country than locusts. Nor 

are territories of friend or foe exempt from their depreda¬ 

tions. ... T suppose there was scarce a piece of wood or 

a blade of grass or hay left in the villages round the 

Peshwa’s camp, after a short timers continuance, for the 

space of 12 miles.,. . Shopkeepers, handicrafts and every 

species of profession carry on their callings |in (he amps 

of the Marathas] as much at their ease as in their cities. .. 

The safety of the Maratha camps is to be attributed to the 

vast numbers of their cavalry hovering round in every 

direction, rather than to any of the precautionary measures 

of trenches, posts, guards, etc. systematically used in our 

[i.e., English] armies. 

I am, from a general observation of the manners of the 

people and the extreme looseness of particular discipline 

or general arrangement amongst them, strongly of opinion 

that they would afford a very easy conquest to any army 

of a more vigorous composition that could bring a sufficient 

number of cavalry to prevent their making a sport of war 

and reta-eating in safety.” (Sir C. W. Malet’s Memoranda 

on the Maratha Army, written from the Maratha camp at 

Khardla, March, 1795. India Office MS. records.] 

]^UTPMENT AND DISCIPLINE. 
The organization of the Durrani king’s own troops was 

as regular as that of the European-trained sepoy regiments 

of India. Each dasta (cavalry regiment) of Abdali’s army 

may therefore be taken as exactly 1,900 or 1,200 strong. 
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On the other hand, in every Maratha f^enerars contingent 

the actual number of soldiers fell very far below the normal 

round number for which his cash salary (nafjd) or land- 

assignment (mranjam) was calculated. Sir .0. W. Malet 

noticed in the Peshwa’s army in 1795;— 

"^The sums which the commanders receive for the pay¬ 

ment of their troops, generally run to a certain rate per man 

and a fixed sum for the commander; and as in the manage¬ 

ment of these corps the payment by Government is generally 

very tardy, the commanders have recourse to every trick by 

which they can possibly elude the checks [of Government] ; 

.. .by which means it happens,—more particularly in the 

Peshwa’s service,—that a corps of 100 men has seldom more 

than 50 effectives.. .Not only is half the grass and forage, 

allowed to the horses of the Paga (cavalry mounted on 

Government horses) embezzled, but horses are changed, 

rei)orted dead, and every species of the most flagitious 

peculation practised with impunity arising from the general ^ 

interest and participation therein.” 

“The arms of the Maratha cavalry |in 1795] are swords,/ 

spears 'bhala), mat(?hlocks and a few bows and arrows.* 

The sword is universal and indispensable; the matchlock 

frequent and almost universal in the Pagas [this was not 

the case in 17611 and seems to be daily gaining ground of 

the long spear,—long a favourite weapon of the Marathas; 

but many of the silahdars, gekwidias, and those who claim 

or affect superiority of birth or rank seldom encumber 

themselves with anything but a sword or two. It must,i^ 

however, be understood that the arms, accoutrements and; 

clothing of the horseman being his own property, there is 

not the smallest uniformity, every individual being equipped; 

as his taste or circumstances suggest. 
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Every horseman throughout a Maratha army looks upon 

himself as company for his chieftain and always sits down 

with him.” 

‘*So long as the Shahan-shah was on his horse all these 

fhis high officers] stood on foot around him- -When he sat 

down in his tent, they too went in and used to make 

their speeches standing. Only Hafiz Rahmat Khan was 

often ordered to sit down at the time of dawn, which 

was not the time of holding Court, on the ground of his 

having memorized the ()uran,^* jNur-ud-din, 40/a| 

Discipline. 

Balaji Vishwanath took Malhar Holkar with him to 

Delhi as a Pindhara, with 20 to 25 retainers. The 

Peshwa agreed in return for ransom from a certain village 

there not to damage its green crops. But Malhar went with 

his retainers, cut the crop and gave it to his horses to eat. 

So Balaji’s son Baji Rao himself went, stick in hand, to 

punish them. On seeing in MalhaPs camp a larfjir feeding 

his horse with the green crop, he struck him with the stick. 

Then Malhar from the door of his small square tent abused 

Baji Rao and flung a clod of earth at him. . .Some time 

later during their return march, one day Baji Rio was 

sitting in the shade of a bush on the bank of a 7iala in 

the plain of Sipri-Koiaras, with an escort of only 10 to 20 

men, bathing and getting ready for his meal. Malhar 

Holkar arrived there with 500 troopers by devious paths, 

levelled his spear at the heart of Baji Rao and cried out, 

'That day I had hit you with a clod; if I now transfix 

you with my bh^a, who can save you ?” But the Rao.. ♦ rose 

up, and walking up to the feet of [Malhar^s] horse, greatly 

flattered him ! [Holkaranchi Kaifiyat, 2-4. | 

Bilkrishna Diksbit writes on 15 Feb. 1751"On my 
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pilgrima^re to Gaya I alighted at Daudnagar | a town in 

South Bihar. I There some H or 4 hundred horsemen of 

Nilopant Vaishampayan came up and plundered the market 

of Daudnagar, taking away four lakhs worth of goods. 

They also laid hands on me, and I lost clothing utensils 

and a gold chain weighing 12 tolas. They had no sardar 

over them ; only a man named Manaji Bhagwat.’' [Raj. iii. 383.] 

On 31 May 1734, when Malhar Holkar arrived opposite 

Delhi, as the ally of Imad-ul-niulk (imperial Paymaster- 

General, a body of his troops forded the Jamuna and 

plundered the katra of Nizam-ud-din Auliya’s tomb and 

some other places and also burnt the Khurma mart. Imad, 

on hearing of it, went to Malhar and cried out,^ 

‘‘What is this ? Why are your soldiers plundering the city 

Malhar replied, “They are soldiers. They always do it.'^ 

ITariM-i-J/im/d Skalu\ 133.| 

“As the common soldiers among the Dunanis are 

stubborn and disobedient, notwithstanding the Shah’s 

proclamation, they committed some irregularities in Shuja- 

ud-daulah’s camp (17G0.) The Shah, on hearing of this, 

had 200 of them seized, and having had their noses bored 

through with arrows, and strings passed through the holes, 

they were led in this condition, like camels, to Shuja»»»to be put 

to death or pardoned, as he should think proper. ” [Kashiraj, 8.| 

“29 January, llfjl. The Persian troops who had gone 

out for foraging, invaded many of the lanes [of Delhi], broke 

the doors of houses and plundered the property within. The 

shops of the bazars remained closed in consequence of this 

oppression... . This day the Shah slit the noses of two or 

three of the Persian soldiers, cut their stomachs open, thrust 

arrows into their nostrils, and in this manner paraded them 

in disgrace. This brought safety to Delhi.^^ DC. 



CHAPTER XXr 

Thk Battle of Panipat, 1761 

§ 1. Bhaa and Abdali enirench ai Panipaf : 

fheir first intentions and potinj. 

The ten months of waiting and uncertainty were 

over. At last the two rivals for dominion over 

Hindustan had come to grips exactly in that arena where 

such contests had been fought out age after age. 

Arrived within reach of his enemy at Panipat, Ahmad 

Shah Abdali, like a true master of war, held his troops 

strictly in hand, in a compact body under his eyes, 

never letting them extend beyond support. At first he 

followed a cautious watching policy in order to discover 

his enemy^s strength and plan of war, before showing 

his own hand. For a week he silently suffered his 

stray cattle and horses* on the outskirts of his army to 

be carried off by the Maratha foragers and their 

Pindhari underlings, and strictly kept his troops back 

from sallying out for their recovery. 

• The Pindharis brought away two elephants from the 

Afghan camp on 4th Nov. and two more soon afterwards. [Raj. i. 

265. SPD, xxi. 197.] The capture of an elephant is considered by 

Indian soldiers as the highest glory like the capture of an 

enemy gun by European armies. 
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This inactivity was mistaken by the Marathas as a 

proof of his terror and timidity, and there was 

exultation in the Deccani headquarters, which was 

heightened by the scarcity of provisions in the Afghan 

camp. The Bhau wrote on 1st November, ^^Grain 

sells at 2 to 2^2 seers in his camp. I have every 

confidence of being able to swallow him up soon.^^ Four 

days later Krishna Joshi wrote from Pariipat, ^^The 

Yavan is greatly frightened, and dare not come on. 

Our troops are every day slaying 50 to 100 of his men 

and carrying off their camels and horses. His food 

supplies have been stopped, so that flour sells at three 

seers, gram at 4 seers, and (jhee at 1/2 seer to the Rupee, 

while in our camp the rates are wheat 16, gram 12, and 

yhee 2^h seers. All our troops are confident that in four 

to eight days, Abdali Najib and Shuja would be 

destroyed. Abdali is called ^the King of kings,^. . . but 

having come within four miles of us, he has sat down 

for eight days and dare not make a demonstration of 

his valour. Hence, our army is in high spirit. Abdali's 

route to his home is blocked ; he cannot fight with hope 

of success, he cannot sit down idly as he has not the 

necessary food supply. He is bewildered.'^ [Raj. i. 

261, 264, 265.1 

Everything, therefore, seemed to point out that the 

Afghan invader would be glad to beat a hurried retreat 

to his home without venturing to attack the Marathas, 

or, if he chose to halt there, the longer he delayed the 
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more would his Indian allies be scattered by privations, 

and his troops and horses reduced by famine, so that a 

crushing victor)^' over him would be a mere walk over 

for the Marathas. The Bhau^s plan was accordingly 

formed ; on 4th November he decided to entrench his 

position and secure it by artillery against assault. At 

the same time he wrote to Govind Ballal to harry the 

upper Doab, now entirely denuded of Durrani and Indo- 

Afghan troops, to cut off the grain convoys that Najib^s 

agents were sending from that region to his camp in the 

desolate Panipat district, to capture Najib’s posts in the 

Mirat division, and even to threaten to cross the Ganges 

and sack the homes of the Euhelas and Shuja^s northern 

districts. Such hostile action on the east of the Jamuna 

would place Abdali between two fires, intensify the 

suflFerings of his troops and impel all his Indian allies 

to hurry back from his banners to the defence of their 

Doab and trans-Ganges homes. The Bhau^s strategy 

was eminently sound in theory ^ it only needed able 

instruments to execute it and an adequate supply of 

food and munitions to outlast his opponents. The 

question, in its essence, was simply which of the two 

would starve the other out first. In both of these 

respects the Bhau’s calculations went wrong, and the 

inevitable result was disaster. 

The first brush between the two armies had occurred 

on 1 November, and then followed daily skirmishes 

between their patrols or foraging parties and exchange 
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of distant cannonade,—which latter was calculated 

rather to keep the enemy back through fear than to 

inflict loss. On 5th November the Bhau began to 

fortify his position. Pitching his tents over a plain 

some six miles in length from west to east and extending 

for about two miles in depth southwards of Panipat, he 

included that city within his defensive lines. Around 

his camp he dug a trench sixty feet wide and twelve 

deep, with a high earthen rampart on which he 

mounted his cannon. His field artillery of some two 

hundred pieces was judiciously distributed so as to 

make all the four sides easily defensible. The country¬ 

side for miles around Panipat was denuded of its trees 

in order to supply timber for propping up the sides 

of the ditch and supporting the raised gun platforms. 

The Shah, too, formed a permanent camp facing the 

Marathas, about three miles to their south, and fortified 

his position with trenches and a strong abattis of felled 

trees. [ Kashira]. J 

§ 2. Early skirmishes and minor battles 

near Panipat^ November 1760^ 

The skirmishing on the debatable land between the 

two camps went on for two months and was varied by 

three conflicts on a larger scale though not amounting to 

pitched battles. On 19th November, the Gardi infantry 

led by Fath Khan (the brother of Ibrahim) made a night 

. attack on the Shah^s camp, dragging some pieces of 
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artillery with themselves. They easily entered by 

way of the Indo-Afghan trenches, but were defeated and 

expelled at the end of the fight, abandoning about 30 of 

their standards and some guns. Husain Shahi^ 

fi6.[ 
Three days later, while the ritual-loving Hindus 

were disorganized by the lunar eclipse due that night, 

the Durrani wazir in the course of his daily patrol came 

to a large well {baoli)^^ evidently south-west of Panipat, 

immediately in front of the Maratha right wing. It 

was near sunset, and no engagement being expected 

that day he had kept only a small escort with him. 

While he was inspecting the well, the troops of 

Sindhia from their trenches opposite recognized him as 

a chief, and taking advantage of his unguarded condition, 

* CkaJui-urehindari (Turki for hUoli), Iniad-us-saM, 190. It 

seems to refer to (raddiwhra of the map, half a mile south-west 

of the shrine of Ghaus Ali Khan, south of Panipat. The correct 

date of this battle is given in two contemporary Marathi letters 

[Raj. vk 406 and i. 212n,] Kashiraj gives 22 Rabi-us-sani 

[—1 Dec.] wrongly for the 12th (or 13th) of that llijeri month. 

Karnal Dist. Oa%. p. 32,—“The Maratha line of entrenchments 

can still be traced on the plain between Risalu and Panipat. The 

Durranis encamped close in front of them, on the plains north of 

Risalu and Ujaon,’’ The latter statement cannot be true, because 

the contemporary records, both Marathi and Persian, say that the 

Shah encamped three miles south of the Maratha trenches. This 

would place his front south of the Biwah and Dhadaula villages, 
four miles south of the southern boundary of Panipat city,—or even 

further to the south, /.c., along the Dimana—Pasina Khurd line. 
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made a sortie ia full force and attacked him. 

A desperate battle joined amidst deafening shouts and 

a dense cloud of dust which hid friend from foe. Tlie 

wazir held his ground against such tremendous odds^ 

though he began to lose men very fast. After a 

time reinforcements came up from the rear and rescued 

him, his assailants chasing him up to a gunshot of the 

Afghan trenches and retreating with the setting of the 

sun. The wazir's casualties wore about ()00, and that 

of the Marathas about half the number. The Marathas 

captured over a hundred of his horses and boasted that 

but for nightfall they would have crushed him. * 

' There was a pause for the next fortnight. A Maratha 

letter, written on 27 th November asserts, ^^Up to now 

our foragers and troops have captured 1000—1200 

horses, 300—400 camels and four elephants from the 

enemy.^^ The Afghan historian, on the other hand, 

claims superior advantages, "In every foray {chapmnral) 

two to three thousands of the Marathas were slain, but 

few of the Abdalis.^’ \SPI), xxi. 197. llnsain SJtahi, H3.) 

But whatever may have been the relative losses on 

the two sides, these skirmishes could produce no military 

decision, 

• I have accepted Nana Fadnis^s figures here. SPD, xxi. 197 

gives about 950 and 160 for the two sides. Kashira] says, ^‘Three 

to.four thousand men were killed on the two sides taken together, 

in this action which lasted for 3 or 4 ghark” (exaggerated.) 

Husain Shahi, 61-62, does not refer to this battle, but to an 

earlier brush. 
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S 3. Ruhelas penetrate Maraiha trenches : fall of 

Balairant Jiao MehendelCy 7 December 176(b 

The first regular battle was precipitated on 7th 

December by a sudden outburst of Kuhela daring 

unauthorized by Ahmad Shah and without any concerted 

plan. That day, the Marathas, as was their wont, had 

dragged some of their guns to a position in the plain a 

rocket^s flight in front of their trenches and fired them 

at the Afghans, who replied with some distant and 

equally fruitless shots. About an hour and a half 

before sunset, when the Marathas had just limbered 

up their guns and set out on return to camp, 

Najib^s Ruhelas, harangued by his brother Sultan 

Khan, sallied out in a body of 1,000 horse and 

i5,000 foot and fell upon the retiring Marathas. The 

sharp and repeated fire of the Euhela infantry— 

who were famous for their marksmanship, routed the 

xjavalry guard of the guns, armed with sword and spear. 

The assailants reached the very edge of the Maratha 

trenches on the heels of the fugitives. But the alarm 

had spread to the entire army of the Bhau, and there 

was a rush from all sides to the defence of the threatened 

sector (the. centre of the southern face.) The handful of 

Ruhela cavalry soon fled away before the thousands of 

Maratha light horse ; but their foot-soldiers, driving away 

the Maratha supports by their deadly musket-fire and 

profiting by the intense darkness of that night of lunar 

conjunction, penetrated inside the trenches. A party 
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of the victors climbed upon the deserted Maratha 

guns and beat their small drums in wild exultation. 

The thrust readied almost up to the market-s<juare of 

the Maratha camp. But now the Oiirdi musketceis 

were turned upon them under the personal lead of 

Ibrahim Khan and Balawant Rao Mdhenddlo ; over 

three thousand of the Ruhela infantry fell in the field, 

ajid the remnant retreated to their own lines, mostly 

wounded but still beating their drums and dancing 

wildly in scorn of the foe ! The Maratha army was 

saved, but at a heavy price, for Mdhdnddid, the sole 

lieutenant of the Bhau, fell down from his horse with a 

bullet in his chest while trying to stem the flight of his 

men by galloping up to the exposed front line during 

the first Afghan onrush. The Rubelas crowded upon 

the fallen general ; one slashed at his face ; another 

began to sever his head in order to carry it away in 

triumph. But half a dozen Maratha horsemen galloped 

up to the spot and rescued their chiefs body from 

mutilation, though with the neck half cut through. The 

engagement ceased about three hours after nightfall. 

The Maratha casualties in slain and wounded were under 

one thousand, but the loss of M<$h^nd^l() was irreparable. 

■^We fought well, but owing to Balawanfs fall the 

enemy became triumphant.^^ [Nana Fadnis in Raj. i. 

272 

The battle of 7th December was the turning-point in 

the Panipat campaign. The Bhau lost his supreme 

20 
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counsellor and right-hand man ; there was none left to 

whom he could entrust any responsible work as his 

dependable deputy where he could not be personally 

present. All the rest of his officers were small men, at 

best good clerks and account-keepers, but unworthy of 

command, incapable of taking the initiative, and unable 

to inspire contidence in a crisis. From that night of 

wild confusion terror and carnage,* everything went 

against the lihau, slowly but with increasing and 

resistless pressure. 

§ 4. Ditrrani earalry patrols ilominaU fhs enrirons 

of Maratha mmp and mt off comaianicaiions 

and food supply. 

First, the enemy established undisputed supremacy 

in the open. Hitherto the light foray tactics of the 

^ Nana Fadnis says that it was only nij^htfall that saved 

the entire Maratha army from destruction. Indeed, if Abdali had 

driven home this individual thrust of the Ruhelas with his own 

troops, or even made a diversion on another wing of the Maratha 

army, the trenches would have been completely carried and the 

14th of January anticipated by a month and a week. But the 

Kuhela attack was a spontaneous and unauthorized movement 

and begun with too little daylight left to call up distant 

supports. Thus the valour and heavy sacrifice of Najib’s troops 

were thrown away through their lack of disciplined obedience to 
the supreme command. An army cannot win unless all parts of 
it work in concert like an organized team. 

Ruhela night-attack.—Kashiraj 18, Husain 66, Nur-ud-din 
42i—43a, Mux. 188, DC., Siyar. iii. 68, Nana P\’s Auto, Raj. i. 
272w. 
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Marathas had remained unchecked and done great 

damage to the Afghans by cutting oif their stragglers, 

grazing cattle and horses, and grain supplies. But now 

the Shah arranged for the strictest watch not only on 

his own camp, but also around that of the enemy. 

Every night a body of 5,000 Durrani horse advanced 

as near as they could in safety towards the enemy's 

camp, and there they remained all the night, keeping 

watch against surprise. Two other bodies of his horse 

made half circles round the Maratha encampment, 

one to the right and the other to the left. These 

niglit-patrols, each at least 5,000 strong, mounted on 

powerful Turki horses and commanded by practised 

cavalry leaders like Shah Pasand Khan and Jahan 

Khan, cut off every provision convoy that attempted to 

steal into the Bhau’s camp and every party of 

camp-followers that issued from Panipat under cover of 

the darkness to gather firewood and fodder in the 

neighbouring woods. The southward road to Delhi 

was the first to be closed by reason of the Afghan army 

sitting astride it. A detour through the jungles 

south-west of Panipat and north-west of Delhi was 

rendered all but impossible by the hostile Jat villagers 

and still more vindictive Baluch landlords occupying 

that tract. In the rear of the Bhau^s position, Kunjpura 

was recovered by Dilir Khan (a son of Inayet Khan 

Ruhela) from its small isolated Maratha garrison, and 

the grain collected there for despatch to Panipat was 
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seized by him. Only from the north-west did provisions 

reach the Bhau once or twice from the dominions 

of Sla Singh Jat of Patiala ; but these had to be paid 

for in hard cash by the Bhau, as the Marathas had no 

vassal or revenue collector of their own in that region. 

This loss of communication with his base quickly 

impaired the Bhau^s military strength in addition to 

reducing his men and horses by starvation. The 

profuse firing, both in the actual fight and in the 

protective random cannonade, soon exhausted his 

munition stock, and as early as 15th November he was in 

urgent need of manufacturing 400 maunds of powder 

and 100 maunds of shot, and wrote to Govind Ballal 

for every ounce of ready-made munition he could send 

immediately. These were to have come via Delhi, 

but that path was shortly afterwards closed. 

[Raj. i. 268. 5P7>. xxix. 27, camels for Marwar.j 

§ 5. 8aA condition of Panipat city wider 

Maratlm occMpation, 

Moreover, the stoppage of treasure supply from his 

distant agents soon turned him bankrupt at a time 

when every seer of grain, every bundle of grass, and 

every service whether of bringing in intelligence or 

carrying a despatch outside had to be paid tenfold its 

normal price and paid in cash, if it was to be at all 

secured in that beleaguered city. And that city was 

ptterly unfriendly to him. Panipat being the seat of 
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many famous Muslim saints^ tombs^ the population 

was predominantly Muhammadan,* and most of these 

residents claiming descent from the holy men or their 

servitors and in consequence living on rent-free land 

grants from the Mughal Government, resented the 

Maratha intrusion more bitterly than the ordinary 

peasants and labourers of their faith elsewhere. The 

Bhau^s military necessities had justly deepened their 

antipathy. As a noble of the city, Shakir Khan (the 

son of Nawab Lutfullah Khan Sadiq Ansari), who was 

present there during the siege, writes about the 

sufferings of the local population : 

^^The Marathas felled all the timber and fruit trees 

of the gardens round Panipat. Our seven gardens, 

<‘ach two to three hundred highas in area, full of fruit 

trees and flower plants, were thus destroyed. They 

employed the timber in supporting the walls of the 

ditch and the raised gun platforms. For want of fuel, 

they consumed the planks beams and doors of the 

houses, ruining the roofs and walls. Marble slabs from 

the tombs of holy men were burnt in kilns and turned 
into lime for their pm. Our city houses were 

demolished by cannon balls and we were forced to 

exile ourselves from home. Heaps of stone and brick 

In 1881 there were 17,000 Muslims out of a population of 

25XK)0, and all its substantial families (except one) were of that 
creed. Denzil Ibbetson gives the Panipat Muslim gentry no 

very flattering character. Kama I Dist. Ga?i, 257-259. 
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were formed at diflFercnt places. After the arrival of 

the accursed do^s, the higher people took refuge in the 

fort, the seat of the 1 Mughal] governor, which was no 

larger than a saraiy with only one lower and one upper 

rooms. Our hardship in eating, sleeping and evacuating 

in such a narrow space can be iraagined.^^ (P. 102.) 

§ 6. Gorind BaJIal Bundelc^s raid, into the 

upper Doah and death, 17 December, 

After the 7th of December the sole star of ho])e 

visible to the confined Maratha army was Govind Ballal, 

who had been commanded by the Bhau to ravage 

Najib^s estates in the Mirat and Bulandshahar districts 

and send convoys of grain and treasure to Panipat 

via Kunjpura. And within ten days of that date 

even this star set. Leaving his headquarters at Etawa, 

with less than 10,000 men, mostly rustic levies and 

second-rate Maratha light horse, Govind moved north¬ 

wards to the upper Doab, to carry out his task, which 

if successfully accomplished would have counteracted 

the closing of the Delhi route by Abdali, Govind was 

an old man of over sixty ; his life had been spent in 

revenue collection varied by petty fights with refractory 

landlords and attacks on their small mud-forts. He 

was now too stout to ride on horseback with ease or 

speed, and in such broken health as to be unable to 

bear the strain and rough life of light forays. He 

fondly imagined that the entire Doab was secure fro n 
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his enemies, as all the Durrani and Rnhela soldiers 

were entangled at l^anipat, 200 miles away ; and so he 

repeated Malhar Holkar^s mistake of 4th March 1760 

by neglecting to keep a sharp look out. His advance 

to Sbahdara, opposite Delhi, was unopposed ; all the 

agents of Najib were driven away from the way, and 

half a dozen villages in the Sikandrabad region were 

sacked by the raiders. The Maratha force lay dispersed 

in fancied security from Shahdara by way of Ghaziabad 

to Jalalabad (10 miles north-east of the latter city.) 

Here doom overtook them like a bolt of thunder from 

a cloudless sky, in the form of a body of 5,000 newly 

arrived Durrani horse, led by Atai Khan and 

Karimdad Khan and guided by Najib^s captain Karim 

Khan and some spies of that Ruhela chieftain, in the 

morning of 17th December.* 

The news of Govind BallaFs advance up the Doab 

had spread consternation among the Iiido-Afghan 

allies of Ahmad Shah for the safety of their defenceless 

homes. At their entreaty the Shah had detached the 

above force, to make a rapid march with their fresh 

horses and cut Govind Ballirs division off. The two 

generals crossed the Jamuna at Baghpat and after 

covering 160 miles in one night and day, reached 

• Fall of Govind Ballah—Kashiraj 15-1C, Nur-ud-din 455- 
465, DC (date), Ihisain Shahi 66-65, Siyar iii, 68, Mm, 189. 

Raj. i. 264 (Bhgu’s order to G. B.), 272 (Bhau’s report of 

disaster), 272w, iii. 511 (details from Benares.) 
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Shahdara about 4 o^clock in the evening of 16tb 

December^ and at once annihilated the Maratha 

outpost there (under Naro Shankar^s deputy.) Early 

next morning they destroyed the second Maratha 

corps at Ghaziiibad, and followed this victory up 

by immediately pushing on ten miles northwards to 

Jalalabad and surpiising Govind Ballal, ^^who was 

totally off his guard.” That general had alighted 

at this village, which had been sacked by his troops a 

day or two earlier and now lay utterly deserted by it& 

inhabitants. He was engaged in his ceremonial bath 

and preparations for personal cooking, when the Afghan 

cavalry burst upon him in overwhelming force. After 

a short feeble resistance the Maratbas, hopelessly out¬ 

numbered and outridden, took to flight, Their half- 

naked general fell down from his horse, with a bullet 

wound (according to Balkrishna Dikshit^s letter fronv 

Benares), and was beheaded before his rank could be 

known. When it was learnt, the head was taken to 

Abdali by the returning victors, exposed in the market¬ 

place of the Durrani camp, and finally sent to the 

Bhau, as a triumphant proof of the downfall of his plan^ 

On the sandy plain outside Jalalabad, Govind BalJal 

Bund^l^ at last found that peace which had been denied 

to him in life. No more for him the jealous accusations 

of Antaji Manakeshwar, the backbiting of Bapuji 

Hingan^, the confiscation of his estates by the Peshwa, 

the persecution of his caste-brethren by the Puna 
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Brahmans, and the last eight months’ constant nagging 

censure and prodding into activity by Sadashiv Rao 

Bhau. Even the blackening of his memory by the 

Chitpavan partisan V. K. Rajwad(^ was to come a 

century and a half later. His son Balaji escaped from 

the carnage with a handful of men of the family 

contingent. P]verything in the two Maratha camps 

including the vast stores of provisions which this force 

was convoying for the Bhau, was carried off by the 

Afghans. ^'After this action, the Durrani army was 

constantly supplied with provisions.” 

S 7. Maratha raid into Oadh fails 

disastrous It/, January, 17 Hh 

The news of this disaster reached the Bhau about 

21st December and lilled him with consternation. At 

the same time, a second plan of raid and diversion that 

he had ordered further south, in the lower Doab, also 

miscarried. Simultaneously with Govind Ballal’s march 

from Etawa into the upper Doab, Gopal Ganesh Barv^ 

(of Fathpur-Haswa) and Krishnanand (of Karra) had 

sot out with their small contingents to raid Oudh 

territory. Crossing the Ganges at Dalmau and Manik- 

pur respectively, early in December, they sacked two 

villages, Phulpura and Nawabganj. But the Oudh 

troops soon came up and attacked the raiders. As the 

battle began, Balbhadra (the Rajah of Tiloi) and other 

rebel ;5amindars'-~who were the sole hope of BarviS, 
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took to flight. The small Maratha force, unable to 

contend alone, broke and scattered each as he found a 

path open. Barve himself escaped with only half a 

dozen followers by way of Vindhya-basini to Karra 
Jahanabad.* 

§ 8. Treamre sent to the Bhan mt off near Panipaf 

a Jannnrjf : despair and terror in Maraiha mm])- 

Before advancing to the fatal field of Jalalabad, 

Govind Ballal had at last performed one of the tasks 

so persistently laid on him by the Bhau. He had safely 

transmitted to Naro Shankar at Delhi Rs. 4,20,000 of 

collected revenue, (in addition to the two lakhs paid to 

the Bhau in August.) The Bhan had sent a party of 

horse under Krishna Rao Ballal of Manaji Paygud^^'^s 

contingent, to fetch this treasure to his camp. But 

like a wise man, Naro Shankar did not risk it all in 

one consignment. On 21st December he remitted 

Rs. 1,10,000 with Krishna Rao, and this amount seems 

to have reached the Bhau^s camp in safety. But when, 

on 1st January 1761, a second instalment of one and 

a half lakhs was despatched in charge of 300 troopers 

under Parashar Dadaji, each man carrying Rs. 500 tied 

round his waist, the situation had already become most 

♦ Oudh GaxeMeer, ii. 479-480. Raj. iii. 511. SiPD. ii. 1.84. The 

Oaxetter says that this rout took place after the news of the 

disaster at Panipat had reached the invaders At all events, this 

raid emn fomented rebellion in Oudh did not affect the issue at 

Panipat. 
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dangerous for the Marathas in consequence of the 

annihilation of Govind Ballads force in the Doab and 

the strict investment of the Bhaii within his trenches 

at Panipat. Six of these troopers came back at the 

end of the first day, their horses or their hearts having 

failed, and returned the money. The rest pushed on, 

travelling by night for safety through the wilderness 

west of the imperial highway, but at the very end of 

their journey, in the dim misty small hours of the 

morning of 6th January, they missed their way, entered 

the left wing of the Abdali camp, mistaking it for their 

own, and asked in Marathi what generaFs (|uarter it 

was. Their speech at once betrayed them, and the 

whole body of 293 men with their captain was cut off 

by the Durranis, only one man escaping to carry the 

tale of disaster to Delhi. |Raj. i. 281, Husam Shahi 

65, Nur-ud-din 41/v, Kashi. 16.] 

The horizon now totally darkened round the Bhau" 

and his pent up array. Their food supply was exhausted, 

their horses and gun-cattle were lean with fasting and 

dying by the hundred, and no relief was visible as far 

as the human eye could gaze into the future. At first 

a few grain convoys had come from the Patiala district 

in the north-west through the favour of Ala Singh ; 

but a punitive expedition by a Durrani detachment 

effectually cowed that Bajah into neutrality. Even after 

that, the offer of large rewards had induced some 

Banjaras to smuggle grain into Panipat by obscure 
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jungly tracks at night. Bat the vigilance of the 

Durrani night-patrols and the wide sweep of their 

powerful chargers closed that path. Even the uiitenanted 

jungle stretching for miles and miles west and south¬ 

west of Panipat city became inaccessible to the 

beleaguered army. ^^Orie day, near the end of the night, 

when 20,000 or rather more of their camp-followers had 

gone out of the trenches to g^her grass and wood in a 

jungle of Dhak trees, they were overtaken by a body 

of 5,000 horse under Shah Pasand Khan, . . . who 

surrounded them and put the whole to the sword. On 

account of its being night, no one came to their 

assistance from the Maratha camp. On the scene of 

slaughter the dead bodies were piled up into a perfect 

mountain. . . , The grief and terror which this event 

struck into the Marathas is indescribable ; even the 

Bhau himself began to yield to fear and despair.^^ 

[Kashiraj.j 

§ 9. Ahmad Shah rejcch Bhaus request for peace. 

One last effort the Bhau made to save his army by 

appealing to Shuja to arrange a peace at any price 

between him and the Shah, and sent him a carte blanche, 

in the form of the impression of his palm dipped in 

saffron on a piece of blank paper, to be his credentials 

as a plenipotentiary, together with the most solemn 

oaths for a Hindu to abide by any settlement that he 

might make. The Durrani wazir, Shah Wali Khan, a 
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kind-hoarted man as well as a cool and far-sighted 

statesman, was willing to accept a large ransom from 

the Blijin instead of antagonizing the Marathas for ever. 

But in the Shah^s council-chamber his pacific advice 

was borne down by the vindictive fury of Najib Khan 

and the fanaticism of the Afghan soldiery, who refused 

to lose this opportunity of waging a holy war and 

slaying infidels on a gigantic scale, which would give 

them measureless spiritual merit.* As their mouthpiece, 

Qa/i Idris, urged his master, ^^Vix your eyes on your 

Faith, and let not any greed of money influence you in 

this matter, because the merit of jihad would be lost 

thereby. . . . This world is for a few days only. . . . Fear 

not the enemy, fear not the lack of money for your 

army expenses. Fear God rather.^^ On hearing this 

speech, the Durrani captains cried out with one voice, 

^^The Qazi has spoken the truth. In this holy war, we 

shall follow your wishes in every eventuality. Whether 

we are hungry or with full stomachs, we shall not lessen 

our exertions.^^ Then Ahmad Shah said, ^^Recite the 

prayer for battle ; the idea of making peace is given 

up.^^ The baffled Maratha envoys were dismissed. 

§ 10. Starving Maratha army decide on fighting one 

desperate battley 13 January* 

As day followed day after the destruction of the 

treasure convoy under Parashar Dadaji (6th January), 

• Abortive peace parleys,—Nur-ud-din 436-45&, Kashiraj 19-21. 
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life within the entrenchments at Panipat became harder 

and harder to sustain. There was no food and no 

firewood for man and no grass for the horses. The 

stench of the carcases of men and beasts lying 

uncremated and unbiiried, and the effluvia of the 

evacuations of four lakhs of living creatures, made the 

confines of the entrenchment a living hell for human 

beings. At last the soldiers, in the agony of iiunger, 

got out of hand and broke out in a general plunder of 

the houses in the city of Panipat. But their outrage 

yielded very little, because very little had now been 

left in that small poor and battered city. 

Finally on the 13th of January 1761, life became 

utterly intolerable to the beleaguered Maratha army. 

The soldiers and officers went off in a tumultuous body, 

surrounded the Bhau’s tent, and cried out, ^^It is now 

two days that no man among us has got a grain to eat. 

A seer of grain cannot be had even for two Rupees. 

Whence can we procure, no matter at what high price, 

an article that has totally disappeared from this place ? 

Do not let us perish in this misery. Let us make a 

valiant struggle against the enemy ; and then what 

Fate has ordained will happen.^^ The discussion went 

on till midnight, when it was resolved that the whole 

army should march out about an hour before daybreak 

and attack the enemy in a pitched battle. The decision 

made, the generals were sent back to their posts each 

with a betel-leaf from their chiefs hand, in token of 
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their readiness to make their utmost exertion in the 

desperate enterprise about to follow.* 

S 11. Bhan'^ arnuf u/ffr(;hrs out fo hafilr, 

14 Januarijy 1701, 

That nighty none^ at least of the leaders, slept. 

The Brahman officers, including the Bhaii, rose from the 

bed very early, performed their ablutions and religious 

worship in preparation for facing eternity on the 

morrow, took their last mouthful, and then donned 

their arms. 

An hour before the morning of llth January, 1761, 

the Maratha army set out from its camp to tlic field of 

doom. Each division marched ^‘step by st(p behind 

its banner with the regularity and order of the parade 

ground^^ and took up its appointed position. After 

three hours of movement, ‘^in the processional manner 

which was then the only one known,’^ the line of battle 

was fully formed. Then both sides halted for about 

an hour, as if by mutual consent, to let the dust settle 

down and make the opposing army visible. The 

Afghan line of battle extended seven miles in length 

and two in depth. It overlapped the Maratha line on 

the right and the left alike by about half a mile each 

way, as the invader had a numerical superiority of 

15,000 men (i. e,, 60,000 against 45,000), and his 

extreme right and left wings were bent inwards like the 

♦ Kashiraj 21, Nur-ud-din 466. 
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horns of a crescent, so as to outflank and threaten the 

two ends of the Maratha line. 

The Bhau^s decision to fight that day had been taken 

so suddenly that Abdali bad received no intelligence of 

it before his enemies were actually on the march 

towards him. After surrendering to his army^s 

clamour at midnight, Sadashiv Kao had made a last 

despairing attempt to avert the fatal conflict. He 

had sent ofl‘ his favourite valet Balakrara, who 

used to serve him his betel-leaf, with a short 

note to Kashiraj, a Maratha clerk of Shuja, urging 

him to appeal to his master to arrange a peaceful 

settlement, now or never. ^The flood,so ran his 

expressive language, ^^has risen above my head. 

If anything can be done, do it or else inform 

me plainly at once, for hereafter there will be no 

time for writing or speaking.^^ Shuja, learning from 

Balakrara that the Maratha army had started, rode 

immediately to Abdali^s tent, waked him by pleading 

the urgency of the situation, and told him what he 

had heard from the Bhau^s valet and his own spies. 

The Shah promptly took horse and rode out a mile 

to the front to observe, ordering his guards to get 

ready and his long Persian pipe to be lighted and 

brought to him, as a sedative in that intensely cold 

night air. That day Shah Pasand Khan was in 

•command of the night-patrol, and his men discovered 

the march of the Maratha artillery by the clatter 
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of the iron chains of the guns and their wheels. The 

Maratha guns on taking up their allotted position 

fired a salvo and this confirmed the news brought 

by Shuja beyond any doubt. 

§ 12. Ahntad Shah's haitle arrangements. 

The veteran lieutenant of the Asiatic Napoleon 

calmly finished his pipe, replaced his cap on his head, 

and calling up his wazir and Shah Pasand Khan 

gave them orders to marshal his ranks. With the 

instinct of a born general, he placed over half (18,000) 

of his own national troops in the centre in charge 

of his wazir, while two other corps—about 5,000 

each, mostly cavalry mounted on superb Persian 

horses,—were sent to his extreme right and left. Thus, 

his Indo-Muslim allies were wedged in between strong 

bodies of Durrani troops on both sides and any 

attempt at treachery or flight on their part could be 

promptly crushed. These divisions on the extreme 

wings also rendered the favourite Maratha tactics of 

a flank attack impossible and thus heartened his Indian 

associates by guarding them against such a danger. 

There was no love lost between Najib (with his 

friend Shuja) and the trans-Ganges Afghans under 

Hafiz Bahmat, Dundi Khan and other generals of 

Ali Muhammad Ruhela^s colony. Hafiz despised 

Najib as a vulgar upstart, who had first entered his 

mastePs service as a poor infantryman but now 

21 
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risen to be the dictator of Delhi and the prime minister 

of Abdali for Indian affairs,—while Hafiz claimed the 

blood of the honoured spiritual head of the RuheluvS 

long settled in India. Abdali, therefore, placed Najib 

(with Shuja) on the left and the Par Ruhelas on the 

right of his centre. Ahmad Khan Bangash with his 

paltry contingent of about 1,000 men stood in 

the right wing, but at some interval to the left of 

the Par Ruhelas and next to the centre. 

s? 13. Caasrs of the inilHanj superiority of the 

Durrani over the Maratha anuy. 

During the two and a half months’ leaguer of 

Panipat, the Shah had received some reinforcements 

from home. The new arrivals, both men and horses,, 

untouched by the Indian summer and strangers to 

the scarcity and sickness which had afflicted their 

brethren during the past twelve months’ campaign and 

/cantoning, were in the pink of condition. The Afghan 

army totalled 60,000 men, nearly half of this number 

being the Shah’s own subjects (23,000 horse and 7,000 

foot) and the other half his Indian allies (7,000 horse 

and 23,000 foot.) The Durrani divisions, thanks to the 

iron discipline and constant exercise enforced by their 

chief, moved like one man at the will of the Shah,, 

while the preponderance of cavalry among them (three 

to one) and their superior horses, made them a match 

for more than double their number of Indian troops. 
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This advantage could have been neutralized if 

the Indians had a superiority in fire-arms. But here, 

too, Abdali\s artillery was incomparably more efficient 

and mobile. The field-guns of the Marathas were of 

larger calibre than those of the Afghans, but once 

placed in position, they could not be dragged forward 

with the advancing troops and became useless. Oii 

the other Iiand, the Shah had, in addition to his cannon 

(40 light pieces), two thousand camels each carrying 

two soldiers armed with swivel-guns, called \anihuraks^ 

which formed the finest mobile artillery of that age ir^.. 

Asia. Their effect on the Maratha horsemen was as | 

decisive as that of the galloper guns in Lord Lakeys 

campaign against Sindhia 42 years later. The fire- 

strength on the Bhau’s side was composed of (a) the 

big guns which became stationary and silent after the 

battle had joined, [b) the rockets,—that constant 

favourite of this race, which merely served to frighten 

horses and wound a man here and there except when 

fired into a dense mass, and (r) the foot-musketeers 

under Ibrahim Khan Gardi, actually 8,000 strong, 

who were most probably armed with French fusils 

of the early 18th century pattern, having short barrels 

and firing small bullets which inflicted light wounds 

only.* Opposed to these last were the long Afghan 

* C. 1708, the French muskets were of smaller calibre than 
those of other countries, and their lighter bullet,—20 to the lb. 

—had no doubt something to do with the less efihetiveness of 
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flint-locks or jixailsy firing heavier bullets and carrying 

very much further than the fusils. 

The Durrani officers were clad in armour, the 

weight of which was easily borne by their superb Khura- 

sani horses. Even the leather jackets and thick (juilted 

coats which their common soldiers as natives of a very 

cold climate wore, could turn away many a sword cut 

or spear thrust. But among the Marathas armour was 

hardly worn even by the officers ; their garments 

were very light as more suited to the warm South 

where they lived and the small mares they rode, while 

their common soldiers often wore nothing beyond the 

dhoti wrapped round the waist; whence Ahmad Shah^s 

habitual scornful reference to them as Hhe bare backed^ 

{kun herahna,) 

Above all, on that fateful morning, over the flat plain 

of Panipat a starving army mounted on sorry famished 

nags, met the finest cavalry in Asia in the best of 

conditions. 

§ 14. Sddashiv Rao Bhangs plan of battle. 

Bitter was the jealousy felt by the Maratha 

generals towards the Bhau^s favourite Oardi sepoys, 

who were paid their salaries more regularly and at 

their fire....The bullets of Gustayus Adolphus were 12 to the lb.*.. 

The ordinary rate in the armies of the 18th century was 2 or 3 

rounds fired per minute. The British infantry at Fontenoy 

carried 24 rounds per man. [Lloyd, 136,112, 155.] 
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higher rates than the starving Deccani soldiery and 

whose mode of warfare that supreme commander had 

preferred to the traditional guerilla tactics which alone 

the Maratha army knew. Indeed, some days before the 

battle, Ibrahim and Malhar had almost come to 

blows over this difference in military policy. The 

Bhau, therefore, isolated Ibrahim Khan^s division 

on his extreme left, furthest from Malhar ; and so 

it happened that his disciplined foot-musketeers were 

assembled in a very deep column (according to the 

French practice) in one place, instead of being 

distributed along his entire front, judiciously mixed up 

with his cavalry.* 

Of the Bhau^s plan of battle we have no record ; 

it can be only guessed from the known facts. He had, 

it appears, formed no plan except a general engage¬ 

ment along the entire front. From his situation, a 

mere break-through would have been fruitless. He 

could not march away with his fighting troops, as he 

was tied down to the city of Panipat by the presence 

of his women, lakhs of camp-followers and civil 

servants, heavy artillery, and all kinds of property 

acquired during seven months of successful progress 

through Hindustan. He had formed no base at 

Delhi , or even at Bharatpur. Hence, his liberation 

could come only from a decisive defeat and flight of 

* Friedrich the Great said (1755) that one should always 

have cavalry on the spot to help the infantry. [Lloyd, 162.] 
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Abdali. His divisional generals acted throughout each 

on his own initiative, without receiving any reinforce¬ 

ment or even fresh direction from their supreme head 

during the changing course of the battle. Like a des¬ 

perate gambler, the Bhau staked everything on one 

throw of the dice, and did not arrange for a com¬ 

pact orderly retreat in the event of a defeat, because 

such a retreat was well-nigh impossible in his 

situation. 

The Bhau expected the regular sepoys of Ibrahim 

Khan Gardi to be the spear-head of the thrust 

from his left, while his central division under his 

own eyes would assail the Afghan centre at the same 

time. After the spear-head had penetrated into the 

opposite ranks, its work was to be completed by the 

advance of Damaji Gaikwad in support from behind it. 

§ 15. Why the Maratha l ight wing was paralysed. 

The Bhau^s absolute lack of worthy and dependable 

lieutenants was his greatest handicap compared with 

his opponent The Maratha army of the North had 

no officer comparable to the brilliant galaxy of martial 

stars on the Durrani side,—Jahan Khan, Shah Pasand 

Khan, Atai Khan, Karim Dad Khan, Najib and the 

wazir, each a match for the Bhau himself. The 

Maratha right wing was composed of the contingents 

of Malhar Holkar tod Jankoji Sindhia, a total of about 

10,000 men. These troops had been beaten in every 
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<^ncounter with the Durranis and terrorized by the 

Afghan atrocities committed on their wounded and 

prisoners. They could not be brought to look the 

enemy closely in the face. Nor had they a single 

dashing leader capable of infusing a new spirit among 

the rank and file. Jankoji was an inexperienced youth 

just out of his teens. Antaji Manakeshwar and other 

capiains told off to support this wing, were too small 

men to take charge of an entire division or to call forth 

the devotion and obedience of the soldiery. Malbar 

Holkar was now a very old man and too weak to sit 

on horseback or to go through a fight. IRaj. iii. 516.| 

Even if he had retained the fulness of bodily vigour, 

would bo, on this field, have gone back on his lifers 

experience and conviction in favour of guerilla tactics 

and against standing the shock of a pitched battle ? 

Thus, it happened that the entire right wing of the 

Maratha army remained inert during the critical stage 

of the battle while the issue was still trembling in the 

balance. As these Maratha troops did not make any 

charge, Najib and Shah Pasand Khan on their part 

merely remained on the alert, without attacking, till 

they could see which way the tide of battle finally 

turned in the rest of the field. 

As soon as Ahmad Shah had satisfied himself that 

it was not the ordinary daily skirmish of the past two 

months but a regular battle in full force for which the 

Marathas had sallied forth that morning, he ordered 
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his own troops to form their line of battle facing the 

enemy. By the time this was done, the late winter 

sun had already risen, and the Shah galloped in front 

of his army inspecting every one of the divisions, and 

then fell back to his customary post in a red tent 

pitched two miles in front of his camp, and just behind 

the fighting troops. 

The battle began, as usual in that age, with a 

cannonade. The Maratha guns were larger and, owing 

to reckless aiming and faulty elevation, their shots fell 

harmlessly behind the Shah^s troops. The Durrani, 

like a wise general, reserved his fire at this stage, letting 

his enemies waste their powder in making an unprofit¬ 

able noise. His own strength lay, not in big cannon, 

but in camel-swivels ; and these he was resolved to 

use only at the right moment. 

§ 16. Ibrahim Khan Gardi charges ihe 

JJurraiii right wing. 

After this preliminary cannonade, the clash of 

arms began. Early that morning Ibrahim Khan Gardi, 

after posting his brigade in the line, had ridden up to 

the Bhau and assured him, ^‘Ram ! Ram ! You were 

highly displeased with me because every month I 

used to take from you, with bold insistence, order 

for the cash payment of our salary, running to lakhs 

of Rupees. This month your treasure has been looted 

and we have got no order of payment. Never mind 
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that ; today I shall discharge my duty/^ He had 

previously rejected a call from the Afghan king to 

join the Faithful in this war with the Infidels, and had 

replied that he held fidelity to one^s master to be the 

highest of virtues. And now he lived up to his ideal 

of duty. Immediately after this speech he galloped 

back to the head of his troops, seized a flag in one 

hand and a musket in the other, and personally led the 

attack. Throwing two of his sepoy battalions obliquely 

forward on his left hand to hold the Abdali division 

under Barkhurdar Khan outflanking him, he with 

the other seven battalions (actually 6,300 men) fell 

straight upon the forces of Hafiz Kahmat Khan^ 

Dundi Khan, and Ahmad Bangash (about 15,000 

strong.) The distant roar of cannon and rattle of 

musketry ceased, and soon afterwards the antagonists 

grappled together in a confused mass. A most 

obstinate combat raged for hours. The Euhelas fought 

with their wonted valour, but at first European 

training and discipline seemed to triumph. ^^Of the 

Ruhelas eight to nine thousand were wounded or slain 

and they were pressed back. Only a few hundred 

men were left with their three chiefs j but these 

generals held their ground firmly and arrested an utter 

rout or break through. The fighting was so close that 

one leader could not inquire about another. Hafiz 

Rahmat, owing to his illness, was carried into the field 

in a palkL Dundi Khan alighted from his horse and 
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MARATHA ARMY 

Ibrahim Gardi (8,000) 

Damaji Gaikwad (2,500) 

Vittal Shivdev (1,500) 

Minor captains (2,000) 

Bhau’s banner k position 

Centre (13,5000) 

Antaji Manakeshwar (1000) 

Pilaji Jadav’s sons (1,500) 

Minor captains (2,000) 

Jaswant Puar (1,500) 

Bhamsher Bahadur (1,500) 

Jankoji Sindhia (7,000) 

Malhar Holkar (3,000) 

DURRANI ARMY 

14. Barkhurdar & Amir Beg 

(3,000) 

15, 16. Dundi k Hafiz Kahmat 

(14,000) 

17. Ahmad Bangash (1,000) 

18. Camel-swivels (1,000x2) 

19. Kabuli infantry (1,000) 

20. Centre, Shah Wali (15.000) 

21. Shuja (3,000) 

22. Najib (15,000) 

23. Shah Pasand (5,000) 

24. Reserve (Nasrullah) 

25. Civil officers Ac. 

26. Slave squadrons of body¬ 

guards (3,000) 

27. Abdali’s tent. 
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cried out in agony, ^Comrades ! our life and honour 

are perishing. How is Hafiz Rahmat Khan f 

The grim Gardi-Ruhela duel went on for over three 

hours, at the end of which the twofold odds and 

Ruhela tenacity began to tell against the sepoys. They 

lost the superior advantage of their training in the 

confused breast to breast fighting,* and when at last 

at half past one in the afternoon three thousand fresh 

troops from Abdali^s reserve joined the Ruhelas, the 

scales were hopelessly weighted against the sepoys, and 

the short black Telingas were overwhelmed by the tall 

brawny Indo-Afghans ; Ibrahim Khan^s battalions were 

almost annihilated, and only one battalion and a half 

remained standing out of seven. There was on his 

side no efficient cavalry ready to take advantage of the 

first successful thrust of the sepoys and complete their 

work by a shock charge overwhelming the disorganized 

Ruhela infantry. Damaji Gaikwad who had been 

ordered to support Ibrahim fought well, receiving three 

wounds i but his contingent was less than 3,000 strong 

and not first-rate fighting material, having never before 

this faced north-lndian foes. O for one hour of Dattaji 

Sindhia, at the head of his family contingent fully 

* Marshal Saxe wrote^ Troops that have fired are undone, 

if those opposed to them have reserved their fire.’ So far as fire 

effect is concerned, troops advancing must be at a disadvantage 

compared with troops standing still. The compensation lies in 

the moral effect of attack, the threat of hand-to*hand combat. 

[Lloyd, 155.] 
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10,000 strong, in this crisis ! The two Gardi battalions 

told off against the outflanking force of Barkhurdar, 

boldly charged them and threw the enemy ranks into 

confusion. But in the end the left attack of the 

Maratha army entirely died out, and fifteen hundred 

unwounded men, the remnant of eight thousand French- 

trained infantry dispersed in flight from a hopelessly 

lost field. Bussy’s pupils had not disgraced their 

master ; they had killed or wounded more than their 

own number and borne 80 per cent casualties before 

they were broken. 

§ 17. Sadnshir Bkau attacks the Durrani centre 

under Shah Wall Khan. 

All this time the centre had been the scene of a 

still more deadly and obstinate conflict. Here each 

side had concentrated its best resources, and the 

opposing forces were more evenly matched in number,— 

about 18,000 on each side,—than in the fight between 

the Gardis and the trans-Ganges Ruhelas (fi,300 against 

15,000.) Simultaneously with Ibrahim Khan^s advance 

against the Shah^s right wing, the Bhau had launched 

his own division in an attack on the Durrani centre 

where the wazir Shah Wali Kban commanded in 

person. This struggle was prefaced by the discharge 

of the Bhau’s artillery, which was mostly drawn up in 

front of his centre. To this the Afghan wazir replied 

with the fire of his own lighter pieces planted on the 
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grouRd and a thousand swivel-guns mounted on camels 

which were placed before him in a lino with their 

knees tied together. Suddenly the tiring on the Maratha 

side ceased, and from around the great yellow banner 

[Bhagiva Jhanda) towering above their centre, a 

thunderous roar of Ilara f Ham ! Mahadev ! was heard 

and a waving forest of long swords and spears flashed in 

the morning sun, as a vast cavalcade of 13,500 men 

heaved tumultuously like one gigantic billow of the 

ocean and the next instant dashed in resistless sweep 

upon the Durrani centre. The momentum of their 

charge broke through the screen of Afghan front skir¬ 

mishers and the hail of zamburak balls. Regardless of 

the bloody trail they left behind them, the Maratha 

horse grappled with their foes in a deadly hand to hand 

combat, under a cloud of dust ^Vhich hid the earth and 

sky and from which blood dropped in rain-showers,^^ 

while the mingled dissonance of Hara ! Ilara! 

Mahadev ! and Ya Ali ! Yd All ! drowned every other 

sound. 

The desperate fury of the Maratha charge at first 

seemed to carry everything before it. Haji Atai Khan, 

the slayer of Govind Balia], fell with nearly 3,000 other 

Durranis, their surviving comrades were pushed back¬ 

wards and many of these took the road to the camp* 

So intense was the pressure that ^^the grand wazir stood 

with only a hundred or two hundred troopers and fifty 

zfunburak-camels (having their knees tied together) 
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placed in front of him. He himself, in full armour, 

dismounted from his horse and sat do’wn on the ground, 

beating his forehead and throwing dust into his mouth 

and cursing and haranguing his fleeing followers, 

^Brethren ! our country is far off. Whither are you 

going f An appeal to Shuja (on his left) to come at 

once to his rescue passed unheeded, as Shuja, in view 

of the unbroken enemy masses facing him, wisely 

refused to weaken his section of the line and thus 

invite a break-through there. 

But even at the centre the Afghan line held. The 

Bhau had no squadron of cavalry in heavy armour and 

mounted on powerful horses ready to charge in close 

order and cut its way like a solid wedge through the 

shaken Durrani ranks and complete his initial success. 

The hand to hand combat swayed to and fro with each 

individual group^s charge and counter-charge, 

indecisively for over three hours, and though the wazir^e 

casualties were much less than his opponents’, yet from 

the unabated courage and wild onslaught of the Marathas 

it seemed likely that they would triumph in the end. 

§ 18. Ahmad Shah reinforces his centre and right 

Shortly after midday the Shah received intelligence 

of the perilous condition of his right wing and centre,, 

and the dispersion of most of their troops to the rear. 

He could not thin his battle front elsewhere without the 

risk of the Marathas penetrating there and crumbling 
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Up the whole line. At this critical stage, the side which 

would be first able to push up adequate reinforcements 

to the centre was sure to turn the wavering struggle into 

a victory. Here the Shah^s matchless generalship, the 

ready obedience of his troops, and the ability of his sub¬ 

ordinate commanders told. He sent one provost-marshal 

with 500 troopers to gallop to his camp and by 

merciless beating drive out of it all the soldiers who 

were found hiding there and all the armed followers 

to the battle front. Another officer with 1,500 mounted 

military police was posted immediately behind the 

firing line under orders to attack every runaway from the 

fight and turn him back to the field. Thus, some six or 

seven thousand retreating troops were rallied. To them 

were added the small body of soldiers (under one 

thousand) found in the camp and a detachment from 

the Shah^s bodyguards, forming a total of over 13,000 

men. Out of these some 3,000 were sent to reinforce 

the hard-pressed Rahelas of the right wing, and 10,000 

to support the wazir. At the same time his two flanks 

were ordered to charge the Maratha centre from their 

respective sides every time that the grand wazir made 

an advance against it from the front. 

Tt is an age-old habit of the Hindu soldiers to work 

at high pressure up to noon and then retire for taking 

food and rest. An unconquerable lassitude comes 

over them after one o^clock in the afternoon. (Hence, 

Oeneral Harris launched his storming columns on 
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Seringapatam at that psychological hour.) The 

Marathas had spent a sleepless night and had fasted or 

been half-fed for a month before. Moreover, troops 

who carry roast meat and dry bread in their saddle 

bags and water in leather bottles can easily refresh and 

reinvigorate themselves in the field.' Not so a caste 

over-ridden by the dread of defiling touch at meal time 

and regarding leather with abomination as a carcase. 

The long-drawn battle had worn the Marathas out far 

more than the Muslims when the fresh Durrani troops 

appeared on the scene. 

§ 19. Desperate fighting by the outnumbered Bhati 

at the centre ; Durrani tactics. 

Shortly after half-past one, the reinforcements 

reached the wazir, and they at once delivered a charge 

at the full gallop. Ten thousand fresh troops thrown 

into the contest at a time when the Marathas were ex¬ 

hausted by four hours of strenuous fighting and reduced 

to less than 10,000 men, turned the scale decisively 

against them. But the Bhau refused to acknowledge 

defeat. He fought on for over an hour more, regardless 

of the tremendous odds now arrayed against him, and 

delivered three counter-charges with his rapidly 

thinning band of personal followers and himself headed 

the attack. In that awful hour, when all hope of 

victory had vanished and life had assnmed the bitter 

taste of death in the mouth of the Marathas, there was 

22 
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no holding back among their leaders or their Household 

Cavalry. Nor did Vishwas Rao, the young heir to the 

Peshwa^s throne^ belie his noble ancestry. He pressed 

into the thick of the fight along with the boldest of his 

comrades. 

But as the blood of the Maratha centre was being 

more and more drained and a smaller and still smaller 

wave came up on each successive counter-attack under 

the Bhau, the eagle eye of Ahmad Abdali seized the 

situation at a glance ; now was the time to launch bis 

most deadly weapon, so long kept in reserve for such 

a moment. He sent three squadrons’^ of his favourite 

slave corps to fire upon the Bhau^s division and 

envelop it from three sides. ^^One squadron of slaves 

.. . came up from the right and after firing off their 

muskets went away to the left. Another squadron 

which came up from the left, after emptying their 

fire-arms galloped away to the right. The third 

squadron, advancing from the front, discharged their 

pieces at the Bhau’s vanguard and then wheeled to the 

rear. Before the enemy could recover from the shock, 

these men had loaded their muskets again and arrived, 

* Nur-ud-din says three squadrons of 2,000 men each, but 

Kashiraj [p. 12] gives ^six daaias (squadrons) of slaves each 

consisting of 1,200 horsemen. Hmmn Shahid 71, has three da8ta» 

of a thousand men each. Law, 195. Shamlu, as usual, infiates the 

number to 8 or 9 thousand under the Qular ^n$i (p. 74.) 
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the left squadron on the right wing and the right 

squadron on the left wing, while the squadron 

that had been originally in front fell on the 

rear. During this circular manoeuvre, they quickly 

discharged their muskets from one side and 

went off to the other. It looked as if on ail 

four sides troops were attacking the Marathas 

simultaneously.Their firm stand was swept 

.Their vanguard retreated and mingled with 

the division ‘under the Bhau himself, and great 

confusion arose.The Maratha soldiers who had 

been spread over the field now drew together into a 

knot at their centre.” [Nur-ud-din, 48/>-49o.] Every 

A%han bullet fouud its billet in that dense enemy mass 

around which the attacking horsemen revolved in 

circles. 

But even tken, thrice did the Maratha horse form 

again under their lofty banner and advance like a 

roaring wave upon the wazir’s front, which stood like a 

rock and every time flung them back with woefully 

thinned ranks, pursued and raked by the fire of 

the Afghan mounted musketeers and camel-borne 

light artillery. The white spray of uplifted dust, 

stabbed by the fire flash and sharp rattle of 

musketry, concealed for a time the red heaps of writhing 

horses and men that strewed the plain as ^e 

surf retired shivered into many small eddying 

fragments. 
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§ 20. Death of Vishwas Boo, last efforts of 

the Bhau, Maratha rout. 

At a quarter past two Vishwas Rao was shot dead 

with a bullet, after receiving a sword cut in the neck 

and an arrow wound on his left eye-brow. The fatal 

news was brought to the Bhau. He ordered his nephew’s 

body to be laid on the back of his own riding elephant 

in the rear seat of which Bapuji M. Hingan4 was 

posted, and then came to view it. There, with his legs 

dangling by the elephant’s head, lay the darling of a 

nation, a youth of seventeen only, whose placid beauty 

in death was to extort the admiring cry even of the 

.^erce Durrani soldiery when his body was taken to 

their camp after the battle. "Though he was an Indian, 

yet no man of such light complexion and beautiful 

shape had ever come in their sight. His colour was that 

of the ehampa flower, his limbs well-formed, his arms 

reaching down to the knees. His eyes were half open; 

he seemed to be gently asleep”—as if death could 

achieve no victory over him. 

After a last look at his nephew, the Bhau turned to 

the fight once more. He could not show his face at 

Puna after having lost the precious charge entrusted 

to his hands at Patdur by a weeping mother. Death 

had lost all its bitterness, because life had no longer 

any meaning for him. Victory was beyond his power, 

but not a soldier’s death. Sat^shiv I£o Bhaa foi^t 

his duty as a general and'remembered only his honour 
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as a knight. He harangued his men, gathered together a 

small band of his persona] followers and friends, mostly 

high officers and specially-paid cavalry, and led a last 

desperate charge. But now, in addition to the three 

squadrons of slave musketeers circling round, 1500 

camel-swivels were turned directly upon him, doing 

fearful havoc at such short range. After less than 

half an hour^s renewed fighting, even this last attack 

was smothered in blood, about a quarter to three in 

the afternoon, and then ^^in a twinkle of the eye, the 

Maratha army vanished from the field like camphor.^^ 

A few small broken groups here and there moved 

aimlessly and witliout concert to the rear. 

§ 21. How Sadashiv Hao Bhau imt with his death. 

Half a mile from the front a fair-coloured sharp¬ 

nosed deep-eyed youth, with a tall robust frame, every 

muscle of which was developed by regular daily 

exercise,—was seen limping with the help of a short 

spear. He wore very costly pearls in his ears and 

round his neck, together with a highly ornamented 

vest. Throughout that afternoon he had been seeking 

death, but death seemed to avoid him. Three horses 

had fallen under him during the battle ; the first two 

were powerful chargers, but the third time only a sorry 

country mare was left for him which could not carry 

him far. He had received a spear wound and a 

mnsket-shot in his thigh, the latter of which bad 
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thrown him down. As he was walking over the field 

like a man in a dream^ utterly worn out by the last two 

months^ anxiety and the wreck of all his hopes, a 

knot of five Durrani horsemen, lured by his splendid 

dress and rich jewels, surrounded him and cried out to 

him to surrender and save his life. But it was not 

his life that he wa3 seeking to save, and he gave 

them no reply. The Afghan plunderers then attacked 

him. The wounded lion turned at bay and struck three 

or four of his assailants with his spear before he was 

killed and his head cut off and carried away by his 

slayers. Thus perished Sadashiv Rao Bhau on the 

grave of his reputation and of the imperialistic dreams 

of his race. The historian's memory goes forward to 

the day 38 years later, when under a dark gateway 

of Seringapatam another heroic Indian prince, after 

the wreck of his army and cause, came to his end in 

resisting an alien spoiler^s hand on his person. 

§ 22. The contest on the Maratha ?'ight whig : 

Malhnr and Jankoji against Najih 

and Shah Pasand. 

We have said nothing about one main division of 

the Maratha army because there is nothing to be said 

about it. Their right wing did not influence the issue 

of the battle in any way. Here Shah Pasand Khan 

and Malhar Holkar bad merely immobilized each other 

without any exchange of fire or blows till after the 
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contest in the centre had been decided. During the 

five hours of the general battle Najib Khan had 

advanced one and a half and arrived very close 

in front of Jankoji Sindhians contingent. Dismounting 

his six thousand cavalry and merging them with his 

nine thousand infantry, and himself moving with them 

on foot, he had steadily gained ground bit by bit* 

While his infantry watched with loaded firelocks, his 

pioneers advanced a musket-shot in front of them and 

quickly threw up a breastwork of sand eighteen inches 

high, to which the infantry next rushed up and where 

they crouched down, while the pioneers went the same 

distance forward and prepared a similar trench for 

them. Arrived at last within firing range of 

Sindhians troops, Najib attacked them, discharging two 

thousand rockets at a time, and "although the forces 

opposite to him wanted to attack him, they were 

convulsed and overpowered by the shock of 

this fire.^’ On the left hand of Najib was 

Shah Pasand Khan, forming the extreme flank of 

Abdali^s line. The bold front he presented "prevented 

the Maratha corps facing him from drawing breath/^ 

This corps was Malhar Holkaris, and numbered only 

3,000 against the 5,000 men led by Shah Pasand. 

On the right of Najib and left of the grand wazir 

stood Shuja-ud-daulah, with 2000 horse and 1000 State- 

equipped infantry and twenty guns, besides ready 

to meet any attack. But none attacked him. Facing 
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him were a number of small individual contingents^ 

namely those of Shamsher Bahadur^ Jaswant Baa 

Puar, and others, but these did not make any move 

throughout the day. "Twice or thrice their swords and 

spears flashed in the sunlight in the distance, as if they 

were going to issue on a charge, but it did not 

materialize, and the thing passed off safely for us,^^ as 

Shuja’s clerk writes. It means that every time the 

Bhau made a charge from the centre, a thrill of excite¬ 

ment passed through his right wing and some men there 

shouted to be led on to an advance from that wing ; but 

they had no general with heart or leadership, the 

momentary enthusiasm evaporated and nothing was 

done. Only at the end of the day, when all was almost 

over at the Maratha centre and left wing, and the 

entire Afghan line advanced, Shah Pasand and Najib 

made an onset upon their opponents. Malhar first fled 

away, uncovering Jankoji^s right flank, which Shah 

Pasand at once turned ; Sindhians ever-beaten contingent 

shamelessly followed Holkar^s example, leaving their 

chieftain to his fate. [SPD. xxvii. 271.J Jankoji was 

wounded and driven upon the centre, Jaswant Puar and 

a son of Pilaji Jadav fell, Shamsher Bahadur was mortally 

wounded, and the Maratha right wing ceased to exist. 

§ 23. Pursuit and slaughter of the Marathas. 

The last trace of resistance ceased at a quarter to 

three in the afternoon. Most of the officers of the 
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defeated army had fallen, and the field was covered 

with scattered knots of bewildered leaderless men 

making their way between piles of the dead and wounded, 

'^every one fleeing as he found a path, without trying 

to unite with others/^ Then the whole Durrani line 

advanced in one exultant rush. The Maratha 

camp, stocked with immense riches, lay only two miles 

before them, and from it streams of fugitives 

encumbered with heavily loaded transport animals were 

seen to be issuing. Two hours of daylight still 

remained, and as the moon did not set before a quarter 

past nine that night, the pursuit was kept up for twenty 

miles in a fan-shaped serai-circle by the Durrani 

horsemen, who slow every one they could overtake. 

But the Maratha entrenchments were not sacked that 

evening, because Ahmad Shah, like a wise general, kept 

his troops together till he could be sure that the enemy 

forces wer<» destroyed beyond any chance of rally or 

counter-attack.* 

Next morning the sun revealed a horrid spectacle 

on the vast plain south of Panipat. On the actual 

field of the combat thirty-two distinct heaps of the slain 

were counted, the number of bodies in each ranging 

from 500 upwards to 1,000, and in four up to 1,500,—a 

rough total of 28,000. In addition to these, the ditch 

round the Maratha camp was full of dead bodies, partly 

♦ KashiiSj, 28. Nur. 50&-51>». Husain Skahi, 72-73. Manaxil, 
79-84, Nana Fadnis, Atttobiography, 
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the victims of disease and famine during the long siege 

and partly wounded men who had crawled out of the 

fighting line to die there. West and south of Panipat 

city, the jungle and road in the line of Maratha retreat 

were littered with the remains of those who had fallen 

unresisting in the relentless Durrani pursuit or from 

hunger and exhaustion. Theii number,—probably three- 

fourths non-combatants and one-fourth soldiers, could 

not have been far short of the vast total of those slain 

in the battlefield. "The hundreds who lay wounded 

perished from the severity of the cold." 

After the havoc of combat followed cold-blooded 

massacre. Several hundreds of Marathas had hidden 

themselves in the hostile city of Panipat, through 

folly or helplessness ; and these were hunted out next 

day and put to the sword. According to one plausible 

account, the sons of Abdus Samad and Mian Qutb 

received the Durrani king^s permission to avenge 

their fathers’ death by an indiscriminate massacre of 

the Marathas for one day, and thus nearly nine thousand 

men perished [Bhan S. Balk. 123] ; these were 

evidently non-combatants. The eye-witness, Kashiraj 

Pandit, thus describes the scene : "Every Durrani 

soldier brought away a hundred or two of prisoners 

and slew them in the outskirts of their camp, crying 

out, ^When I started from our country, my mother father 

sister and wife told me to slay so many kafirs for their 

sake after we bad gained the victory in this holy war, 
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SO that the religious merit of this act | of iufidel-slaying] 

might accrue to them/ In this way, thousands of soldiers 

and other persons were massacred. In the Shah^s 

camp, except the quarters of himself and his nobles, 

every tent had a heap of severed heads before it. 

One may say that it was verily Doomsday for the 

Maratha people.” 

24. Th(^ spoils of the victors. 

"The booty captured within the entrenchment was 

beyond calculation, and the regiments of Khans (/. 

8000 troopers of Abdali clansmen) did not, as far as 

possible, allow other troops like the Iranis and Turanis 

to share in the plunder ; they took possession of every¬ 

thing themselves, but sold to the Indian soldiers hand¬ 

some Brahman women for one inman and good horses 

for two tumans each.” fNur-ud-din, 506.] The 

Deccani prisoners, male and female, reduced to slavery 

by the victorious army numbered 22,000, many of them 

being the sons and other relatives of the sardars or 

middle class men. Among them %8e-limbed slave girls^ 

are mentioned, which shows that the Maratha officers 

during their victorious occupation of Delhi had imitated 

the Peshwa^s example and replenished their harems with 

the fair-coloured beauties of the northern hill range, for 

whom there were regular markets in Delhi Labor and 

other great cities. Besides these 22,000 unhappy captives, 

some four hundred officers and 6,000 men fled for refi^ 
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to Shuja^s camp, and were sent back to the Deccan 

with money help by that Nawab, at the request of his 

Hindu officers. The total loss of the Marathas after 

the battle is put at 50,000 horses, captured cither by the 

Afghan army or the villagers along the route of flight, 

two hundred thousand draught cattle, some thousands of 

camels, five hundred elephants, besides cash and jewellery. 

^^Every trooper of the Shah brought away ten, and some¬ 

times twenty camels laden with money. The captured 

horses were beyond count, but none of them was of 

value; they came like droves of bheep in their 

thousands.^^ * 

§ 25. The casualties lu the Marafha ai my. 

Among those who fell in the battle was the Peshwa’s 

eldest son Vishwas Rao, whose body was detained for 

three days by the Durmni soldiers clamouring that 

they would stuff it and carry it away to their country 

as a memorial of their victory over 'the Emperor of the 

Hindus^; but it was at last surrendered at Shuja-ud- 

daulah^s entreaty to his Brahmans for cremation. The 

headless trunk of the Bhau was dragged out of a huge 

heap of the slain two days after the battle, and the head 

on the third day, and burnt at different times with proper 

rites. Jaswant Bao Fuar, one son of Pilaji Jadav, 

Tukoji Sindhia, Santaji Wagh (covered with 40 wounds) 

* SpoilB.-KMhiraj, 28 ; Siyar, uL 69 191); Nttr-ud- 
dia, 506; Eaj. vi. 406 and 409; Manaxtlj 79«81. 
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and several other captains were known to have perished 

here. Jaiikoji Sindhia, helpless from severe wounds and 

with a broken arm hung by a sling from his neck^ was 

found and concealed in a tent by Barkhurdar Khan, who 

agreed to ransom him for seven lakhs *, but when Najib 

Khan, the mortal enemy of the house of Sindhia, got 

scent of the matter and told Abdali, Barkhurdar had 

Jankoji murdered and buried in secret in order to avert 

his master’s wrath. [Kashiraj.] Ibrahim Khan GrSrdi, 

also badly wounded, took refuge in Shuja^s camp, but 

the Durrani soldiers demanded the execution of this 

Muslim ally of the infidels, and the Shah yielded to 

their clamour. Shamsher Bahadur, who had escaped to 

Kumbher, died of his wounds, in spite of all the atten¬ 

tion and care of Suraj Mai. Another notable general, 

Antaji Manakeshwar, on his way home was killed by the 

Baluch lords of Parrukhnagar, as also was Baji Hari. 

Among these, the historian has a special reason for 

lamenting the death of Antaji, which has robbed 

posterity of a most brilliant account of the battle of 

Panipat from the Maratha side. He has left behind him 

the most graphic and detailed despatches on his other 

campaigns and reports of Delhi Court affairs. He was, 

in fact, a journalist before his time, and possessed the 

modern pressman^s facile pen, eye for the picturesque, 

descriptive power, and—we must mournfully add,—dis¬ 

regard of truth for producing effect or glorifying 

himself. 
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Mahadji Sindhia received during his flight wounds 

from a Durrani pursuer which lamed him for life. It/ 

was, in short, a nation-wide disaster like Floddon Field 

there was not a home in Maharashtra that had not to 

mourn the loss of a member, and several houses their 

very heads. An entire generation of leaders was cut 

olf at one stroke. * 

As for Sadashiv Rao Bhau, the survivors of that 

fatal day made him the scapegoat of the Maratha 

debacle. They ascribed the loss of their northern 

empire and army solely to his overweening conceit, 

contempt for the advice of wiser men^ and that intellec¬ 

tual blindness witli which the gods first afflict those 

whom they wish to destroy. Later generations of 

Maratha writers have echoed this cry, but with what 

little justice the auchentie documents cited in the fore¬ 

going narrative of his campaign will have shown. But 

his conduct on the last day no student of the military 

science can justify. When a soldier makes the supreme 

sacriflee, there may be sorrow for it, but not regret. 

The fruit of his action is immaterial to him. The young 

hero—only two years older than the Bhau,—who fell 

into the arms of victory on the Heights of Abraham, 

was fond of singing, 

• Antaji,—Kashiraj 28. Mahadji lamed,—85-88, Husain 

Shahi 73. Ibrahim Gardi,—Kashiraj, 31-32 (poisoned by order), 
Husain Shahi 74 (corpse disgraced and exposed), Ma. 190 
(confined in a cage and ^en beheaded.) Gtdisian-i-Bahmat, 67. 
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Why, soldiers ! why 

Should we be melancholy boys ? 

Why, soldiers ! why, 

We whose business 'tis to die ? 

It would have made no difference in his outlook upon 

life if he had changed places with his gallant French 

rival and closed his eyes amidst the darkness of defeat. 

But a generalissimo who has led into ruin half a 

lakh of fighters and eight times that number of non- 

combatants entrusted to his care, and made no provision 

for their compact orderly retreat under proper leaders 

in the event of an almost certain defeat, stands on a 

different footing and must receive a different verdict 

at the bar of history. 

§ 26, Troubles of the Maratha fugitives. 

For the fugitives from Panipat the open road to the 

Deccan lay through the tract west and south-west of 

Delhi, i.e., the Hariana country or the modern districts 

of Hisar and Bohtak. Here the Marathas reaped as they 

had sown in the past. Almost every year since 

1754 they had crossed and recrossed this tract, pillaging 

or blackmailing the peasants and landlords alike with 

insane greed. Payment of the fixed revenue or tribute 

to one Maratha officer had not saved the village head¬ 

men from exaction by another. The tenants of the 

local chiefs who had joined the Maratha banners had 

l>een robbed by the Deccani troops, and appeals for 
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redress even to their highest generals had only produced 

the comfortless reply, ^^They are soldiers ; they always 

do it/^ [Malhar^s speech to Imad-ul-mulk, 31 May 

1754. T. Ahmad Shahi.\ 

The numerous small scattered fragments of the 

vanquished army came here, worn out with hunger, 

ceaseless marching, and constant alarms, and went to 

the villages to beg for food and shelter. Then the 

justly incensed peasantry turned on them, robbing the 

stragglers of their arms, apparel and horses, and killing 

all who hesitated or attempted defence. When 

larger bands, moving under their generals, like Satvoji 

Jadav, appeared, they offered fight from within their 

walls. These generals, with half-dead horses fainting 

troops and no guns, were not in a position to attack 

any village, and had much ado to continue their retreat 

without being beaten and robbed. Even the women 

plundered solitary Deccanis without resistance. Many 

thousands of horses were here sacrificed and the broken 

remnant of that proud army at last reached shelter on 

foot, most of the men having been robbed of their sMls 

and coats and wearing nothing but a rag wrapped 

round their loins. [Baj. vi. 409.] The Baluch zamindars 

of Bahadurgarh and Farrukhnagar were particularly 

ruthless towards their infidel oppressors and eager to 

emulate their triumphant Durrani brethren. They re¬ 

cognized Antaji Manakeshwar by his horse and dress 

as a chieftain and slew him for the rich spoils. Many 

23 
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lesser captains met with the same ignominious 

end. 

It was only when the fugitives, now at their last 

gasp from 200 miles of flight without food or rest 

through a hostile population, reached the Jat kingdom 

that they found a haven of refuge. Suraj Mai received 

them with every mark of kindness and hospitality, giving 

free rations to every Deccani soldier or camp-follower 

and medical attendance to their wounded, and, when 

they were rested and recovered, conveyance to their 

own city of Gwalior. Thus fifty thousand men and 

women, the sole survivors of the Bhau^s camp at Panipat, 

were saved. The Jat queen was particularly liberal 

in her charity to the Brahmans and respectful attention 

to the ladies of the Maratha race. Not a single man 

among them could have returned to the Deccan if Suraj 

Mai had so wished, as Father Xavier Wendel justly 

claims.* 

§ 27. Consequences of the battle of Panipai. 

Since the days of Vishwanath K. Rajwadd, it has 

been the fashion with Maratha writers to belittle the 

result of the battle of Panipat as no disaster to the 

Marathas except for the death of so many chiefs and 

so many thousands of soldiers. Its political 

* Fugitives molested,—Nur-ud-din 51. Kashiraj 28. Kaj vi. 
406 and 409 (Suraj Mal^s help.) Wendel, 81. Horse impaled on 
Sonepat sarai,—88«89, Emmn Shahi 73. 
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consequence is spoken of as nothing, and Abdali^sv 

victory as a great illusion. This view is supported by 

the fact that Ahmad Shah reaped no lasting gain from 

his victory and sought soon afterwards for a friendly 

settlement with the Peshwa by sending an envoy and 

presents to him. Mahadji Sindhians occupation of 

Delhi in 1789 is pointed out as a proof that the 

Maratha defeat of 28 years earlier had been completely n 

nullified. But a dispassionate survey of Indian history \ 

will show how unfounded this chauvinistic claim is. 

A Maratha army did, no doubt, restore the exiled 

Mughal Emperor to the capital of his fathers in 1772, 

but they came then, not as kingmakers, not as the 

dominators of the MughaFs empire and the real masters 

of his nominal ministers and generals. That proud 

position was secured by Mahadji Sindhia only in 1789 

and by the British in 1803. 

But what a change from the Indian world of 1760 ! 

The contrast can be most easily realized if we imagine 

that the Marathas had triumphed on that 14th of 

January. Then the broken Durrani army would have 

been expelled from India, robbed and hunted down by 

the Sikhs through the Pan jab, the Indus would have 

been closed to invasion from the north-west, the mortal 

enemy Najib Khan would have been crushed outright 

instead of reigning for the next ten years as the dictator 

of Delhi, and the middle and upper Doab would have 

been purged of every single element hostile to the 
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Marathas. The Bhau^s army, flushed with victory and 

seeing all their enemies in North India cowering in 

terror, would have taken up DattajPs interrupted plan 

of annexing the provinces of Allahabad and Bihar and 

fleecing Bengal. In 1761 the English would certainly 

have saved Bengal from Maratha incursion by regularly 

paying chanth, but they could hardly have fought to 

preserve Bihar, as their Home forces were now 

involved in the weary exhausting latter stage of the 

long-drawn Seven Years^ War. Therefore, Bihar would 

have remained a jumping-oif ground for further 

Maratha adventures in the north-east, as Orissa had 

become by Alivardi^s cession of 1751. Shuja-ud-daulah 

would have sunk into obedience as a tribute-paying 

vassal. 

But in 1772, and still more markedly in 1789, 

things were not as they had been in 1761. In these 

eleven years, the El Dorado of Bihar and Bengal had 

become closed to the Marathas beyond the possibility 

of conquest; even the ehauth for these provinces, 

though formally granted to them by the Mughal 

Emperor in 1746, had lapsed, and they durst not claim 

it (as Mahadji Sindhia found to his cost when he sent 

a feeler to Sir J. Maepherson on this old legal claim); 

Oudh was now girt round by British bayonets, and 

the long coveted city of Allahabad was entrusted to 

the same strong arms v even the PSr Ruhelas,—those 

last possible allies of the Marathas (either through 



1772] IMPERIAL DOMINIONS HOW CONTBACTEB 357 

military weakness or territorial ambition) in any 

invasion of Oiidh,—were to be crushed only two years 

after Shah Alamos return to Delhi under Maratha 

protection. 

In the north-west, the Panjab was for ever lost to 

the Marathas. A race that could not stand fast and 

true as the watch on the Indus, had no moral right to 

rule that frontier province. At the end of the eleven 

years that followed Pan ipat, while a Durrani viceroy 

held Court at Peshawar, central and eastern Panjab 

had been practically abandoned to the Sikhs, and 

Sarhind formally to Ala Singh^s successor, and these 

new masters would have been no more submissive to 

the Maratha intruders than to the Afghan. Nay more, 

the Sikhs rushed into the upper and north-middle Doab 

to fill the void caused by the eclipse of the Maratha 

power there during these eleven years, and by their 

annual raids left the land sucked dry for any Maratha 

army or tribute collector that might come after 

them. 

What then remained to the returned Maratha 

dictators of Delhi in 1772 ? Only the Jat country, 

Mewat and Hariana in the west, which became the 

cockpit of the empire during the next two decades. 

The ambition and arms of the revived Maratha power^ 

in the north were henceforth cooped up within the 

barren sands of Bajputaiia and the broken infinitely, 

chequered wilderness of Bundelkhand,—all Hindu 
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territory,—and their activities there tor the forty years 

from 1765 to 1805 have left a legacy of hatred for the 

Maratha name in Eajput hearts, which has not yet 

died out. 

The moral effect of the disaster of Panipat was even 

greater. The Maratha failure to oppose the foreign 

invader in 1757 and even more, with the Bhau^s vast 

resources in 1760-61, convinced the Indian world that 

Maratha friendship was a very weak reed to lean upon 

in any real danger. No North-Indian potentate would 

risk sure annihilation by siding with the Marathas in 

their day of difficulty, or even while the issue of their 

contest with the foreigner was trembling in the balance. 

Maratha protection was not worth purchasing by the 

least sacrifice, because the Marathas had clearly demon¬ 

strated in the last four years that they could not protect 

their dependents, any more than they had been able to 

^protect their own selves in 1761. 

Above all, to the reflective historian, the Panipat 

disaster by killing the Peshwa Balaji Rao and removing; 

nearly all of his great captains and able civil officers, as 1 

well as his grown up son Vishwas Rao and his expert i 

and devoted prime minister Sadashiv Rao Bhau, left the 

path absolutely open and easy to the guilty ambition of ^ 

Raghunath Dada, the most infamous character in/ 

Maratha history. Other losses time could have made 

good, but this was the greatest mischief done by the 

debacle at Panipat. 
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§ 28. Death of the Peshwa litdaji Rao, 

The Poshwa^s health began to show an alarming 

decline towards the close of the year of his greatest 

triumphs in the North and the South,—his victory over 

the Nizam and his capture of the imperial capital. 

Unsuspected by doctors^ the hand of death was already 

upon him. A wasting disease was sapping his strength, 

and this, coupled with the increasing worries of public 

business, quarrels within his family circle, and above all 

the bankruptcy of his Government, made him 

extremely irritable. Some attempt was made to divert 

him with dance and song, for which handsome 

slave-girls were imported from Delhi, and even 

by marrying him to a new young wife on 27th 

December at Paithan. He now planned to march to 

Northern India, taking Nizam Ali with him, in order 

to make a combined effort of all the loyal country Powers 

for expelling the alien usurper of the Padishah^s realm. 

On 9th January 1761, Raghunath Dada and Sakharam 

Bapu were deputed to induce Nizam Ali to come. The 

embassy failed, and the Peshwa had to continue his 

northward march alone. 

By this time all was over with the Bhau, and on 

24th January the Peshwa at Bhilsa intercepted a banker^s 

letter written from Delhi giving the fatal news of 

Panipat. All his plans were now upset He halted at 

Bhilsa till 7th February, and then marched by way of 

Sihor and Sironj to Pachhar, 32 miles north of Sironj, 
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ia the delusive hope that the rumours about the Bhau and 

some other chiefs having escaped from the field might 

prove true. Hero the survivors from Panipat 

met him, and pressed him to return home. The awful 

catastrophe had unhinged his mind and hastened the 

work of consumption. He began to moan to himself 

alone, call for his lost son and cousin, and talk 

incoherently. By this time he had been reduced to 

a skeleton, having lost 64 lbs. Leaving Pachhar on 

22 March, the Court returned to Puna in June, and 

here he expired on 23 June 1761. It was a dismal^ 

sunset to the glorious noon of his father^s and his own^ 

reign. A new scene now opened in the tragic drama 

of Maratha history, with its ^^Theban horrors^^ of murder] 

suicide and the untimely death of the young. * But 

the historian of Delhi is not concerned with it, as the ^ 

Delhi Government practically enjoyed a respite from 

Maratha intrusion almost to the end of the reign of i 

the new Peshwa Madhav Eao Ballal (1761-1772.) 

Panipat had done its work even in the South. 

• Peshwa’s last days,—Nur-ud-din 52. Nana Fadnis Auto. 
SPD. il 133-xxvii. 260. xxi. 204. xxrii 260-272. xl. 137. Raj. 
iii. 210. vi. 415,416. &hwr6, I 26^ 28. 



APPENDIX 

I. Tlie Pesliwa's respomibilitf/ for the defeat at Paniifat, 

Did Balaji Rao cause the disaster at Panipat by breakings 
his promise to go to the relief of the Bhau with an army 
from the Deccan ? No, because there is not a scrap of 
evidence that he made any such promise, or even that the 
Bhau had appealed to him for reinforcements. The modern 
effort to make the Peshwa or Govind Ballal the scapegoat 
for the Panipat disaster is at once disproved by the contents 
and dates of the original letters of the Bhau and the 
Peshwa, and the fa(‘t that it took at least four weeks in 
the most peaceful times for a letter to travel from Panipat 
to the Godavari, while the least local disturbance on the 
long route would delay the letter by weeks more. The popular 
theory that the Bhau put of! his attack on Abdali 
immediately after the rival armies had reached Panipat 
because he expected that the Peshwa would come up in the 
rear of Abdali and thus the enemy would be easily 
destroyed between two fires, is pure moonshine, because 
the Bhau decided to entrench on 4th November [Raj. i. 264J, 
when there was not the least whisper of the Peshwa having 
started for the north or even that he had decided on a 
personal campaign in Hindustan. 

On 5th September the Bhau did indeed appeal to the 

Peshwa, but it was for money ; he gives not the faintest 
idea of any military insufficiency on his side. Then 
followed the success at Kunjpura (October), which elevated 
the spirit of the Maratha army of the North. Even on 
1st November the Bhau wrote to Govind Ballal that he ^^had 
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€V(‘ry hope of being able to swallow Abdilli up in a few 
days/" [Raj. i. 261. | Another letter from his camp written 
four day^ later (by Krishna Joshi) shows his army in the 
same over-confident spirit. For a month after this, i, e., up 
to the 7th of December, the Maratha troops retained their 
optimism ; they were daily roving round the Afghan camp 
and making spoils from its outskirts and distressing the 
enemy by cutting his supplies off, while Naro Shankar 
from Delhi was successfully harrying the middle Do lb 
and parts of trans-Ganges by means of his detachments 
\SPD, ii. 197, Raj. i. 243.] Therefore, such a dominant 
force could have had no occasion or valid reason for 
demanding more man-power from the South, Money alone 
was needed by it, and that money could come only from 
the Maratha collectors in the North. 

The fall of Meh6ndel^ (7 Dec.) completely changed the 
scene, but not at once. It took the Shah about a fortnight 
from this date to cut the Bhiiu’s line of communication with 
Delhi, to terrorize the Maratha army into remaining passive 
within their trenches day and night, and to stop their 
provision supply altogether. Govind himself fell on 
17 December. That was the date on which despair took 
the place of boastful confidence in the beleaguered army. 
But a letter sent out of Panipat on 22nd December (the day 
when the Bhau received the mangled head of Govind 
Ballal), even if it could have escaped the Durrani patrols 
and the hostile Baluch zamindars on the way, could not 
have brought a single trooper back from the Deccan, could 
not even have reached the Peshwa before the fatal morning 
of 14th January 1761, 

The Bhau nowhere says that he was looking for armed 
relief from the South. He perished, not so much from 

insufficiency of man-power, as because his army at Kunjpuifi 
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and after “lived in the air”; it had no secure ha^e at all. 

He had rejected Suraj Mai’s wise advice to leave all his 
non-combatants and impedimenta behind in the Jat forts, 
so as to render his force extremely mobile. After this it 
was a criminal folly on his part to make Delhi his base 
and yet leave there Naro Shankar with a contemptible force 
of 3,000 light horse and 3,000 foot, all second line troops 
or raw recruits [Raj. i. 2371, whom any Durrani 
lieutenant could have crushed. Even a Dattaji Sindhia 
with fully 10,000 seasoned horse of his own, if posted 
at Delhi, would not have been more than what the 
importance of that base during the Bhau’s northward advance 
to the Satlaj demanded from a far-sighted general. 

The Bhiiu had taken 78 days in marching from Sindhkhed 
to a place 20 miles short of Agra, and the Peshwa would 
have required at least a hundred days in covering a route 
275 miles longer, from Paithan to Panipat. The knowledge 
of this fact alone would have deterred the Bhau from 
asking for the Peshwa’s armed aid. 

Therefore, it is proved beyond a doubt that the only 
help which the Bhfiu solicited from the Peshwa was money., 
Such an appeal exasperated Balaji Rao beyond endurance, 
and with every reason. He had, in order to furnish the 
Bhau for the Hindustan expedition, added to his already 
heavy burden of debt, and cut down the force retained 
for the defence of the Deccan to the bones (only 10,000 men 
of his own.) The devoted Dattaji Sindhia had assured him 
that he was • thinking day and night how to relieve the 
Peshwa’s load of debt, but Dattaji in the midst of his 

arduous campaigns in the North had never asked for 
remittance from Puna. The Bhau had been supplied with 
a much larger army and orders for half the Maratha dues 
in the North. His task was to collect, by the demonstration 
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of his force, the tributes and revenue outstanding there and 
thus help to satisfy the creditors of the Puna Government, 
for whom nothing could be spared from the scanty revenues 
of the Deccan. And yet the Bhau was <lemanding more money 
for his own expenses ! We can now easily understand why 
Balaji’s courtiers found it dangerous even to speak to him 
about the army under the Bhau. As a courtier reports, 
‘‘He has lost all recollection of the men in Hindustan 
(m., the Bhau and his army.) Even talk about sending 
help to them is displeasing to his mind.” (Letter of 26 Nov. 
SPD, ii. 133=xxvii. 260. | To such hints the Peshwa’s 
reply, expressed by silence or a grunt rather than words, 
signified that he had given the Bhau a rope suflSciently long 
to hang himself with and would leave him there. What lashed 
his resentment to fury was the unforgettable fact that the 
same rope which Sadashiv had placed round his own 
neck would strangle Vishwas Rao also ! 

In such circumstances, a born master of affairs would 
have asserted his will, cut his losses by abandoning all his 
northern ambitions (or severely curtailing them within the 
limits of possibility), and commanded the Bhau at once 
to fall back on Agra, or even Gwalior, and thus saved his 
son and army, at the expense of the coveted but unattainable 
lordship of Delhi and the Panjab and the unhampered 
possession of the Doiib. We can blame Balaji for this 
failure of a supreme master’s duty ; his marriage at Paithan 

had nothing to do with the issue in the North. 
The military disaster to the Marathas at Panipat was 

inevitable, considering the polar difference in armament^ 
tactics, discipline, internal cohesion (by means of a depend¬ 
able chain of officers) and numbers between the rival armies. 
There could have been no victory for the Bhau there; the 
Utmost was a successful retreat with what he could save 
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out of his army, abandoning all his accumulated plunder of 
six months and most of his non-combatants. His failure 
in that clash of arms does not excite our indignation so 
much as the utter blindness to the facts of the situation, 
the lack of a consistent far-sighted policy and of the 
practical give and take spirit, and above all the total 
diplomatic failure,—in one word, the want of statesman¬ 
ship,—on the part of the master at Puna who dictated, 
and the doomed agent near Delhi who carried out, his 
North-Indian policy. 

II. Hoiv far did Malhar Ilolkar rontribate 
to the defeat at Panipat Y 

In a defence of his own conduct supposed to have been 
dictated by Malhar Holkar, which is current in Maharashtra, 
he says that he was ordered by the Bhau to escort the 
wives of the Bhau and other chiefs out of the Panipat 
camp to the Deccan as soon as he saw signs of defeat in 
the field on that day (or received a hint to that effect from 
the Bhau), and that he had left the field accordingly. This 
apologia bears every mark of being apocryphal, and indeed 
Rajwad^ suspected its authenticity long ago. The only 
division of the Maratha army that returned from Panipat 
in a tolerably large and compact form was HolkaPs (about 
1,500 men.) If he was the officer selected by the Bhau to 
lead the retreat, he would certainly have kept touch, through¬ 
out the fight, with the ladies whom he had been ordered 
to save and he should have gone up to them immediately 
after leaving the field. But in fact he met Parvati Bai on 
the way, some 20 hours after the end of the battle, whiclp' 
shows that their junction was purely accidental. 

Again, though according to the current Maratha tradition 
(BftSte Sah Bodoha/r, p. 79 and Holkar Kaifyat^ p* 23), 
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young Jankoji Kindhia clung to Malhar a child does to 
its mother, and in the battle of Panipat Jankoji was posted 

at the very elbow of Malhar, the latter did not take Janko 
with him in his flight, which he could have most easily done 
in a pre-arranged and well-conducted retreat. The weight 
of evidence is irresistible that Malhar thought only of saving 
himself, and by a secret collusion with Najib (and, through 
Najib, with Shah Pasand Khan, his opposite number,) that 
neither party would molest the other, he remained inert 
during the critical stage of the battle. But as soon as 
the Bhilu’s defeat appeared certain, though still an hour before 
the end of the struggle, JNfalhar fled away westwards, thus 
utterly uncovering Jankoji's right flank. Shah Pasand 
thrust himself into the gap and attacked Janko from that 
wing and the rear, while Najib, who had now worked his 

way to within musket shot of Janko (his opposite number), 
assailed him in front with a discharge of 2,CH)0 rockets at a 
time into his densely crowded and confused ranks. Jankoji, 
himself severely wounded and enveloped dn front right and 

* The sober Kashiraj says, '‘Shah Pasand Khan was very 
brave and experienced in war. He advanced with such vigour 
that the [confronting] Maratha corps had not the power to draw 
breath,"—which I take to mean that the two sides only made a 
demonstration from a short distance. But Shah Pasand’s servant 
Shamlu, writing 35 years afterwards, says with his usual exaggera¬ 
tion,—As Janko and Malhar with one lakh of troops, keeping 
their feet hrmly before Shah Pasand Khan, were fighting, the 
Khan on becoming strengthened at heart when he heard the 
news of the flight of the infidels [at the centre], charged the 
sardars in front of him and fought for two gkaria. At last they 
too preferred flight to fight.” (Br. Mus. Or. 1895, p. 78.) 
Italhar’s concert with Najib is mentioned by Nur. (51a) and 
Bmain Skahi^ 72. 
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rear, was driveD with the broken remnant of his division 
towards his left (the only path now lying open to him) and 
reached the rear of the Bhau’s division (the centre.) There 
he fell into the jaws of Barkhurdar Khan, who, after the 
annihilation ol the Gardi troops and consequent disappear¬ 
ance of the entire Maratha left wing, had turned the 
Maratha centre and got behind the Bhau. 

It is only on this supposition that we can explain how 
Jankoji, who was posted on the extreme rifjhl of the 
Maratha line of battle, happened to become the captive of 
Barkhurdar Khan, who commanded at a diagonally opposite 
position, namely that facing the extreme Ivft of the Maratha 
line. 

III. Historical sources on Panipaf. 

The primary source for the history of the Bhau’s 
campaign in Hindustan (March 1760—January 1761) from 
the Maratha side is the long series of letters from the Bhfiu 
to Govind Ballal and others and several of Govind Ballal’s 
letters which V. K. Rajwadt^ recovered and printed in his 
Sadkanen, vol. i, as well as a few stray letters of that 
period in his vols. iii. and vi, and a small sheaf of the 
historical letters still extant in the Peshwas^ record office 
and included in G. S. Sardesai^s Selections from the Peshwds* 
Daftar^ vols. ii, xxi, and xxvii, and two or three letters 
printed by V. V. Khar^ in his Lekk Sangraha^ vol. i. Only 
two of these touch the last battle, and that too very briefly. 
The Bhau SMbamhi Bakhar^ the Panipat Bakhar and 
Hblkaranchi Kaifiyat, in the same language, have to be 
rejected as later gossipy fabrications, no better than opium- 
eaters’ tales. But what puzzles the critical historian in the 
Bhau Sahibanehi Bakhar is that, hopelessly mixed up with 
its mass of demonstrably fali^ statements, there are some 
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true traditions (as proved by authentic records) and some 
statements which have every appearance of being true 
though unsupported elsewhere. Therefore, the simple remedy 

of rejecting this work in its entirety would impoverish our 
scanty store of information on the battle, and yet it is not 
safe to accept any of its statements so long as it cannot be 

corroborated by other and more reliable sources. 
I have rejected much of Nana Fadnis’s autobiography, 

written probably ^10 years after the battle and with much of 
his early memory effaced by the lapse of time and engross¬ 
ing State affairs, because when this narrative is confronted 
with his letters written from the Bhau’s camp (which I have 
accepted as most trustworthy), it is proved in(*orrect in 
some particulars. 

In the Persian language no despatch, newsletter or 
other State-paper has survived. The earliest and best record 
is the Delhi Chronicle^ which gives the most accurate 
<lates and several original facts, though in its usual brief 
language. The Persian narrative of the battle and the 
events which led to it, written in 1780 by Kashiraj Shiv 
Rao Pandit, a Deccani Brahman long in the service of 
Shuja-ud-daulah, is the fullest and most trustworthy 
source on the battle itself, about which naturally no Marathi 
despatch is available. The fact of this author being a 
Maratha by race and creed and his presence in Abdali's 
oamp in the train of Shuja throughout the campaign made 
him naturally see both sides more intimately and get 
information about both the camps more fully and accurately 
than was possible for any other person. His employment 
as a mediator between the two sides gives a peculiar import¬ 
ance to his narrative* He stood by Shuja’s side throughout 
the battle and once carried a message to the hard-pressed 
Durrani wazir at the centre. 
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Kashiraj frankly admits that he ‘‘wrote 19 years after 
the event and from memory,” but a critical and comparative 
study of his narrative proves his veracity. A few in¬ 
accuracies due to lapse of memory or hurried writing can 
be easily corrected, often from his own words elsewhere. 
These are: (i) Malhar Holkar’s position was in the extreme 
right of the Maratha line of battle, and not penultimate as 
his loose language suggests, (ii) Najib did not leave his 
position facing Jankoji Sindhia, in order to deliver a flank 
attack on the Bh.m’s centre,—at least not till all was over 
oxcept the shouting, (iii) Similarly, throughout the contested 
stage of the battle Shah Pasand Khan merely neutralized 
the Maratha division (Malhar’s) opposite to him, instead of 
engaging in any close combat with it or with the Bhau’s 
centre, before Malhar’s flight, (iv) The Durranis plundered 
the Maratha camp not in the night following the battle but 
next morning, (v) The rival armies stood facing north 
and south (and not eastwards and westwards, as in Browne^s 
translation.) Sfmrq-rua in the text means ‘counting from 
the eastern end of the line of battle.’ Shakir Khan says 
that the Ruhela contingent in the Durrani army barred the 
road to Delhi, which we know ran southwards and not 
eastwards from Panipat city. (See also SPD, xxvii. 259.) 

Sayyid Qhulam Ali, the author of Imai-m-sMat^ 
extensively borrows from Kashiraj (often verbatim). 

Another eye-witness of the battle was Md. J‘afar Sbamlu, 
^hen the chief manager of Shah Pasand Khan. But he 
wrote 35 years after the battle, without any notes, and solely 
trusting to his memory. Though he boasts, “It is most 
probable that none knows more about this battle than the 
aulhor {Le^ Sbamlu)*** Whatever any other man narrates 
contrary to my statements*••is falsehood pure and simple, 
And deserves no credence,”—yet his narrative is often wrong 

24 
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and his numbers grossly inflated, a reduction fo one4enth 
being necessary in most cases before we can reach the 

truth! He gives no details of the battle at all comparable 

to Kashiraj's. [Br. Mus. Persian Or. 1895. | 

Sayyid Nur-ud-din Hasan’s Life of Najib-ud-daulah [Br, 

Mus* MB. 24,410] written about 1773, most probably for 

Sir Charles W. Malet, is extremely valuable in some parts, 

but has to be used with caution where he depended on 

others for information. He was not present in the battle, 

as being a servant of Imad-ul-mulk he had to remain in 

hiding at Bharatpur with his master throughout this 

campaign. But he was the most learned and thoughtful of 

the Muslim writers on this subject and took care to ascertain 

the facts from the actors in the aflair and to reproduce 

them faithfully in his book. [Fully trans. by me in Islamic 
Culture, Haidarabad, 1933.) 

The author of Siyar-ul’-mutakhkhann lived at Patna, at 

a vast distance from Delhi at this time, and his account of 

the battle (copied by Tartkh-i-Muwffari with only two small 

additions) is based on hearsay. Shakir Khan was living 

in Panipat in unemployment and poverty during the siege, 

but his Taxkira [Br. Mus. Add. 6585, I have used a Patna 

MS.] is too brief to be of any use. 

Gross misrepresentation of the facts of the battle was 

afterwards made by Shuja-ud-daulah’s flatterers to glorify 

their patron, in Gulistini’s MiijmihuUtawarikh (ed. by Oskar 

Mann, I^eiden, 1896), Mustajab Khan’s Ouli$tan4rRahmat 
and Imam-ud-din Husaini’s Tarikh-i-Husain Shahi (wr. 

1798.) The last-named work, amidst much confusion 

of dates and events and incorrect statement^ supplies many 

useful correct details, and sometimes *^rees remarkably with 

Uur-ud-din in points not given by any other author. 

Miskin, unfortunately for us, was not present at the> 
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battle or anywhere near. Nor was Suraj Mai. Hence, 
Miskin’s Memoirs [Br. Mus. Pers. 8807] and Father Xavier 
WendePs French history of the Jat kingdom (India Office, 

Orme MSS., O. V. 216) touch the battle too briefly. 
Purandare Daftar^ i., is a valuable primary source for the 

events after the battle of Panipat, esp. the Peshwa’s last 
days (Nos. 393-426), but gives nothing important about the 
Itattle : 386 (Ahir risings in Bhau’s rear), 389 (why Bhau 
rejectetl Shuja’s peace proposal), 391 (early Maratha brag at 
Panipat=Raj. i. 265), 392 (Barvo's Oudh raid), 397 and 425 
(casualties and fugitives), 417 (Nana Fadnis’s letter on the 
battle with list of names,—very useful.) 

IV. MiHtarjj notes on Panipat, 

The cause of the Durrani victory is thus convincingly 
given by the French captain Jean Law, who visited Delhi 
in 1758:—“Nothing like it the disorderly condition of 
Indian troops] is to be seen in the army of Abdali; every¬ 
thing there is real, the men as much as the horses and the 
arms. His army is divided into squadrons of a thousand 
horsemen. Each squadron is distinguished by a cap of a different 
colour and under the command of a chief, who invariably 
makes his report to Abdali himself twice a day. The chief 
has subaltern officers for whose conduct he is held respon¬ 
sible. The review of the troops is made rigorously all the 
months, and—what merits attention,—they are punished at 

least as often as they are rewarded. Although the troops 
of Abdali are generally good, there are among them some 
corps that surpass the others. They are the men whose 
bravery has been more frequently put to the proof. Every 
time this prince enters on a campaign he keeps apart 12 or 

15 of these squadrons. It is his reserve corps, destined for 
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the decisive strokes, and of which the Marathas have felt 

the weight so often.” {Memoire, 194-195.) 
I believe that over half the Sindhia contingent (the rear 

portion) fled away westwards very early along with Holkar 

and only a fraction (the van and Jankoji’s personal friends 
and staflf) offered resistance and, when overpowered by 

Shah Pasand and Najib, retreated with their chief eastwards 

to the Bhau’s corps. [SPD. xxvii. 271.| To this extent my 
second plan of the battle requires alteration. Also, though 

in the plans the Maratha divisions (except the Gardi brigade) 

are shown as cavalry, there were in fact many unmounted 
men among them, as one general (Satvoji Jadav) admits that 

“Many of our soldiers lost their horses and the rest were 

famished” during the two months’ investment in Panipat. 

Elephants versus Turki horses,—Ahmsid Shah said that 

elephants were admirable means of baggage transport ; but 
a mount, the control of which is not in the hands of the 

Tider and which can carry him whither it wills, should not 

be resorted to ,* while a litter (pallci) is only suitable for a 

sick man, [Samin, tr. in Ind. Aniiq,, 1907, p. 60.] 

Sardar Jahan Khan came to the camp of Najib with 

8,000 horsemen by fast marches [1767] and... Najib 

immediately sent Zabita Khan to accompany him against 

the Sikhs, The sardar said to Zabita Khan, “Your head 

and body appear to be very soft; you have been constantly 

used to sitting in palkis and carpets. How will you be able 

to keep up with us ? ... Why do you take an elephant 
with you ?” [Nur-ud-din, 1116.] 

The Maratha generals are said to have brought three 

hundred elephants into the field in the battle of Panipat 



CHAPTER XXJl 

Najib-to-daula, Dictator ok Deijii, 1701-1770. 

§ 1. Ahmad Shah Abdali’s doinffs in India 

after Panipat. 

P'rom 10th October 1760, when Sadashiv Rao Bhaa 

deposed the wazir’s puppet Shah Jahan II and proclaimed 

Shah Alam II Emperor in Delhi, to the 6th of January 

1772, when Shah Alam rode into the capital of his 

fathers for the first time as sovereign, the imperial city 

was widowed of her lord. True, throughout this long 

interval of over eleven years, there always lived in Delhi 

a recognized vicar of the Emperor in the person of his 

eldest son Mirza Jawan Bakht, with the title of Wali 

Ahad or Heir; but the Emperor himself was sighing 

out his days in exile at Allahabad or elsewhere in the 

territory of the Nawab of Oudb, unable to control the 

administration of the realm from its centre. This 

eclipse of royalty coincides almost exactly with the 

noontide splendour of Najib Khan’s career as the virtual 

dictator of Delhi and the supreme regulator of the affaira 

of what still remained of the Mughal empire. Only 

fourteen months separate the death of Najib (31 Oct. 

1770) from the return of Shah Alam to Delhi. There¬ 

fore, the history of the centre of the Mughal empire can 

be best studied as a part of the life-story of Najib-ud- 
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daulah, cvea though he very seldom resided in the city 

of Delhi during these ten years. 

The day after his greatest victory, Ahmad Shah 

Abdali visited the city of Panipat, dressed in a splendid 

robe on which glittered the costly jewels (including the 

Kohinur) taken away by Nadir Shah from the Delhi 

palace and seized by Ahmad Shah during the plunder 

of his murdered master^s camp. He made a pilgrimage 

to the tomb of the saint Bu Ali Qalandar and there 

knelt down in thanksgiving to the God of Hosts for 

His crowning mercy. He soon set out for Delhi, which 

he entered a fortnight after the battle (on 29th January, 

1761.) * 

Throughout the last three months, ^^a feeling as of 

death had settled upon that unhappy city from rumours 

of the Shah^s coming/^ and on his arrival “grain became 

extremely dear.^' Its Maratha governor Naro Shankar, 

had found his position untenable as soon as the news 

of the disaster to the Bhau^s army reached Delhi. The 

Muslim mob assembled and engaged in plunder without 

fear or check ; every fugitive from Panipat was stripped 

of his all. But, thanks to the grateful support of the 

ex-Empress Zinat Mahal, Naro Shankar issued from the 

city with his property and family without molestation,- 

except for being forced to pay up the dues of the 

Abyssinian qiladar Habsh Khan and his garrison. He 

* Abdali after Fanipat.—Kashiraj, DC, Ghuiam Ali, ii. 186-J 88* 
Wendel 83. SPD, ii. 142. xxi. 202. 
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presented 3^ lakhs of Rupees in cash, besides costly 

articles of the Deccan to the Queen-mother; much 

dispersed property which he could not collect and carry 

away in his hurry, came into the imperial treasury. 

Then the Durrani army entered the city and engaged 

in seizing property "beyond imagination/^ Habsh Khan 

was squeezed out of 10,000 gold coins. The Queen- 

mother welcomed the victor by advancing with the Heir 

io Narela, 12 kos north of Delhi, and presenting one 

lakh of Rupees to him and half a lakh to his 

wazir. 

During February and the first half of March, Ahmad 

Shah occupied the Delhi palace, living with his wives 

in the rooms set apart for Mumtaz Mahal in the reign 

of Shah Jahan, and holding Court in the famous Diwan- 

i-khas. After the hardships of the last fifteen months 

of campaigning and privation, he gave himself and his 

army up to pleasure and repose for some time in the 

imperial city. 

But his peace was disturbed by the mutiny of his 

Durrani troops who clamoured for their pay,—now two 

years in arrear,—and also insisted on being immediately 

led back to their mountain home, as they would not 

spend another summer on the Indian plains. Najib was 

oalled upon to pay the cost of bis deliverance from the 

Maratba menace by Durrani arms. He tried hard to 

shift the burden from his own shoulders by presenting 

NSgar Mai the envoy of the Jat Rajah (2let Feb.) and 
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opening negotiations for the payment of a tribute by 

that prince in return for Abdali^s forgiveness. But the 

Queen-mother Zinat Mahal hated Suraj Mai as the 

protector and ally of her husband^s murderer and she 

knew from the past that Suraj Mai was only playing to 

gain time and would pay nothing unless compelled by 

force. So, she induced the Durrani wazir to dismiss 

the Jat envoy with a direct refusal. On 8th March, 

Shah Wali Khan, with Prince Jawan Bakht and Zinat 

Mahal, set out for Agra in order to put pressure on 

Suraj Mai; but the Durrani soldiers refused to march 

to the Mathura region where they had daily lost hundreds 

of their brethren from cholera in this very month of 

March only four years ago. The increasing disorder 

among his troops compelled Ahmad Shah to decide on 

a prompt return to Afghanistan and he recalled his 

wazir. In the meantime, a riot had broken out between 

Shuja^s Shia followers and the Shah^s Sunni troops, and 

the Nawab of Oudh, in high anger at this return for his 

valued assistance during the late war with the Marathas, 

left for his province on 7th March. On the 13th of 

that month the Shah began preparations for his retreat. 

Leaving Delhi city on 20th March he halted for two 

days in the Shalimar garden north-west of the city, 

and began bis return march on the 22nd, reaching 

Ambala on the 27th. A Maratha letter reports that 

there was a tbrjee days^ plunder of Delhi by his 

rebreating troops. 
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§ 2. How Najib became regent of DelhL 

The Durrani king^s parting instructions were that 

Shah A lam should be recognized as Emperor, Imad 

reappointed wazir and Najib Mir Bakhshi, and that 

these two ministers should bury their old hostility and 

work in friendly co-operation and singleness of devotion 

to their master^s interests. But a river of blood lay 

between Shah Alam and Imad, and the opportunist Najib 

used this fact to secure his own elevation as regent of 

the empire for the next ten years. He wrote to the 

Queen-mother that if Imad returned to Delhi and 

resumed charge of the government, he would set Shah 

Alam and his branch of the royal family aside and set up 

a crowned puppet of his own like the late Shah Jahan II.. 

So, the Heir issued a rescript calling upon Najib to 

come and take charge of the capital. Thus, whUe Imad, 

after receiving the wazir^s robe from Abdal^s agent was 

delaying at Mathura to assemble his Jat escort and 

^Tbuilding castles in the air,^^ Najib stole a march over 

him, came to Luni, and was brought over to Delhi by the 

Crown Prince (7th April), the two seated on the same 

elephant.* This move checkmated Imad; his sole 

supporter Suraj Mai, when faced with the accomplished 

* Nur. 546—556. PC, SFD. ii. 144, There are two lives of 
Najib in Persian, one (extremely well-written) by Bayyid Nar-ad-din 
Hasan Khan (afterwards Sir C. W. Mftlet's mumhi) composed 
prdbably in 1773 (Br. Mas. Pers. MS. 24,410), and the other by 
Bihari Zjal, the mumhi of Najib, written in 1787. 
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fact, refused to instal Imad in the wazirship as it now 

meant an attack upon Delhi. 

Najib became the official head of the army of the 

empire [Mir Bnkhski)^ governor (favjdar) of the metro¬ 

politan district, and regent {mulhidr) of the imperial 

administration. ^In the whole city his men were 

installed in the offices of tax collection, control of the 

grain market, etc. His agent was posted at the gate of 

the palace-fort as its commandant. Shah Alam ratified 

the arrangement.^^ Najib put a garrison of some six 

thousand men in Delhi, and held the capital by means of 

a trusty lieutenant such as his brother (Afzal or Sultan 

Khan) or his son Zabita Khan, who governed it. This 

work Zabita discharged very ably and pleased every one, 

especially the traders, by his strict justice, suppression 

of robbery, and sympathy with the people in their 

distress. fNur 98ft]. 

§ 3. Ahdali's attempt to conclude peace with the 

Peshwa and Suraj Mai fails, 

Ahmad Shah Abdali, like a wise statesman, wished to 

leave behind him an agreed peace among all the Powers 

of India: he himself would keep the Panjab from the 

Satlaj westwards and content himself with an anuual 

tribute of 40 lakhs of Rupees for the rest of the Mughal 

ompire, payable by the minister who would wield the 

regency of Delhi. As for the Marathas,* during several 

•Abdali and the Peshwa after Panipat,-~Rai. vi. 382, 384, 42S, 
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years after Panipat Abdali persisted in the attempt to 

placate the Peshwa; he wrote repeatedly to his Delhi 

agent, Yaqub Ali, to go to the Peshwa and beg him to 

excuse the Durrani king for the slaughter of his son and 

cousin at Panipat, as Ahmad Shah had no intention of 

fighting them, but the Bhau had begun the offensive and 

forced the Shah to take up arms in self-defence. The 

envoy was instructed to assure the Puna Court that the 

Maratha-Durrani boundary as now settled by negotia¬ 

tion would be scrupulously respected, and that all the 

Indian Powers would have Abdali^s blessing in support¬ 

ing Shah Alam on the Delhi throne and letting the 

regular government of the empire start again. 

In short, Abdali^s sole interest in India was to get 

his tribute punctually year after year, without having to 

stnd an Afghan army for its collection. It was, there¬ 

fore, necessary for him that the stains quo should be 

maintained in Hindustan, the Ruhelas secured from 

molestation, and the Marathas induced to come to terms 

with the Durrani and Shah Alam and not to disturb the 

Delhi administration and cut off its revenue resources as 

they had done by their invasions in the past. Such a 

live and let live policy was the most sensible and 

business-like plan at the time, if only the Peshwa could 

be induced to let bygones be bygone and to curb his 

ambition within the bounds of what was realizable. The 

425. DO. 8PD. xxu 202 (completed by ii. 103.) xxvil 272. ii. 146, 
146* 141, 142. xxix. 10, 
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Maratha failure to do this shows that they had not a 

single statesman among them and that by trying to grasp 

all they were destined to lose all in the end. 

Yaqnb Ali Khan, by Abdali’s order, left Delhi on 

9th April with the robe and jewelled pen-case 

appertaining to the ofl&ce of imperial wazir, for delivering 

them to Imad at Mathura. On the 19th the envoy was 

presented to Suraj Mai. Long consultations were held 

by these three, as well as Tatya Gangadhar (Holkar’s 

diwan) and Bapu M. Hingane (the Peshwa’s resident 

wakil at Delhi), for settling a peace between the Shah 

and the Peshwa and restoring the normal administration 

of the country. Envoys of the trans-Ganges Ruhelas 

and of Ahmad Bangash and Shuja-ud-daulah too arrived 

to join in this peace congress. But nothing came of it, 

partly because with a dying Peshwa on the throne the 

Maratha State was headless, but mainly because Suraj 

Mai and Imad were bent upon setting Najib aside and 

asserting their own authority over the imperial dominions 

without a partner. A lasting peace with Abdali and 

Najib was the last thing that they desired. Imad and 

Talya Gangadhar prevented Yaqub Ali from going to 

the Peshwa and settling the peace terms and the 

boundary question by direct negotiation with him, and 

asked the envoy to conclude the discussion at Mathura. 

The envoy protested that the Shah’s order was for him 

to go to Puna, placate the Peshwa by offering condolences 

for the slaughter at Panipat, ascertain his demands 
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and make terms then and there. But in view of 

Balaji Bao’s mental derangement and imminent death, he 

was detained at Mathura and the congress broke up 

after two months of futile talk. 

Yaqub Ali was a mere courier of the Shah^s 

message; he could undertake nothing on his own 

responsibility. So, he plainly told Imad that his task 

was over with the handing of the wazir^s insignia to 

the latter and that Imad must make himself the 

de facto head of the Delhi government by his own 

strength. Suraj Mai was now by far the most powerful 

prince in India, with absolutely unimpaired forces and an 

ovrflowing treasury. The recent two years^ Afghan- 

Maratha contest had left him quite untouched. In the 

visible decay of all other Powers in North India, he 

wished, with Imad as his tool and the cloak of legality 

which Imad^s office of wazir could thiowover all his 

undertakings, to seize the actual government of the 

empire and wrest the neighbouring provinces from the 

Bu^elas the Bangash and Shuja in the name of the 

Emperor but keep them himself ^^under a veil.^^ 

The Oudh and Afghan envoys assembled at Mathura 

were indignant and replied, ^Tf you want us to give up 

our lands only in order to lease them to the 

Jat, we shall not surrender them.^^ The natural result 

was that the negotiations broke down, the par-Ruhelas, 

though jealous and afraid of Najib, were antagonized 

towards Imad, and the titular wazit’s hope of ousting 
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Najib from Delhi entirely disappeared. Suraj Mai 

bluntly refused to fight Najib single-handed for the 

sake of Imad. He had a most precious fruit close at 

hand, ripe for the plucking. On 12th June he captured 

Agra fort by bribery, after less than a month^s blockade. 

Najib had come back from Sonepat to Delhi for the 

Id prayer of ()th May, which he attended seated side 

by side with the Crown Prince on the same elephant. 

Now, on hearing of Suraj MaFs design against Agra, 

he at first talked of marching out with the prince to 

the relief of that fort. But after taking a muster of 

the troops available at Delhi (9th May), he wisely 

shrank from a war with the Jat myriads, and left Delhi 

on 14th June with a view to establishing his revenue 

control over the Sonepat district, now that the country 

south of Delhi was hopelessly lost to the empire from 

Suraj MaFs occupation of Agra fort. 

§ 4. Survey of Najib Khan^s career from 1761. 

This is a convenient point for taking a bird^s- 

eye view of the rest of Najib's career. The Panipat 

campaign bad left him without a rival in the Delhi 

Government and supreme in authority and influence in 

the north, though grievously weakened by the heavy 

slaughter of his trained soldiery daring the long warfare 

and the draining of his resources through the payment 

ol money subsidies to Abdali and the supply of 

provisions to his army from his Doab estates for 
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over a year. On the other hand, the Jat Rajah was- 

now the strongest and richest potentate in India. 

Najib wisely shrank from a trial of strength with 

Suraj Mai. His ambition was therefore strictly limited 

to the country north and west of Delhi and his 

old jagirs in the upper Doab and Rohilkhand, besides 

such former Maratha acquisitions in the middle Doab 

as he could easily seize. Further down the Doab, 

roughly south of a line drawn west to east through 

Delhi, the Jat Power now expanding without fear or 

check impinged upon Najib^s possessions and pre¬ 

cipitated a deadly conflict which was to dominate DelhPs 

external politics till February 1765. After Najib's 

potent diplomacy and still more potent gold had enabled 

him in that month to finally checkmate the new Jat 

Rajah and turn his hostile designs to other quarters, the 

Ruhela chiefs ceaseless preoccupation to the very end 

of his days was with the Sikhs. In spite of some signal 

victories gained by him in the field, this eternal trouble 

wore his strength and resources out, desolated and 

beggared his Doab jagirs, and converted the northern¬ 

most Doab and the sub-Himalayan tract facing it on the 

west bank of the Jamuna,—i. c., the Ambala district,— 

practically into Sikh dominion. 

In this perennial contest, it was only by hard 

marching, hard fighting, and the relentless sacrifice of 

everything else to the supremo military need, that Najib 

could prevent his principality from dissolving and the 
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■Sikhs annexing its fragments. But the end was, all the 

same, the devastation of his lands and the insecurity 

■of the roads every year. At the same time a life of 

strenuous exertion was telling upon his health, and 

illness began to sap his vitality from 1763 onwards. 

After 1764, his patron and potent supporter, Ahmad 

Shah Abdali, became too much entangled in civil wars 
at home, the mutiny of his troops, the irrepressible 

upspring of the Sikh nation and latterly his own illness, 

to come to Najib’s rescue. Najib was thenceforth thrown 

entirely upon his own resources. But the folly and 

failure of Jawahir Singh made Najib safe at home, 

■except for the Sikhs, from March 1765 onwards, as the 

debacle of Panipat had removed the Maratha menace 

from him for a decade after 1761. 

No doubt, this peace was mainly a pure gift of 

Fortune, but it was rightly deserved by his marvellous 

diplomatic tact, political insight, masterly handling of 

his resources, and power of seizing every opportunity 
with unfailing skill and prevision. He utilized this 

respite from war to aggrandize his own power and 

-create a strong and spacious domain of his own, without 

a thought for the interests of his nominal master, which 

Najib as an intensely practical man must have perceived 

to be hopeless. 

Secure from the dread of any enemy attack north¬ 

wards up to the Sarhind border, and, after Jawahir’s 

■•decisive repulse early in 1766, equally safe southwards 
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to Ballabhgarh, Najib turned to imposing his authority 

upon the ever-refractory landlords of the North Delhi 

region^ and then expanded his possession and rule over 

the Hansi-Hisar districts immediately west of the above 

tract. Southwest of Delhi lay the Baluch settlements 

in the modern Rohtak district,—such as Jhajhar, 

Bahadurgarh, Farrukhn agar and Tauru,—the petty 

barons of which, as his brother-Muslims and fellow 

trans-Border men, clung to Najib for protection 

against the growing menace of the Jat expansion through 

Mewat towards them. ^‘The parganahs of Hariana,— 

such as Gohana, Rohtak, Dadri, &c.—came into Najib^s 

possession. The Baluch zamindars of that district 

became obedient to him,’^—Musavi Khan of Parrukh- 

nagar joining him with a force of over 2,000 men. ^^Day 

by day Najib^s power increased. Prom the faujdari of 

Sabaranpur he realized 75 lakhs of Rupees [a year.] In 

the Doab places like Mirat, Sikandrabad, Dasna, Baghpat 

&c., and seven mahals belonging to the Marathas, came 

into his possession.^^ [Nur. 555-56a. SPD, ii. 144.) 

Najib^s Baluch protegees formed a line of defence 

along the south-western frontier of his domain \ but this 

very fact made a war to the death between him and 

the Jat Rajah inevitable, as we shall see in Chapter 23. 

The middle Doab also formed a debatable land 

between him and the Jats who had crossed the Jamuna, 

xeeovered their possessions lost to Abdali in March 

1769, and rushed in to fill the void caused by the late 

25 
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Maratha withdrawal from that region. Like a wise 

man of business, Najib seized the substance of power 

in the Delhi Government, leaving it to Imad and Shuja 

to fight over the title of wazir—now reduced to a mere 

shadow, without the least significance in Indian politics* 

He extended his own sway over the three regions 

described above and confirmed it beyond challenge by the 

ruthless sack and massacre of two prominent villages,— 

Buana and Bhiwani,—which struck as much terror and 

were as effective in cowing all opposition throughout 

the country, as Cromwell^s massacres at Drogheda and 

Waterford. With his immense income from the land, 

he set himself to build a new capital of his own at 

Najibabad—adorned with splendid mansions, mosques,, 

etc.—and a strong fort at Pathargarh. 

§ 5. Najih visits Abdali (17G2) and Shah Alam 

{1763.) 

We shall now turn to the narration of^ Najib^s move¬ 

ments and other acts. On 10th September 1761 he 

returned to Delhi from his estate. As he was about 

to enter the Diwan-i-khas for interviewing the Crowa 

Prince, the porters, in accordance with the rules, refused 

to admit more than eleven attendants with him. At 

this he took offence and at once left for his own camp. 

After two days he was pacified by princely apologies 

and paid his visit on the 12th. Then he left for Gohana 

while Nagar Mai was sent to Kumbher to arrange for 
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a personal meeting between him and the Jat Rajah. 

This interview took place about 23rd October, but as we 

shall see in Chapter 23, it produced no real understand¬ 

ing between the two nor any concerted plan for bringing 

Shah Alam back to Delhi. \SPD. xxi. 89. Nur. 5()a.] 

In the November and December of this year we 

find Najib engaged in subduing his refractory tenants 

in the Hansi-Hisar country, aided by Musavi Khan. 

From this region he was called at the beginning of 

February 1762 to meet Ahmad Shah who was then busy 

repressing the Sikhs in the Sarhind-Patiala country. He 

bore the Shah company till the first week of April and 

received high praise from his patron, who publicly 

remarked, This is the only man among the Indian 

Afghans. I have shown many favours to that race, but 

not one of them, not even Shuja-ud-daulah, has come 

to my side.^^ |Nur. 57a. CPC. ii. DC.\ 

After his return to Delhi on 15th April, Najib paid 

a fortnight's visit to his city of Najibabad, then in 

course of construction, and afterwards came back to 

Delhi (17th May), occupying his official residence, 

Safdar Jang^s mansion. Early in October next he went 

to Labor, again to settle the affairs of the empire in con¬ 

sultation with the Abdali king. Yaqub Ali Khan, as 

well as Shah Alamos agents Munir-ud-daulah and Agha 

Raza, and the Maratha wakil Bapu Hingan^ also went 

there for the discussions. It was agreed that Shah 

Alam should be recognized as Emperor and Bhuja as 



388 FALL OF THE MUGHAL EMPIRE |CH. XXII 

his wazir, and that forty lakhs a year should be 

paid to the Afghan king as the tribute of India^—for 

which Najib was hold answerable. Abdali^s letters to 

this effect were issued to the chief Indian Powers, and 

robes of honour for Emperor and wazir were despatch¬ 

ed from his Court with Raza Quli Khan. Ahmad Shah 

left Labor for his home on 12th December 1762, and 

Najib returned to Delhi on 18th January, the other 

Indian envoys with him. [DC. Nur. 57/>.l 

Shortly after this Najib received pressing invitations 

to join the Emperor Shah Alam who was then 

encamped with Shuja at Sikandrabad, and on whom 

Haiiz Rahmat and other Ruhela chiefs (but not Ahmad 

Khan Bangash of Farrukhabad) were in attendance.. 

But Shuja, who was really the keeper of the puppet 

Emperor, attempted to wrest Ahmad^s territories from 

him, as a preliminary to the Emperor^s march on 

Delhi. This antagonized all the Ruhelas, and destroyed 

the chance of any united action by all the vassal 

chiefs for installing Shah Alam on his ancestral throne. 

Najib quickly arrived in the imperial camp, was 

cordially welcomed by Shuja and presented to the 

Emperor, who bestowed many costly gifts on him. 

Under pressure from Najib, the Nawab of Oudh 

abandoned his hostile designs against the Bangash 

chief.* In this camp Najib fell ill of a high fever, 

* Najib’s very cogent reasoning^ Nur. 50a-60a. Bhnja 
Bangash, Imad 8^91. 
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which caused fits of unconsciousness for hours together ; 

the Emperor graciously visited his sick-bed and 

showed him every kindness. Soon there broke out a 

sectarian dispute between Shuja^s Shia troops and 

Najib^s Sunni Afghans^ and in the rioting that followed 

B,pir-xada of the Afghans^ when on a visit to the 

Oudh camp^ was killed by the ruffianly Qizzilbashes 

and Mughalias there. The soldiers on both sides came 

out for a battle and could not be controlled by their 

chiefs. So, Najib hurriedly took leave of the Emperor 

(on 16th May) and marched back to his home, where 

he made a long stay on account of his illness. 

\Ohulam Aliy ii. 157-167, DC. Muna Lai 60.] 

§ 6. Najib fights Suraj Mai and Jawahivy 

1763-1765. 

He had barely recovered health and strength, when 

in December he was suddenly recalled to Delhi by 

Suraj MaPs attack on the Baluch zamindars and 

threatened invasion of Delhi. Kajib tried hard to pacify 

the Jat king, but without success. The campaign 

ended in Suraj MaFs being shot dead (25 December 

1763) during a night attack and all his troops 

dispersing, as we shall learn in detail in Chapter 23. 

The disappearance of the greatest of the Jat kings> 

the immature character of his youthful successor, 

and the internal dissensions that ravaged the Bharatpur 

State, all combined to give Najib a respite from that 



390 FALL OF THE MUGHAL EMPIRE [ciL XXII 

enemy till November next, when Jawahir Singh, after 

assembling a vast force of his own tribesmen and 

hired Sikh Maratha and Gosain troops, attacked 

Najib to avenge his father^s death. This life and death 

struggle kept Najib busy in Delhi till the middle of 

February 1765, when he succeeded in defeating the 

attack, and stood triumphant as the undisputed lord 

of Delhi. This repulse of the Jat king, even though 

supported by Imad, Malhar Holkar and the myriads 

of Sikhs, marks the climax of Najib^s greatness. 

The holy month of Eamzan began on the next Friday, 

22 February 1765, and Imad begged leave to enter 

Delhi and ofter his Friday prayers in the Jami Masjid 

of the capital. For six years he had ruled over the 

city as an wazir mightier than the sovereign and Najib 

had then ranked among his humble retainers. And 

today as Imad rode through the Broad Street of Delhi 

to the Grand Mosque, the citizens saw with wonder that 

Najib was seated side by side with him on the same 

elephant. Such was his present exaltation. |Nur. 9L| 

Meantime, his patron, Ahmad Shah, had been 

defeated by the Sikhs and recalled quickly to 

Afghanistan by disorder in his own army and kingdom 

(end of March 1764.) In the following September, 

Najib, anticipating the storm visibly brewing from the 

new Jat Rajah^s quarter, sent his own envoy Meghraj 

to Abdali in Qandahar, via Jammu. In response to 

this appeal, Ahmad Shah reached Mustafabad-Boria 
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{25 m. s.o. of Ambala) by rapid marches in February 

1765 ; but by that time Najib had already made peace 

with his enemy, and Abdali hurried back to his own 

country without giving Najib time to meet him. 

§ 7. Xajih stemhf represses I'efy'actorp villagers 

in Ilariana, 1765, 

Freed from the Jat menace, Najib marched to the 

Sonepat district (in the north of Delhi) for subduing 

the turbulent tenantry, who would not pay rent unless 

forced to do so. ^^Here many villages were in rebellion ; 

their leaders were a body of Jats residing in Buana 

(16 miles north-west of Delhi), who were notorious for 

their highway robbery and usurpation of other people^s 

lands and cattlc.^^ Najib first went to the district 

headquarters and peacefully demanded the revenue. 

On being refused, he rode out at midnight with his 

troops, came upon the village at dawn, slew the Hindu 

abbot and his monks who had their hermitage near the 

place, and tried to seize the cattle that were being led 

out of the village to their pasture. The villagers opened 

fire with their matchlocks. A thousand of them were 

armed with muskets and 2,000 with side arms ; besides, 

three hundred matchlockmen of the Bhangi (sweeper) 

caste had been hired by them. The Ruhela troopers 

encircled the village, standing beyond range. The 

villagers began to parley, but had no real intention of 

paying, they only mocked Najib. 
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By this time it was noon and the Buhela troopers 

and their horses, standing in the open, were suffering 

dreadfully from the Sun (April 1765) ; they had 

brought no artillery with them. The village had a 

mud wall twice the height of a man, all around it, with 

a dry ditch below. But Najib’s spirit was up. He 

could not bear the thought that the Amir-ul-umara of 

the Empire should lay a regular siege to a peasants^ 

mud fort or retire leaving it untaken. His plan was 

quickly formed: dismounting all his troopers and 

even officers, he made a simultaneous assault from all 

sides, at a given signal, immediately after firing a. 

salvo from his camel-swivels, which had been advanced 

to the front. A sudden distraction and alarm seized 

the villagers, and only one camel-gunner and one infan¬ 

tryman on Najib’s side were killed, while the Ruhelas 

ran forward, jumped into the ditch, and clung to the- 

wall; climbing on one another’s back they entered 

the villi^e in spite of the shower of bullets. The 

villagers, losing heart, took to flight. A body of them, 

who were mounted along with their women, broke 

through the Buhela cordon and escaped by the back 

gate. The leading men of the village took refuge in a 

house and continued to hold out with their musket 

fire. The Buhela soldiers dispersed for plunder and. 

daughter, and it was an hour before they could be 

rallied and made to carry this house by assault Two 

thousand men were slain and about the sune number oi 
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women and children were made prisoners, and finally 

the sacked village was set on fire. "Prom the massacre 

at Buana a great terror spread throughout Hariana,. 

and all the landlords made submission and paid their 

revenue.^^ [Nur. 93a-976.] 

Having thus restored Government authority in the 

north Delhi region, Najib returned to the capital,, 

whence he was soon recalled to Najibabad by the news 

of the illness of his wife, a daughter of Dundi Kham 

She died, leaving two sons and one daughter behind^ 

After spending the rainy season there, Najib in October 

returned to Delhi, and turned to subduing the peasantry 

of the region west of the capital, in the modern Bohtak 

and Hisar districts.* Some 30 miles west of Rohtak 

city there was a village which had paid no revenue 

for three years. Parleys went on for ten days, and 

then the villagers agreed to terms. A collector was 

posted there, but he was attacked at night. The news 

reached Najib’s camp y at once he rode out, came up 

to the vill age while it was still dark and delivered an 

assault on it. The village was set on fire ; many of 

its inhabitants fled away, the rest were slain or taken 

prisoner. This terrified the headmen of Bhiwani, a 

most important village in the neighbourhood (35 miles 

s. e. of Hisar), notorious for its bold and successful 

defiance of the local governors and even of the Hmperor 

in person. After a futile preparation for armed 

♦ Nut. 986.100a. ^PZ>. xxix. 99. CPC. ii. Ck. Oulx. ma. 
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opposition, the villagers realized Najib^s overwhelming 

superiority and fled away at night, evacuating all their 

houses. ^^Next morning the Ruhela soldiers entered 

the village and brought away heaps of grain to their 

camp. All the men, and even their animals, fed on this 

grain for four or five days. When they marched 

away, they set fire to a great store of grain. Even 

after that, so much was left that it could not be 

computed.. .Najib after devastating Bhiwani, went towards 

Rohtak, where he heard of a Sikh raid into his 

Saharnapur estates and marched thither.^^ 

§ 8. Najib^s repeated contest ivith Sikh raiders 

m Hariana and DoaL 

Najib^s conflicts with the Sikhs in his own 

dominions, as distinct from his engagements with them 

as an auxiliary in AbdalPs army, had begun in January 

1764, fCh. 24 § 4], when the Sikh forces, flushed with 

their slaughter of Zain Khan and capture of Sarhind, 

overflowed across the Jamuna into the upper Doab. 

^^This was the first time that the Sikhs came to the 

eastern side of the Jamuna and spread through the 

villages of Barha, the homes of respectable men whose 

ancestors had been umara in former times. They 

took booty beyond calculation in coins, gold bullion and 

jewels, burnt the country, and draggged away captives. 

Najib, distracted by the news, came up near them by rapid 

inarching,. •. but they went back to their own country/' 
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|Nur 72.] Tahmasp Khan Miskin^ who shared these 

campaigns in Najib^s army, writes, '^The Sikhs after 

having completed their occupation and settlement of the 

Sarhind district in one year, made a further advance. 

Four thousand of their horsemen crossed the Jamuna 

and disturbed and looted the Saharanpur and Mirat 

districts. Najib for a month or two moved in every 

direction where the Sikhs were reported to be roving, 

fought and usually defeated them. As they did not 

make a firm stand anywhere and offer battle, he had to 

run about after them, but they did not give up their 

jackal-tricks. Three years passed in this way.^^ [266.] 

During this first Sikh invasion of the Doab, Najib, 

who had just before slain Suraj Mai and routed the 

Jat army by accident and was expecting a vendetta 

with his son Jawahir and the entire Jat nation any 

moment, found it politic to buy off these new enemies 

at the opposite corner of his territory by paying them 

eleven lakhs of Rupees. \SPD. xxix. 55.| But, with 

Sarhind as a secure base, the Sikhs could henceforth 

most easily cross over at Buria ghat or Ramra ghat to 

the upper Doab, or marching southwards raid Hariana 

and the country round Delhi, or even penetrate to 

Rajputana through the friendly Jat kingdom. 

In November 1765, a formidable Sikh invasion* 

descended upon Najib^s territories, but he met it with 

i Sikh raids 1765-1766.—aSPZ>. xxix. 99, 102, 128, 121, 133, 
Nar. 1006.1096. Ok. Gul%. 485, WUliams. 
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a skill, firmness and tenacity which mark him out as 

the foremost Muslim general after Ahmad Shah Abdali 

among his contemporaries. The stru^le this time 

continued for six months ; there was no truce and there 

could be no relaxation of vigilance and effort on his part. 

At the end of October 1765, while one band of Sikhs 

went to raid the Saharanpur district, another vast force, 

reported to be 25,000 horse, led by Jassa Singh, Tara 

Singh, Sham Singh and other sardars, attacked Najib’s 

villages in the region north of Delhi, levied contribution 

from them, and advanced to Kharkhauda (23 m. n.w. of 

Delhi). But finding the people on the alert and ready 

for defence there, they made a lightning raid upon 

Bewari (in the jagir of diwan Nagar Mai), plundered and 

burnt that town, dug up the floors of the houses and 

took away prisoners. "The ryots of Bewari were 

plundered to an extreme,. .. the place was ruined.’^ 

Then they penetrated to Jaipur territory in alliance with 

Jawahir Singh Jat, but had to retire on the coming of 

the Maratbas and the promise of a subsidy, (late 

December.) Bands of them continued with the Jat 

Bajah for some months after. 

Early in 1766 the Sikh bands attacked Najib in the 

Sonepat-Panipat district. He had a force of less than 

10,000 men ; the odds against him would have over* 

whelmed a lesser man. At the rumour of the Sikh 

invasion, Najib’s Delhi agent Afzal Khan warned the 

citizens not to issue for visiting Kalka-devi (near the 
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Qutb Minar.) He also strengthened the city defences 

and sent out scouts for news of the enemy^s movements. 

Next day (17 April) it was learnt that the Sikhs, marching 

from Okhlaghat, had looted the Patparganj mart and 

encamped at Masuri. A small band plundering the 

southern suburbs of the capital was driven away. The 

Sikhs marched up the cast bank of the Jamuna, raiding 

Kutana, Jhanjhana and Budhana, when Najib overtook 

them,* slew and wounded many and wrested much of 

their booty (20 April.) A graphic account of one of his 

campaigns is given by Nur-ud-din, which illustrates the 

nature of the war and the standard of Najib's leadership 

in the held. 

§ 9. Najil/s manner of fighting the Sikhs illustrated. 

^'Every day there were skirmishes between the two 

sides. The Sikhs roved round, firing and plundering 

* DC. It is probably this fight of which Nur-ud-din, 108fc- 
1096, gives the following description Najib crossed at Kutana 
ghat by night and learnt t^t the Sikhs had halted 5 kos off. 
Leaving his camp and baggage there, he set out after them, and 
sighted the Sikhs after advancing 2 kos. The SikhSi ignorant of 
Najib’s approach, had left their camp and were out plundering 
villages. On hearing the tramp of the Buhela cavalry and the 
roll of kettle-drums, they retreated in bewilderment to thdr camp. 
But the Euhelas by hard riding overtook them and captured vast 
quantities of booty and animals from them. He drove them 
beaten for 10 miles to near Kandhala, slaying and wounding 
many of them. In the end they recrossed the Jamuna and went 
back to their own country. (This was the Budtia Dal.) 
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the villages on all hands. Along the bank of the Jamuna 

they came to the Shamli parganah, where a severe engage¬ 

ment took place. Evening came on and the Sikh horse¬ 

men stood their ground around Najib for three hours 

after nightfall. There were many sugarcane plantations 

at the place, under cover of which the Sikhs plied their 

muskets, and made a few attacks, baud after band 

emptying their muskets and then riding away. Najib 

and his troops stood lirmly. Then the Sikhs fell 

back to their camp . . . Next morning Najib marched 

upon the halting-place of the Sikhs, in a compact forma¬ 

tion, with his van right and left under different officers, 

his baggage in the centre, and his rearguard in 

charge of his brother Afzal Khan and Sadat Khan 

Afridi . . . Najib strongly urged his men not to break 

their formation or leave their places in any circumstance, 

so that the movements and fighting of every section of 

the force could be kept carefully under his control. . . 

The Sikhs appeared on all four sides and kept up a 

running fight with the marching Ruhelas throughout the 

day. They charged home the Ruhela left wing (under 

Zabita Khan) when thrown out of order in crossing a 

dry nala. Many men fell on both sides, and unable to 

bear their heavy loss, a captain of Zabita issued from 

the column and made a counter-charge upon the Sikh 

assailants, in spite of Najib^s order to advance steadily 

without halting to fight. This small section was at once 

enveloped by the Sikhs and could be rescued only after 
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being heavily reinforced ; many men fell on both sides 

in this contest.^^ 

Najib^s unbroken column thus steadily approached 

the east bank of the Jamuna in order to cut the Sikhs 

off from it and prevent their escape. The enemy tried 

to gain time by keeping the Ruhelas engaged till sunset^ 

after which they would be able to cross the river with 

all their baggage. So, about 3 P. M. they made a 

combined attack upon Najib^s rearguard, (under Afzal 

Ruhela and Sadat Khan Afridi) pressing it very hard 

and causing much loss. But though urged again and 

again by his sorely stricken troops, Najib would not 

allow them to arrest the advance of the entire column, 

sally forth and drive the attacking enemy horse away 

by a counter-charge. He would not lose sight of hi& 

objective, the Sikh camp ahead. Men dropped fast 

among his rearguard. Sadat Khan said to Afzal Khan, 

^My men are being destroyed by the enemy^s bullets. 

I have no strength left.^ But such was Najib^s iron 

discipline and the obedience of his troops, that Afzal 

Khan forbade a charge for driving the Sikhs away. At 

last a band of 50 Afridi horsemen under SadaPs brother, 

unable to control themselves, galloped upon the Sikh 

mounted musketeers and a desperate band to hand fight 

raged for some time amidst great disorder and noise. 

Sadat Khan himself was compelled to leave the column 

for his rash brothers defence. Najib on hearing of it 

cried out, ^He has spoilt my work,^ and himself turned 
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aside to the scene of the fighting in order to save the 

rearguard, while ordering all other divisions to remain 

firmly in their appointed places. The Sikhs were now 

driven back, though after more obstinate fighting. But 

by this time night had fallen. Najib’s grand plan failed 

and the Sikhs beat a hurried retreat by fording the 

Jamuna with all their camp and baggage under cover 

of the darkness. "Next morning not one of their horse¬ 

men was left.” [Nur. 1006-106a.J 

A newsletter written on 13 January 1768 shows 

that this battle or one veiy' much like it took place a 

day or two before that date near Jalalabad (10 m. n. e. 

-of Ghaziabad): "Intelligence was brought that the 

Sikhs were hovering in detached bodies round Najib’s 

-camp, beyond cannon shot... to intercept the convoys 

of grain ... Immediate orders were issued by Najib to 

get the artillery in readiness and prepare for battle . . . 

The advanced guards engaged. A heavy fire of artillery 

and small arms began and was maintained with great 

vigour. Najib, mounted on an elephant, was present in 

-the rear of the artillery. The first line which bore the 

tBrunt of the battle behaved with sing^ular intrepidity. 

In the midst of this, the Sikhs found means by a feint 

to throw the line of artillery into some confusion and 

were advancing with great impetuosity, when some 

-timely assistance was given by Sayyid Md. Kh. and a 

-chosen body of Afghans, and the Sikhs were repulsed 

'With loss. Towards the close of the day Najib ordered 
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Ills troops to desist from the engagement but to stand 

armed and prepared. . . Several sardars of distinction 

were killed and wounded in the battle/^ \CPC. ii. 776.] 

§ 10. Najil/s movemeitis, 17iJo-17G7, 

The Sikh bands, on return from the Doab (April 

1766) attacked the Patiala State. Abdali's shrewd 

diplomacy, by making Ala Singh (the founder of the 

Patiala royal family) a friendly tributary and also 

giving him the office of governor of the Sarhind 

district (now a Durrani territory), had set up this 

Phulkian Sikh against the trans-Satlaj or Manjha 

Sikhs. It was the Patiala Rajah’s interest to cling to 

Najib against the common enemy, and he had sent 

his son to Najib’s camp in the Rohtak district in 

October 1765, for concerted action against those Sikhs 

who were then out levying blackmail all over the 

country. In May 17 66, when the Sikhs invaded the 

territory of Ala Singh’s successor, Araar Singh, and 

tried to capture his capital, Najib marched up to 

Mustafabad on the way to Patiala for helping the 

Rajah. Amar Singh, however, succeeded in averting 

the hostility of the Sikh bands {Dal) through the 

mediation of Jassa Singh Ahluwalia (the founder of 

Kapurthala), evidently by paying a subsidy. \SPD. 

xxix. 99. xxvii. 133. Patiala records.] Soon afterwards 

the rainy season began and suspended militazy 

operations till October next. 
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At the beginning of 1767, Ahmad Shah Abdali 

again entered the Panjab—for the last time,— and 

encamped on the Bias. The Sikhs were torn by 

internal dissensions and could not oppose him or 

molest Najib’s territories for some time. Abdali 

summoned Najib to join him* with the 7 years’ 

arrear tribute of Hindustan. Najib interviewed him 

on 9th March, and was treated with the greatest 

honour and kindness, as will be fully narrated in 

Chapter 24 §6-7. The Sikh raid into Mirat, which 

was crushed by a combined Durrani force (8,000 

cavalry under Jahan Khan) and Ruhela contingent 

(5,000 horse under Zabita Khan), about 15 May 1767, 

will be also described there. After sending his patron 

back to Afghanistan by promising 25 lakhs, Najib left 

the Durrani camp and reached Delhi on 30 July. 

In the following cold weather, Najib went from 

Delhi to Aonla, where he celebrated the marriage of 

bis son Kalu Khan with the daughter of Sadullah Khan 

(the successor of Ali Md. Ruhela) with the most lavish 

pomp and extravagance. At the end of the festivity, 

he returned to Delhi. The Sikhs spread through the 

* SPD» xxix. 119. After taking leave of the Shah, Najib 
came to the Sarhind district and halted long at Mustafabad 
(25 m. e. of Ambala), attacked many parganahs of the Sikhs... 
Then he came to Delhi. (Nur. 113a.) Minute details of this 
campaign of Abdali in CPC. ii. 12415. Shah honours Najib, 
ibid,, 310 and 415, refuses him Sarhind, 323. 



17681 NAJIB WORN OUT BY SIKH WARS 403 

Karnal district fNur. 113], and even menaced Delhi.* 

NajiVs health had now completely broken down. 

Ever since 1763 he had suffered off and on from an 

intermittent fever. In youth he had been attacked by 

an inflamed ulcer {chmide pisHe)^ and now that malady 

took an aggravated form. Throughout this year he 

was constantly unwell. On the other hand, the Sikhs 

were year by year increasing in number and spirit ; 

the final retreat of Ahmad Shah, practically beaten, 

in May 1767, had given them boundless courage. 

Even at that time, while the Shah was still on this 

side of the Satlaj, ^%e Sikhs to the number of 120,000 

men, both horse and foot, all devoted to each other 

and equipped for war, were assembled at Amritsar.” 

\CPO.ii,M5,\ And now the dying Najib confessed 

himself beaten. It was only against an entire nation 

in arms, fired with all the energy of a newly risen 

and hungry people and all the unity of the early 

Islamites before their dissolution into sects, and 

multiplying ^^like ants and locusts,” that he had at last 

to admit defeat. He had served his sovereign loyally 

and defended his capital and family as long as he could. 

But he now begged leave to resign a burden beyond 

his physical powers. He wrote to the Emperor Shah 

Alam : "Until this hour I have manifested the firmest 

» Acc. to SPD, xxix. 143, this invasion was led by Jai 
Singh, who recalled all the Sikh bands then in Bharatpur 
territory to join him against Najib. 
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devotion and loyalty to the young princes and 

ex-Empress [in Delhi fort] But I am no longer able to 

continue that support to them which is necessary for 

their protection. Let your Majesty advance to your 

capital and yourself defend your own honour. Your 

vassal frankly represents that he is not equal to the 

charge in his present situation.’^ 

To the Dowager-Empress Zinat Mahal, he wrote 

in the same terms, resigning the task of defending 

Delhi and offering to escort the whole royal family in 

that fort to the Emperor at Allahabad if she desired it. 

He added that the Sikhs had prevailed and he was 

unable to provide for his own security. He talked of 

seeking his political niri an by making a pilgrimage 

to Mecca, or retiring to some obscure retreat. \OPC 

1101, 847. SPD, xxix. 143 of which the correct date is 

26 Mar. 176^.| He withdrew his deputy Sultan Khan, 

troops and property from Delhi. 

§ 11. Najib resigns his government to Zabita Khan 

and retires to Najibahad, Mai^ch 1708, 

Realizing, that his end could not be far off, he 

took counsel with his household and with his usual 

foresight provided carefully for the future. While on 

his usual cold weather march in the Hisar district with 

his army, he one day assembled all his sardars and in 

their presence declared Zabita Khan his successor and 

deputy, tied his own turban to his son^s head as a 
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symbol of his chieftainship, and transferred all authority 

over his army and territory to him during his lifetime. 

He advised his heir to confirm his own authority 

immediately by crushing those of his generals {Le., the 

partisans of Zabita's step-brother Kalu Khan) who 

were reported to be ill-disposed towards their new 

master and wore sure to cause trouble after Najib^s 

death. Najib now retired to Najibabad to lead a life 

of relief from public cares. Zabita, to whom unfettered 

discretion in foreign policy had been given, came to 

terms with the Sikhs, evidently by a money payment, 

near Jalalabad-Nahari, north of Delhi. Two of his 

father^s high officers,—Ali Muhammad Kur and Sayyid 

Mian Asrar-ud-din (popularly called Lambi Mian),— 

who defied Zabita^s orders, were suppressed by 

force. ^^By these means the entire army was 

brought under discipline and made to recognize Zabita 

Khan as their supreme master.^^ [Nur. 114a-115a. 

Miskin, 270.] 

On ir)th October 1769, Najib returned towards 

Delhi, and leaving his camp at Shahdara paid a visit to 

the Crown Prince in the palace in the afternoon and 

was highly honoured in return. Three days later, his 

deputy Zabita Khan was presented to the prince and 

the Dowager-Empress. He was given a dinner and 

entertained with dance and song in the palace, and sent 

back with a present of the Crown Princess own head* 

dress. \DC.] 
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12. Renewed Maraiha invasion of Hindustan^ 

1770 ; Najib^s subtle poUcff, 

Early in 1770, a vast Maratha army, led by 

Eamohandra Ganesh (the Peshwa’s deputy), Visaji 

Krishna Biniwala, Tukoji Holkar, and Mahadji Sindhia, 

advanced to the north of the Chambal for restoring 

the Maratha authority in Hindustan which had been 

eclipsed for nearly a decade as the result of the defeat 

at Panipat, and recovering their lost estates in the 

Doab. Their coming was preceded by letters calling 

upon all the chiefs of Northern India to present them¬ 

selves and pay tribute or release the Maratha jagirs they 

had usurped in the interval. Tukoji Holkar, the 

successor of Malhar, wrote a private letter to Najib to 

confirm the friendship between the two houses which 

had subsisted in Malhar^s time and by which Najib had 

benefited so often and so signally. Najib replied, 

have for a long time past renounced the world on 

account of age and made Zabita Khan my heir and 

supreme agent. He will not deviate from your counsel.^^ 

But the return of the Deccani myriads ten years 

after Panipat alarmed Najib with good reason. His 

protector Ahmad Shah Abdali was dying ; the Peshwa 

had by now healed his domestic discord and made peace 

with the Nizam and Haidar Ali, and was free to devote 

all the resources of his Government to his northern 

interests. The Marathas could not have forgotten that 

Najib had been the cause of their ruin in 1761. The 
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house of Sindhia bore sleepless vindictiveness towards 

Najib and was sure to annihilate him if it could. As 

Najib wrote to his son, after unfolding the political 

situation, ^^Not one of the potentates of Hindustan has 

the courage to gird up his loins for opposing them. I 

cannot bear on my shoulders the heavy burden of this 

task without the aid of troops from the Durrani 

kingdom.’^ He had lost his old health and strength, 

and could no longer ride forth on campaigns as in the 

past. No succour was to be expected from the house 

of Durrani, now involved in domestic brawls. 

He felt that Zabita was too young and inexperienced 

to handle such a situation, while a single injudicious 

step towards such irresistible enemies would ruin his 

newly founded kingdom and dynasty. So, Najib decided 

to go himself to the Marathas, "incline them by face to 

face meeting and parley to maintain peace with him, 

and, by ofiFering his co-operation in their present under¬ 

takings, keep them firmly on his side.^^* 

§ 13. 3Iaratha policy towards Najib and Jat Rajah 

There was a sharp difference of opinion in the 

Maratha camp as to their policy and plan of war. 

* As he wrote to the Emperor, “In order to gain time, 1 have 
inclined this race (Marathas), more numerous than ants and 

’locusts, by my friendliness and suppleness to remain loyal to your 
'^Majesty and have thus preserved the capital Delhi safe and intact.” 

'IGhulam Ali^ li. 258.] At this time Najib was very ill and had 
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Bamchandra Ganesh welcomed Najib’s offer of co¬ 

operation as a godsend, remarking, have come to 

this country after ten years, and if we do not first make 

friends with Najib, then all the par-Ruhelas and Shuja 

would join him against us (in self-defence), and he is 

also very powerful in himself. With such a combination 

of enemies against us, we shall have to fight a hard 

fight, the result of which none can foresee. Therefore, 

we ought to reassure this man, make him our ally, first 

attack the Jat Bajah, and easily exact a large contri¬ 

bution from him. Whatever was done by Najib against 

us (in 1759-61) is now a thing of the past.^^ Tukoji 

Holkar was the hereditary friend of Najib and used to 

supply him with secret intelligence about the happenings 

in the Maratha camp and timely reports of Mahadji^s 

intended treachery towards him, or merely Tukoji^s own 

suspicion of such designs. They expected to win over 

the par-Buhelas through Najib and thus secure tribute 

and restitution of territory from them without a blow^ 

so that the undivided forces of the Marathas might be 

employed to squeeze the friendless Jat Bajah. 

Mabadji Sindhia objected, saying, ^'We have come 

here after a long interval in order to take vengeance 

on this man. If you now make an alliance with 

him and give him your solemn oath of friendship, 

how then can we be avenged on him ever after f 

to he carried about lying down in a litter. [Mnna Lai, 107.1 

Najib and the Marathas in 1770,—Nnr. 115a«129. 
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All the lands belonging to the Peshwa (in the Doab)* 

have been enjoyed by the Afghans for over ten 

years. Oar prestige has been ruined by that race. 

The foremost of our enemies is Najib-ud-daulah ; 

especially the blood of three and a half persom of my 

family [vix.y Dattaji, Jankoji, and Sabaji slain, and 

Mahadji himself left half dead and lamed for life) is on 

his head. And Tukoji is proposing to embrace him ! 

Never mind, I shall write to the Peshwa and take his 

orders.^^ The Peshwa preferred the demands of 

political expediency to those of blood feud. 

So, the Marathas sent a written pledge of alliance 

and friendly assurances to Najib, through Tukoji 

Holkar, and asked him to capture the Jat possessions 

in the middle Doab, at the same time that they invaded 

the Jat kingdom west of the Jamuna. Nawal Singh, 

the Jat Bajah, issued from Dig and was defeated after 

a bloody battle with Ramchandra Ganesh near Mathura 

(4-6 April, 1770.) Najib encamped at Chandausi 

(5 April), and in two days his men took the fort of 

Nohjhil, driving out its Jat garrison across the river. 

He very quickly wrested from the local officers the Jat 

parganahs of Jewar, Dankaur, Tappal, Dabahi &c., and 

encamped on the Jamuna east bank opposite Mathura.’" 

* 8PD^ xxix. 254-262, 246* xxix. 260 dated 16 June, says 

*2^ Jat mahals have been seized by Najib for himself* Many 

have been tooted by the Pindharis.' Nur. 119. Z>(7. (imp.) 
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§ 14. Marathas enier Doah, meet Najib ; Mahadji 

Sindhia nnfrundhj to him. 

The Maratha generals, after their victory in the 

field, shrank from attacking the impregnable Jat forts, 

and therefore could not drive the vanquished Nawal 

Singh to submission. They decided, instead, to cross 

into the Doab and there exact tribute from the par- 

Ruhelas and divide with Najib the parganahs of the 

middle Doab that he had recently wrested from Nawal 

Singh^s men. Their whole army, reported to be 70,000 

etrong, assembled at Mathura. Holkar was the first to 

cross over to the east bank for meeting Najib. Abdul 

Ahad Khan acted as mediator and conducted the parley 

from the Ruhela side (13 April.) The 17th of April 

was selected as an auspicious day for the meeting, after 

assurances and oaths of good faith had been exchanged. 

Najib advanced beyond his artillery lines and welcomed 

Tukoji Holkar, and took him to his tent with every mark 

of honour. More consultations were held next day, 

and on the 19th Najib returned the visit. He rode to 

Tukoji^s tent, who introduced him to Ramchandra 

Oanesh and then to Mahadji Sindhia. Najib tried to 

aoothe Mahadji Sindhia by ofilering him commonplace 

condolences like, Whatever God wills happens. I did 

not from my side move against Dattaji Patil, but rather 

Bought his friendship, and he too did not intend fighting* 



17701 MAHAJMI SINDIIIA HATKS XAJIH 411 

But owing to the Divine will it happend in that way. 

Don^t now entertain any idea of revenge in your hearts- 

Now that 1 have joined you, I shall repress your 

enemies/^ Mahadji remained in sullen silence for some 

time and then dryly replied, ‘^The will of God has been 

accomplished. Let us see what He wills in ! 

They parted after exchanging the customary presents, 

*^^but soreness of heart remained between the two sides, 

and affectionate speeches were not made.^^ 

After some days of discussion the allies formed 

their plan of operation. On 25th April, the entire 

Maratha army crossed over to the east bank of the 

Jamuna and encamped close to Najib. Najib^s men 

took possession of Shukohabad, Sadabad and other 

parganahs from Nawal Singh and posted his own 

collectors and military guards there (c, 3 May.) The 

ex-wazir Imad-ul-mulk, from his refuge at Mainpuri, 

joined the Maratha camp at Agra unasked. But there 

could be no real or hearty co-operation between such an 

ill-matched pair of confederates. On 10th May, Najib 

after receiving a secret warning from Tukoji that the 

other Maratha sardars were planning treachery against 

him, broke up his camp and marched towards Aligarh. 

The Marathas fell on his baggage, but could capture 

nothing. \DC.\ Soon afterwards the rainy season put 

an end to military movements and the Marathas went 

into cantonments in the Aligarh district. [8PD. xxvii. 

214, Da Nur. 120-121.1 
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§ 15. Marathn enterprise in Doab fails, 

Mahadji Sindhia had at the very outset urged that 

unless tribute was realized from the Jat Rajah, nobody 

else would pay the Marathas anything, and therefore 

their army should not enter the Doab before making a 

settlement with Nawal Singh. This advice was set 

aside in favour of Tukoji Holkar’s alternative plan of 

working through Najib and against the Jats. As a 

Maratha agent complains, ^‘We all gave the counsel to 

treat the Jat Rajah kindly, take from him whatever cash 

he readily paid down, and thus relieve th6 distress of 

our impoverished army. But instead of doing it, our 

chiefs have, by Holkar^s advice, sided with Najib Khan 

and under his guidance attacked the Jat possessions.. 

All our plans, great and small, have been ruined by our 

alliance with Najib.^^ 

Throughout the three monsoon months negotiations 

for tribute went on with the Jat Rajah and the Bangash 

and Ruhelas, but nothing came of them, as no pressure 

could be put on these parties and Ramchandra Ganesh 

made an impossible demand on Nawal Singh. The end 

of this expedition showed once again that Najib^s 

shrewd and sure diplomacy was superior to Maratha 

short-sightedness and vacillation. Their hope of 

peacefully securing tribute and territory from the 

Bangash and the trans-Ganges Ruhelas through the 

backing of Najib,. proved illusory. These Afghan chiefs 

dismissed the Maratha envoys with a scornful refusfd^ 
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^^Najib has usurped Mirat and other mahals, and you 

have not recovered them. Why then are you asking 

us to restore our annexations ? We shall not give you 

chauth or land unless Najib does the same.^’ (August 

1770.) The result was the utter failure of the Marathas 

to get a pice and a consequent addition to their army 

debt. The evil was aggravated by Najib^s double¬ 

dealing. Throughout the rainy season he kept writing 

to the par-Ruhelas in order to stiffen their backs and 

induce them to form with him and the Jat Rajah a 

vast anti-Maratha coalition. One of his letters to 

them was intercepted and revealed his treachery. 

A rupture between two such insincere friends was 

difficult to prevent. At one conference the exasperated 

Maratha chiefs held a high tone and taxed Kajib with 

failure to keep his promise and treacherous collusion 

with his brother Afghans, which had prevented the 

collection of the Maratha tribute even after six months’ 

effort. Najib answered haughtily, bidding the Deccauis 

remember that the lion was not yet dead and that if 

they desired war with him he was ready for them then 

and there. He continued, cannot bear to live in your 

camp in dishonour. Don’t you think that you have now 

a vast army with you and I have only a small force. 

Even when I am dead and buried in the ground, I can 

eat you all up with only 10,000 men. I know that 

Mahadji Patil harbours ill-will towards me in his heart. 

Oo and tell him from me, Tf you are a man, why don’t 
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you come into the field, but are merely repeating that 

the blood of three of your family is on my head ? 

Either exact retaliation for it, or become a fourth in 

addition to the other three. Your behaviour is unworthy 

of a brave man.^ You have seen what I can do, and I have 

seen your work. Very well. I shall march away this 

moment.” * He was pacified with great difficulty and 

after profuse apologizing by Anand Bao Narsi. 

§ 16. Najit/s death and character. 

About 27th September, Najib held a private 

discussion with the Jat envoys and reached a friendly 

settlement. On 8th October he called the two sides 

before him, fixed by his arbitration the tribute to be 

paid by the Jat Rajah, and thus concluded a peace 

between him and the Marathas. Then knowing his 

own death to be near, he placed Zabita Khan's hand 

in Tukoji Holkar's, praying to the latter to be as kind 

to the son as Malhar had been to the father, and then 

sent the Maratha sardars away, escorted by Zabita, and 

* Nur. 1226. Muna Lai, 108, confirms it but more briefly: 
Najib giving harsh replies, cried out in a loud voice to the 
Maratha sardars, '1C you are thinking of seizing my mahals 
knowing me to be ill, know that so long as the breath of life 
xemalns within me, 1 shall not leave even one among you alive. 
If you desire battle at this very moment, 1 say Bismillah [i. a., I 
am ready to begin.]'’ So saying, he leapt up from the stretcher 
in which he was beihg carried. The Maratha sardars thereafter 
spoke to him most softly. 
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himself set out for his home to die. By way of 

Chandausi (12 Oct.), Najib entered Sikandrabad (10 Oct.) 

He had only reached the district of Hapiir, when death 

overtook him on 31 October. His last act, characteristic 

of his life, was to issue an order to his troops not to 

molest or rob the pilgrims who had assembled for the 

Ganges fair at Garh Mukteshwar close by his camp. 

\1)C, Miskin, 272. Nur. 123« incorrect.) 

Thus ended the career of the most powerful 

personality in India during these ten years. A poor 

illiterate Afghan of the Umr-khel clan, sprung from 

the humblest home and without a friend or patron in 

India when he migrated to this country as a grown-up 

man with a son, and sought his bread by entering Ali 

Muhammad Ruhela^s service in the capacity of a 

despised foot soldier, Najib Khan rose by sheer ability 

and strength of character to the highest position in the 

realm and guided the fortunes of the empire of Delhi 

as its supreme regent for a full decade. In the 

combination of first-rate military and administrative 

capacity, diplomatic skill, and tact in dealing with 

others, and above all in his instinctive perception of 

the realities of the politics of his day and concentration 

on the essentials, he had no equal in that age except 

Ahmad Shah Abdali. His defence of Delhi against 

the Jat-Maratha-Sikh army of Jawahir Singh, his 

running fight in grim pursuit of the Sikh invaders, and 

his storming of the mud-fort of Buana with mere 
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dismounted cavalry and no guns, illustrate bis consum¬ 

mate generalship in three different types of battle. 

The historian does not know what to admire most, his 

capacity as a leader of men in action, his unerring 

perception of the realities of every situation, or his 

inborn opportunism in instinctively seizing amidst 

darkness and confusion the course that would prove 

most advantageous to him. 

The last eight years of his life were one long 

struggle with painful illness and new foes,—such as the 

Jats and Sikhs,—and during these years he was not 

once aided by Durrani arms, but held his own to the 

last. The peace and mild government which he gave 

to his territories, enabled him to accumulate a vast 

treasure, not by plunder but from the surplus revenue 

of a prosperous estate, and to leave his successor 

Zabita Khan the richest prince in Northern India after 

the Jat king. 



CHAPTER XXIII 

The Jats, down to 1768. 

§ 1. The local distribution of the Jat race. 

The most important racial element in the vast tract 

of land that stretches from the bank of the Indus, 

through the Panjab, the northern States of Rajputana 

and the upper Jamuna valley, down to Gwalior beyond 

the Chambal, call themselves Jats. We are not here 

concerned with the question of their Scytho-Aryan 

origin, the analysis of the tribes that have been fused 

into the common stock, the probable line of migration 

to the present home of each of their branches, or their 

early history on the Indian soil which goes back beyond 

recorded antiquity. But a survey of their distribution 

in the early 18th century is necessary for our 

present purpose. 

"The Jat is, in every respect^ the most impwtaat 

of the Panjab peoples. In point of numbers he surpasses 

the Rajput, who comes next to him, in the proportion 

of nearly three to one. In Bikaner Jaisahner «id 

Marwar, they possibly equal in number ail tiie Bajput 

races put together.” [Ibbetson, in uL 366-^9.] Btoaidiy 

speakiiii^ the Jat is a Muealman in the Wesleni District 

(i. e.| Paajdb west of tiie Ravi), a Sikh in the Centne, 

27 
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and a Hindu in the South-easL^^ Such is the distribu¬ 

tion of the Jats in the Panjab, but the historian of 

Delhi is interested in the tribal population of the 

Pan jab only so far as they merge their Jat race in the 

Sikh sect. [Rosens Glossary of PanJab Tribes,] 

In a second regional area, namely the northern and 

western districts of the Ignited Provinces, or along the 

upper Jamuna valley, the Jats constitute as important an 

element of the population as in the Panjab, and the 

tribesmen living in this tract have played a most 

conspicuous part in the history of the fall of the Mughal 

Empire. They are even today the most important 

and industrious of all the cultivators not only 

in the Mirat district but in the entire Mirat 

division (consisting of the districts of Saharanpur, 

Muzaffarnagar, Mirat, Bulandshahar and Aligarh.) 

In Aligarh ^^they are decidedly the most 

powerful amongst the other castes and occupy nearly 

ike whole of the western portion of the district. In 

the Bulandshahar district they owned, in the late 19th 

century, twice as many villages as the Gujars. So, too, 

in the Muzaffarnagar district, the Gujars and Jats 

occupy the upland ridge above the Ganges khadir 

(low lands beside the river.) But these Jats were 

scitttered over the country as peasants or landholders, 

witiiout aspiring to political independence, 

i * Fi^ceeding, south of Delhi along the Jwuna, wo 

ind the Jats more numerous in Mathura than in a^y 
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other district of that province except Mirat* Further 

south, in the Agra district, they form 7 per cent of the 

population, but till 14 per cent of the cultivated area 

and in two of the sub-divisions (Agra and Kiraoli tahsils) 

they are the most extensive cultivators. 

West of Agra is the Bharatpur territory, the rulers 

of which gave cohesion to the Jats by uniting them 

into an independent State and leading them on to a 

career of conquest northwards and eastwards. It is 

the Jats of this third region that played a striking part 

in the politics of the declining Delhi empire and the 

present history will deal with them in detail. 

There is a fourth area of Jat preponderance, south 

of Agra up to the Ohambal and even beyond that river 

to Gwalior, where a Jat power district from the 

Bharatpur family raised its head but was crushed by 

the Maratha advance from Malwa and is now confined 

within the narrow limits of the State of Dholpur,—the 

sole remnant of that large principality of Gohad which 

has left its mark on North Indian history from 1750 

to 1780. 

§ 2. The Jat character ; comparison with 

Sikhs and Marathas. 

"The Jat is the husbandman, the peasant, the revenue- 

payer par excellences^ observes Ibbetson when writing 

of the Panjab province ; and the same high praise is 

given to the race in the Agra province by the local 
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administrators, Whiteway calls them ^^the backbone 

of the agricultural populations^ in Mathura. The Jat 

"is more honest, more industrious, more sturdy, and 

no less manly than the races of our frontier mountains. 

Sturdy independence and patient vigorous labour are 

his strongest characteristics. . . . But he is of all the 

Panjab races the most impatient of tribal or communal 

control and the one which asserts the freedom of the 

individual most strongly. ... He is usually content to 

cultivate his fields and pay his revenue in peace and 

quietness if people will let him do so ; though when he 

does go wrong he takes to anything from gambling to 

murder, with perhaps a preference for stealing other 

people^s wives and cattle.^^ Herein the Jat presents a 

contrast to the Gujar who, though precisely of the 

same physical type and almost of the same social status 

as the former, is "lazy to a degree and a wretched 

cultivator,. . , turbulent and habitually fond of cattle¬ 

lifting. In short, we can broadly distinguish between 

the three castes of the village population by calling the 

Bajputs landlords, the Jats yeomen, and the Gujars 

primarily cattle-keepers. [Atkinson, N. W.P. Qaz.] 

The Jats, except in the Bajputana desert, are a 

healthy prolific race. Their devotion to agriculture 

and freedom from most of the restrictions on marriage 

observed by hi^ caste Hindus give to their homes a 

stronger freer womanhood and numerous children. 

They follow tiie andent Ye^ Axyan practice-^ 
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much abhorred by the latter-day Hindus,—of a man 

marrying his deceased brother's widow as a matter of 

right. They have no scruple in taking wives from 

other castes and the offspring of such unions become 

fully merged in Jat society without any taint of infer¬ 

iority. Among them man woman and child share in 

the agricultural work or in cattle-tending. Their close 

contact with the soil and healthy outdoor life make 

them the most stalwart of the Hindu races. As is well 

known, the Jats form the racial backbone of the Sikh 

sect, so famous for their martial achievements. 

Oppression by revenue officers and robbery by their 

neighbours, especially the Gujars, during the dissolution 

of government, drove the Jat peasants to a predatory 

life by way of self-defence or reprisal. They had the 

making of the best infantry in them. With their sturdy 

physique, manly habits, and the experience and tradition 

of forays and even of vulgar burglaries, they supplied 

the Bajahs of Bharatpur,—as in another region they 

did the Rajahs of the Panjab,—with the finest material 

for an army, if only they could be properly armed 

trained and led. But the Jat soldieiy of Bharatpur, 

in spite of their martial instincts, lacked that intelli¬ 

gence and power of co-ordination which modern warfare 

requires.* They also used cannon only in forts and 

* The reader will remember, as a parallel case, how the 
officers were theia weakest dement in the Sikh army, so that, in 
their struggle with die English the Khalsa proved an army of 
lions led by asses. Here too the soldiers were Jats by race. 
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had to depend for their field artillery on foreign allies 

or mercenaries. Farther, this peasant race was without 

letters, without knowledge, unlike the Marathas,— 

among whom an admirable union was efiFected between 

the brainy priest and writer castes and the warrior 

Maratha caste, in fighting as much as in diplomacy and 

the civil administration,—so that all the various works 

of a State could be done in Maharashtra by men of the 

same race speech and province. The Jat Rajahs, on 

the contrary, had to depend on other people than Jats for 

their revenue administration and diplomatic settlements. 

Again, the Jats who embraced the religion of Guru 

Govind were fused into a perfect brotherhood, differing 

only where personal interests and jealousies separated 

them. This compact homogeneity was lacking among 

the Hindu Jats, where innumerable minute differences 

of sept or of family-groups within one and the same caste, 

caused almost the same mutual cleavage as between 

Brahmans and Shudras. Thus the Jats in the Mirat divi¬ 

sion are separated into two branches, the Heles and the 

Dhes, who do not intermarry, the former despising the 

latter as of less pure blood ! Hence, Suraj Mai of 

Bharatpur failed where Banjit Singh of Labor succeeded. 

§ 3. Relations of the Bharatpur State with its 

neighbours. 

The Jats under the house of Bharatpur, in their 

natural expansidn eastwards and northwards along the 
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upper Jamiina valley and beyond that river, came into 

collision not only with the authority of the Delhi 

Government but also with the Rajput Gujar and other 

landowners already in possession of the soil. Even 

before the rise of this royal family, the Jats had been 

making a peaceful penetration of the Agra and Mathura 

districts; they first entered that region as immigrant 

servants and hired labourers ; but their skill in husbandry, 

rapid growth in numbers and dynamic force as a race 

enabled them to supplant the decadent lazy old owners 

and make themselves lords of much of the soil. The 

same process continued throughout the 18th century and 

received a great impetus from Suraj MaFs victorious 

advance and his legal position as a lessee of these districts 

recognized by the sovereign of Delhi. But this Jat 

occupation of the country could be effected only at the 

cost of the existing superior landowners, and thus every 

Rajput and Gujar zamindar^s arms were turned against 

the Jat power. The success of Suraj Mai only 

accentuated the age-long feud between Rajput and Jat, 

and the former readily joined the enemies of the latter 

every time the Jat power showed the least sign of 

decline.* 

ft was the dream of the Jat kings of Bharatpur to 

justify their title o.f Bmja-raj by actually ruling over the 

• Even during the eclipse of British authority in the Mutiny of 
1857, this feud broke out afresh in the rural parts of Agra, without 
any connection with the revolted sepoys. 
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sacred city and district of Mathura. But that was 

possible only if they could be allowed either to cut the 

highway between the imperial cities of Delhi and Agra, 

or to hold Agra, the second capital of the Empire, in 

addition to Mathura. The sovereign of Delhi could not 

be expected to agree to this mutilation of his empire, and 

hence Mathura was held by the Jat Bajahs only on an 

eternally precarious tenure, and solely by the force of 

indisputably superior arms. And yet the Jats of 

Bharatpur could expand only by holding Agra and 

Mathura, and then from these secured bridge-heads 

crossing the Jamuna and overflowing into the Aligarh 

and Bulandshahar districts east of that river. The 

Bharatpur State is hemmed in on the west by the Bajput 

kingdoms,—Mewat (Narnol, Alwar etc.) being the bone 

of contention between the two races,—on the north by 

Delhi and its surrounding districts, and on the south-east 

by the Marathas, now firmly planted in Malwa. This 

geography inexorably dictated the course of Bharatpur 

history. 

§ 4. Origin of the Jat kingdom ; the initial difficulties 

of Badan Singh. 

The creation of the kingdom of Bharatpur out of 

nothing is the achievement of two of the greatest Indian 

statesmen of &e 18th century, as its ruin was the work 

of a single personality of the opposite charaotor who 

sacceeded them on the throne. The story of that rise 
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can be unfolded in full detail from contemporary records 

in Persian French and Marathi.* 

In the declining days of Aurangzib^ while the 

Emperor was absent in the Deccan for a quarter century 

and all his best officers and troops were concentrated 

there; individual Jat village headmeu; like Rajaram; 

Bhajja and Churaman, led predatory bands of their 

clansmen to rob the royal highway from Delhi to the 

South and even the suburbs of the capital city of Agra. 

But these risingS; however successful at first in causing 

loss and mischief; had been ultimately suppressed by the 

imperial Government through the house of Jaipur. Up 

to the middle of the 18th century there was as yet no 

Jat State; no politically united Jat nation; no Jat king 

standing clearly above the other village headmen or even 

recognized as first among equals; but only a robber 

leader whose success had drawn to his banners many of 

his peers in social status as partners in his adventures 

and plunder. But even this small beginning of a tribal 

organization and foundation of a State was totally 

destroyed when in 1721 Sawai Jai Singh captured 

Churaman^s stronghold of Thun; Churaman committed 

* My internal history of the house of Bharatpur to 1767 unless 
otherwise stated is based upon Father Francis Xavier Wendel’s 
Frendi account in India Office libr. Orme MSB., 0. V. 216 No. 2 
and India XV. No. 11. For the earlier Jat chiefs, see my History 
of Aurmgub^ vole* iii and v. and W. Irvine’s iMter Mughols^ vol. i., 
Almost all the sources except SPD have been used in X. B. 
Qanungo’s History of iko Ms. 
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suicide, and his sons Zulkaran and Muhakam Singh were 

turned out to till the soil or to wander over the face of 

the earth. The Jat levies raised and held together by 

Churaman, after escaping the slaughter of the battle-field, 

had been dispersed to their homes and forced to turn 

their swords into ploughshares. The city of Thun 

itself was ploughed by asses under orders of the victor, to 

make it an accursed soil, unfit to serve again as a seat of 

royalty. The work of Eajaram and Churaman left no trace 

behind it, and their successor had to begin everything 

from the very foundations. 

This great work of construction was done by Badan 

Singh, the son of Churaman^s brother Bhao Singh, in the 

face of almost insuperable obstacles, both from within 

and without. The Jat people had no tribal cohesion ; 

every village head or leader of a small group of related 

families stood in proud isolation, recognizing no superior 

within the clan. Their government, if it could be so 

called, was a republic of aristocrats, too numerous to be 

called an oligarchy. The hope of plunder might lure 

them to join one among themselves (such as Churaman), 

not as his followers, but as his equal partners in a joint- 

stock enterprise ; they would not take their orders from 

him in peace times, nor link their estates with his to 

form a tribal kingdom. Shortly after the death of 

Churaman, his son and successor Muhakam Singh was 

turned out by the leading men of the clan, who repudiated 

his authority, and the nascent political society of the Jats 
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seemed about to dissolve when Badan Siogh stepped in 

and took the thorny seat vacated by his cousin. 

At the outset the prospect was almost hopeless for 

Badan Singh. The position of a recognized political 

chieftain had yet to be created among a scattered race 

of peasants, who knew no other leader than the head of 

each family, and every such family head considered 

himself as perfectly equal to any other head and refused 

obedience to him. Even within his own family group, 

namely the Sinsania branch of the Jats, Badan Singh 

was not the undisputed head, as Zulkaran and Muhakam, 

the dispossessed heirs of its eldest line, were alive and 

over on the look out for overthrowing him and recovering 

their patrimony with outside aid. The heads of all 

the other families clung to their independence as long as 

possible. We see this social condition vividly illustrated 

in the Jat Court-poet^s description of the tribal 

contingents that followed Suraj Mai in his 

battles. The list reads exactly like the separate quotas 

of ships and men sent by the various independent 

cities of Greece in support of Agamemnon, in Book II 

of Iliad, \Snjdn Charitra, pp. 75, 184.] War and plunder 

was their only bond of union. 

§ 5. Badan SingVs reign and policy. 

For uniting these scattered atoms, Badan Singh had, 

at first, no superior armed force, no recognized higher 

status, no hoarded wealth. But with matchless cunning, 
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tireless patience^ and wise versatility in the choice of 

means^ he attained to complete triumph at the end of 

a long life. First of all, he followed the path of 

suppleness in getting into the good graces of Sawai Jai 

Singh, the conqueror of Thun, and securing him as a 

protector. His manners were so humble and submissive 

and his conduct so obliging, in contrast with the usual 

rude character of the Jats, that Jai Singh was quite won 

over and began to take a special delight in favouring 

this man whom he had raised from the dust and whose 

greatness he felt would shed reflected lustre on his 

patron. Jai Singh bestowed on Badan the tikay the 

nishan, the kettle-drum, the five-coloured flag, and the 

title of Braja-raj (or lord of the holy land of Mathura)* 

so as to give him authority among the Jats at home 

and to entitle him to greater respect abroad. But in 

spite of his getting these insignia of feudatory princes, 

Badan very astutely abstained from assuming the title 

of Bajah and throughtout life styled himself only Thakur 

or baron and represented himself publicly as a mere 

vassal of the Rajah of Jaipur. 

Thanks to Sawai Jai Singh, Badan was installed 

in a higher position than any of his predecessors, and 

he soon translated that position into the reality of 

* The entire country of Braja (Biathura) was never subject 
to him, but only a small fraction on the west. It was Suraj Mai 
who afterwards made ^ himsdf little by little master of the whide 
d it* [Wendd.] 
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sovereign power. At first he set himself very cunningly 

to join together the richer among his people under his 

newly acquired authority. He tolerated neither the 

very rich nor the very great, but made himself master 

of the lands and goods of those who had hitherto been 

the chief men of his clan, reducing them to the level 

of the common Jats. Thus, in a short time he became 

the sole lord of all the domains and wealth which had 

so long lain dispersed among the Jat village headmen. 

From a zamindar, Badan Singh became shortly a petty 

Bajah, strong enough to be obeyed at home and feared 

abroad. During the administrative disorder caused by 

the Sayyid brothers’ usurpation of power at Delhi, the 

Jats continued their robbery and rebellion in a more 

intense form than before, because Badan Singh was 

more powerful, his bands more numerous more hardy 

more sustained and doing more widespread and irremedi¬ 

able harm than the Jats under Chnraman or Bajaram. 

Besides a large force of infantry, whom he had ei^aged 

little by little, he formed a considerable corps of cavalry 

of whom one portion was employed in robbing the plains, 

the royal road to Delhi and the mivirons of Agra, and 

the remainder in extending his territory in the 

neighbourhood. In proportion as he gained teiritozy, he 

increased his army. 

Badan Sink’s immense expenditure on forts, cities, 

places and paries, indicated the great value of his booty. 

It was most probable that he had dtscoyered either 
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chance or from some key handed down from father to 

son a big hoard of the buried treasure of his ancestors, 

for burying ono^s wealth underground was the universal 

practice among the Jats. 

Taking advantage of the internal dissensions in the 

Delhi Grovernment, the Jats began to fortify their 

villages in large numbers and furnish them with 

munitions and provisions for long defence. In the 

place of Thun, Sansaiii, Soghor and other old forts 

which had been demolished by the imperialists before 

his time, Badan Singh founded four new forts, Dig 

Kumbher, Bharatpur and Ver. By bribing the wazir 

Qamr-ud-din, he silenced all complaints made against 

these military preparations at the Court of the Emperor. 

When next Sawai Jai Singh obtained the governorship 

of the Agra province, the Jats had more leisure and 

more liberty to do as they had always done. Jai Singh 

officially entrusted to the Jat chief the patrolling of the 

king’s highways to Agra, Delhi, Jaipur &c. and the 

collection of the transit duties on them, in the hope of 

turning him back from rapine. Jai Singh’s deputy and 

actual administrator of the Agra province was a villain 

and a close ally of Badan Singh ; he was the man most 

suitable for the enterprises of the Jats, who roamed 

freely over the province, demolishing houses, gardens 

and mosques, disfiguring them for the sake of a knob of 

eoppel-, a piece of, marble or a bit of iron. Every gate, 

stone slab, and. beam was carried off from these old 
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edifices to the places which the Jats were then building. 

At the same time these tribesmen, in bands of two 

to three hundred each armed with sword and 

musket, carrying hatchets and torches in their hands 

and blowing their trumpets, broke into the houses 

of the rich, which they had previously divided 

among themselves and carefully noted where the owner 

was not in a position to offer resistance. The invasion of 

Nadir Shah led to a sudden and vast expansion of the 

Jat power and dominions ; * Badan Singh became 

master of the environs of the two capitals, completed 

his forts and began new ones in the lands he had 

recently annexed. All these forts were put in a strong 

posture of defence, being armed with an infinite number 

of small pieces of artillery acquired by plunder or 

purchase and larger pieces cast by himself, as well as 

provisions. One contemporary writer hardly exaggerates 

when he says that the walls of Kumbher were lined 

with guns with no interval between them. These forts 

were known to be impregnable in the India of that age. 

But, in spite of his wealth and military strength, 

Badan Singh always declined the Emperor's invitation 

to visit his Court, saying that he was no noble but a 

* As in the parallel case of the Bikhs, but with a very 
important difference. The Jat expansion was made easier and 
more rapid by the fact of their being (unlike the Bikhs) always on 
the side of the Emperor and his ministers and sharing in his 
campaigns along with die old nobility, so that the Jat territorial 
gains were legalised by die Delhi Government. 
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mere peasant! He did homage solely to the Bajah of 

Jaipur, acknowledging himself as that Rajah’s vassal 

and attending his Dasahara darbar every year till old 

age curtailed his movements. Outside Jaipur he built 

a mansion, garden and other honses for himself, at a 

village assigned to him by Sawai Jai Singh and named 

Badan-pura after him. 

Badan Singh followed one most ancient and 

legitimate method of enhancing his political strength, 

by marriage alliances with the heads of other groups 

of families who were once the equals of his forefathers. 

In addition, he kept a prodigious number of women of 

all castes and tribes,—a mark of his wealth. His 

ancient predecessor on the royal seat of Mathura, the 

divine cow-herd of Hindu mythology, was girt round 

by a hundred blooming young women. Badan Singh 

improved upon it and kept a harem of 150, some 

secured by consent, some by force. Of his eons, thirty 

were known to have become heads of villages in his 

territory, and there were at least as many more of 

whose future career nothing was known. "The swarm 

was so large that he had difficulty in recognizing bis 

own offspring; each of them had to announce his 

mother’s name and his own age and place of residence, 

when he came to do his father reverence !” [WendeL] 

* FHn4aiMma-«tA<m tfitMU^hata-vriiam SraArnthffo^-mMkmii 
ISMffovat JPUifp.] 
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§ 6. Siiraj Maly his birth and early career, 

Badan Singh died at Dig on 7th June 1756 ; but 

for many years before it he was a quiescent figure, 

stationary at his capital, and merely presiding over State 

councils. His inactivity was further increased by his 

growing blindness. The policy of his State in war and 

diplomacy was shaped and its campaigns were led by 

his adopted son Suraj Mai, the ablest statesman and 

warrior that the Jat race has ever produced. Suraj Mai 

was no son of Badan Singh, nor did he share his 

blood in any way. He was the lawful son of a 

married woman who during a visit to her sister (a 

member of Badan Singh^s harem) with the infant Suraj 

Mai in her arms, caught Badan Singh’s fancy and was 

enrolled among his concubines and soon became his 

first favourite. But apart from his mother’s influence, 

Buraj Mai’s outstanding genius made it clear to all 

that he was the fittest man to lead the rising Jat 

aiation* So, Badan Singh adopted Suraj Mai as his 

son and successor, with the full approval of the 

elders of the clan, setting aside the offspring of 

his body. Therefore, the history of the Bharatpur 

kingdom during the latter half of Badan Singh’s 

reign was really the history of Suraj Mai. 

The earliest expansion of the Bharatpur State was 

«t the expense of its immediate neighbours on the 

north and west> in that eTer-anarchical mosaic of fiefs 

38 
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and universal brigands’ den called Mewat* The fame of 

Suraj Mai’s capacity for leadership and the tough 

fighting qualities of his troops spread rapidly, and there 

■came repeated solicitations for his sword from the 

highest in the land. A Jat contingent accompanied the 

Emperor Muhammad Shah in his expedition against 

Ali Muhammad Buhela (May 1745) and fought 

creditably in that inglorious campa^n. In November 

next his support was hired by Fath Ali Khan (son of 

Sabit Khan, a famous governor of Aligarh), who had 

been robbed of some of his father’s estates by Asad 

Khan Khanahzad. In the battle near Chandausi that 

followed, Asad Khan was shot dead and the Jats gained 

a complete victory. Suraj Mai’s next achievement was 

to lead his father’s contingent of 10,000 horsemen in 

support of his feudal superior. Rajah Ishwari Singh of 

Jaipur, who had appealed for Jat aid when threatened 

by a Maratha invasion. In the battle of Bagru (August 

1748) Suraj Mai led the Jaipur vanguard and fought 

most gallantly, defeating the Marathas opposed to 

him, though the campaign ultimately went against 

Ishwari Singh. Still greater fame was won by die 

prince of Bharatpur when, on 1 January 1750, he 

defeated and reduced to utter impotence the commander- 

* This conquest must have spread over a number years 

and been effect^ little by little. port Sudan’s asseedon that 

&irai Mai captured the kst of Mandu is unsupported by hiatcuy. 
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in-chief of the Empire, Salabat Khaa Mir Bakhshi, 

near Sarai Sobhachand. [Ch. 7 § 9-1 

Advancing higher still, Suraj Mai was enlisted 

by Safdar Jang, the imperial wazir, to assist him in his 

war on the rebellious Bangash clan of Farrnkhabad and 

their Buhela allies from beyond the Ganges. The brnnt 

of the fighting at Bam Chatauni (September 1750) was 

borne by the Jats with conspicuous success, and if 

Safdar Jang failed it was due simply to his folly and 

lack of generalship. The same service was repeated in 

Safdar’s victorious invasion of Bohilkhand in 1751-52. 

On 20 October 1752, the grateful waair induced the 

Emperor to create Badan Singh a Bajah with the title 

of Mahendra, and Suraj Mai a Kumar Bahadur with the 

title of Bajendra * and a few days later to confer the 

office of faujdar of Mathura on Suraj Mai. This gave 

him the governorship of most of the territory on the 

two sides of the Jamuna, in the province of Agra and 

the environs of that city, for an annual tribute. "This 

was the first step in the ascendency of the Jats, because 

though they had before this acquired enough of goods 

and riches, they had not obtained rank among the 

potentates of Hindustan for want of title and [officially 

conferred] authority ; but now their head was created 

a Bajah by the Great Mughal himself, as Jai Singh was.” 

[Wendel.] Safdar Jang now expedited the issue of 

' TAk. 436, 46a. Wendd » wrong in saying that at thia tune 
Sniaj Ual was ereatsd a Bajah With the title of Jaswant 
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patents from the imperial Chancellory for the fiefs that 

had been ordered to be granted to Suraj Mai before. 

§ 7. Expansion of Suraj Mcd’s potver from 

1753 to 1756. 

Backed by the wazir, Suraj Mai ousted Bahadur 

Singh (Bar-Q-ujar) the faujdar of Chakla Koil (Aligarh), 

and even took from him his paternal stronghold of 

Ohasira (40 miles south of Delhi) after a three months’ 

siege. The fighting here was most obstinate : 1,500 Jats 

were slain by gunfire from the fort-walls ; and at last 

Bahadur Singh in despair slew all his women, threw the 

gates open, and rushed upon the enemy with twenty-five 

desperadoes like himself, who perished to a man (23 April 

1753.) * During Safdar Jung’s rebellion against the 

Emperor, Suraj Mai joined his former patron and took 

a leading part in the fighting round the imperial capital. 

The rising failed, and Suraj Mai was glad to make peace 

with the Emperor through the new wazir Intizam-ud- 

daulah (25 Oct.) The imperial Bakhshi Imad-nl-mulk, 

who had not been a party to this treaty, next launched 

a campaign and freed the country south of Delhi 

from Jat encroachments ; Ballabhgarh and Ghasira were 

wrested from the Jats and even the Aligarh and Jalesar 

* Bahadur’s son Fath Sinf;h was then in Delhi and tiius 
escaped the massacre of his family. He naturally jrined Snral 
]&l's awmy Imad>ol-mnlk and zeoorored Ohaaiia with Mi^dud 
hfl^ in Janiuty 1764. [TAh. 47a, 626,1066.] 
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districts east of the Jamona. [Ch. 12 § 2.] Carrying 

the war into the enemy's own territory, Imad co-operated 

with the Marathas in the siege of the Jat stronghold of 

Knmbher. After four months (Jan.-May, 1754) the fort 

remained untaken, * and the besiegers were glad to go 

away on receiving promise of an indemnity of 30 lakhs 

of Rupees. fCh. 12 §5.] Holkar’s raid on the Emperor's 

camp at Sikandrabad (25 May), which followed within 

a week of the raising of the siege of Kumbher, and the 

change of Emperors by Imad-ul-mulk (2 June) introduced 

chaos into the Delhi administration and the Jats joined 

in the plunder of the country round the imperial capital, 

“with this advantage on their side that after Malhar 

Holkar and Imad-ul-mulk had left, the Jats were 

sufficiently in time to profit by the general consternation 

into which the one or the other had put the capital and 

its environs." [Wendel, 71. SPD. .txvii. 90.] 

In the second half of the year 1754, large Maratha 

forces occupied the country round Delhi and north of it, 

under Raghunath Rao, who found it expedient to come 

to an understanding with Snraj Mai, by which the Jat 

chief agreed not to oppose the Maratha enterprises nor 

to obstruct the frequent marches of Maratha forces 

through Northern India which had now become necessary, 

* Sarsj Md’s &iDe spread all over India from his suocessfnl 
defence of Eatnbher against 80,000 men led by Malhar Hdkar, 
Imad and a Jaipur general. [Wmidel.] But the Marathaa 
snspeeted the Jidpor agent Haragovind Natani of csoUnsion with 
the Jats. SPD, xxrii 94. 



438 FALL OP THE MUGHAL EMPIRE [(^H. XXHl 

while Kaghunath allowed Saraj Mai to occupy much of 

the territory of the province of Agra, then at Maratha 

disposal. [ W endel.] 

In the course of this renewed Jat expansion in the 

country south of Delhi and west of Agra, we can note 

the chief events,—the seizure of Palwal (36 miles south 

of Delhi) on 27 Sep. 1754,* the recovery of Ballabhgarh, 

the reconquest of Ghasira from Fath Singh Bar-Gujar 

in November 1755, and the acquisition of the imperial 

fort of Alwar (c. 23 March 1756) by composition with 

its custodian. These successes were chequered by 

some reverses. On 29 June 1755, Najib Khan set out 

on a campaign, under orders of the kingmaker Imad, for 

recovering the lands in the Ganges-Jamuna doab seized 

by Suraj Mai. But Nagar Mai, the diwan of Crownlands, 

mediated, and after some haggling arranged a peace 

between them, near Dasna, on the following terms 

(26 July) 

♦ A force sent by Suraj Mai on 27 September captured the 
city of Palwal, which was in the wazir’s jagir. The Jats seized 
and slew Santokh Bai, the qanungo of Palwal, who had instigated 
Aqibat Mahmud to kill Balu Jat. They also carried off the qa/^i 
of the place. The wazir, on hearing of it, assembled his forces 
and went to Malhat asking him to join in an attack on Suraj 
Mai. On 29 Sept. Malhar took him to Kaghunath, who frankly 
tdd him, “We have come to terms with Suraj Mai and shall not 
deviate from our promise to him. Do you remain here in com* 
posure of mind. I shall send word to Suraj Ual to abstain from 
seizing any place in your jagir.*' TALS. 22a. 
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(i) Suraj Mai was to retain the lands in the Aligarh 

district that he had occupied before. 

(ii) Rupees 26 lakhs was settled as the perpetual 

quit-rent {istimrar) of these lands, out of which 18 lakhs 

was deducted as cash compensation for the jagirs which 

Javid Khan and Safdar Jang had formally assigned to 

Suraj Mai in the last reign, but which had not been 

actually transferred to him. 

(iii) Suraj Mai would vacate the fort and district 

of Sikandrabad, which had been handed over to him by 

the Marathas in the preceding month. 

(iv) Out of the balance of 8 lakhs due to the 

imperial exchequer, Suraj Mai paid two lakhs down and 

gave an undertaking to clear the balance in one year at 

the rate of half a lakh per month. [TALS, 57-58.] 

§ 8. Rebellion of Jawahir Singh against his father. 

But a worse thing was to come on the Jat chief. 

Badan Singh died on 7th June 1756, and though the 

disappearance of the blind old figurehead of the State 

made no difference in its actual administration, this event 

precipitated a civil war through the impatient ambition 

of Suraj MaFs son Jawahir Singh. This youth had been 

born with a boundless course, a fierce delight in fighting, 

and some power of leadership; but these high gifts were 

neutralized by his reckless impetuosity, blind obsthiaoy 

and utter lack of self-control and foresight* While Suraj 

Mai, with all his power and wealth, lived to the end of 
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his days in a very simple style, being inclined to be 

miserly rather than liberal in all kinds of expenditure^ 

Jawahir was of exactly the opposite character, a prodigal 

fond of luxury and profusion, ^^playing the Mughal umara 

in his equipage company and diversions/^ Selfish 

favourites gathered round him and instigated him against 

his strict and stingy father as an obstacle to his happiness 

and independence, and led him on to live far beyond his 

modest allowance. Suraj MaFs remonstrances only 

increased his son’s anger and aversion towards the 

Rajah’s old counsellors. When he next tried to remove 

Jawahir’s evil advisers, ^%e young Absalom” (as he is 

aptly called by a Jesuit priest of Agra) flew into rebellion 

and prepared for war in the fort of Dig which was then 

his residence. Suraj Mai had no help but to lay siege to 

it. Jawahir, as was his wont, made a reckless sortie 

upon his father’s troops, personally rushed into the 

thickest of the fight, and was captured with three severe 

wounds from sword lance and bullet. For some time 

after, his life was despaired of but he recovered, though 

these wounds left his right arm weak and one leg lame. 

Suraj Mai seems to have now made some more liberal 

provision for Jawahir, because he could not afford to lose 

his most spirited and war-experienced son."' This civil 

war ended in November 1756, and next month Abdali^s 

invasion burst upon the Delhi empire. 

^ Wend^ i^rts the current story that Badan Bing^ a 
ftmndfsilier"s do^iig wBMien handed 40 Us favoori# Jaesaldr 
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Suraj Mai set himself to improving the defences of 

Dig and to building more forts, his chief care being to 

fortify Bharatpur so strongly as to make it absolutely 

impregnable and a worthy capital of his kingdom. At 

the same time he began a grand palace at Dig, which 

was planned on such a gorgeous and costly style that it 

was not completed even in Jawahir Singh^s reign. 

§ 9. Suraj MaVs doings and policy from 

1757 to 1760. 

From Ahmad Shah Abdali^s fourth invasion in 

January 1757 to his retreat after his fifth invasion in 

March 1761, Suraj Mai passed through a most anxious 

and critical time, as his home was nearest the danger 

zone and he had the fatal reputation of being excessively 

rich. But he emerged at the end of this period with his 

territory unimpaired, his treasury untouched, and his 

forces undiminished. This success was due to his 

marvellous sagacity patience and diplomatic shrewdness, 

but he was in no less a degree indebted for it also to the 

exceptional ability and devotion of his minister Bupram 

Kothari, which rose equal to every danger and every 

surprise. Throughout these four years there were, at 

a paper containing the key to his buried hoards, and that Sura} 
Mai kept pressing Jawahir, when his wounds were supposed to be 
incurable, to surrender this paper to him. But the fact is that 
Sura} Mai and Jawahir were temperamentally opposite; Suraj Hal 
could never forget that he was a cultivator’s son and JawaMr that 
he was a Bajah’s son I Wendel, 73. SPD. xxvii. 32& 
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times, threats of Abdali’s attack unless the Jat Rajah 

paid down a large ransom; at others, there was the 

opposite danger of Maratha pressure to join with all his 

forces in their attempts to dismember the Delhi empire, 

which (Suraj Mai knew) would antagonize all the Muslim 

and Rajput Powers of North India and inevitably bring 

the Afghan invader back. But through each crisis as it 

developed the suppleness of Suraj Mai’s diplomacy 

enabled him to pass unscathed. 

We have seen how during the Durrani invasion of 

1757 he withdrew his clansmen from their fields into his 

forts and thus saved them while he gained time by 

parleying and bribing Abdali’s tribute-collectors, till the 

Afghan king was driven out by an epidemic in his army. 

The stand made in vain by his garrison of Ballabhgarh 

and the gallant but equally unavailing effort of his son 

Jawahir to defend Mathura from the invaders, have been 

described in Ch. 16 § 3-5. During the Maratha return 

to the North under Raghunath Dada and Dattaji Sindhia 

in 1757-1769, Suraj Mai wisely remained quiescent, only 

supplying a few thousand auxiliary troops to the Maratha 

general when he could not help it. His dealings with 

the Bhau in 1760 have been unfolded in Chapter 20 §5 

and 8. The result of all this was that the retreat of 

Ahmad Shah in March 1761 left the Jat Rajah as the 

strongest potentate in India with absolutely unimpaired 

forces and an overflowing treasury, while every other 

chief had been more or leas ruined. 
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§ 10. Suraj Mai captures Agra fort, June 1761. 

He turned this opportunity to making the greatest 

expansion that the Jat kingdom ever attained. After 

his design of making himself regent of Delhi under cover 

of his tool Imad-ul-mulk had been nipped in the bud 

(in May 1761, see Ch. 22 § 2), he made more solid gains 

nearer home. Agra was now the richest city in the 

empire. Delhi had been devastated and its population 

thinned by repeated foreign occupation and sack, but 

Agra fort had never opened its gates to any Durrani 

agent. The rich fugitives from the capital had taken refuge 

in Agra and it was the best centre of trade in upper Jndia 

in those troubled times. The accumulated hoards of the 

Mughal Emperors from Akbar’s rei^n had been lodged in 

Agra fort, and though much of this treasure had been 

dissipated by Aurangzib’s long wars and the insolvency 

of his successors, yet much still remained, especially 

costly robes, furniture, utensils, and jewellery worthy of 

kings. The fort was held by a qiladar directly 

under the Emperor. He and the garrison under him 

had received no pay for two years past and had 

kept off starvation only by selling the vessels of precious 

metal from the imperial stores. 

Suraj Mai sent a strong force to capture Agra. 

Their first assault was easily repulsed by fire from the 

impregnable walls and they then laid a regular 

blockade to the forl^ after plundering the houses 

immediately under the fort-walls and arresting the 
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wives and children of the garrison who used to lodge 

there. Within a month (Wendel says, 20 days) the 

qiladar opened the gates on 12th June 1761, on being 

promised* one lakh of Rupees in cash and five 

villages, '^t is calculated that Suraj Mai carried 

away 50 lakhs in this pillage. Enormous stores of 

artillery, munitions, and articles of the royal wardrobe 

had accumulated in Agra for a long time past. Most 

of the artillery and all the effects were removed to 

Bharatpur and Dig. In 1765 Ja.wahir Singh razed most 

of the houses in the environs of the fort for the 

unobstructed fire of the guns on the walls. A garrison 

of some thousand Jat musketeers was put in.^^ 

§ 11. Expansion of Suraj MaVs powery 1761-62, 

relations with Najib. 

Three months after Panipat, Suraj Mai found 

himself delivered from the Marathas and the Durranis 

at the same time, and set himself to extending his 

The promises made to the qiladar and his troops were 
broken and those men were languishing in poverty, when Wendel 
wrote in 1768, the reason being that the Jat Eajah called upon 
the qiladar to render full accounts of the enormous imperial 
property hitherto kept in his custody and accused him of 
deMcation. [Wendel, p. 86.] Chakar Ovlxar^ 4545, says that the 
qtladar FSzil Kh. remained faithful to his charge, but Musa Beg, 
the keeper of the gates, opened them for 3 lakhs to the Jats, 
who punished his treachery by imprisonment, ( ? confounded 
with the surrender of Farrukhnagar by Musavi Khan Satueh in 
Dec. 1763.) 
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possessions. He seized many Maratba j^;irs in the 

Doab, recovered his own earlier annexations in the 

Aligarh and Bulandshahar districts which Abdali had 

seized in March 1760, and made fresh conquests at 

the expense of the Rajput and other zamindara within 

his reach. He crushed the Bhadauria Rajputs of Agra 

district and the Porach Rajput taluqdar of Mendu 

(in Aligarh), and did not spare even independent Jats 

like the zamindar of Mursan. '‘On this side of the 

Jamuna, from the gates of Delhi to the Chambal, there 

was no other government but his ; and towards the 

Ganges it was almost the same ... The reduction of 

Agra fort assured to Suraj Mai the tranquil possession of 

most part of that subah, because in fear of the imperial 

force posted in it he had so long confined himself to 

the region south of that city. But now he spread his 

dominion northwards up to Sarai Khwajah Basant, 20 

miles from Delhi. West of the capital he engaged in 

creating a small separate State for Ms son Jawahir 

Singh,'' covering Mewat and the Baluch lordships near 

Rewari. Here Jhajhar and other small places fell to 

him, but Farrukhnagar held out till December 1763. 

Najib tried to come to terms with Suraj Mai. On 

7th October 1761, Rajah Diler Singh from Delhi, acoom- 

pained by the Jat agents Rupram Eothari and Mohan 

Singh, went to Suraj Mai at Dankaur, and aftw five 

days’ discussion it was agreed that Suraj Mai would be 

formally confirmed in his recent gains (Jhajhar uid other 
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places)^ subject to the payment of a tribute to the 

Emperor, for which Nagar Mai stood security. Then 

two envoys from Najib visited the Jat Rajah, with a 

Quran on which Najib had sworn solemnly to safe-guard 

Suraj Mai, and arranged for an interview between the 

two chiefs near Delhi. On 19 th October Abdali's 

courier brought his letters from Kabul to Delhi calling 

upon the Indian chiefs to pay the promised tribute, and 

to report who was loyal to the Emperor and who not. 

A Durrani army was announced to be about to visit 

India soon, and the Shah himself behind it. On the 

24th, Nagar Mai went to Suraj Mai to arrange for paying 

Abdali and also to persuade him to visit Najib near 

Delhi in order to settle terms, after which Najib, accom¬ 

panied by Suraj Mai’s son, was to go to Shah Alam and 

conduct him to the imperial capital, with the support 

of all the Indian princes. 

A few weeks later this interview took place. "The 

armies of these two chiefs alighted on the opposite banks 

of the Jamnna at Dankaur-ghat. Najib went towards 

Suraj Mai, seated in a small boat, with only a few 

servants, leaving all his troops on the other side of the 

river... Suraj Mai behaved towards him with great 

purity of heart” [Nur. 56. DC.] But no lasting settle¬ 

ment was made. Ahmad Shah passed the whole of 

1762 in the Panjab, and Sjuraj Mai seems to have held 

his hand back during that year. 

* Najib and SuriS Mai in 17«l-eB,-DO, SPD, jad. 8», SO. 
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§ 12. Suraj Mai captures Farrukhnagar ; 

rupture with Najib, 1763. 

Next year, the Jat attempt to enforce law and order 

in that immemorial robbers’ den known as Mewat and 

guard the roads leading out of their kingdom, brought 

about an open war between Suraj Mai and Najib, the 

patron of the harbourers of these robbers. Musavi Khan, 

the son and successor of Kamgar Khan, was the 

strongest of the numerous petty Baluch chiefs in the 

Gurgaon-Rohtak district west of Delhi. He led a 

contingent of over 2,000 of his clansmen, with whom he 

had joined Najib soon after the latter’s entry into Delhi 

as regent. During the Panipat campaign he had aided 

the Afghan cause by closing the roads west of Delhi to 

the Marathas and cutting off their stragglers convoys 

and couriers. His seat was Farrukhnagar, (30 miles 

south-west of Delhi), a very well-fortified place. 

The Mewati race used in all ages to live by robbing 

the country round. For some years past the Jat Rajah 

had been engaged in conquering that district and 

establishing his own administration there. He bad 

taken the imperial fort of Alwar, which dominated the 

district (March 1756), and had built another fort at 

Kishangarh, 20 miles northwards. This country was 

intended to be the appanage of Jawahir Sing^, while 

the main Jat kingdom was to descend to his younger 

xxix. 23. WenM, 83-88. Nnr. 66, N.W.P. Oax. viL 618-664. 
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brother I^bar Singh.* In the course of his gradual 

occupation of Mewat, whenever Jawahir heard of any 

Mewatis practising highway robbery, he used to track 

them by their footmarks and sternly put them to death. 

But a most notorious culprit of the place defied him. 

A Meo named Sanulba, with his gang of ten mounted 

brigands, used to make long night marches from his 

lair, and loot caravans near the fort of Dig or between 

Hodal and Barsana. ''The people were helpless against 

his oppression. He fixed his residence in the fort of 

Tauru, the seat of Asadullah Ehan Baluch, with whom 

he used to share his booty, (as the price of his protec¬ 

tion.)” Jawahir found that Sanulba would not be 

expelled from his refuge unless his protectors were 

attacked. Suraj Mai at first called upon the Baluch 

chiefs to drive Sinulba out. They refused to lose such 

a profitable agent in crime, and Jawahir led an expedi¬ 

tion against them. All the Baluches under Musavi 

Hhan of Farrukhnagar, the head of their clan, opposed 

idm, and the expedition had to return unsuccessful. 

This repulse only served to rouse Jawahir’s spirits. A 

second and stronger expedition was sent. Najib Khan 

wrote to Suraj Mai asking him not to touch the 

Baluches who were his protegees. Suraj Mai replied by 

pointing out that those who harboured h%hway robbers 

deserved punishment. 

* Jat osptote of Farrokhosgu, Nor. €0(i-66a, WenddI, 8&<89. 
>Ohalam AU, U, 194. 
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Jawahir Singh advanced upon Farrukhnagar^ 

wasting the villages on the way, Suraj Mai came up 

with reinforcements and a train of big guns^ and in less 

than two months the fort was taken, (c. 12 December 

1763.) Musavi Khan issued with his family on a promise 

of safety, but was arrested and confined in the fort of 

Bharatpur. Meantime, on receiving an urgent appeal 

for relief from the Baluches, Najib had written again 

to the Jat Rajah to withdraw from the Baluch estates, 

which were dependent on him and on the border of his 

own dominions. He himself was lying very ill at 

Najibabad, but set out for the scene of war, and reached 

Delhi on 14th December. But Farrukhnagar had fallen 

two days before, and all that Najib could do now was 

to Y^ite to Suraj Mai protesting against his unfriendly 

act in attacking the Ruhela chieftain^s dependent, and 

adding, ^^Let what is past be past. You may keep the 

fort that you have captured. But it is not proper to 

hold Musavi Khan and his family in captivity. You 

ought to release them out of regard for my friendship 

with you.^^ 

Suraj Mai wrote back, ^^These men are my enemies. 

Between you and me there is agreement and friendship. 

How was it consistent with that friendship for you to 

march from Najibabad to Delhi (during my sic^e of 

farrukhnagar) f It became publicly known that you 

were leading your army against me. If I had not in 

4he meantime taken the fort, you would haye joined 

29 
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Mueavi Xhan i^ainst me. The idea was ia your mind. 

You have thus already broken the alliance between you 

and me by acting with breach of faith." Even after 

this Najib tried to avert a war with Suraj Mai, whose 

immense resources in men and money he dreaded ; 'liis 

own treasury was empty and his estates required time 

to recover from his recent war against the Marathas, 

and he was suffering from a dangerous malady." But 

Suraj Mai had been thoroughly exasperated ; he decided 

on crushing this thorn in his path once for all. Najib’s 

peace-messenger Yaqub Ali Ehan, sent from Delhi on 

19th December, returned baffled on the 23rd, with the 

Jat Rajah’s reply, “Najib has acted contrary to my 

expectations. Clearing of our hearts is impossible now. 

He has come from Najibabad solely in pride of his 

troop of clansmen. It is necessary for me to look at 

his army once." 

§ 18. Last campaign and death of Suraj Mai. 

Having thus thrown down the gauntlet, Suraj Mai 

left a strong garrison in Farrukhuagar and Jawahir Sin^ 

in its neighbourhood, and marched with the rest of 

his army rapidly to tiie Doab.* Encamping on the west 

* Last battle and death of Suraj Mai,—Nor. 66a—706 (best 
and fullest.) Wendd, 89*90 and DC. (support, briefly.) Bogan 

305. Ghufaun Ali, it 194-205 (detailed but vague.) Muua Lol 
78-85, Siyar, in. Ckahar Gtdxar 453 (meagre.) This batfle 
aeons to have taken place, east of Sarai Sadar and nocflt at 

BBoffti, idxmt 10 miles south-east of Drihi, iriiere a etndght Ihia 
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bank of the Hindan, he sent detachments across it, who 

plundered all the villages around Ghaziabad and set 

fire to them, only the fort remaining safe. After this 

the Jat army returned to the south of Delhi. Najib 

issued from the city with his troops and stood near the 

garden of Eihizirabad for some time, but returned with¬ 

out giving battle. Suraj Mai, after sending a haughty 

challenge to Najib, again crossed the Jamuna in light 

kit and halted some miles south of Ghaziabad. Najib 

with all his troops (below 10,000 men) forded the 

Jamuna two hours before dawn and took post on the 

west bank of the Hindan. It was the 25th of December. 

The Jat army came up opposite and an exchange of 

artilleiy fire began which lasted till about 3 p. M. Then 

Suraj Mai, keeping the bulk of bis troops and all his guns 

and elephants stationed facing the Bnhela army, marched 

away with 5,000 horse under his own command, crossed 

the Hindan four miles upstream, and tried to penetrate 

into Najib’s rear. A furious battle raged for some time, 

with charges and counter-charges, and nearly a thousand 

men fell down on the two sides taken tc^ether. Suraj 

himself with his small personal staff, then rode forward 

to rally his shrinking men. But in crossing a nala left 

behind by the river, he fell into an Afghan ambuscade 

and was shot down with most of his companions by &e 

drawn from DeUii to Bikandrabad crosses the Hindan. From the 
field Ni^ib marched to 8ara}pur, whidi is 15 m. w. ^kandra- 
bad. (2>a) 
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Euhela musketeers lying concealed among the jkau 

bushes. The rest of that squadron broke and fled into 

the jungle, abandoning their horses to plunder. The 

triumphant Ruhelas rushed forward from their ambush. 

One of them, Sayyid Muhammad Khan, popularly called 

Sayyidu, recognized Suraj Mai, and "thirsting for 

vengeance, dismounted, and plunged his dagger twice or 

thrice into the Rajah’s stomach. Two or three of his 

light horsemen also struck at the body with their swords. 

He then ordered the head to be out off. Five or six 

men plied their swords at the head and it was hacked to 

pieces, and one sword too was broken. Then Sayyidu 

came away from the place.” 

"The Jat force facing Najib kept up their fire, the 

flag on their elephant still stood erect, and their kettle¬ 

drums continued to be beaten. When Sayyidu came up 

and boasted that he had slain Suraj Mai, none would 

credit it, as the entire Jat army was bolding its ground 

as firmly as before. Three hours after sunset both 

armies fell back to their encampment. Next day, at 

dawn spies brought the report that no trace of the Jat 

army could be found for 30 miles. Najib asked for 

proof of Suraj Mai’s death. Sayyidu cut off an arm from 

the corpse of Suraj Mai and showed it to Najib. The 

Ruhela chief’s envoys, Sagar Mai Khatri and Shaikh 

Earamnllah, who had visited Suraj Mai only a day 

before the battle, at once identified the body by the 

design of the chintz cloth of his tunic and the mtok of 
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the amulet that the Jat Rajah was known to have worn 

for years. Thus, all became convinced that Suraj Mai 

had been slain.^^ 

§ 14. Character and achievement of Snraj Mai 

Jat; state of his hingdom,^ 

Thus perished Suraj Mai at the height of his greatness 

at the age of fifty-five. He was of middle stature and 

of a robust frame, very black in complexion and very 

fat. He had two extremely sparkling eyes, and all his 

physiognomy showed more of fire than was noticeable 

in his conduct, which was very sweet and supple. For 

more than twenty years he had enjoyed the sole govern¬ 

ment of the Jat kingdom, first as regent under the 

faineajit Badan Singh and latterly as king himself. He 

left behind him five sons,—Nahar Singh, his intended 

heir (born of a Jat wife), Jawahir and Hatan Singh (the 

offspring of a woman of the Gori caste), Nawal Singh 

and Ranjit Singh. His chief queen Hansia was childless 

but adopted Jawahir as her son. 

So great was his moderation, that in spite of his 

immense wealth and military force, he used to go to 

Jaipur every year at Dasahara and offer his homage and 

customary tribute as a humble vassal to Madho Singh. It 

was only a few years before his death that he gave up this 

practice in fear of treachery from his overlord. Though 

risen from the peasant stock, Suraj possessed the royal 

Wendel, 82-96. 
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gift of knowing men of real merit and esteeming them. 

The ex>wazir Imad-ul-mulk^ long a fugitive at the Jat 

Court, met with the greatest respect and protection from 

Suraj Mai, in consideration of his high lineage, though 

he had in 1753-4 been the most cruel enemy of the 

rising Jat State. 

Even on the most troublesome occasions, Suraj Mai 

displayed an instinctive sagacity of political manage¬ 

ment in which he surpassed all the great men of the 

time except Najib. '^He made himself great amidst 

the general decay of the empire ; none else in Hindustan 

had such good fortune.” He attended so admirably to 

the business of a landlord, in increasing the value of the 

countiy he had subjugated, that he greatly augmented 

his revenue, and at the same time he controlled his 

expenditure so well that after some years he used to 

save at least half the annual yield of his dominions, 

in spite of the laige sums spent on his forts and palaces. 

"In one word, being prudent, politic, valiant and noble 

above his birth, he was able to make himself admired 

and at the same time feared by the outside Powers. He 

had found the Jats rich already but mere zamindars and 

unknown except for their plundering ; but he left them 

powerful and highly reputed throughout Hindustan.” 

The only defect noticed in his character by this Jesuit 

observer was a low greed, which made him keep in his 

employ, even after he had been raised to the highest 

fortune, bands df robbers for conveying their boofy to 
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him, and induced a miserliness in his expenditure which 

left his family and troops frequently to languish in 

poverty by withholding their dues for years together. 

All his expenditure taken together ranged between 

60 and 65 lakhs of Rupees a year, while his annual 

revenue was 175 lakhs, so that in the seven years of his 

reign he added about six krores to the reserve hoard left 

behind by his predecessors. The revenue of the entire 

subah of Agra was then less than two krores, and the 

Jat kings did not hold more than three-fourths of its 

territory. Although Suraj Mai tried his beet to make 

the country yield double the revenue which the Mughal 

Emperors used to draw from it, yet taking all circumtances 

into consideration, Suraj Mai’s total reserve wealth, both 

inherited and acquired, could not have exceeded ten 

krores, much of it being buried undexg^round. 

Suraj Mai left to his successor 15,000 cavalry, 25,000 

infantry (apart from his fort garrisons), 300 pieces of 

cannon of all kinds, 5,000 spare horses, 60 elephants, and 

munition in proportion. Above all, he left a country, 

well cultivated, tranquil, free from the danger of being 

easUy surprised, which during his last years used to 

yield Bs. 175 lakhs in cash. Suraj Mai took pride in 

being a zamindar ; he knew how to improve the yield 

of his conquests, to give them peace, to conserve and 

defend them. He entertained no foreiga soldier in his 

service : he had conquered all that country by means 

of hie Jat Iwethrea only. "They tilled the -soil, they 
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defended it too. He had made them warriors, but after 

their martial service they returned to their plough, not 

less industrious as peasants than they had been brave a» 

soldiers when defending the territory on which they were 

established. 

^^Suraj Mai was loved by his own people and held ii> 

respect by aU his neighbours. The reputation of the 

Jat race reached its highest point under him and after 

him it was sure to decline.” 

§ 15. Jmvahir Singh’s accession ; opposition front 

his chiefs; preparations for war against 

Najib Khan. 

Suraj Mai had been slain so suddenly and his army 

had dispersed so unexpectedly, when they had twofold 

odds in their favour, that at first the Ruhelas could not 

believe in their good fortune. The Jat State was still 

the richest and strongest in Hindustan and the Huhelaa 

naturally expected a bloody reprisal upon their homes 

by the infuriated Jat nation. Hence, immediately after 

the fall of Suraj Mai, Najib returned to Najibabad instead 

of following up his victory by an invasion of the Jat 

kingdom. Even later when he became aware of the 

internal divisions in the Jat State and Jawahiris inability 

to embark on a vendetta immediately, he was distracted 

by a Sikh incursion into the upper Doab. “The tide 

of victory [over Zain Khan, faujdar of Sarhind] bore 

forfy thousand warriors across the Jamuna, and at first: 
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there was no one to resist them. They took Saharanpur 

on 20 Feb. 1764.” Najib had to hurry to the scene and 

buy the raiders off with eleven lakhs of Rupees. A 

Marathi letter rightly remarks, ''The Sikhs have done 

great good to the Jat Rajah ; they have saved his 

kingdom.” At the same time, Najib was dunned by 

AbdaH for the unpaid tribute of Hindustan. These 

events gave a respite to Jawahir Singh. 

The new Jat Rajah ♦ was in sore need of such a 

respite. He had gained a throne, but was not yet master 

in his own house. From the bank of the Hindan Suraj 

Mai’s expeditionary army had hurried back to Dig in 

about 30 hours, bringing the fatal news with them. The 

tribal elders met together to decide the succession. 

Nahar Singh, the chosen heir of the late king, demanded 

to be recognized at once. The courtiers disliked Jawahir 

Singh for his fiery temper, rashness, and want of self- 

control. Just then came a courier from Jawahir reproach¬ 

ing the chiefs for their cowardly desertion of their 

master and for their unseasonable deliberation to give 

him a successor without first thinking of avenging his 

death. Jawahir would, he said, go alone and attack his 

father’s slayer, and think of the succession afterwards. 

This reproach at one blow disconcerted the conspirators. 

Nahar Singh, too young and constitutionally timid, knew 

• Jawahir’s acoesaion and war preparations,—Wendel, 96-97. 
Nnr. 71tf-74o. 8PD. xxix. 56, 58, 85. Ch. Ovix,. 464. Siyar, iii. 84 
(oraelty.) DC. (dates only.) CPC. i. 2469 (ere of war.) 
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his chaooe gone and fled away by night to Eumbher, 

where he gathered his family partisans and wealth 

together and retired to Jaipur for refuge. Suraj Mai's 

brother-in-law and chief minister, Balaram, now 

proclaimed Jawahir, who arrived at Dig at once, on a 

fast camel, from Farrukhnagar. Many of the chief 

officers of State who had so long enjoyed Suraj Mai’s 

confidence and high offices, refused to render accounts 

and yield their balances to the young king. Jawahir’s 

authority was too recent for him to coerce such recusants. 

When he proposed a war of revenge against Najib, none 

of them approved it But Jawahir got his war expenses 

from his father’s widow Hansia, openly taunted his 

pacific counsellors with cowardice, and threatened to 

hire foreign soldiers for fighting his battles if his old 

captains held back. They, therefore, had to join him. 

For this war preparations were made long and on a 

vast scale, which speaks well of the youthful king’s 

wisdom. First of all, he satisfied his army by at once 

disohai^g their arrear salary, which Suraj Mai had 

kept unpaid for two years. Next, by sending his veteran 

envoy Bupram Kothari to Malhar Holkar, he contracted 

for the hire of a Maratha army of 20,000 horse for 

22 lakhs of Rupees. In the midst of the campaign he 

also engaged 15,000 Sikh mercenaries. 

These n^;otiations took months to mature and could 

not be kept a secret from Najib. The Bnhela tried 

to pacify the Jat king by arguing, ^What was predestined 
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has happend to your father. If by hghtiag me yon can 

bring him back to life, then fight me. I have not seized 

any part of your territory. Why then are you vainly 

worrying yourself against me ? God alone is the Giver 

of victory or defeat.” But it was a point of honour 

with the entire Jat nation to punish the slayer of their 

great king. If they peacefully digested that injury and 

made no attempt at retaliation, their prestige in the 

Indian world would be totally lost. 

Jawahir’s jealous overlord Madho Singh intrigued 

for an alliance with Najib. That Buhela chief also tried 

to dissuade Malhar from joining the Jats by appealing 

to their old friendship and his help at Panipat. The 

Peshwa ordered Malhar to side with Jawahir against 

Najib ; but MalhaPs sole interest in the war was to make 

money at the expense of the fabulously rich Jat king. 

In the first flush of his victory over Suraj Mai, 

Najib had seized the Jat posts in the middle Doab, 

from which the collectors had fallen back without 

resistance. Jawahir now (April 1764) recovered them 

and strongly reinforced with more artillery and 

munitions the fort of Ballabhgarh, which was to serve 

as his base in the operations against Delhi. Here he 

posted his chief of artillery Bishwa-sukh. 

§ 16. Jawahir attacks Delhi from the west bank. 

The campaign opened early in November 1764.* 

* Jawi^ Singe’s attack on Delhi)—Nor. 74h>d2t (eye-witness.) 
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Leaving Faridabad on their right, the Jat army struck 

the Jamnna some 14 miles south of Delhi and 

entrenched. JawahiFs own troops were between 

thirty and thirty-five thousand horse and foot with a 

hundred pieces of artillery of all calibres, and Najib's 

the same number of men with all the guns of the 

capital. But 20,000 Maratha horse were expected to 

join the Jats in a few days. Najib had sent his wakil 

Meghraj to Abdali in Qandahar via Jammu (as the 

Labor road was closed by the Sikhs), appealing for 

protection from the coming storm ; he had also called 

for reinforcements from his brother Afghans of 

trans-Qanges. 

Arrived before Delhi, Jawahir at first held his 

troops back, determined to assume the offensive on 

being joined by Malhar. After the arrival o{ this ally, 

he advanced his camp to the bank of the Jamuna east 

of the old Fort (Purana Qila.) Najib took post in the 

Buland Bagh, at the foot of the imperial fort, and 

threw a bridge of boats over the Jamuna to allow 

provisions to come in from the Doab. He himself 

lodged in the mansion of the former wazir Qamr-ud-din 

Khan, while his troops took up their residence by the 

river side. They dug a ditch with an earthen rampart 

behind it, lined with artillery, and connected the 

( 27(7. invalnable f^r dates.) Wendel 97-98 and foot-note (too 
general.) Ghnlam ii. 220-231. Mnna Lai, 93-98. SPT). zxix. 
72, 73, 193. 
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south-eastern bastion of the city with the river by 

these defences. 
The first battle took place on 15th November, and 

the total casualties on the two sides mounted up to a 

thousand {DC.\ Jawahir advanced to the fort of Firuz 

Shah in front of the Ruhela trenches, calling upon 

Malbar to support him in assaulting them. Malhar 

rode out with his troops, but halted far behind Jawabir’s 

army, near the fort of Sher Shah, and turned a deaf 

ear to all the appeals of his Jat ally to advance and 

join in a general attack, saying that it was unsafe to 
go further ahead before the Ruhelas were cleared out 

of the Old Fort. There was that day only an exchange 

of fire between the two sides, with some petty 

skirmishes, but no close engagement. 

Jawahir, finding that Najib’s ditch south of Delhi 

prevented a closer approach to the city, and losing 

faith in the sincerity of his Maratha allies, changed his 

plan of operations. Early in the morning of the 16th 

he sent Balaram with Bam Krishna Mohant (his own 

gur'u)y Sawai-riim a Brahman of Jodhpur (who led a 

contingent of 150 Bathors) and 8,000 Jat horse, to ford 

the Jamnna at the Amlighat, with orders to drive out 

the small patrol of Buhela horse posted on the left 

bank, overpower the hundred Buhela musketeers 

holding the eastern head Of Najib’s bridge of boats, 

and then charge over the bridge and penetrate into 

Kajib’s trenches from the rear. At the sime time 
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Jawahir attacked these trenches from the front to 

keep Najib's main army in play. The scheme could 

have succeeded if only there had been a complete 

surprise ; but the Jat horse lost time by stopping to 

plunder Patparganj, a very rich grain mart^ their march 

was detected by the cloud of dust they raised, Najib's 

500 Turki horsemen from Shahdara and a reinforcement 

of 600 Afghan cavalry under Nasir Ehan Darrati, 

boldly advanced and fought desperately to stem the 

Jat advance but were swept away by numbers. 

Meantime, l^ajib from his seat on a high bastion had 

seized the situation on the eastern bank with the help 

of a field glass. He strengthened the defence of the 

bridgehead, kept his trench-officers on the alert, and 

sent a thousand picked Ruhela soldiers by boat to the 

eastern bank to block the path of the Jat advance to 

the bridge, for if the enemy^s thousands reached the 

bridgehead the momentum of their advance would 
sweep away all obstruction and Najib's defence would 

be hopelessly broken. 

The newly arrived Buhela infantry, crouching in a 

hollow by the riverside, surprised the recklessly 

advancing Jat force and shot down most of their 

leaders. Both sides dismounted and a desperate hand 

to hand combat ensued. Sawai-ram and his Bathors 

were cut oiF and the rest of the Jat force took to fii^t, 

pursued by the Bohelas and Turks. 

Jawahir saw the disaster to his detachment and 
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pushed up reinforcements of 700 Nagas under Umrao-gir 

Oosain in person, by a luckily discovered ford. They 

were just in time to save the Jat force on the eastern 

bank from annihilation. The battle raged till sunset, 
after which Najib^s men fell back to their camps and 

Jawahir’s troops crossed over to the western bank by a 

ford lit up by two lines of torch-bearers. It must be 

admitted that Balaram’s troops had disgraced themselves, 

and had been saved only by the desperate and bloody 

sacrifice of the Nagas. 

§ 17. Jawahir bombards Delhi from the east bank 

of the Jamuna. 

On the 18th the entire invading army crossed over to 

the eastern bank of the Jamuna, planted guns along the 

river and began to bombard Delhi across the water, 

because there was no wall along the eastern face of the 

city to stop the balls. This was done after plundering 
Shahdara, where grain beyond calculation was stored for 

sale in Delhi; "the floors were dug up, the houses were 

burnt, and the place utterly devastated.*’ The Jat cannon¬ 
balls from the east bank fell on the houses along the 

eastern side of the capital; some even fell inride the 

imperial palace, and a few persons were killed and a 
crystal stool in the Diwan-i-khas was broken. Najib’s 

troops withdrew from their trenches on the river sands 

{reti) and took refuge in houses within the city, while he 

himsell dug ut nnttegnmad room in the Bnliuid 
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with a roof of planks covered with earth. The bridge 

was protected by guns mounted on the ramparts over¬ 

looking it, and held by a strong Euhela guard under 

shelter of an earthen wall one yard in height. In the 

city men were killed by the enemy shots. 

For a fortnight this bombardment of Delhi continued. 

Every morning Jawahir used to drag his guns up to the 

edge of the river, fire them all day, and take them back 

to his lines at sunset Meantime he had condnded his 

long negotiations with the Sikhs, as he had lost faith in 

his Maratha allies, and a Sikh force 12,000 strong, 

appeared near Delhi early in Januar}' 1765. A month 

before, another fierce horde of Sikhs, known as the 

Budha Dal, had swept over the upper Doab from its 

extreme north away to the Barha Sayyid settlements 

along the Ganges ■, Miranpur was again sacked; the 

fierce Banghars and Gujars rose and joined in the looting 

Najib could do nothing for the defence of his estates. 

"All the country up to the bank of the Ganges was 

brought into the possession of the Jats and Marathas} at 

some places their outposts were established, or else all 

was plundered. The parganahs of Dasna, Ghaziabad etc., 

as'a family heritage, were taken over by Imad-ul-mulk,^’ 

who was in Jawabir’s camp and had been his chief 

instigator in this enterprise. 

S 18. Jawahir’s Sikh allies arrive; their atkicks on Delhi. 

• When (be Sikhs aifived near Barari ghat, -Jawahk 
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crossed over from the east bank to the west and inter¬ 
viewed their chiefs. He had to submit to every kind of 
insult in order to enlist these allies. He was not allowed 
to approach the place of conference on an elephant. In 

the assembly of their sardars^ be was introduced by their 
Guru Ardas crying out, ^Jawahir Singh, the son of Suraj 
Mai, has sought the shelter of the Khalsajiu and become 
a Sikh of Nanak. He is demanding [through you] 

redress for his father’s blood.^^ They also drove out the 
Jat Rajah’s huqqoAye^Lrev with insult and abuse, because, 
among the Sikh sect, tobacco is an abomination, 
but the strongest wine, opium and bhang are allowable. 
He bore all this in silence. According to the new plan 
of campaign, the Jat army took post on the east bank 
opposite Delhi, the Maratha army on the same bank, but 

to the north of the Jats, and the Sikhs on the west bank, 
north and west of the capital. The Sikh horsemen were 
to scour the country on the north and west and cut off* 

provisions from that side. The besieged had only the two 

gates towards the south open, but these faced the Jat 
country, and the Jat fort of Ballabhgarh barred the 

path in that direction. 

Every day the Sikhs used to ride out, enter the old 
houses which lay desolate in the environs of the city aud 

try to approach the walls. Najib's men us^ to fire at 

them from the cover of the ruined houses, and the day 
passed in exchange of musket fire at close range> with 
loss m both sides* But the Sikhs had no arfilleiry and 
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therefore could not assault the fort. Najib with hia 

rockets used to break up every group of Sikhs that was 

formed within range of the walls. On 25th January 

1765, a great battle was fought between Najib^s men and 

the Sikhs aided by Jats, on the hill close to the Horse 

market {Nakh^) and Sabzi-mandi. Though many men 

were slain and wounded, the result was indecisive as 

usual. 

Shortly afterwards, ten thousand Naga sannyasis 

arrived from Oudh or Allahabad and were taken into 

Jawahir^s pay through Umrao-gir Gosain. One day they 

crossed over to the southern suburbs of Delhi with a Jat 

force and fought a desperate battle with the Ruhelas^ 

but were defeated by Najib^s superior generalship and 

repulsed with heav> loss at the end of the day. 

§ 19. Peace negoUations between Najth and the Jats : 

Malhar Holkafs double-dealing. 

This sort of fighting continued daily till the first 

week of February. But though Delhi defied assault as on 

the first day, it was not impervious to famine. The 

scarcity of grain in the beleaguered city reached an 

extreme point, while the Jat and Maratha armies outside 

revelled in plenty, and even the Deccani mares in the 

Maratha camp grew fat on an unlimited supply of grants 

Men left the city by the bridge and begged food in the 

Jat^canip or migrated elsewhere. The EufaeJa soldiers 

r^^ssed Najib hard to let them make one sortie and die 
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sword in hand rather than perish through famine. 

But he held grimly on, as he knew that Jawahir 

had more enemies inside his own camp than within 

the walls of Delhi. Malhar had secretly pledged 

himself not to let any real harm befall 

Najib, his ^adopted son\ He again received 

considerable sums from the Ruliela. Imad-ul-mulk, 

once a double-dyed traitor to his imperial masters, was 

now equally faithless to Jawahir, who had sheltered and 

protected him and was now risking his all to restore 

him to the wazirship of the Delhi empire. The two 

were constantly corresponding with Najib in secret, as 

one of their agents, Sayyid Nur-ud-din Hasan, has 

described in detail in his excellent Memoirs of Najib-ud- 

daulah. Even Sura] MaPs old captains were in 

collusion with those traitors and wanted the campaign 

to end in failure. At last Jawahir realized that he had 

nothing to hope for from the faith of Malhar, the 

prestige of Imad, or the arms of the Sikhs and Nagas. His 

spirit was finally broken by the signs of lukewarmness 

and covert opposition from his own servants. 

Negotiations for peace were set on foot on 4th February 

and brought to a speedy conclusion. On the 9th Najib 

paid a visit to Malhar and Jawahir, and ^'ponies laden 

with grain came to the city in large numbers^^ as the first 

fruit of the peace. Finally, Najib was reconciled to 

Imad, whom he visited on the 11th, and conducted 

into Delhi oh the 22nd (which was the first day of the 
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sacred month of Ramzan) for saying his Friday prayer 

in the Jami Masjid. Malhar was presented by Najib 

to the Heir in the palace and highly honoured; 120 

of his oflScers received khilats. At last »Tawahir, on 

16th February marched away from the city, before the 

walls of which he had spent 160 lakhs of Rupees and 

incurred a further liability of 12 lakhs (due to the 

Marathas) without achieving anything at all. The peace 

was hastened and Malhar^s desire to escape from the 

neighbourhood of Delhi was accentuated by the news 

that Ahmad Shah Abdali was about to cross the Indus 

and enter the Panjab for rescuing Najib. Malhar and 

Imad at once sent their families away to the middle 

Doab for safety, and themselves departed for that side 

on 25th February. ^^The Sikhs, on the day that they 

heard that Abdali had arrived near Labor, went off all 

at once without asking leave of Jawahir.^^ 

§ 20. Jawahir Singh crushes his refractory chiefs. 

The baffled Jat Rajah retired to his capital, disgusted 

with Malhar, disgusted with Imad, and furious towards 

his own chiefs. He refused to pay Malhar the balance 

pf twelve lakhs still due out of the promised 22 lakhs. 

He drove Imad out of his shelter in Dig to the Court 

of the Nawab of Farrukhabad (May, 1766.)* And he 

, • 'lmad-al-malk..,has been obliged to quit the Jat country 
dod retire to Farrukhabad, [arnral on 27 llfay 1766, 8pD. xx?ii. 
23^, under the proteetion of Ahmad Khan Bangaah. One df hb 
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s(^t himself to crush the traitors within his own realm* 

To make himself independent of the Jat tribal army 

which adored the old stiff-necked officers of Suraj MaFs 

time, he took into his service foreign soldiers, especially 

the contingents of Samru (June 1765) and Ken^ 

Madec (June 1767.) Thus furnished with mercenary 

tools, without any conscience or sense of nationality, he 

arrested with the help of these foreign troops Balaram 

and all other loading Jats of Ids father^s days, as well as 

their families and dependants. This Balaram, once the 

chief minister of the State, had defied his authority by 

not admitting him to Bharatpur (which was in Balaram^s 

charge) nor delivering to his new master the treasure 

deposited there. Balaram and another Jat grandee cut 

their own throats in prison, in order to escape public 

disgrace. Some other chiefs saved themselves by 

giving up their all, and others again died under beating 

rather than yield their wealth. Mohanram, the ex-Chief 

of Artillery, had been so powerful in the last reign that 

all the principal places were in the hands of his relatives 

women, whom he loved most [Ganna Begam] had, during Suraj 
Mai’s lifetime, given her love to Jawah ir and manifested much 
passion for him. All had been concerted for carrying her off 
secretly, but Suraj Mai, being informed in time, prevented Its 
execution...Imad [when migrating to Farrukhabad] narrowly 
missed leaving her a prey to the Jats again on the way: the latter, 
by a secret order of Jawidiir aud the consent of the belle, went to 
surprise her conductors aud get her into their hands. This they 
undertook not far from Agra, but they failed in the attempt, as 
they did not apply all their force,'^ [Wendel, 99.) 
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or dependants, and he was credited with having amassed 

80 lakhs of Rupees in cash besides articles of value. 

He, too, died in prison with his son, under torture to 

make him divulge the hiding places of his hoards. 

Jawahir next attacked the fort of Ver which was 

held as an appanage by Bahadur Singh, the son of 

Pratap Singh, a younger son of Badan Singh. After a 

three months^ siege, the place was captured, partly by 

false peace parleys and partly through the treason of 

some of the officers of the garrison, and Bahadur was 

thrown into prison. This new war cost Jawahir 30 

lakhs in his own expenses, besides the treasure deposited 

in that fort which came to be spent during the 

siege, (c. Sep. 1765.) ^^These acts of Jawahir Singh* 

spread consternation among bis relatives and utterly 

dismayed the Jat people in general, and at the same time 

embittered their feelings and alienated their attachment 

to his person.^^ His attempt to recoup himself for his 

huge loss of money in the war with Najib by seizing and 

squeezing all the rich Jats with whom he was dissatisfied, 

only made him odious to all, without bringing in more 

than 15 or 20 lakhs as the result of his extortion. 

§ 21. Nahar Singh, claimant of the Jat throne ; 

Jatvakir^s rupture with the Marathas, 1766, 

He now became involved with the Marathas in a 

quarrel which survived long after him and helped to 

* Wendeb 99-104. SPD. xxix. 165. 
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ruin his State. Nahar Singh, Suraj Mal^s favourite son 

and Jawahir^s disappointed rival for the throne, held 

Dholpur as his appanage. He had a most beautiful wife 

whom the licentious Jawahir coveted. In self-defence, 

Nahar Singh strengthened the fortifications of Dholpur, 

threw himself under the protection of Malhar Holkar 

(then campaigning against the Rana of Gohad), and 

inspired by the Maratha general claimed the throne of 

Bharatpur against Jawahir, whom he denounced as a 

bastard born of a lowcaste mother and not of a pure Jat 

queen. The Marathas jumped at this prospect of a 

war of succession in the Jat kingdom, as in their own 

words, ‘^there was no other place for money like this 

in India.^^* They had played the same mercenary part 

in the contest between two brothers for the throne of 

Jaipur. 

From the Maratha camp, Nahar Singh kept up a 

aecret correspondence with the leading malcontents in 

Jawahir’s State, claiming the headship of the clan as 

Suraj MaPs fully legitimate heir. Malhar, after having 

recovered Jhansi (Dec. 1765), was now (January 1766) 

engaged in fighting the Rana of Gohad, a Jat prince 

independent of Bharatpur, whose resistance was stifiFeued 

by Jawahir^s promise of support. Seizing the opportu- 

* SPD, xxix. 177. The mouth of Holkar’s diwan waters at the 
prospect ; in the course of one short letter he twice writes, ^There 
is no place for getting money equal to this.” Chandra Daf, i. 164 
fepeats this sentiment. 

Nfthar Singh—Wendel, 105496; Vaw. Bkaskar, 3718. 



472 FALL OF THE MUGHAL EMPIRE [CH. XXIlt 

nity of interfering in the internal affairs of Bharatpur 

with a show of legality, Malhar sent a detachment of 

15,000 horse under Sultanji Lambhate, Makaji Lambhate, 

and Santaji Bable, across the Chambal. These men 

looted the Jat villages from Dholpur up to the walls of 

Dig and Agra. Jawahir came up with his own troops 

and 7,000 Sikhs in his pay, and opposed Holkar^s men 

seven kos from Dholpur (13 and 14 March, 1766.) At 

first the Sikh skirmishers fell back, the exultant 

Marathas gave chase ^^thinking the enemy fled,^^ and 

came upon Jawahiris front line bristling with guns. The 

Jats now advanced firing, the Sikhs side by side with 

them. Towards sunset the baffled Marathas turned to 

retire, when the Jats charged. Many of the Marathas 

were killed and many hundreds of their horses taken in 

the ravines of the Chambal. Following up his victory 

Jawahir easily captured Dholpur and seized Sultanji 

(wounded) and all the other Maratha generals who had 

retired there after their defeat. It was only about 15th 

December next that Naro Shankar secured their release 

by treaty—and Malharis successor fired a salute of 

artillery in honour of the event! 

The Jat prince of Gohad now joined Jawahir, and 

the two concerted a plan of campaign against Malhar, 

and began to raid the Maratha possessions in north 

Malwa. On hearing of this disaster, Malhar sent 

Mahadji Sindhia and Gangadhar diwan ahead, as he 

himself was a dying man. Jawahir would have attacked 
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and probably defeated Malhar beyond the Chambal if 

his Sikh horsemen had not absolutely refused to follow 

him on account of the intolerable heat which they 

suffered in a grassless and totally waterless plain. In 

this way Nahar Singh lost his own estate, and was 

afterwards cast off by the Marathas as a tool no longer 

needed. He took refuge in Jaipur and finally at 

Shahpura, where in despair he swallowed poison, e. 

6 December 1766. This was the sad end of Suraj Mal^s 

Benjamin, as the Jesuit father aptly calls him. 

Baghunath Bao Dada came to north Malwa, and was 

joined by Malhar Holkar and Mahadji Sindhia near 

Bhander {c. 24 April.) But Malhar died a month later 

and Mahadji was thoroughly antagonized by Dada, so 

Baghunath’s efforts against Gohad failed like all his 

other campaigns. ^^After having long and uselessly 

attacked Gohad, Baghunath threatened Jawahir, who, 

proud of his success against Malhar, decided to turn the 

storm away by going in person to the aid of Gohad and 

encountering the Marathas beyond the Chambal. 

Becovering from a dangerous malady, he marched to 

Dholpur a second time for opposing Baghunath,.. . but 

the discovery of a treasonable collusion of his valued 

Gosain generals with the Marathas, obliged him to make 

peace.^^ 

In December 1766, Baghunath finally gave up the 

hopeless Gohad business and approached the Chambal 

for opposing Jawahir, who began to sue for terms through 
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Bamkrishna Mohant and Umrao-gir Gosain. The parley 

dragged on and no tribute was paid, though the captive 

captains of Malhar were set free, as a friendly turn 

{e, 15 Dec.) A personal interview arranged between 

Jawahir and Dada fell through, because of Jawahir^s 

fear of treachery. Suspecting that his Gosain generals 

had secretly gone over to the Maratha interests,—they 

had in fact been entreating Dada to take them into his 

pay,—Jawahir in the night between 23rd and 24th 

December made a sudden attack upon the Gosain camp ; 

some six hundred of their men were slain, but Umaro-gir, 

Anup-gir and Mirza-gir the three chiefs managed to 

escape with only 300 troopers across the Chambal and 

took refuge in the Maratha camp. Jawahir refused to 

visit Dada^s camp lest his fugitive Nagas should attack 

him by surprise. So, next day, the Jat Rajah turned 

his face from Dholpur to his own capital, while Dada 

marched away towards Kerauli. By escheating the 

Gosains^ property in Bharatpur Jawahir gained 30 

lakhs.* 

8 22. Jawahir conquers the Kalpi region^ 1767. 

The Maratha attack on him, with all their forces led 

by the Peshwa^s uncle himself, had been warded ofiP. His 

domestic rival was in the grave. His disloyal Gosain 

troops had been crushed. These successes turned the 

• CPC.u. 12B et aeq. Wendel, 105-106/xxix. 117, 
1264-127, 204, 158. Omhar Qtdx. 4735-474a (important.) 
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head of Jawahir Singh. The territory of the Bajah of 

Ater and Bhind (20 miles west and s. w. of Etawa) 

had formerly been tributary to the Marathas. After the 

departure of Dada and his army from the north, (Sironj 

reached on 16 May, 1767), Jawahir Singh invaded that 

region at the height of the rainy season (July) and 

quickly effected a conquest of all the domains of the 

Marathas and the petty zamindars, up to Kalpi. Throw¬ 

ing Balaji Govind Kher, the officer in charge of Kalpi, 

off his guard by friendly messages, Jawahir sent a 

detachment to surprise him, and Balaji had just time to 

escape with his family across the Betwa to a friendly 

Eajah. As the Maratha local agents reported, "Bhadaur, 

Kachhvadhar, Tomardhar, Sikarbar, Dandrauli, Khitauli, 

all are gone from us. Only a small tract remains, but 

that too has been rendered lamp-less. We retain 

Gwalior and Jhansi only ; all else is under Jat rule.^' 

Jawahir established his rule in the Kalpi district, levied 

tribute from Datia and Seondha, and advanced up to the 

bridge of Narwar. From this point he turned back, 

declining the invitation of the Khichi chief to go further 

south and expel the Maratha posts from his State. 

Beturning towards Gwalior he took the Maratha thanah of 

Jigni. The Bajahs of Pichhor and Gohad joined him, 

and he'promised to clear their dominions of Maratha 

posts in October in case no relieving force came up from 

the Deccan.* 
^ SPD, xxix. 185, lie; 15^, 215. Chandra^Da/TT'^f. 

Wendel 106. Becorery, SPD, xxix, 75. 
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§ 23. Jawahir visits Pushkar^ fights Madho Singh 

of Jaipur at MaondUy 14 Dec. 1767. 

Soon afterwards Jawahir sought his doom by arro¬ 

gantly provoking a war with the Kajah of Jaipur, once 

the overlord of his house. Madho Singh, alienated by 

Suraj MaPs discourtesy and suspicions during his last 

years and genuinely alarmed by Jawahir SingVs manifest 

design to wrest the Narnol district from him, was further 

outraged by the incursions of the new Jat Rajah and 

his Sikh allies into Jaipur territory in 1765. He had 

intrigued, with his usual futility, with every enemy of 

Jawahir, and harboured Nahar Singh, a claimant to the 

Jat throne, though under the strong recommendation of 

Malhar Holkar. And now Jawahir, intoxicated with his 

recent sweeping victory over the Marathas in Bundel- 

khand, planned to organize a grand coalition with the 

Rajputs for excluding the Marathas totally from the 

north of the Narmada. The plan broke down from his 

pride, recklessness and utter want of diplomacy. He 

demanded from Madho Singh the surrender of Nahar 

Singh^s widow and children (with their hoarded treasures.) 

The lady refused, justly fearing Jawahir^s notorious 

character, and the Jaipur Rajah could not forcibly expel 

a suppliant for asylum. Jawahir taxed him with the 

design of adding this beautiful widow to his harem,— 

the very step he himself had been contemplating. 

Madho Singh gave an angry reply. Then the Jat Eajah 

inarched with his army and a full supply of artilleiy 
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(includios; Sombre^s and Ren^ Madec^s battalions) to 

Pushkar, through Jaipur territory, inviting Bijay Singh 

of Mar war to meet him there and form the coalition. 

Madho Singh had warned the Jat Rajah though in 

vain to come slenderly attended as befitted a pilgrim 

and a friendly visitor. On 6th November (Kartik 

full moon day), Bijay Singh welcomed Jawahir 

on the bank of the sacred lake. The two Rajahs 

exchanged turbans and sat down side by side on the 

same carpet like full brothers, and sent an invitation 

to Madho Singh to come and join them. The 

proud Kachhwa Rajah, long the foremost Rajput vassal 

of the Delhi empire, was provoked beyond control by 

this insult. He sharply reprimanded Bijay Singh for 

having degraded his Rathor ancestry by admitting a 

peasants son and a mere servant of Jaipur as his brother 

and political equal. This roused Jawahir to fury. In 

his march through Jaipur territory, his soldiery had 

looted the villages on the way and molested the people. 

The Kachhwa tribe could no longer restrain them¬ 

selves. The long halt of Jawahir at Pushkar gave them 

time to assemble their tribal levy of 16,000 horse besides 

infantry. 

The Jat Rajah with his immense force and ponderous 

-artillery and baggage set out on return from Pushkar, 

and had all but reached his own country, when at 

Jdaonda, only 23 miles south-west of Na^rnol, the last 

Jaipur station near the Jat frontier, the Kachhwa army 
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which had been following him delivered their attack 

(14 December, 1767.) * Here a narrow defile lay before 

the Jats ; they sent their baggage ahead, covering it with 

the troops in the rear. The first attack of the Bajpnt 

horse in the open was repulsed by the Jats making a 

counter-march towards them, as the Kachhwa artillery 

and infantry were lagging behind. The Jats took 

advantage of it to enter the defile, hoping thus to 

escape. But the Jaipur cavalry overtook them in the 

middle of the pass ^ the Jats made a half-turn and 

oifered battle. The Jaipur horse after firmly standing 

a devastating fire from the Jat guns for some time, at 

last threw themselves sword in hand on the Jat army, 

which fled away at the first shock, crying out that all 

was lost and abandoning their artillery, baggage and 

Jawahir himself. The Rajputs immediately dispersed 

for plunder and an indescribable confusion raged over 

the scene, during which the trained battalions of Sombre 

and Madec kept their heads and with equal bravery and 

coolness maintained the battle, fighting with their backs 

to the rocky walls till nightfall, and thus saved Jawahir 

and enabled him to make an unmolested retreat, though 

the rest of his army had dispersed in flight. But all 

• Battle of Maonda,—Eene Madec 49-50. Wendel 308, Vam. 
Bka^kar 3720-^27. Chahar (hUxar, 495a. SPD. xxix. 192. Z>C7. 
Maonda is a railway station on the Beeogus-Eewari-Delhi line, 
skty miles doe north of Jaipur. Wendel puts the Kajput loss at 
2 to 3 thousand killed and wounded, Madec that of the two sides 
together at 10,000 (exaggerated.) OPG, ii. 789-’91. 
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his artillery train (70 pieces of different calibres), tents 

and baggage including his royal umbrella, had to be 

abandoned on the field. The total loss on the two sides 

together was about 5,000 men, the Rajputs losing two 

to three thousand soldiers, ^^mostly by artillery fire, 

before which they stood with astonishing lirmness^^ ; but 

most of their principal chiefs fell on the field; there was 

hardly a noble family in Jaipur that did not sacrifice a 

son or two on that day. “Dalil Singh, the commander- 

in-chief of the Jaipur army, fell in the fight with three 

generations of his descendants, and none but boys of 

ten remained to lepresent the baronial houses of Jaipur^\ 

[Qanungo, 211.1 

Jawahir had saved himself and the men of his army 

and claimed the victory ; but it was a most Pyrrhic 

victory. ^^The fortune of the Jats has been shaken and 

the result has been fatal to them. They have returned 

home pillaged, stupefied and overthrown ; and Jawahir 

. . . has since then only gone backwards. The country 

beyond the Chambal rose at the first report of that rout 

and is gone as quickly as it was taken. His own country 

is the prey of the enemy, who have followed him close. 

§ 24. Last days of Jawahir Singh. 

Soon afterwards Madho Singh followed up his 

Success by invading the Jat country at the head of 

• Weadel, 108. He is slightly inaccurate here* as 8FD. xxix. 
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16,000 men, (Madec^s estimate of 60,000 is grossly 

exaggerated.) Jawahir had hired 10,000 Sikhs and tried 

hard to increase Madec^s sepoy corps by adding Rs. 5,000 

to his monthly pay. On 29tlx February 1768, a battle 

was fought outside Kama (the halting place of the 

Jaipur army) ; the Jats were defeated with the loss of 

400 men killed and Dan Sahi wounded, and they fled 

away with their Sikh allies. On a fresh Sikh force of 

20,000 men, engaged for seven lakhs (a month), arriving, 

ihe Rajputs retreated to their own country. [Wendel, 

108. Reni Madec, 50. SPD. xxix. 84. CPC. ii.] A 

scheme framed by the Marathas and Shuja-ud-daulah 

for conducting Shah Alam with a combined escort of 

English, Maratha, Jaipur, Ruhela and Oudh troops, to 

Agra, wresting that fort from Jawahir^s hands, installing 

the Emperor at Delhi and stripping the upstart Jat 

kingdom of all its annexations under Suraj Mai and 

Jawahir, fell still-born from the wise refusal of the English 

to venture so far from their base. And Jawahir gained 

breathing space. Soon afterwards, he captured a petty 

Rajput baron^s foit through Madec. Then, his stormy 

career came to an appropriately tragic end, when in July 

1768 he was suddenly cut down by a favourite soldier 

whom he had once raised inordinately high and then 

disgraced, * 

'TS shows that his Bundelkhand conquests of~July 1767 were 
recovered by the Marathas six weeks before this battle. 

• SPD. xxix. J92, OPC. iL 789, 835. Chahar Gtihar, 
495a k b QhnuDgo, 213-218. 



CHAPTER XXIV 

The Panjab and Rajputana, 1761-1771. 

§ 1. The state of the Panjab during 1766 and 1761. 

Throughout the year 1760, when Ahmad Shah was 

busy campaigning in the Doab or the Delhi region, he 

had left the Panjab in charge of his agents, Buland 

Khan* the subahdar of Labor, Abdus Samad Khan the 

faujdar of Sarhind, Rustam Khan the faujdar of ^^the 

Four Mahals^^ (Sialkot), and others. But during the 

campaign of Panipat (Oct. 1760—Jan. 1761) all the 

Durrani forces were naturally concentrated round the 

Shah^s person, and the Sikhs finding the province so 

weakly garrisoned, everywhere rose with impunity. 

While Abdus Samad Khan was slain by the Marathas 

at Kunjpura (17 Oct.), the trans-Satlaj Sikhs 

defeated and captured Rustam Ekan and Tahmasp 

Miskin (our invaluable memoir-writer), and these two 

could secure their release only by paying ransom. The 

victors, in a body ''reported by Miskin as 40,000 strong, 

then invested Sialkot, but the place was strongly 

fortified and its defence was gallantly kept up by 

* Miskin 214. The traditional history of Labor says that the 
gOFernor was Karim-dad Khan; but we know that Earim-dad 
was present with Abdali at least from e. 10 Dec. 1760 to 20 
January 1761. 

31 
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Eustam’s diwan for three days, till a relieving army 

under Q^sim Khan was sighted, when the Sikhs with¬ 

drew. LMiskin, 218-224.] Emboldened by the news 

of the Bhangs capture of Delhi and Kunjpura, the 

Manjha Sikhs attacked Labor itself. Jassa Singh 

Ahluwalia (the founder of the Kapurthala State), Jai 

Singh Kanhaiya, Gujar Singh Bhangi, Lehna Singh and 

other group-leaders assembled at the sacred tank of 

Amritsar on the Diwali day (6 Nov. 1760), and after 

concerting their plans advanced with 10,000 horsemen 

to loot Labor. The Durrani governor shut the city- 

gates and himself retired to the citadel for safety. The 

Sikhs roved round the city, plundering the suburbs, 

stripping the houses of their timber and then setting 

fire to them. Many people were killed and the rest 

fled away. The raiders were dissuaded from breaking 

into the city by the governor paying a ran son of 

Rs. 30,000, disguised under the name of "a donation 

for consecrated food offering to Khalsaji.” [Kanhaiya 

Lai, 32.] 

But at the beginning of next year Ahmad Shuh 

became free by crushing the Marathas at Panipat 

(14th Jan. 1761.) Then, after settling the affairs of 

Delhi, he left the imperial city on 20th March and 

reached AmbaJa on the 27th. Posting Zain Khan 

Mohmand as his new fanjdar at Sarhind and granting 

Ala Singh Jat a rescript* confirming him in the 

* Issued on 22 Shaban 1174 (29 March, 1761) undw the 
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possession of the Patiala principality in return for a 

tribute of 5 lakhs, the Durrani king moved on to Labor, 

arriving there on 26 April. He was indignant at the 

weakness of Buland Khan, which had left the suburbs 

of the provincial capital to be turned into a howling 

wilderness, and punished him with dismissal. Then, 

appointing Khwajah Abid Khan as subahdar of the 

Panjab, Abdali passed quickly on to his own country 

via Sialkot, to avoid a second summer in the Indian 

plains. 

§ 2. Abdali^campaign in the Panjab, 1762, 

As soon as the dreaded Abdali was out of the 

country, the Sikhs came out of their hiding places and 

again overran the province. Mirza Khan with a 

thousand men was attacked and cut off by a large Sikh 

force. Khwajah Abid Kh an himself came out of Labor 

and invested Gujranwala (43 miles northwards), where 

Charat Singh Sukarchakia (the grandfather of the great 

Kanjit Singh) had built a fort. But there was a small 

body of Sikh horse in the governor's employ ; Charat 

Singh^s garrison conspired with these men, fell upon 

seal of Shah Wali wazir, recognising the integrity of the territory 
hdd by Ala Singh and promising to defend him if he was 
attacked by anybody else. Mirza Taqi was left at Patiala to 
collect the tribute. [Patiala State records.] 1 believe Ala Singh 
at once submitted to the victor of Panipat, without provoking a 
siege by him, in March-April 1761. My dates are from DC, and 
8PD, xri 202. 
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Abid Khan's force in concert and drove him in headlong 

rout to Lahor^ capturing all his baggage^ (early January 

1762.) They next routed Sadat Khan and Sadiq Khan 

Afridi, the Durrani faujdars of the Jalandar Doab. 

Their raids again made the highways unsafe, and people 

could travel from Sarhind to Peshawar only by making 

a long detour through Sialkot and the northern hills. 

[Miskin, 237-238.] 

The news reached Ahmad Shah in Afghanistan 

and he hastened to the rescue of his oflQccrs in the 

Panjab, with a lightly-equipped cavalry force, 

accustomed to rapid marching. The Sikhs were then 

engaged in the siege of Jandiala, a city twelve miles 

east of Amritsar. It was the stronghold of the 

Niranjani sect,* who may be equally well described as 

dissentient Sikhs or Hindu deists,—their religion 

being a mixture of the tenets and rites of both these 

great religions. ^Tu the conflict between the Sikhs 

and Ahmad Shah Abdali, the Mranjanis aided the 

latter • . with information. In revenge for this the Sikhs 

invested Jandiala. Akaldas, the Jandiala guruy sent 

off a sawar post haste to Ahmad Shah, who was . . . at 

Rohtas. He returned to their aid with a force of 

cavalry.” {Amritsar Oax. 165.] 

* Emain Shahi, 77, says,—The residents of Jandiala “were 

friendly to Islam and Nanakshahi faqirs, listening to the 

and salvxxt. Hard pressed by the Sikhs, th^ hung out 
^nks of beef from their fort walls.” 
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At the report of his approach the Sikh besieging 

force at once vaDished from the scene. Abdali halted 

near Jandiala for two or three days when he learnt 

that the Sikhs had fled to the Sarhind district^ and 

there joining their cis-Satlaj brethren had begun to 

plunder the country. Zain Khan the faujdar, with 

Bhikhan (Hingun, according to Cunningham) Khan of 

Maler Kotla^ Murtaza Khan Paracha^ Qasim Khan Maral 

and other ofiicers, issued to oppose them, and halted at 

Maler Kotla, while the Sikh army lay ten kos to the 

north. In the night of 4-5 February, 1762, swift 

Durrani couriers came to Zain Khan and told him 

that the Shah had crossed the Bias and the Satlaj 

by unbroken rapid marches and would fall upon 

the flank of the Sikhs the next day, and that the 

Shah had ordered Zain Khan to issue next 

morning with all his troops and assail the Sikhs in front. 

But the Sikhs too had received intelligence of Abdali^s 

approach and tried to escape from him by decamping 

south-eastwards. Early in the forenoon of 5th 

February, Zain Khan^s vanguard under Qasim Khan 

fell in with the Sikhs near the village of Kup (6 miles 

north of Maler Kotla) and was driven back in a panic 

flight upon its base. But another ofBcer named Murtaza 

Khan Paracha (with Miskin) stood his ground on a small 

eminence and was joined after some time by a detach¬ 

ment of Ahmad Shah^s horsemen. The Durrani force, 

in two divisions,—one under the Shah and the other 
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led by his wazir (with Zaiii Khan), moved round the 

two flanks of the Sikhs, slaying all they met with. The 

pursuit was kept up till the evening, when the tired 

victors reached Bharthala (10 m. n. e. of Maler Kotla) 

and encamped there. In the course of this running 

fight, some ten thousand Sikhs were slain and the day is 

still remembered by them as that of the Ohallu-ghara* 

or great scrimmage. 

After a short halt, the victor proceeded to Sarhind 

and encamped in the imperial Shalimar garden outside 

the city. From this centre he raided Ala Singh^s 

country. The Patiala chiefs tribute had evidently 

fallen into arrears,—or he might have assisted his 

Manjha brethren in their late attack on Zain Khan,— 

but he now deemed it politic to seek refuge in his fort 

of Bhawanigarh (21 miles west of Patiala.) Bajah 

Lachhmi Narayan, the diwan of Sarhind, assured Abdali 

that if Ala Singh were captured, a ransom of 50 lakhs 

could be easily secured from him. Guided by the 

diwan^s local knowledge, Abdali made a forced march of 

80 kos in the course of 36 hours and suddenly appeared 

* Hmain Skahi^ 78-83 ; Miskin (present) 241-243; Nur-ud- 

din 57a ; Siyarj iii. 74 ; Forster, i. 278; Baj. vi. 465. Ludhiana 
Oax, 23. Cunningham, 100. A Marathi despatch written from 
Shamli 20 days after the battle says that five to seven thousand 
Sikhs were slain, Siyar ^nearly 20,000’, Miskin 25,000, Husain 

Shaki 30,000, Forster 25,000, Ounninghan 12,000 to 25,000. 

Cunningham’s Barnala is Bharthala, the site of the battle 
there now exists ^a village named near Malod”. [K, S. 
Barhat.} The Atlas gives a Jhatiwal, 6 m* n. w. of Maler Kotla« 
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before Bhawaiiigarh. Ala Singh gave him the slip by 

evacuating the fort just in timC; but he felt further 

struggle to be useless, and submitted to the Shah 

through the mediation of Najib-ud-daulah, who had 

oome to the Shah^g camp on the Satlaj at his call. He 

secured peace by promising a large tribute and making 

a part payment immediately. Leaving Sarhind on 

15th Feb., Abdali arrived at Lahor on 3rd March, 

carrying Ala Singh in his train. On the way, he raised 

to the ground the Sikh temple called Har Mandir built 

by Guru Arjun at Amritsar, and desecrated the ^^pool of 

immortality^^ by killing cows on its bank and throwing 

their bones and the debris of the temples around it into 

the water.* 

§ 3. Abdali stays in Lahor 1762, makes political 

settlement of Delhi empire, conquers Kashmir, 

At Lahor Abdali halted for the rest of the year, 

wishing to put the affairs of the Panjab in order, settle the 

question of the government of Delhi, and conquer 

Kashmir. He was sincerely anxious to ensure a 

general peace in Northern India by making a permanent 

♦ Abdali against Ala 8. and sack of Amritsar,—Kaj. vL 

465, 382. Nur. 57a. Miskin 244. Siyar, iii. 74. Forster i. 278 AmrU. 

tOax, 150. Husain Shahiy p. 41, wrongly ascribes the sacrilege to 

Bcdand TThan Sadduzai and in 1757, adding that after Prince 

ilmar’s flight early in 1758 the Sikhs compelled the Mnsiims to 

cleanse the tank (p. 45.) 
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friendly settlement with the Peshwa. Prom Sarhind he 

had sent letters calling to his side Najib and Yaqub Ali 

on behalf of the empire and they promptly joined him. 

The Maratha envoys at Delhi, Bapu and Puriishottam 

Hingan^, were invited by three or four lettei-s in succes¬ 

sion to come to Labor. Bapu went there soon (<?. 

middle of March) and Purushottam some two months 

later after writing to the Peshwa and securing his 

approval. Diplomatic parleys opened. The Maratha 

envoys naturally wanted to resume the negotiations 

from the point of agreement reached between the Bhau 

and Shah Wali Khan in the days before Panipat, but na 

officer of Abdali knew anything of the terms proposed 

by the two sides at that time. Shah Wali Khan, the wise 

and pacific Durrani wazir, pleaded for the claims of the 

new Peshwa, and induced his master to recognise Madhav 

Bao Ballal by presenting to him, by the hands of these 

envoys, the tika of Rajaship, the impression of his palm 

dipped in saffron {keshar-panja), robes, jewels, horses 

and an elephant, and deputed his own envoy to 

accompany them to the Court of Puna (June. 1762.)* 

While these negotiations were in train, Abdali set 

himself to recover Kashmir from Sukhjivan Ram Khatri^ 

the former diwan of that province, who had thrown ofT 

the Durrani authority, and seized the governorship m 

the name of the Emperor of Delhi. He was an excep¬ 

tionally able and upright administrator, liberal in religion, 

• Eaj. vi. 382, 384, 423, 425 (primary.) 
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charitable to the poor, a patron of poets and the financial 

supporter of a new history of the province. But 

itanjitdev, the Bajah of Jammu, was his rival, and was 

induced by the Durrani wazir to come to Labor and to 

undertake to guide the Durrani army of invasion by 

showing some undefended pass for penetrating into 

Kashmir. The first expedition composed of about 3000 

Durrani soldiers and some Jammu auxiliaries, started 

in June, but returned baffled, as all the passes were 

found to be held too strongly for assault or surprise. 

A later expedition achieved complete success, Sukhjivan 

was defeated and taken prisoner, and Kashmir annexed 

to the Durrani empire. {8iyar, iii. 74, Raj. vi. 384.] 

During the autumn of 1762, Ahmad Shah called up to 

Labor Najib and Yaqub Ali from Delhi and Agha Raza, 

Abdul Ahad, and Munir-ud-daulah from Shah Alamos 

Court to put the affairs of the Delhi Empire inorder 

and end the chaos that had followed the murder of the 

last Emperor. It was agreed that the Durrani king 

would call upon all the Indian princes, with the prestige 

of his authority but without lending his armed aid, to 

recognise Shah Alam II as Emperor and instal him in 

his ancestors^ capital, while Najib and Munir-ud-daulah 

undertook on behalf of the Indian Government to pay 

Abdali a tribute of 40 lakhs a year. This settlement 

concluded, Ahmad Shah left Labor on 12 De(% 1762, 

while Najib and other Indian envoys took leave of him 

and reached Delhi in January 1763. [DC] 
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Even during the second half of 1762, the Panjab 

was not free from internal trouble. His massacre during 

the Ghallu-ghara was no more successful in crushing the 

Sikhs than stamping on a few thousand ants can 

exterminate an ant-hill. On the contrary, his wanton 

outrage on their holiest shrine more than anything else 

defeated his purpose of cowing the Sikhs for ever. 

Hitherto that sect had greatly multiplied its converth 

and drawn them closely together by the need of mutual 

protection against the oppression and exaction of the 

local governors of the* decadent Mughal empire. And 

now Afghan sacrilege roused the Sikhs to their highest 

exertion and united them in the closest bond by the 

unquenchable thirst of a vengeance that was a sacred 

duty. The noblest and the basest passions of the 

human breast were united in a national resistance to 

the alien from beyond the Indus and his local associates. 

Durrani rule in the Pan jab became im])ossible in future. 

As early as May 1762, the Sikhs reappeared in the 

Sarhind district. In June, Zaiu Khan made peace by 

paying them Rs.50,000, and the raiders set out on their 

return. But when they had marched away about 10 kos^ 

Zain Khan^s troops treacherously looted their rearguard. 

The main Sikh army then turned back, attacked him, 

plundered him as well as his diwan Lachhmi Narayan, 

and drove them to fight a pitched battle at Harnul-garh, 

15 kos from Sarhind. [Raj. vi. 384.] During the 

earlier part of this year, ^^the roads again became open 
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on all sides, the danger of robbery and fear of highway¬ 

men disappeared, because Ahmad Shah was staying in 

Lahor/^ But the province was in a miserable condition j 

the Jalandar Doab had been repeatedly plundered and 

devastated by the Shah^s troops and the country on all 

sides of Labor was a "lampless^^ solitude. [Miskin, 

244-247.1 

§ 4. Sikh power revives, Zain Khan slain, 1768, 

Ahmad Shah left Labor for his home on 12 Dec. 

1762, and immediately afterwards Sikh aggression 

revived * and was aggravated by the misrule of his 

lieutenants, who, like all Afghans, had no administrative 

capacity or honesty, and the administration broke down 

on the rock of finance. The eye-witness Miskin writes, 

^^Zain Khan departed from his former character and rules 

of conduct. He stopped paying his soldiers their salaries 

and began to live by looting the villages of his district, 

and giving a portion of the booty to his troops in payment 

of their arrears, though not amounting to one-fourth 

* I follow Forster (Journey, i. 279), and Cunningham (lG2w) 
in rejecting the Sikh tradition, unsupported by any contemporary 

record and naturally incompatible with other known facts, that in 

November 1762 the Sikhs assembled at Amritsar (in a body of 

60,000) for a sacred bath, and when Ahmad Shah anived to 

attack them, they drove him back in headlong flight to Labor, 
and in retaliation took that city after a short siege. This success 
was achieved not on Ahmad Shah but on his local agent, and its 

date was 1763. 
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of their dues. He planned in alliance with the hill- 

Rajahs to amass a fortune/^ probably with a view to 

carving a larger and more independent principality of 

his own out of the disintegrating Mughal empire. The 

starving of his soldiery, however, had the inevitable 

result of weakening his defensive strength and ultimately 

bringing about his ruin. Throughout the whole of 1763 

Ahmad Shah was kept busy in his own country by a 

rebellion in Khurasan and could not attend to India. 

This was the Sikhs’ opportunity. In the autumn of this 

year we have the final and decisive upheaval of their 

power. They assembled at Amritsar on Dipavali day 

(4 November) and vowed to restore their sacred shrine 

and assert their independence. They first turned 

against the enemy within the gates, crushed the Muslim 

colony (Gurdczi Afghans) of Kasur and Bhikhan Khan of 

Maler Kotla,—who had joined every Durrani invasion,— 

and then attacked Sarhind in a body 40,000 strong 

(December 1763.) Just before this fateful contest, 

Zain Khan bad been abandoned by his starving lieuten¬ 

ants, QaBim Khan and Murtaza Khan, who had marched 

away in search of bread to Najib’s estates in the Gangetic 

Doab. The faujdar of Sarhind, at the head of a small 

impoverished army, came out of the city and was 

defeated and slain, with the loss of his baggage and 

armament. The Sikhs, flushed with victory, entered 

Sarhind, and ^^looted and totally devastated it, turning 

the city upside down’’, and converting into an untenanted 
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wilderness the accursed place which had witnessed the 

death of the mother and children of Guru Govind^^ at the 

hands of Aurangzib^s officers. Swept on by the impulse 

of victory, the Sikhs crossed the Jamuna at Buriaghat 

and poured into the Upper Doab, plundering the 

Saharanpur (20 Feb. 1764), Shamli and Kandela 

parganahs. Their owner, Najib Khan, fresh from 

the slaughter of Suraj Mai,—which paralysed his 

Jat enemies for the time,—hastened to the defence 

of his estates, and induced the raiders, by a bribe 

of 11 lakhs to recross the Jamuna. (February 1764.)* 

But it was the beginning of the annual Sikh raids 

into the Doab. 

§ 5. Sikhs begin to dominate entire Panjah^ 

occupy Labor : 1763^1765. 

In the meantime, Sikh activities in Labor and further 

*west had called up Jaban Khan from his master^s side 

to the Panjab. But only a small force could be spared 

for him, and after he had crossed the Indus at Attock 

he was easily defeated (on the eastern bank of the 

Uhinab) and driven back to Afghanistan (middle of 

November 1763.) Then the Sikhs attacked Lahor.f 

* Miskin, 250-263. BFD. xxix. 55. Cunningham 102. Nur. 72a. 

Williams in (Meutta Eeviewy 1875, vol. 50, p. 26. 
t Kanhaiya Lai, 33-34, DC, CPC. i. 2174. SPD. xxiat. 58,55 

(says that the Sikhs est their post in Labor, Apr. 1764), 73 (Sikh 

sardaxs have gone to Amritsar, Oct. 1764 ; for Ohdaguru read 
Amritsar.) xxxviil 128. 
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Its Durrani governor Khwajah A bid was slain in battle, 

his deputy Kabuli Mai conducted the defence of the 

capital. The besieging Sikh army howled for the 

surrender of all the cow-killing butchers of Labor to 

put them to death. The governor hesitated, the Sikhs 

broke the Delhi Gate and entered the city plundering, 

and then Kabuli Mai secured peace by cutting oil the 

noses and ears of some of the butchers and turning them 

out of the city and also paying a large contribution to 

the Sikhs. This happened in February 1764, for we 

find Ahmad Shah back in Labor in March next. But 

he could stop there for a fortnight only, and had to 

return to his own country in consequence of a civil war 

there, mutiny among his own troops, and dearth of grain. 

Kabuli Mai marched out for some distance to see his 

master off. Immediately after he had started, the three 

Sikh leaders Lchna Singh, Gujar Singh and Sobha Singh 

attacked Labor. The masterless city capitulated on the 

promise of life and property being spared ; the gates 

were thrown open. Some amount of plunder, however, 

took place on the first day, but the three chiefs divided 

the city between them and each ruled over and 

administered his portion as its master. Thus, peace at 

last returned to Labor, but not prosperity. The city 

continued in desolation and misery till its revival under 

Ranjit Singh. 

"The whole country, from the Jhilam to the Satlaj, 

was partitioned among the Sikh chiefs and their 
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followers, as the plains of Sarhind had been in the year 

previous/^ Ahmad Shah^s atrocity on their holy city 

was now avenged in his own manner : "numerous 

mosques were demolished, and Afghans in chains were 

made to wash the foundations with the blood of hogs.* 

The chiefs then assembled at Amritsar, and proclaimed 

their own sway and the prevalence of their faith, by 

striking a coin with an inscription to the effect that 

Guru Govind had received, from Nanak, grace, power, 

and rapid victory— 

D(*g wa tegh ua fath wa misraUi-bedirang 

Yaft N^nak Ouru Govind Sing^ 

The Sikhs were not interfered with for [the next] two 

years.^^ [Cunningham, 103.J 

In January 1765, while Jawahir Singh, with Malhar 

Holkar, Imad-ul-miillk and a vast force of Sikh 

mercenaries, was attacking Najib Khan in Delhi, that 

Euhela chief sent urgent appeals for help to Ahmad 

Shah. The Shah, by a rapid march,—along the southern 

skirt of the hills,—arrived at Mustafabad (end of 

February.) Here he learnt that Najib had made peace 

already without waiting for him, and so he in high anger 

at once hurried back to Afghanistan, on hearing of which 

• Taken from Forster (i. 279), who adds, ‘The Afghans in 

chains were also compelled to excavate the reservoir at Amritsar, 

which in the preceding year they had filled up ..Though the 
Afghan massacre and persecution must have been deeply imprinted 
on their minds, the Sikhs did not, it is said, destroy one prisoner 

in cold blood.” Husain Shahij 45. gives wrong year. 
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Najib, then on his way to Abdali^s camp, returned from 

Ismailabad. [Nur, 926. Ghulam Ali, ii. 230.] 

§ 6. Ahmad Shah's last invasion^ 1767 ; 

Sarhind faujdari given to Patiala Rajah, 

Ahmad ShaVs last expedition took place in 1767. * 

He reached the Bias, after overcoming the Sikh opposi¬ 

tion on the way ; Maya Singh submitted and paid him a 

visit, Charsa Singh (?) fled away to the hills, while Jassa 

Singh was wounded and routed (c. 20 January, 1767.) 

Internal dissension among the Sikh chiefs made Abdali^s 

path of advance very smooth. He now sent a message 

to Najib Khan, ordering him to present himself with the 

tribute of India, now in arrears for seven years, and 

amounting to two krores and 80 lakhs ! Najib did not 

know where to find even a tenth of this vast sum. So, 

he sent some of his troops across the Jamuna at Ramra- 

ghat (near Karnal) and himself halted there trying to 

collect some revenue, and reporting to Ahmad Shah that 

was soon coming (c. 1 Feb.) 

When the Shah arrived at Ismailabad, 20 miles south 

of Ambala, Najib Khan waited on him, on 9th March. 

So, also, did the envoys of Jawahir Singh and the trans- 

Ganges Ruhelas \ but not one of these chiefs had the 

courtesy to come in person, though they owed their 

♦ GPO, ii. 12A—415 (minute and useful details.) Nor. llOu- 
1126. 8PD. xxix. 165, 119. Chahar Qvlx* 474c». Husain Shahi^ 

.84-85. 
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deliverance from the Marathas to Abdali^s unselfish 

exertions. Ahmad Bangash did not even care to send 

an envoy. The Shah, therefore, treated Najib with 

every mark of honour and peisonal favour. ^^At the 

Court held for receiving the Indian chiefs^ agents, 

Ahmad Shah repeatedly inquired about Najib^s health. 

The latter replied that in his war with Jawahir Singh, 

when his enemies numbered more than a hundred 

thousand, he had undergone much hardship and gained 

the victory only through this Emperor^s grace, but illness 

and fatigue had left him very weak. Ahmad Shah 

asked, ^How are you now 'V Najib replied, ^The sight 

of the Shahan-shah has made all my illness melt 

away\ . .Najib and Yaqub Ali used to be frequently 

admitted to the private audience of Ahmad Shah.^^ 

The Durrani king was at first asked to make Zabita 

his faujdar of Sarhind, but he was induced by his grand 

wazir, who had been heavily bribed by Fattu, the widow 

of Ala Singh, to entrust that district to A mar Singh, the 

grandson of Ala, with the superlative title of Raja-i^ 

Rajgan, as the only man capable of keeping the trans- 

Satlaj Sikhs out, on his agreeing to an annual tribute. 

§ 7. Durranis repress the Sikhs in Mani Majra ; 

defeat Sikh raid into Mir at, 1767. 

Leaving Ismaiiabad on 17th March, 1767, Abdali 

marched back through Sarhind and Machhiwara to the 

northern foot hills of the Jalandar Doab, carrying Najib 

32 
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in his train. "He set himself earnestly to root out and 

destroy the Sikhs. His vanguard used to march two or 

three days^ journey ahead. The Sikhs in terror of his 

troops fled far away like crows. Whenever he got a 

chance, he used to seize the Sikhs who had taken refuge 

in places hard of access .. . His own soldiers, accom¬ 

panied by a contingent of Najib^s Ruhelas under Afzal 

Khan, penetrated into the Mani Majra hills, and brought 

away large numbers of captive men and women from 

the region, but the Sikh leader escaped. Much plundered 

property was sold cheap in the Durrani camp, and 

captives also.^^ [Nur. 1106.1 On 11th May, Abdali 

from the bank of the Satlaj gave Najib leave to return 

to Delhi. Some days before news had reached his army 

that the Sikh raiders had slipped past the Durrani camp, 

and after fording the Jamuoa at Buria-ghat had poured 

into Najib^s jagirs in the upper Doab, and sacked Nanouta 

and Mirat. On account of Najib^s attendance in the 

Abdali camp, with his brothers, sons and troops, this 

region had been left entirely defenceless, and Najib in 

bewilderment appealed to the Shah to save him, and the 

latter promised a considered reply at night. * "The 

* It was an invariable practice with Ahmad Shah to keep the 
spies and idle babblers in his camp entirely in the dark about the 

departure and destination of his detachments, by issuing marching 

orders to their captains only during a hunting excursion or in 

the secret audience at night* This Sikh raid is best described in 

CPC. ii. and Williams, (Mt^a Bevimo, 1875, voL 60, p. 27-28. 
Ckahar Quh. 476a. CW. ii, 260, 310 (tribute paid.) 



1767J HIKH RAIDERS IN MIRAT REPULSED 499 

8bah^ overcome by the jackal-tricks of the Sikhs^ 

himself stopped there. When three hours of the night 

had passed^ suddenly the noise of horses^ hoofs and the 

tramp of soldiery was heard in the Ruhela camp. It 

was ascertained that sardar Jahan Ehan had arrived, 

with 8,000 troopers by hard riding. Entering the tent 

of Najib, he said, ^The Shah has ordered me to take one 

of your sons or brothers with me and make a lightning 

raid into your estates. Tell me where the Sikhs are.^ 

Najib immediately deputed Zabita Khan to accompany 

him. The sardar said to Zabita, ^Your head and body 

seem to be very soft. You have been habitually used 

to sitting in palkis and on carpets ; how will you be able 

to keep pace with us f Zabita replied, 1 too am an 

Afghanis son^.., Jahan Khan asked ^him, ^Why arc you 

taking an elephant with you f He answered, ^Wherever 

there is a river on the way, the sardar will cross it on 

this elephant’s back. At midnight Jahan Khan started 

from that place with 5,000 horse of Zabita Khan, and 

in three days reached the Mirat pargana, 120 kos away. 

The Sikhs got news of it four gharis beforehand and 

decamped across the Jamuna. Those that remained 

behind were all slaughtered [9,000 men, according to 

Miskin, who was present], and much plunder was also 

taken. The chief of the Sikhs was slain and Baghel 

Singh wounded. The party returned to Abdali^s halting 

place (on the west bank of the Satluj) in the course of 

seven days.^' [Nur. 111-112 ; Miskin, 268.] 
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§ 8. Ahmad 8hah\s ulthnato failtn'e ; his 

political arrangenmits in Punjab 

This long contost with a nation in arms, whilo 

no dependable ally or lieufconant coaid be found by him 

in India, at last wore Abdali out : his illness too 

now proved to be hopelessly intractable ; his soldiers 

became rowdy through his frequenfc failure to pay them, 

and a large contingent of them mutinied and left for 

Afghanistan in open mutiny. This was destined to be 

the last of Ahmad Shah^s Indian campaigns. He realized 

the limits of his power, and like a true statesman confined 

his ambition to the attainable. He left a contented 

and grateful Phulkian Sikh chieftain, with largely 

extended territory, in hereditary charge of the Ambala 

district (Sarhind-Patiala), as an agent most likely to 

keep order and pay the annual tribute. He himself 

retained hold of Peshawar * and the country west of 

Attock, while ho abandoned the Manjha districts and 

central Panjab including Labor to the Sikhs; but 

the Sindh-Sagar and Jech Doabs in western Panjab 

remained a debatable land which finally came into Sikh 

possession in the days of his unworthy successors. 

It was recognized throughout India that after his 

* In the geography of the Mughal empire, Peshawar was a 

part of the subah of Kabul (and not of the Padjab as now), 
Barhind was attached to the Ddhi subah, and the Panjab was 

bounded by the Indus on the west and the Batlaj on the east. 

Bee my Indta of Aur^ngub : Statistics Topography and Roods, 
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experience in 1767, Abdali would be in no haste visit 

India again. The wildest exultation filled the Marathas 

at the news of his internal troubles and hurried retreat. 

One of their agents now planned to revive their old 

dream of controlling the Delhi Government as the 

Empcroris keeper after escorting Shah Alam 11 to his 

capital, this time in coalition with the invincible English 

troops stationed at 411ahabad and the Jat Rajah. \SPIK 

xxix. 192.] But the moral canker that was eating into 

the vitals of the Puna Court put off the pursuit of this 

policy in the North. 

The historian of Delhi is no further concerned with 

the internal history of the Panjab province after this 

date, as it now ceased to be a jumping-off ground for 

Afghan invasions of Northern India, though the fear 

of such invasions continued to haunt the Indian rulers 

for a generation after, even down to Lord Wellesley^s 

time. No doubt, trans-Satlaj Panjab continued to send 

Sikh raiders almost every year into the Doab and the 

Delhi-Hariana country, but they should be treated as 

private bands of forayers and not the organised forces of 

a State engaged in regular warfare with the empire of 

Delhi. 

§ 9. The repercussion of Panipat upon the 

Rajput Statesj 1761. 

In December 1759, Malhar Rao Holkar had wrested 

the fort of Barwada from the usurper Ratan Singh 
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ICachhwa (the son of Fath Mai Kusalath) and restored 

it to its original owner Jagat Singh Rathor, and then left 

Rajputana to encounter Abdali near Delhi, [Ch. 18 § 10. | 

On the way his men looted Chatsu and some other places 

in the Jaipur kingdom f Vam. Bh. 3667.] Thereafter a 

full year had passed without any Maratha general being 

free to visit Rajputana. Panipat saw the annihilation of 

the Maratha armies of the North in January 1761, and 

the repercussion of it* was a revolt against Deccani 

domination everywhere in Hindustan,—in the Gangetic 

Doab, Bundelkhand, Rajputana and Maiwa alike. Every¬ 

where the dispossessed or humbled original chieftains, 

and even petty landlords, raised their heads and talked 

Ahmad Shah after his victory entered Delhi and sent off letters 
to the Rajput Rajahs calling upon them to join him ^ith tribute 

and troops for driving the Marathas out of the empire. [Original 

farman preserved in Jodhpur.] Madho S. of Jaipur was ordered to 

present himself with one Kror of Rupees. On receiving this 

summons, he in alarm appealed to the Peshwa, then in Maiwa to 

come to Bundi, where Madho promised to unite with him after 
assembling all the other Rajputs. The Peshwa’s reply was a stern 

rebuke for Madho S’s coquetting with the anti-Maratha Muslim 

powers in the past: ‘‘You first come to Ajmir taking Bijay S. 
with you. The Bhau assured you of the possession of, Ranthambhor; 

he pardoned all your offences at Malhar’s intercession. Let 

bygones be bygone. Yon are a leading Hindu. In the past you 

were kindly favoured by us. [But] you rdied on him [Najib or 
Abdali.] Well, ultimately you Rajput Hindus ought to take heed. 

If the foreigners defeat us^ we retire beyond the Narmada; 1 do 
not now fear Abdali, [but Rajputana has no escape from him.T’ 

fW. Daf. i. 402 (23 F^. 1761.) 
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of shutting the southern invaders out of their country in 

future. But it all ended in talk; union was impossible 

among the countless separate caste and tribal chiefs of 

these regions, and no great leader arose to unite the 

ancient Hindu baronage of the North and win their 

freedom. 

For three or four months after Panipat the situation 

was most critical for the Marathas north of the Vindhyas j 

everywhere they were pushed to the wall, without a 

single friend or dependant. Though by April next some 

40,000 soldiers had been assembled in the Gwalior region 

and further south, out of the wreck of their northern 

army and local garrisons, these were beaten leaderless 

troops and their prospect was darkened by the approach¬ 

ing dissolution of Balaji Rao Peshwa, the insolvent Puna 

Governments attempt to escheat the property of the 

generals who had fallen at Panipat (in order to recover 

the collections made by them in their late North Indian 

campaigns on behalf of Government and the advances 

from the State Treasury they had taken for equipment), 

and the family quarrels, delay and vacillation which took 

place in appointing a successor to Jankoji as the head of 

the Sindhias. These serious difficulties of the Marathas 

ought to have been the Rajputs^ opportunity, but Rajah 

Madho Singh^s lack of character, quarrels with his feudal 

barons, and above all his chronic antagonism to Bijay 

Singh of Marwar, the only other Rajput prince that 

counted for anything,—prevented him from taking 
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advantage of this situation, and within less then twelve 

months of Panipat the tables were completely turned 

against the Rajputs. This was the achievement of 

Malhar Rao Holkar, the sole ^^elder generaP^ of Baji Rao^a 

time now left. 

§ 10. Anti-Mm^aiha movements in Rajputana^ 

1761. 

As a Maratha agent in Rajputana reported to the 

Peshwa in May 1761, ^^All the Rajahs and Rajwada^j 

have turned against us . .. The Rajputs are showing 

too much cheek.^^ \SPD. xxix. 81.] But Malhar on 

return from Panipat, recouped himself at Gwalior for 

a short while, rallied other bands of fugitives from 

that fatal field, and then came to his capital Indor. 

He found it necessary to set out immediately for 

restoring his authority in the border tract between 

Malwa and Rajputana. A Chandrawat baron had 

seized Rampura, which was in Malhar^s jagir ; but early 

in May, before Malhar^s arrival, Krishnaji Tandev 

(an officer of Shantaji Wagh and revenue collector of 

Mahantpur) had defeated the Chandrawat and retaken 

Rampura, slaying six or seven hundred Rajputs 

and capturing there the Rajput^s diwan as well aa 

Mir Baqa (a son of Qamr-ud-din Khan of Delhi^ 

whom the Chandrawat had been holding to ransom 

an that fort.) Three days after this success, Malhar 

reached Gahukhedi in the Hada country, and 
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then advanced to Ganguri (120 miles north of Indor) 

where Abhay Singh Rathor, an officer of the Rao of 

Kota, had seized the fortalice, driven out the Maratha 

collectors and was causing disturbances. Malhar at 

once invested the place ; but twenty days passed away 

without any result, and then he received the artillery 

he had sent for from Indor, bombarded the place, and 

took it promptly (early in June.) These rapid successes 

had the immediate effect of overawing the whole 

province of Malwa, and Malhar moved on to Kakda 

in Mewar territory in order to put pressure on the 

Maharana and secure payment of the old tribute of 

li lakhs a year that he had repudiated.* 

All this time Madho Singh of Jaipur had been 

intriguing how to overthrow Maratha predominance 

in Rajputana. He sent envoys to Najib Khan, Yaqub 

Ali, and Shah Alam II to negotiate for an anti-Maratha 

coalition. Then, under the advice of his favourite 

minister Shamram Trivedi, he sent two forces of 4000 

and 5,000 men under Raj Singh Chauhan and Nandlal 

diwan respectively to raid the villages of his refractory 

vassal Sardar Singh of Uniara (a Naroka.) Madho 

himself issued from his capital, and after marrying at 

Ratlam (on 14 May), went towards Uniara to terrorize 

* Marathas in Bajputana, first half of xxvii. 114, 
267, 269, 271. xxix. 81. Oct-Nov,—aSP/>. xxvii. 276. xxk. 16-22. 

Raj. VI. 563. Ganguri or Gagroni, 9 m. w. of KhOchipur. 
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his vassal into paying tribute. Many other Bajput chiefs 

joined him^ ot promised to do so, such as the lords 

of Sopar (Indra Singh), Bundi, Kota, Kerauli and 

Khichi. He took up an attitude of open defiance to the 

Marathas: ^^The Rajah is determined to oppose us 

strongly. All the Shekhawats are coming . .. All the 

Rajahs and Rajwadas have planned to assemble at one 

place and form a grand political coalition.^^ The 

approach of the rainy season compelled Malhar to put 

off his punishment till. the next autumn, when the 

contest was fought to a quick decision. [8PD. xxix. 

81. xxi. 91.1 

§ 11. Malhar Holkar defeats Jaipur army at 

Mangrol, 29 November^ 1761, 

Late in October 1761, Madho Singh assumed the 

offensive by sending a force, 10,000 strong, to besiege 

Nenv^ (held by a Marat ha garrison under Sadashiv 

Gopal), while another detachment led by Keshav Rao 

crossed the Chambal and penetrated to Patan (Keshorai 

Patan, 12 miles north-east of Kota city), raiding the 

neighbouring district (early November.) Malhar, hearing 

of it, marched from Indor to the Mukandara pass 

(13 Nov.) with 6,000 men (partly his own contingent 

and partly the Sindhia family force led by Khanaji 

Jadav and Chinto Krishna). At Bariya, in the Kota 

territory, he was joined by 3,000 Rajput allies under 

Akheram Panoholi the diwan of Kota, the youthful Zalim 
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Singh, and the Rao Rajah^s foster-brother. The 

Kachhwa army besieging Nenv<? fell upon their main 

body at Patan, raising it to a strong force of 10,000 

men with an abundant supply of artillery, rockets and 

camel-swivels ; their leaders were Raj Singh Ghorchara, 

the two diwans Kaniram and Nandlal, and Surat Singh 

Shiva-Brahma-pota. Before this imposing array, the 

Maratha outposts in the Hada country were evacuated 

in terror aud their tenants were helplessly abandoned 

to plunder. 

Malhar promptly marched up and offered them battle 

between Mangrol and' Bhatwara. The two armies came 

into touch in the afternoon of 28th November and 

immediately began an exchange of fire which lasted till 

three hours after sunset. All that night the Maratha 

soldiers lay with their arms at their sides aud their 

horses saddled ready, surrounding the Jaipur army. 

Next day the battle raged from the morning and ended 

near sunset in the total destruction of the Jaipur army. 

Most of their high officers, including the supreme com¬ 

mander, fled away wounded, Saligram Shah fell, and 

all their guns with two elephants, many horses and 

camels, and their entire camp and baggage were aban¬ 

doned to plunder. Large numbers of prisoners were 

taken, and out of that army of 10,000 men only 400 

fled away, if we can take the Maratha figures. The 

Sindhia family contingent fought well and boasted of 

their feat here as if it could wipe out the disgrace of 
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their flight from Panipat. Malhar^s skin was grazed 

by a bullet.* 

The victory was decisive ; it at once destroyed all 

chance of forming an anti-Maratha coalition, and restored 

Maratha prestige, which had been eclipsed as the result 

of Panipat, throughout Hindustan. Madho Singh, who 

had gone to Ranthambhor after sending his army to the 

fight, now fled to Jaipur. His favourite Shamram 

Trivedi, who had evaded the campaign by frankly 

confessing, business is not war; the diwan is 

going,now set himself earnestly to the defence of the 

capital. The garrison of Amber fort was strengthened ; 

Guru Shah {bakhshi) himself took post below that 

ancient capital to hold the way leading up to it. 

* SPD. ii. 5,0. xxi. 92-94. xxix. 27. Tod repeats the Eajput 

tradition that this battle (named by him after (Batwara) was won 
solely by Zalim Singh and the Kota contingent, while Malhar 

merely looted the Kachhwa camp ! The detailed and absolutely 

contemporary Marathi despatches disprove this story. The Kota 

contingent of 2,500 men could not have routed the Kachhwa army 
of over 10,000 horse, equipped with artillery shutarnals, jizails 

and rockets borne on camels, and flushed with their recent success 

in the trans-Chambal region. The severe contest waged for nine 

hours by Malhar and the Sindhia family contingent than under 
his banners, shows that the Marathas bore the brunt of the fight 

and that Zalim Singh played a very minor part. That there was 

no ewift panic flight of the Jaipur army is proved by their 
exceptionally large proportion of casualties. 

Mangrol^ 35 miles n. e. e. of Kota, on the east bank of the 

Banganga, while Bkatu^ara {TodTs Butwarro) stands four miles 
south of Mangrol, but on the west bank. 
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Block-houses were set up in Amber and Jaipur 

alike^ with strong bauds of musketeers ; outlying 

detachments were hurriedly recalled to the 

capital. The royal family was removed to Amber for 

safety, while Madho Singh continued at Jaipur with 

light equipment, in the deepest anxiety. This sudden 

failure of all hi^ plans almost unhinged his mind, and 

his temper ^Vent out of control.^^ The wise old diwan 

Kaniram immediately reopened negotiations with the 

Maratha general to settle the dispute about the outstand¬ 

ing tribute. After a few days^ halt at Mangrol, Malhar 

pursued the fugitives to Khopra (? Kapran) and then 

halted at Manoharpur (40 miles north of Jaipur), to 

enforce his demand for tribute. Agents of Jodhpur 

Kota and Bundi also reached his camp. 

While these negotiations were dragging their 

customary slow length along and the Maratha horse was 

subsisting by raids on the Jaipur villages, an unexpected 

diversion came to the relief of Madho Singh in the form 

of the invasion of Bundelkhand by the Emperor 

Shah Alam II and his new wazir Shuja-ud-daulah, their 

prompt capture of Kalpi (January 1762) and Jhansi 

(1 Feb.), the uprising of all theBundela chieftains against 

Maratha rule, and the treason of three Maratha local 

agents who went over to the Muslim invaders. Holkar 

was compelled to turn away from Bajputana to the 

eastern side from which frantic calls for help were 

reaching him. He left Jaipur territory, by way of 
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Nandgaon, Sakore and Pataudi (17 Peb.) for Jhansi. But 

that fort had already been lost to the Marathas. So, he 

turned back via Sanganer (27 Feb.) to Indor, as his 

wound had festered, making him very weak and reduced 

in health, with the result that he was given no bath for 

three months. His retreat disheartened all the Maratha 

officers and partisans in that country. * 

§ 12. Maratha interests in Rajputana 

neglectedy 1762-1764. 

Throughout the whole of 1762 and 1763 the Maratha 

power in the North was paralysed by the events at 

home,—Nizam Ali^s invasion of Maharashtra and sack 

of Puna, Raghunath Dada^s desertion to the enemies of 

his house and the civil war between him and the new 

Peshwa. It was only after the decisive defeat of the 

Nizam at Rakisban (10 Aug. 1763) that the Puna 

Government was free to attend to their interests in 

Hindustan. It also took a long time before the young 

Peshwa^s advisers could recognise the fact that Mahadji 

Sindhia was the coming man and that their delay in 

filling up the vacancy caused by the death of Jankoji 

and their fatuous policy of appointing two heads to the 

Sindhia family with divided powers, were really ruinous 

to the Maratha cause in the North. Malhar Holkar’s 

old age and recurring ill-health made a vigorous policy 

iL 7. xadx. 27, 33, 34, 37. 
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in Rajputana or Bundelkhand impossible, and thus 

things lingered on till his death (26 May 1766), when 

new and younger actors entered the northern scene as 

leaders of the Holkar and Sindhia families and Maratba 

pressure on Rajputana was resumed with efiPect. But 

two years before that time, the contest was complicated 

by the entrance of another factor, the Jat Rajah Jawahir 

Singh, who openly challenged the power of Jaipur and 

flung himself amidst the inter-State disputes of Rajputana. 

Throughout Jawahir Singh^s blood-feud with Najib Khan 

(1764-1765), Madho Singh wisely courted Najib^s friend¬ 

ship as a check on the insolent Jat Rajah on his western 

flank. 

Early in October 1764 we find Malhar Holkar 

revisiting Rajputana, at Jobner (13 miles east of 

Sambhar), in order to put pressure on Madho Singh for 

payment. Soon afterwards, in response to the Peshwa^s 

instructions and a large daily subsidy paid by Jawahir, 

he left to join that Jat king in his attack upon Najib 

in Delhi and the Gangetic Doab. Nothing came of this 

alliance through Malhar’s treacherous collusion with 

Najib, his %ster son^, and Jawahir had to make an 

unsatisfactory peace with the Ruhela (Feb. 1765), after 

having wasted his treasures on the mercenary chief of 

Indor. Malhar was next lured by Shuja-ud-daulah to 

oppose the English, and met his doom at Kora on 3rd 

May, at the bands of Sir Robert Fletcher. His only 

activity before his dealh on 26 May 1766 was in the 
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Gohad district early in that year. Ho had clearly out¬ 

lived his usefulness. 

Madho Singh, realizing that he could not succeed by 

-arms against the Marathas and faced with the new 

danger of Jawahir Singh^s hostility backed by all the 

European-drilled troops and Sikh mercenaries that the 

Jat king^s enormous wealth supplied, very wisely set 

himself to conciliate the Marathas as his only protectors. 

He made friends with Holkar, most probably by bribing 

Holkar’s diwan, and agreed to make a reasonable 

settlement of his long-standing arrears of tribute through 

Malhar^s friendly mediation. As the Peshwa^s agent 

wrote in September 1765, ^^At Malhar^s instance we 

are treating the Jaipur Rajah with every tenderness 

and consideration, but Mahadji Sindhia has been dunning 

him for the arrears . . . This Court moves very slowly 

and protracts business.^^ However, before the end of 

that year he paid the current instalment of five lakhs, 

and proposed to issue orders on bankers for the balance, 

xxix. 99, 107, 108, 102.] 

§ 13. Jaioahir Smgh's attack o?i Jaipur^ 1765-1767, 

A vast Sikh army (25,000 strong) led by Jassa Singh 

Tara Singh and two other sardars, in the pay of Jawahir 

Singh, penetrated into the Jaipur kingdom by way of 

Rewari, and joined by the Jat Rajah began to plunder 

the realm unopposed (late Dec. 1765.) Dulerai (the 

bakhshi) and Jayeband (the Khan-i-saman) had been then 



1765J SIKHS INVADE JAIPUR, RETIRE 513 

sent from Jaipur to invest the fort of Kanaud which was 

being held by Batan Singh Khangarot, a rebel against 

the Jaipur Government The Sikh invaders arrived on 

the scene and encamped seven kos from the Kachhwa 

siege lines. Their strength was overwhelming, and 

Madho Singh in utter helplessness appealed to Malhar 

and Mabadji to come to his aid. A Sindhia contingent, 

some 5,000 horse, under Achyut Bao Ganesh, which was 

plundering near Eashangarh, on being promised Bs. 5000 

daily, hastened to Jaipur. This prompt intervention of 

the Marathas upset Jawahir^s plans and he patched up a 

truce with the Jaipur Bajah through Nawal Singh. The 

Sikhs were promised a subsidy and sent back to their 

homes, while Jawahir returned to Kumbher. Achyut, 

arriving near Fagi, found that there was no work for 

him \ the Jaipur general Baj Singh Ghorchara gave him 

and his officers presents and put them on the way of 

return to Mahadji. During their march these Maratha 

allies ^Vere beyond their officers^ control, plundered the 

country and devastated the crops.^^ 

The detachment under Dulerai bakhshi was now 

recalled from Kanaud to Jaipur, March 1766. [5P2>. 

xrix, 72, 99,102, 105,107. xxvii 109.| 

The insolent challenge of the young Jat Bajah 

continued as the dominant factor of Jaipur history till 

Ijbe death of the two principals,—Madho Singh on 

6 March 1768 and Jawahir Singh four months latmr. 

In 1765 Sombre (Walter Beinhard) with his well-drilled 

33 
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contingent of a thousand men left the service of 

Madho Singh for that of the Jat Rajah, Next year 

(c. June) Jawahir received a more valuable accession to 

his strength in the person of the able and honest bVencb 

mercenary Ren4 Madec. But Jawahir’s career was 

foredoomed to failure from his wilful character. He 

quarrelled with everybody else. After provoking Madho 

Singh by invasion and insult^ he in November 1767 

dreamt of building up a coalition with all the Rajput 

States and expelling the Marathas from Rajputana and 

even Malwa ! And yet he gave fresh offence to Madho 

Singh which resulted in his disastrous defeat near 

Pushkar (14 Dec. 1767) and another reverse near Kama 

(29 Feb. 1768.) These affairs we have treated in the 

chapter on Jat history. [Barbe, p, 43. 8PD. xxix. 128, 

162, 1620, 84.] 

After the death of Madho Singh, the Peshwa 

demanded a succession fee {tika naxar) from his heir 

Pirthi Singh, as if the Brahman minister of the Rajah of 

Satara had become the lord paramount of all India. 

[8PD. xxix. 248.] 

§ 14. Mewar and the Marathas, 1761—1766; the 

tribute promised. 

We now turn to the doleful history of Mewar during 

these ten years. The reign of Raj Singh II (1764-1761) 

was a long minority during which his weak and helpless 

6tate received repeated visitatioBB from MaraUia genends 
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and had to buy them off every time. On 3rd April 1761 

Ari Singh II succeeded to this impoverished heritage, 

and though he was of ripe age and reigned for twelve 

years, his violent fits of anger, ungovernable temper, and 

insolent demeanour led to a general rebellion of his 

vassals and the breakdown of law and order throughout 

the State, which continued for half a century and was 

ended only by the establishment of British paramonntcy 

and British peace. 

The annual subsidy promised in writing by the 

Maharana to Baji Rao in 1736 [Ch. 6 § llj had long ago 

fallen into arrears and then been repudiated by the 

Udaipur Government. In April 1761 the Peshwa wrote 

to Malhar Holkar urging him to march his army to 

Udaipur to add weight to the Maratha envoy’s demand 

for this subsidy, and also to squeeze ten or even twenty 

lakhs of Rupees out of the new Maharana as his succes¬ 

sion-fine. [SPD. xxix. 269.] But Malhar was detained 

in the Hada country till the rains by his entanglement 

at Gagroni, and thereafter, in November, by his war with 

Jaipur. During 1762 and 1763 no Maratha general 

could turn to Mewar for the reasons already given. 

During 1764 and the first part of 1765, Jaipur engrossed 

their attention. 

In July 1765, Mahadji Sindhia advanced from Ujjain 

to Kota, settled the Rao Rajah’s tribute at 15 lakhs, out of 

which 5} lakhs were to be paid in cash and a quarter 

lakh in elephants and horses immediately. Only after 
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this instalment had been paid was the Bao allowed to 

visit Mahadji and embrace him ''like a brother.” Sindhia 

then (August) marched to Bundelkhand at the call of 

Malhar, who was besieging the fort of Mot. His diwan 

Achyut Bao Ganesh stayed behind with 10,000 men and 

collected the Udaipur tribute (5 lakhs) and smaller sums 

from Shahpura and Bnpnagar (November) actually in the 

form of bankers’ bills, and then passed into Kishangarh 

territory in order to put pressure on Pahar Singh, who 

had turned refractory, and whose territories were now 

plundered (December.) [5PZ>. xxix. 96, 99,108,102,105.] 

The 6nancial settlement between Mewar and the 

Peshwa in 1766 is clearly set forth in the official records 

of the Puna Government :— 

The Maharana agreed, through his 

minister Chimanlal Munshi and the Mara- 

tha agent Govind Eiishna, that his liability 

up to the end of the year 1765-66 was 

... ... ... Bs. 11,80,221 

Malhar Holkar in 1764-65 fixed the 

Mewar tribute at 25 lakhs, out of which 

Holkar was to get 5 lakhs, Sindhia 3 lakhs, 

and the Peshwa ... ... 17,00,000 

The annual subsidy promised in 1736, 

this year’s amount ... ... 1,50,000 

30,30,221 



1766] UDAIPUR TRIBUTE, DETAILS 517 

From this total, the Peshwa at the 

entreaty of Chimanlal Mnnshi and on the 

promise of punctual payment in future, 

abated ... ... ... 4,00,000 

Net total due ... 26,30,221 

This sum was to be realised in quarterly instalments 

in four years, namely 11 lakhs in 1767, and about 5 

lakhs each in the next three years. Every succeeding 

year the 1^ lakhs of the old stipulated subsidy were to 

be collected in addition to the above instalments. Holkar 

and Sindhia were ordered to collect their shares (5 

and 3 lakhs respectively) in four years by instal 

ments, and not to take one pice in excess. [Vad, ix. 

pp. 266-269.] 

The Bajput tradition given by Tod, that in 1764 

“Malhar invaded Mewar, advanced as far as Ontala, 

where Arjun Singh and the Bana’s foster-brothers met 

him and negotiated for the payment of 51 lakhs of 

Bupees” is unsupported by history. The Maharana had 

not 51 lakhs to spare, and if Malhar had actually 

collected such a vast sum the Peshwa would have taken 

the lion^s share of it and there would have been an 

entry about it in the account-books of the Peshwas 

which are still - preserved. The correct transaction is 

set forth above. The Maharana’s actual payment was 

five lakhs (not 51 lakhs), made in Novmnber 1765 (not 

in 1764), and to Sindhians diwan (not to Malhar Holkar.) 



51S FALL OF THE MITGHAL EMPIRE [CH. XXIV 

Tod^s tradition really refers to Tukoji Holkar, who went 

tu the siege camp of Mahadji Sindhia between Bhaurasa 

and Ontala in May 1769 ; but what he obtained we 

shall see later. 

§ 15. War of snecession between Art Singh and 

Ratan Singh, Maratha intervention in 

Mewar, 1769. 

The next Maratha visitation to Mewar took place in 

1769 and was brought about by dissensions between the 

Maharana and his vassals, the curse of every Bajput 

State when there was no outlet of foreign war. Ari 

Singh II^s wild temper and foul tongue had estranged 

the highest nobles of the land, and they set up a rival 

for the throne in the person of Ratan Singh, falsely 

reputed to be a posthumous son of the late Maharana 

Raj Singh II, who had died in 1761 at the age of 18. 

The Rajput tradition runs that Ari Singh, by the advice 

of Zalim Singh of Kota (then a refugee at his Court), 

bought for 20 lakhs the support of two Maratha generals 

Raghuji Pagawala and Daula Mian,—while the pretender 

hired the arms of Mahadji Sindhia by promising li 

kroreSy and that Ari SingVs partisans attacked Sindhia 

and the pretender on the bank of the Sipra and pushed 

them back to the gates of Ujjain, where, however, the 

assailants were routed with heavy loss and Zalim Singh 

^astajken prisoner (13-15 January, 1769.) This story 

£ads no suppo|rt in recorded history, and from the 
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distance between Ujjain and Udaipur seems to me to be 

incredible. 

Early in May 1769, Mahadji Sindhia marched from 

Ujjain to Udaipur in order to back the cause of Batan 

Singh j he encamped at Bhaurasa, 16 miles east of 

the Sisodia capital. Tukoji Holkar went to Kota, 

but at Mahadji^s request joined the latter with 2,000 

men, leaving the rest of his army at Sopara {c. 10 May.) 

The two rival lords of Malwa immediately fell to 

quarrelling about the policy and conduct of the 

war, as their predecessors had done before them. 

Mahadji, though hired by Batan Singh, was induced by 

Yashwant Bao Babl^ to discard that pauper and come to 

terms with Ari Singh as the party more likely to yield 

money. At first it was agreed between the two that Ari 

Singh would undertake to pay 35 lakhs (25 lakhs to the 

Peshwa and 10 lakhs to the two sardars) and that the 

Marathas in return would withdraw from the State and 

abandon the pretender^s cause. But Mahadji soon after¬ 

wards changed his mind and left ever}d:bing in confusion. 

He merely sat down before Udaipur without investing 

the city. As Tukoji Holkar complained in his letter of 

2 June, told Mahadji, You have not yet run trenches, 

The rainy season is at hand. The Jat eypedition is 

before us. Let. us leave 2,000 of your men and the same 

number of mine here and march away. If we can cut off 

the grain and fodder supply of Udaipur, the work would 

be easily accomplished and the country would come' 
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under our control.’ But Sindhia did not agree ... Hi» 

mind changes every hour.” So, Tukoji in disgust left 

the camp at Bhaurasa on 2 June and marched back to 

his own station in Kota. 

Twelve days later we have a similar report from 

Sindhia’s camp : “The siege of Udaipur is being slackly 

conducted. Mahadji can take the city any day that he 

pleases to deliver an assault The city contains 5,000 

infantry, grain is selling there at two seers per Rupee, 

but the inmates can get out of it without difficulty. Our 

guns are not being fired; our trenches are not being 

carried up to the walls; no effort is being made to 

capture Udaipur and seat Ratan Singh on the gadL 

Yashwant Rao Babl4 had taken from the Rajputs a bond 

for 10 lakhs payable to the Peshwa in li months, written 

in favour of the Peshwa. But Mahadji is not trying to 

make him give us orders for the payment of this money. 

The time is about to expire, but no prospect of realising 

it is in sight. An envoy from the Sikhs has come to 

^bl4, offering to join with 40,000 of their men and 

punish both the Jat Rajah and Najib Khan.. .Mirsa 

Rahim Beg enjoys the full confidence of Patil Bat», and 

prevents overy undertaking from maturing.” 

Towards tiie end of July the negotiations promised to 

come to a conclusion, and it was reported from MahadjPs 

camp that the contribution from Udaqiur had been 

setlled at 64 lakhs^*" in addition to which Ari Singh bad 

* Out of this indemnity, 33 lakhs vem prarided immediately,-* 
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promised to alienate It lakhs worth of land in favour of 

Ratan Singh and five lakhs for Mahadji Sindhia. The 

attempt to take 64 lakhs of Rupees in cash from the 

kingdom of Mewar in its then condition was as 

hopeful of success as a plan to draw blood out of stone. 

It only left a sore perpetually open between the 

Maharana and the house of Sindhia. At the end of 

September, Mahadji at last marched away from the 

neighbourhood of Udaipur, for aiding Tukoji Holkar, who 

was then engaged in the siege of Raghogarh in 

Khechiwara. [SPD. xxix. 87, 233-245.] 

§ 16. Foreign relations of Marwar, 1761-1767. 

Marwar enjoyed a long peace so far as freedom from 

foreign incursion could give it peace. Bijay Singh’s 

unwarlike character and failure to bind his nobles to his 

side by bold leadership and politic treatment prevented 

him from entering into any ambitious scheme of conquest 

or defensive coalition. His one absorbing anxiety was to 

8 luMni in cash, and 25 lakhs in (^Id, silver, jewels and orders m 
tributary chiefe. For the balance (30t lakhs) the districts of Jawad 
Jinn Nimach and Morwan were set aside, to be administered 

jointly by the officme of the Maharana and the Peshwa. This 
anangonent continued till 1774. (Tod, i. ch. 16.) The Bajput 

version puts the indemnity at 60 lakhs for the Peshwa and 34 
hw ^dhia’s secretaries; and adds that Zalim Sing^ was 

ransomed for Bs. 60,000, and Batan 8. got jafdrs yielding 

Bs. rajOOO a year in Mandesor. FnU terms in 962-967. I 

follow the eontmpotwry Marathi records. 
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guard himself from Madho Singh of Jaipur who had 

given refuge to Bam Singh, the dethroned king of 

Marwar, and was openly threatening to restore him by 

force. But the Jaipur Rajah^s entanglement with the 

Marathas and the Jat king and thereafter with his 

nobles, made it impossible for him to undertake any 

expedition against Bijay Singh, and the latter breathed 

freely. Quarrels with his headstrong and disloyal 

nobles weakened Bijay Singh no less than his enemy of 

Jaipur, and left both an easy prey to Maratha aggression. 

Every time a Maratha army entered their territory, the 

Rajput Courts without a single exception, held parleys 

with it, gained as much time as possible, and finally 

agreed to a subsidy the actual payment of which was 

beyond their capacity and against their real wishes. 

Something was paid after long higgling and threats by 

the Maratha residents and the invaders were bought oflF 

for the time.* "Procrastination is the sole policy of 

these States,as one of these tribute-collectors wrote 

In No\r. 1765, Achyut Ganesh (Sindhians diwan) installed, by 
order of the Peshwa, Govind Krishna as qiladar of Ajmir fort (vice 
Biipuji I^Qq)ir, dismissed for defalcation) and was about to set out 
for Marwar, when Yashwant Babl6 intervened for a peaceful 
settlement; Charan Ala Kam agreed to pay 10 lakhs, which Bijay* 
Singh ratified, and gave bonds for the tribute due, and thus averted 
the invasion. Before Achyut could collect any portion of this 
money, he had to hasten to Jaipur to'help Madho 8. against a com¬ 
bined Sikh-Jat army, and thereafter he was hurriedly summoned to 
Bindhia’s side in the Gwalior district. [8PD, xxvii. 109, xxix. 99, 
102.] 
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with bitter truth. Ajmir had been ceded to the Marathas 

in 1755 and continued to be held by them. This inglori¬ 

ous and monotonous course of Marwar history was varied 

in 1767 by the visit of Jawahir Singh to Pushkar, where 

Bijay Singh met him by invitation (6 Nov. 1767.) On 

the bank of the lake sacred to the Divine Creator^ 

Jawahir and Bijay Singh exchanged turbans in sign of 

full brotherhood and vowed to wage a joint war of 

Rajputs and Jats for crushing the Marathas and Najib 

Khan in Hindustan. Bijay Singh invited Madho Singh 

to come to Pushkar for cementing this coalition. But 

the proud Kachhwa chief ^replied, sternly rebuking the 

head of the Rathor clan for having degraded himself by 

sitting on the same bench with ^^a silly Jat, a tenant of 

the house of Jaipur, who had always come to our feet on 

the receipt of our summons. Only the Maharana, the 

Rao Rajah and yourself are my peers/^ This letter 

threw Jawahir into a paroxysm of rage and he plunged 

headlong into a war with Jaipur which nearly ruined him. 

[Fam. Bh, 3720, 8PD. xxix. 162.] 

§ 17. Reflections on Rajput decadence. 

The impact of European civilization and of the 

European military system on India in the middle of the 

18th century hit the Rajput warrior class hardest of all. 

[Ch. 6 § 1.] Their arms and method of fighting proved 

manifestly out of date. Their strict isolation within the 

narrow and obscure nooks of their homeland prevented 
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them from aoqniring the new knowledge or moving with 

the times. In their ignorance some of their princes 

vainly sought to strengthen themselves by hiring 

mercenaries with a thin tincture of European military 

knowledge and led by officers with second-hand European 

training. Every Portuguese half-breed, or even a pure 

Native Christian of Goa when dressed in a cast off 

European military costume, was believed to be a master 

of the new war, and was commissioned to raise a sepoy 

battalion for the local Hindu prince and thereby deepen 

the insolvency of his State, without really adding to its 

strength in any way. 

For the Bajput chief or thakur, cooped up within his 

ancestral fort, nothing now remained, but to nurse his 

'pride, poverty, and pedigree a yard long.’ But to the 

famished Scottish laird salvation came in the course of 

the expansion of the British empire in this very second 

half of the 18 th century. Many a Scottish estate was 

freed from encumbrances, more than one barony endowed 

in that rugged land out of the spoils of Seringapatam 

and Bharatpur, Lucknow and Delhi, or from the princely 

remuneration of high ofSoe filled in the East under less 

stormy circumstances. Such a doOr of relief was, however, 

closed to the stay-at-home caste-bound Eshatriya lordling 

of Hindustan. The houses of Jaipur and Bikaner had 

sprung to first-rate rank in Rajasthan as helpers in the 

making of the Mughal empire } but this race supplied 

not one lieutenant in England’s conquest of tiie East. 
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Shah Alam's Wandeeings, 1758-1771. 

§ 1. Shah Alam II, his character. 

When the Emperor Alamgir II fell under the 

assassin’s knife (29 Nov. 1759), his eldest son and 

expected successor. Prince Shah Alam, was a homeless 

wanderer on the face of the earth, still lying under the 

publ'C ban of imperial repudiation which the domineering 

wazir had extorted from his terrorised father. More 

than twelve years were to pass before his wanderings 

ceased and he entered the throne-city of his fathers as 

sovereign. During this period the capital remained 

kingless, but there was no interregnum, as Shah Alam 

had proclaimed himself Emperor and celebrated his 

accession in his camp (23 Dec.) as soon as he heard of 

his father’s demise, and the legal rights of sovereign 

belonged to him, though he had not the means of 

exercising his full royal power in practice. There was 

no rival Emperor in the realm, except for the nine 

months (30 Nov. 1759—10 Oct. 1760) when a puppet 

of Imad'-ul-mulk occupied the Delhi palace under tiie 

title of Shah Jahan H. 

Hiri» Abdullah, better known by his titles of Ali 

Oaubar (conferred on 16 Aug. 1754) and Shah Alam 
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(conferred on 24 April 1756 and borne as Emperor), 

was the' eldest son of Alamgir 11. At the time of his 

father’s death he had just completed his 30th year. 

Though he was not gifted with the extraordinary genius 

and energy required in the redeemer of a fallen 

monarchy, he was the ablest of the princes of Delhi 

then alive. The life of neglect and captivity that he 

had shared with his father tUl the age of 25 had preven¬ 

ted him from acquiring experience of men and affairs, 

or developing - his latent faculties. But bis character 

was as yet free from vice and sloth. He had learnt 

self-control in the school of adversity and was willing 

to improve himself by study and inquiry. Above all, 

he had not yet fallen under the deadly benumbing 

influence of that vacuity of life which springs from a 

sense of the impotence of one’s position and the futility 

of all attempts to better one’s lot, and which drives 

its victim into utter indolence and self indulgence as 

his only solace. 

He had tasted misery and hardship, not only during 

his first twenty-five years as the prisoner of a rival 

royal branch, but even after his father’s accession, 

when he had to flee away from- the jealous fury of the 

all-powerful wazir. Nor was be without some experience 

of office administration and warfare, (hough it was for 

too short a time and in too small a sphere. -The French 

captain Jean Law> who was often with him from 1758 

to 1761, draws a pleasing picture of the young prince. 



17591 (JHARACTEB OP SHAH ALAM II 527 

He writes, “The Sbahzada passed for one of those who 

have had the best education and who have most profited 

by it. This education consists particularly in the 

knowledge of religion and of the Oriental tongues, of 

history, and the writing of one’s academic exercises 

well. In efiFect, all that I could perceive decided in 

his favour. He is familiar with the Arabic, Persian, 

Turki and Hindustani languages. He loves reading 

and never passes a day without employing some hours 

in it. . . He is of an inquiring mind, naturally gay and 

free in his private society, where he frequently admits 

bis principal military officers in whom he has confidence." 

[Mimoire, 329.] 

§ 2. Came of Shah Alam’s failure ; the moral 

decay of the Mughal nobility. 

In short, Shah Alam’s character at this time was 

one of promise. Given proper instruments and favour¬ 

able circumstances he might have succeeded in restoring 

the Delhi monarchy. But it was the tn^edy of his life 

that he was called upon to set right a world that was 

out of joint morally even more than politically. No¬ 

where could he find a single Mthful friend or able 

lieutenant. All the men who gathered round him 

during his struggle for a kingdom were selfish men, 

shady adventurers, or pretenders to baronies or public 

offices, whose one aim was to use his prestige as lawful 

Iknperor to oust the men in possession of tiie coveted 
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landed estate or Government post. Even an angel 

would have to beat his wings ineffectually in such a 

foul atmosphere, heavy with the inertia of an age-old 

decadent society and State. The character of the 

peerage that now represented Yamin-ud-daulah and 

Sadullah, Mir Jumla and Asaf Jah, filled every true friend 

of the Delhi monarchy with despair. As Jean Law 

spoke in the bitterness of disappointment to the historian 

Ghnlam Husain Khan (in April 1759),—“I have travelled 

everywhere from Bengal to Delhi, but nowhere have 

I found anything from any one except oppression of the 

poor and plundering of wayfarers. Whenever I wanted 

that one of these famous potentates, like Shuja, Imad and 

their peers, out of a regard for honour and a desire for 

the regulation of the Government, should undertake to put 

in order the affairs of Bengal and suppress the English 

[usurpers of that province], not one of them felt any 

inclination to this task. They did not once weigh in 

their minds the praiseworthiness or shame of their 

conduct... The Indian nobles {umoara) are a set of 

disorderly inconsistent blockheads, who exist solely for 

mining a world of people.” [Siyar, it 257.] Shah 

Alam himself, after years of‘bitter experience, came to 

the same conclusion. As he wrote in 1768 : “Throng 

the peifidionsness of die noMUty and vassals this anarchy 

has arisen, aad every one {nroolaims himself a sover^pi in 

his osm place, and they are at variance with eoe anothar, 

.the strong pmvailiag over the weak... In dns nfs ot 



1760] IMAD-UI.-MUL,K^S CHAKACTEJR 529 

<lelusion and deceit, His Majesty, places no dependence 

on the services or professions of loyalty of any one but 

4he English chiefs.” [CPC. ii. llOi, 836. Shakir, 107.) 

The highest noble in the land and hereditary claimant 

to the imperial Chancellorship was Imad-ul-mulk. But 

«part from the deadly malignity which he bore to Shah 

Alam and his kin, Imad had fallen ofiP from the high 

standard of capacity that he had displayed in the struggle 

'With Safdar Jang six years earlier. He seems to have 

tiow taken after his maternal grandfather, the former 

wazir Qamruddin Khan Itimad-ud-daulah, and found 

the highest wisdom in letting matters drift and doing 

•nothing himself. But he lacked that gay toper^s uniform 

-courtesy, geniality of spirit, and aversion to bloodshed. 

Though his intellect was very keen, his capacity for 

•action seems to have been paralysed. To the licentious¬ 

ness and sloth which he shared with most other nobles, 

lie added a deceitfulness, cowardice and sadistic love of 

cruelty all his own. Jean Law, who often met him, 

writes, “I have not seen in his conduct anything but 

much deception and a cruelty that revolts. He has 

•almost always the rosary in his hand, but his devotion 

is nothing but hypocrisy. He caused to be inhumanly 

massacred those in whom he appeared to have the 

greatest confidence and to whom he was actually indebted 

for his elevation.” [Memoirey 179.1 

Thus, by an irony of Fate, though Shah Alam was 

the lawful Padishah of Delhi, Us hereditary wazir was 

34 
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his mortal enemy, and this wazir was the nominee of the 

two strongest Powers in India, the Peshwa and the Jat 

Bajah. But the blood of his murdered father and slain 

followers ran as an impassable stream between Shah 

Alam and Imad. Najib-ud-daulah was probably strong 

enough to instal and uphold him on the throne of Delhi, 

provided that Imad did not bring the Marathas i^ain to 

oust him and he could be sure of securing in time the 

rather expensive aid of Abdali in such a danger. But 

Najib was not prepared to make any sacrifice or run any 

risk of entanglement for the sake of his fugitive 

sovereign. Nor could Shah Alam be entirely free from 

suspicion regarding the Buhela chieftain. During Ahmad 

Shah’s invasion of 1748, the Afghans all over India had 

openly talked of expelling the Turki dynasty of Babur 

from Delhi and restoring the Afghan sovereignty that 

had yielded place to the Mughal. Abdali’s defeat at 

Manupur had averted tiiat catastrophe in 1748, but now 

after their crowning victory at Panipat, what Power was 

left in Northern India to make even an hour’s stand 

against such a design of the exultant Afghan race ? 

What protection had Shidi Alam from the extermination 

of his family if he put himself helplessly within the 

reach of Najib ? {CPC, iii 270.] 

§ 3. Character of Sht^a-ud-daulah. 

Thus the facts of the political situation dro'^ Shah 

Alam into the arms Shoja^’udHcbuilali, and as Sbuja 
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was the actual manager of all their joint-enterprises for 

reconquering lost provinces and subduing rebellious 

vassals^ and Shah Alam merely the sleeping partner 

who lent the legality and prestige of his name,—but no 

other capital,—to these undertakings, the result was 

determined by Shuja’s character and secret policy. 

Shuja-ud-daulah as a choice for the wazirship was 

even worse than Imad-ul-mulk. As Jean Law charac¬ 

terises him from personal observation, “Shuja is the 

most handsome person that 1 have seen in India. He 

towers over the wazir [Imad| by his figure,—the latter 

being small,—and I believe also by the qualities of 

his heart, but he has to yield to him [Imad] in all that 

relates to the spirit. He is occupied in nothing but 

pleasures, hunting and the most violent exercises.” 

Such was his character in 1758-1761. Later, a not 

unfriendly English observer sketched it thus : ‘^Shuja- 

ud-daulah was not endowed with the genius of a soldier. 

He wanted that valour, or courage, which is ever shown 

in the event of common danger. He evinced throughout 

the Buhela war a markett pusillanimity, sheltering 

himself in the rear and betraying evident signs of fear. 

He had acquired an extensive knowledge in the practice 

of every species of deceit, and could perform with 

facility every character that was necessary to conduct 

the various purposes of delusion or treachery. 

Generosity did not form a fixed part of his disposition. 

He was equally rapacious in acquiring, as sordid 
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in preserving wealth. His excesses in venery, which 

knew no control, led him to commit actions derogatory 

from his station, as well as pernicious to his health. 

His harem was filled with wives and concubines, to 

the number, it is said, of eight hundred, from whom 

were born to him fifty children.^^* 

§ 4. Shah Alamos adveyitares, after escape 

from Delhiy May 1738. 

We have seen in Chapter 17 § 13-16 how Prince 

Shah Alamos attempt to carve out a fief for himself in 

the Rohtak district even under the Emperor^s letter 

patent had failed, how he had defeated the jealous 

waziPs plan for arresting him in his Delhi mansion 

(19 May 1758), and how after cutting his way through 

the ring of assailants be had made a fresh attempt to 

secure a foothold in the Bohtak-Hisar region, and then, 

on being abandoned by his Maratha ally Vital Shivdev 

and even his Delhi retainers, he had ^^turned bis face 

to the path of the wilderness in sole reliance on God,^^ 

• Law, Memoire, 181. G. ^^orster Journeyy i. 183-185. But 
Bhuja's fairly successful conduct of revenue and war after he had 
secured English protection, which so favourably impressed George 
Forster, was due entirely to the band of able and devoted generals 
and civil administrators that clung to his house. Ahmad Bhah 
Abdali, a shrewd judge of character, at once saw through Bhuja’s 
despicable character and, therefore, before leaving India in 
Mi^ 1761 nominated his enemy Jmad as wazir of Ddhi instead 
of his pai^san Shuja. Siuja drunken (Shakir, 88); licentions 
Imad-m^mdat 66. IBPD. xxvii 191. xxi. 127. 128. 
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and crossed over to the Barba Sayyids^ country at 

Miranpur in the middle Doab, about 12th August. Here 

Najib waited on him on the 19th with costly presents 

and furniture and undertook to feed his household and 

troops. The rainy season was now fully on, and the 

prince had to halt here for some months. Here he added a 

Sayyid girl to his harem under the title of Mubarak 

Mahal. But Najib was not prepared to provoke a war 

with the wazir and his Maratha backers by supporting 

the prince in any attack upon the imperial dominions ; 

he merely advised him to seek the help of 8huja-ud- 

daulah, who was the hereditary enemy of Imad and the 

strongest noble in Hindustan. 

During this halt at Miranpur, Shah A lam received 

an invitation from Muhammad Quli Khan, (popularly 

called Mirza Kuchak), the first cousin of Shuja and the 

imperial governor of Allahabad, to come to him, with 

promise of support in the attempt to conquer Bihar. 

Leaving Miranpur at the end of November, with a large 

number of the out-of-work Sayyid warriors, he crossed 

the Ganges into Rohilkhand, and rapidly marched south 

towards Lucknow, taking many Buhelas into his service 

on the way. Shuja dutifully waited on him twelve miles 

outside his capital, on 7th January 1759 and offered him 

many costly presents and a lakh of Rupees. Without 

delaying longer than a week here, the prince started for 

Allahabad by the advice of Shuja, who promised to come 

quickly behind him after making his preparations. 
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Beaching Jhuai, opposite Allahabad, on 23rd January, 

Shah Alam halted for 18 days and resumed his march 

on Bilmr about 10th February, accompanied by Md. 

Quli’s contingent and also fresh levies * raised by him¬ 

self with Shuja^s money or mere promises. By way of 

Mirzapur (18 Feb.), Mughal Sarai, Sayyid ESzi, the 

Karmnasa river (6 March) and Daudnagar, he reached 

Phulwaii, seven miles west of Patna on 18th March. 

§ 5. Shah Alam’s first invasion of Bihar, 1759. 

Meantime, the report of the coming invasion and 

the prince’s letters demanding tribute and homage from 

the governors of Bengal and Bihar had caused consterna¬ 

tion in Patna. Bajah Bam Narayan, the deputy governor 

of Bihar, was regarded as an enemy and marked out for 

spoliation by Mir Jafar Ali Khan, the new Nawab of 

Bengal, and he had wisely secured Col. Clive’s protec¬ 

tion. He sent off frantic appeals to Calcutta for armed 

ud. At first the Bengal authorities knew not how to 

lawfully oppose the Emperor’s son. But the malicious 

wazir Imad-ul-mulk, in order to frustrate Shah Alam 

once again, forced the puppet Emperor to appoint 

another prince, He^yet Bakhsh, subafadar of Bihar and 

issue letters denouncing Shah Alun as a rebel, 26 

February. [TAL8. 1996.] 

Hiere was a great delay in fitting out an army from 

* Shah Alam iSiaed a vast army by enlisting enwy man who 
eame to him. TJL8.1966. 
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Bengal^ as the soldiers’ pay had run into arrears for 

several months and the new Nawab’s treasury was empty 

after the enormous bounties extorted by his English 

creators. But Clive realized the nature of the crisis at 

Patna and at last started with an army from Bengal, 

writing to Bam Narayan to hold out and to Shah Alam 

that as a proclaimed rebel he would be opposed by the 
English. 

Before this, in the middle of March, when the prince 

arrived so close to Patna and no movement of a relieving 

army from Bengal was reported, Mr. Amyatt, the Chief 

of the English factory in Patna, vacated the city with 

his officers, after advising Bam Narayan to play for 

time and finally act as he received reinforcements or not 

So, the Bajah, after taking assurances of safety, humbly 

waited on the prince and made presents. Through Md. 
Quli four krores of Bnpees and all the artillery in Patna 

fort were demanded from him \TALS. 2045.] He had 

not even a hundredth part of this money. So, he went 

back to Patna after promising to collect the tribute 

there. The prince’s supreme manager Md. Quli Khan 

was brave, but a fool and a pleasure-seeker. He now 
plunged into dissipation and the prince into daily 

hunting, as if the province had been already won. 
On 21st Mumh the prince removed his camp to 

Jafar Khan’s garden, east of Patna city. Bam 

Narayan, being now informed of the English army’s 

approach under Clive himself, tamed out the prince’s 
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tribute-collectors and shut the city gates in defiance. 

Immediately Md. Quli Khan marched out to assault the 

city (23rd March), but returned at the end of the day 

after doing nothing. The shots from the fort-walls, also, 

passed over the heads of his crowded ranks hitting 

none! This siege of Patna ended in total failure. 

On 3rd April M. Jean Law, invited from 

Chhatrapur, reached Shah Alam’s camp. Next 

day, the prince made a desperate assault on Patna, 

but it was repulsed with a loss of 200 slain, though ohe' 

old bastion of thd city wall (near Mahdigan]) collapsed. 

Next morning during a council of war, Md. Quli Kbanr 

became highly angry with the prince, who was secretly 

trying through Yahiya Khan (son of Zakariya Khan of 

Labor) to make terms with Bam Narayan. The prince 

personally went to his general’s tent and pacified him. 

But next day news arrived that an English army was on 

the way, and bad already crossed the frontier post of 

Bihar (Sakrigali.) An advanced detachment from it by 

rapid marching entered Patna on the 5th. So, the prince 

decamped towards the south. On the 20th he learnt that 

Shuja had seized Allahabad fort by treachery four days 

earlier. Md. Quli immediately (23rd) set out for his 

province, leaving the prince, who sought the help of 

Pablwan Singh, zamindar of Bhojpur (27 April.) But 

Bam Narayan with the Bengal army under Mirau ruded 

Pahlwin Singh’s country (10 May) and after a long fi^t 

defeated him and his patron, putting both to flight. 
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The baffled prince evacuated Bihar, and arrived near 

Mirzapur on 16th May. Leaving that place on 27tb 

June, he reached Bev^, at the invitation of its Bajah, on 

20th July. Here he halted for the rainy season. 

§ 6. Shah Alam crowns himself, Secotid iiirasion of 

Bihar atid raid into Bengal, 1760. 

Towards the end of October 1759, Shah Alam left 

Bewa, and by way of Mirzapur (12 Nov.) inarched to 

Saseram in South Bihar (7 Dec.), and thence to Ghotauli^ 

(5 miles north of Son Fast Bank railway station) 

(20 Dec.) At this last station he received the news of his 

father’s murder at Delhi (on the 29th November before), 

and sat on the throne, proclaiming himself Emperor 

under the title of Shah Alam II, on the 24th, though 

his regnal year was ordered to be counted from the day 

(let Jamadi-ul-awwal=21 Dec.) on which he heard of 

his father’s death. He sent his trusted officer Munir-ud- 

daulah to Abdali to beg for his support, and offered the 

wazirship to Shuja. Kamgar Khan, an Afghan of the 

Main clan, and zamindar of Nurhat (in the Gaya district) 

joined him with five thousand men, and proved a much 

abler and more faithful adherent than Md. Quli Khan. 

Without any regular treasure or trained army of hi* 

own, Shah Alam in his three Bihar campaigns only 

raised raw levies and attracted shady adventurers to 

lead them. Unluckily for him, these scratch troops were 

pitted against English-trained and English-led sepoys. 
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and the genius of Clive, great in war, greater still in 

diplomacy. The princess sole strength lay in cavalry, of 

which the Company's army had none, and the Bengal 

Nawab^s army an inferior class, fit only for pursuing 

broken fugitives. But the Delhi cavalry was powerless 

for offence against British sepoys so long as their 

munition was not exhausted, and broke in utter rout 

before the well-handled English guns, to which Shah 

Alam had nothing to oppose. Hence even Law^s 

Frenchmen,—a handful, could not turn the tide of Shah 

Alam's defeat.* 

* Shah Alamos expeditions into Bihar, in 1759, 1760 and 
1761,—(1) Ghulam Ali^s Muqaddamah4^Shah Alam namahy most 
detailed in names and dates, authentic official history from 
imperial records. (2) Muna Lai merely copies this book and has 
no independent value. (3) TALS and (4) 7)0., though very brief, 
are absolutely contemporary, original, and correct, and useful for 
supplementing G. AIL (5) CPC, i., an invaluable primary source 
for dates and English movements and policy ; becomes detailed 
after 1761, but too meagre before. (6) Ironside’s Narrative of 
1760 and 1761, in Asiatic Annual Begistery v6l ii. (1800), ^^Miscella- 
neous Tracts,” pp. 7-28 and (7) Oaillaud’s Evidence in the First 
Report, are first-rate original auth(»itieB from the English side. 
(8) Broome’s History of the Bengal Army is a very lucid and 
useful compilation, though requiring correction in the light of the 
Persian sources not known to him, his scde rdianoe being on Siyar, 

(9) Jean Law, Mmoire sur VEmpire Mo^gsly ed. Bfartineau, and 
(10) Siyar-tdmuiakhkharin valuable for what the authors person¬ 
ally witnessed,—the former lor military operations and the latter 
lor the diplomatic moves and events in and outside Patna; but 
both were present on the scene for liasited periods only. (11) 
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The new Emperor whiled away precious days in 

holding grand ceremonies and coronation rejoicings and 

lavishly bestowing hyperbolical titles and inflated 

niansabs which had not the remotest chance of ever being 

translated into reality by the engagement of any corres'- 

ponding military force or grant of fiefs capable of 

maintaining them. Ram Narayan used this respite in 

completing his defence^ summoned the local zamindars to 

his aid, and assembled a body of 40,000 men, according 

to rumour. These were untrained rustics, without 

the backbone of some expert squadrons and several 

experienced captains that stiffened the Emperor^s 

army. Lord Clive sailed for Home on 5th February 

1760, but he had already despatched to Bihar two 

complete battalions of sepoys, 300 European infantry 

and 6 field pieces (served by 50 European gunners) 

tinder Major Caillaud, backed by 15,000 indigenous 

horse and foot and 25 guns under the NawaVs son 

Sadiq Ali Ehau (populary called Miran.) This force 

started from Murshidabad on 18th January, and after 

crossing the Sakrigali pass resumed its march on Patna 

on 7 th February. 

Meantime, Ram Narayan without waiting for these 

reinforcements, had issued from Patna and given battle 

to the imperialists at Masumpur on 9th February; 

but three of his divisional commanders treacherously 

Ibratnamah is a later comiaiation and has no independent valne 
before 1766. Iha Marathi records are naturally silent. 
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went over to the enemy in the heat of the action^ the 

imperial army displayed superior spirit and leadership, 

and Ram Narayan bad to retreat to his fort defeated 

and wounded. Four companies of English sepoys were 

cut off with all their three European officers, including 

Captain Cochrane. The Emperor came close to Patna 

on the 17th, but did not venture to attack it. Major 

Caillaud pushed up and on the 22nd completely defeated 

him at Sherpur. The refusal of the Nawab^s cavalry to 

obey the English commander enabled the Emperor to 

retire unbroken to Bihar city (28 Feb.) * 

' Masumpur, Mmsimpoiir, 4 m. e. of Fatua and close to 
Baikunthpur, in Bennell’s B, Atlas, Sh. 3. Sherpur, 4 m. s. e. of 
Bakhtiarpur railway station, and south of the Mahani river which 
runs here south of and parallel to the Ganges. Another Bherpur, 
5 m. west of Dinapur is not the place. The Emperor’s route to 
Bengal is thus given by Ghulam Ali (i. 144-151)Bihar city, 
28 Feb.—Shaikhpura (18 m. e. of Bihar), 1 and 2 March—-Salimpur 
(? Islamnagar, 20 m. n. w. of Gidhour), 3-5 March—Ghatikoh 
(? Oowah ghat, 18 m. due west of Gidhour), 10 Mar. JBkai(== CfeaH 
or Fort Hastings, 25 m. s. of Gidhour), 11 Mar.—Asarda 
(? Operbanda, 30 m. s. of Deoghar) 19 Mar.—Jamgaon (20 m. n. e. 
of Pachet and s. of the Ajay), 20 Mar.—Balia (5 m. n. e. of Garh 
Bishnupur and s. of the Dalkishor river), 29 Mar.—Bishnupur— 
Damodar crossed, 5 April—Belkhas (6 m. w. of Burdwan, Rennell 
Sh, 7), 7 Apr. Return Jamgaon, 14 Apr. Deoghar—Bam Sarai 
(near Patna), 30 April. Broome gives his outward route thus 
Bihar—junction of the Ganges and the Mahani (i, e., near Bhaikh- 
pura)—Malhipur (10 m. n. of Gidhour)—Deoghar—Operbanda— 
Lakar konda—Okera—Mankar—Belkhas, 6 Apr. The pursuing army 

of Caillaud and Miran followed this very route, hut after Okera 
turned eastwards to Mangalkot, to join the Nawab^ 
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Here, under Kamgar Khan’s able guidance he 

followed the bold and original plan of sending his 

artillery and baggage back, pushing on through the 

unknown hills and jungles of south-eastern Bihar with a 

lightly equipped body of select horse, and surprising 

Murshidabad, which now lay utterly defenceless. The 

thrust penetrated, by way of Deoghar and Mankar and 

across the Damodar river, to Bishnupur, where a Maratha 

force under Sheo Bhat Sath<^ joined him. But the 

raiders hesitated, gave up their original objective, the 

Bengal capital, and lost precious days. The raid failed, 

for Caillaud, undergoing indescribable hardships, 

followed close on the Emperor’s track, effected a junction 

with Nawab Jafar Ali Khan and a detachment from 

-Calcutta at Mangalkot (20 miles north of Burdwan) and 

blocked the road to Murshidabad. On 7th April, there 

was a skirmish and some exchange of gun fire between 

the Emperor’s vanguard which had crossed the Damodar 

and the full English force advanced to Belkhas. Kamgar 

lost heart, set Are to his tents, and beat a hurried retreat 

with the Emperor by the same route, and arriving again 

'before Patna, which was now totally denuded of English 

troops, attacked it from a distance. But on 28th April, 

■ Captain Knox by an incredibly rapid march came up 

from Bengal and relieved the city. The Emperor raised 

the siege, and fell back on !^ni Sarai (30th April), 

where he was joined by M. Jean Law. But it was too 

late for hie success. After lingering for two months 
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more in Soutii Bihar and being further disheartened by 

the defeat of his partisan Khadim Husain (the usurper of 

Pumia) by Knox at Hajipur (19 June), Shah Alam 

retired from the province and reached the bank of the 

Jamnna in August, 1760. 

§ 7. Shah Alam and Law invade Bihar again, 1761. 

At the end of the rainy season, Shah Alam invaded 

Bihar for the third time, accompanied by Jean Law and 

his Frenchmen. But his army was now without money, 

discipline, heavy guns, or even an adequate munition 

supply. In spite of this heart-breaking handicap, Law 

served him truly to the last. The end came on 15th 

January 1761, when at the village of Suan (6 miles west 

of Biluir city) Col. Carnac defeated the imperialists and 

captured Law and his French officers. All his hopes of 

independence crushed, and in utter penury and lack of 

supportOTs, the sovereign of the Delhi empire now sued 

for the mercy of the English. They, on their part, were 

eager to placate him and remove the taint of illegality 

from their late measures against him. On 6th February 

Shah Alam visited Carnac at Gaya and was highly 

honoured by him and escorted to Patna, where he lodged 

in the fort and began to hold Court. Hmre the new 

Bengal Nawab Ali Khan waited on him (12 March), 

paid Ms trifetite and hniid>ly sought imperial confirmation 

of the high office to which he had been lately called 

(20 October 1760). by the grace of the English. Eau^gir 
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Khan was defeated by Captain Champion, and the 

Emperor under pressure from the English dismissed him 

from his service. The English settled upon the puppet 

sovereign an allowance of Bs. 1,800 a day, in return for 

confirming their political arrangements in Bengal and 

Bihar. 

Meantime, the battle of Panipat had been fought, 

Delhi had been cleared of the Marathas, and the Durrani 

conqueror had set out on his return home after 

nominating Shah Alam as Emperor and writing to him to 

come and occupy Delhi. So, the Emperor issued from 

Patna fort (12 April) at the invitation of Shuja-ud-danlah 

who undertook to escort him to his capital. The English 

refused to proceed with him beyond the western 

boundary of Bilmr, and took a courteous leave of the 

Emperor on the bank of the Karmnasa (22 May.) Shnja 

met his sovereign at Sarai Sayyid Basd on 19th June 

and the two reached Jajman on 23rd July, where the 

Emperor went into cantonments for the rainy season. 

§8. Shah Alam’s Bundelkhand campaign, 1762. 

March towards Delhi fails, 1763. 

From this place Shah Alam, entirely moved by the 

leading strii^ of Shuja-ud-daulab, started on 7th Kov. 

1761 for the recovery of his dominions in BundeUdumd. 

as well as in the adjacent tract of North MSlwa, 

the dominion had been shaken to its foundations 

^Iksjr defeat at I%ni{»t. All the Ideal zamindars 
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south of the Jamuna and the Chambal—Jat, Rajput, 

Ahir, Bundela and Rnhela—had risen against the 

Marathas, stopped the payment of revenue and tribute, 

and even occupied the villages belonging to the latter. 

Not a pice could be collected ; the garrison of Gwalior 

fort had received no salary for two years. The evil was 

aggravated by the dying Peshwa’s inability to send 

reinforcements and the treason of several local ofBcers 

■(notably 'Gancsh Sambhaji) who went over to the 

imperialists. Into this defenceless and distracted country 
'Shuja entered early in January 1762, crossing the Jamuna 

:at KalpL That post surrendered without opposition. 

Then Moth was taken, and Jhansi itself (I Feb.) after a 

ishort resistance. The Bundela chiefs of Urchha and Datia 

sent tribute to their sovereign. Shuja, whom Shah Alam 

kad appointed his wazir in the preceding June, at last 

put the wazir's robes on and first signed official papers 
in that capacity on 15 Feb. 1762. Then, by way of 
Jalalpur (31 March), he marched upon Mahoba, but 

could not subdue its Rajah Hindupat, the great-grandson 

of the famous ChhatrasaL So, the expedition returned 

across the Jamuna, and the Emperor encamped for the 

rainy season at Sheorajpur, in the Cawnpur district 

.[8PD. xxvii 272, xxix 13. G. Ali ii. 112-140. Muna Lai, 

Imeid, 86.] 

Early next year (1763), the Emperor, escorted by the 
■waiir, marched to Sikandrabad in the middle Boab, 

-eommoning the Rnhda and Baogash chiefs to join him 
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and conduct him to Delhi. Ahmad Baogash had reason 

to fear Shuja^s ambition and so proved recusant. Shuja 

was about to go to war with him, when Hafiz Rahmat, 

Dundi Khan and Najib arrived (April), interviewed the 

Emperor and forced Shuja to give up his designs against 

the Nawab of Farrukhabad. But these designs had 

alienated all the Afghans from Shuja. To make matters 

worse, a sectarian riot with bloodshed broke out between 

the troops of Shuja and Najib, who were respectively 

of the Shia and Sunni faith. The plan of installing 

the Emperor at Delhi by a united Muslim force broke 

down, the Ruhelas returned to their homes (middle of 

May) and the Emperor to Allahabad for passing the 

rainy season.* 

§ 9. Shah Alam tnakes peace with the English 1703, 

Early next year, 1764, a new opening for the 

invasion of Bihar presented itself, when Nawab Qasim 

Ali Khan, deposed and expelled by the English from the 

province (in Dec. last), visited the Emperor (February 

1764) and bought his support and that of his wazir in a 

war for the recovery of his own, by paying them 10 and 

17 lakhs respectively. The invasion of Bihar that 

followed and which the helpless Emperor's apologists 

truly ascribed to the greed of Shuja, ended in the waziFs 

crashing defeat at Buxar (23 October 1764) and finally 

Nut, 59-60. Ghulam Ali, ii. 145-167. Ibrat 112-116. 
Imad*m^&datj 87-91 (imp.) Muna Lai, 54-60. 

35 
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at Kora (3 May, 1765), and the complete prostration 

of Oudh at the feet of the English. The derelict 

Emperor, who had been insulted by Shuja before the 

battle of Buxar and abandoned after it, took shelter 

with the English and was honourably lodged by them 

in Allahabad fort, which they took in his name on 

11 February, Benares and Chunar having been 

previously occupied.* 

Lord Clive returned to India on 3rd May and 

speedily marched up country, meeting the penitent 

Shuja at Benares (2 Aug.) and the grateful Emperor 

at Allahabad (9 Aug.) He concluded formal treaties 

with both. By the Treaty of Allahabad, dated 

16th August, the English restored to 8huja-ud-daulah 

all his dominions with the exception of Chunar (which 

was retained by the English), the districts of Kora and 

Allahabad (which were ceded to the Emperor), and the 

zamindari of Benares including Ghazipur (which was 

reserved to the family of Rajah Balwant Singh, 

under English protection, though legally subordinate 

to the Kawab of Oudh.) Shuja agreed to pay 

fifty lakhs to the English to cover the expenses 

* Shuja’s Bihar campaign (1764) and English advance to 
Allahabad (1765) :—OPO. L (best), Broome (compilation, but well* 
written), Siyar, Chahar Gulxar, Ghnlam All, iL, Ibrat. bast 
aoooont of the battle of Buxar, a contemporary ms. in the 
India Office, London, printed by Oldham in Joumcd, B, A. 0. 
R. Soetety 1925. Tiraties of Aug. 1765,—OolMion of Iiwtie$ St 

Mtyagemenfg (Imdaa 1812), pp. ^-54; Broome, Appmdix lUi—hi. 
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of the recent war, and to bind himself with the 

English in an alliance of mutual armed support. 

After the battle of Buxar the English general had 

promised to give the Emperor all the territories of the 

fugitive Shuja. But he was now given only the districts 

of Kora and Allahabad, with an estimated revenue of 

28 lakhs a year, and assured of the Bengal tribute 

of 26 lakhs per annum (from which two lakhs were 

reserved in writing fon Mirza Najaf Khan.) An English 

force was to be posted at Allahabad for the protection 

of the Emperor as long as necessary. In return for 

these the Emperor, by a farman signed on 12th August 

(with an addition on the 19th}, conhrmed the English 

East India Company in all the possessions they held 

in his territories, and also granted them the diwani 

of Bengal, Bihar and Orissa (the last subah now com¬ 

prising the Midnapur district only.) This grant meant 

that the English were legally empowered to take all 

the revenue proceeds of these three subahs, after 

deducting 26 lakhs for the Emperor, the expenses of 

the administration of Bengal and the maintenance of 

the Kawab family of Murshidabad (50 lakhs), and the 

cost of the military defence of these provinces. 

The result of it all was that the Emperor became an 
English pensioner, and Shuja a protected British vassal 

in effect, though disguised under the title of an equal 

mid independent ally, who had afterwards to reduce 
his army and secure English approval in appointing 
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his ministers, but merely as instances of the purity 

of his friendship with the English. In July 1766, 

Lord Clive held a "Congress" at Chapri (in 

north Bihar), which was attended by Shuja-ud- 

daulah in person and the evoys of the Emperor, the 

Jat Bajah and the Buhela chiefs. Here a treaty was 

entered into by them for mutual defence against any 

Maratha aggression. The Emperor, who had conferred 

the wazirship of the empire (as distinct from the 

subahdari of Oudh) upon his son on being abandoned 

by Shuja at the end of 1764, now under pressure from 

Clive restored the Chancellorship to Shuja. [CPC, ii. 

1044.1 

§ 10. Why Shah Alain was eager to go to Delhi. 

Now began for Shah Alam a long period of settled 

and comfortable residence (176.5-1771) at Allahabad. 
He was a sovereign without a capital or any hand in 

the administration no doubt, but he was also saved 

from starvation and guarded from attack, thanks to the 
English. Of this uneventful period in his life a 

detailed account would be out of place in our history. 

But it was impossible for him to cease hankering for 

a return to Delhi, as a visible symbol of his full 

sovereignty. This natural desire had been recognised 

by the English who had promise as early as 36 May 

1761 to escort him to, Delhi with their forces. This 

^omise had been repeated year after year, and even 
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by Lord Clive in 1765 ; it still stood at the end of 

1767 ; but it was never fulfilled ; at one time the war 

with Haidar Ali absorbed all the English forces, in 

other years the pledge was to be honoured ^^after the 

rains/^* At last Shah Alain became convinced that 

these rains would never end, for the English persisted 

in advising him, through their devoted instrument at 

his Court, Munir-ud-daulah, that it would be a danger 

and loss to him to leave the security of Allahabad and 

venture on to Delhi. Munir-ud-daulah^s success in 

keeping his English patrons pleased and securing the 

regular payment of the Emperor^s pension enabled his 

policy to triumph in the council of the royal exile. 

The pro-Delhi party, led by Hisam-ud-daulah, would 

probably never have gained the upper hand there but 
for the utter break-down of Najib^s health and spirits, 

which forced him to resign the guardianship of the 

Delhi palace and the royal family within it, when faced 

with the irrepressible and ever-increasing Sikh forces. 

As jarly as October 1765, Najib had asked the Emperor 

to come personally to Delhi, and now in February 1768 
he definitely tendered his resignation. This develop¬ 

ment threw Shah Alam into the greatest perplexity : 

who would guard his mother and Heir in that city after 

the withdrawal of Najib f And, if he recalled all his 

family from Delhi, the Sikhs, who were now ofiScially 

mastez^ of Sarhind and practically supreme over 

CPC. i. 1186, 2688. u. 660. iii. 399. 
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Hariana and the upper Doab, would take unopposed 

possession of the capital, and it would be impossible 

for Shah A lam to recover it from their strong hands. 

The holder of the capital was naturally in the position 

of a king-maker. What was there to prevent the Sikh 

lords of Delhi from crowning a puppet from among the 

swarm of beggarly vagrant Shahzadas, and under cover 

of his legal authority conquering the empire for 

themselves ?* 

The question of the Emperor^s residence in Delhi 

thus became a live issue from 1768 onwards. Just at 

this time the Indian world at last became convinced 

that Ahmad Shah Abdali would not come to India again, 

and all hopes and fears from that quarter definitely 

ceased. Now was the time for all loyal vassals to unite 

and restore their suzerain to his capital. A Maratha agent 

suggested (in Nov. 1767, SPD. xxix. 192) the project of 

such action by the English, the Peshwa, the Rajput 

Rajahs and the Ruhelas in concert (but despite probable 

Jat opposition). The Jat power ceased to count in 

North Indian politics after the death of Jawahir Singh 

in July 1768. The last ray of the hope of getting armed 

• GPG. i, 2735,2735 A, ii. 1101, 846, 847. Jassa Siagb, the Sikh 
sardar, had invited the Emperor (Jan. 1768) to come to Delhi, 
*Wuring him that the whole empire would be again united and 
restored to him.” Shah Alam had replied that he could not 
take that action unless the whole body of Bikh sardars formed a 
binding confederacy to escort him and sent a written pledge to 
that efiTect (U. 849.) 
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aid from the Eaglish io the journey to Delhi flickered 

and died out in the course of the next year. And the 

Emperor looked out for new friends to help him in 

carrying out his heart’s desire. The Bnhelas were 

eliminated as openly hostile to his house. Shuja, 

nominally the first minister of the Crown, when called 

upon to support his master, evaded compliance as long 

as he could, and finally (in 1771) compounded for his 

abstention from personal participation in the march on 

Delhi by contributing to its expenses. For his tools the 

Emperor, therefore, had none but the Marathas to turn 

to. 

§ 11. Shah Alam makes an agreement mfh the 

Marathas to escort him to Delhi, 1771. 

They had come to the north once more in full force, 
under an accredited plenipotentiary of the Peshwa (Ram- 

chandra Ganesh) and great sardars like Sindhia and 

Holkar, at the beginning of 1770. They had first 

humbled the Jat and set about restoring their authority 

in the Doab and the country near Delhi. [Ch. 22 § 12- 
14.] Najib’s death a few months later (30 Oct. 1770) 
forced the Emperor’s hands now or never must he make 

efifective arrangements for bolding Delhi, as Najib’s 

successor was too young and inexperienced to make any 

stand against the Sikhs. So, on 27 th December Shah 
Alam sent Saifuddin Md. Ehan to negotiate with the 

Maratha sardars then in the Doab for an alliance to 
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restore him to his capital. The envoy entered the 

masterless city on 7th February 1771, opened the Delhi 

Gate (which had been closed in fear of the Maratha and 

Gujar bands then out on the east bank), reassured the 

citizens, and from the Jami' Masjid proclaimed the 

authority of Shah Alam. 
Two days later (9th Feb. 1771), early in the morning 

the Maratha s bombarded Delhi from four sides, so that 

the Asad Burj of the fort was demolished. There was 

none to resist, and at noon the capital opened peace 

parleys. At sunset the smaller gate of the fort was 

opened. Next day Bala Rao entered the fort by 

capitulation, established his own control, and posted his 

guards at the gates. Saifuddin, who had not expected the 

Maratha appropriation of the capital, went off to complain 

to the Maratha chiefs ; so also did Shaikh Q^sim, the 

imperial qiladar. On the 15th Yaqub Ali held a long 

private talk with Bamchandra Ganesh. The following 
terms were agreed upon : (i) The Marathas were to 

be paid 40 lakhs of Biupees and assigned Mirat and 

seven other mahals. (ii) The Emperor would cede the 

districts of Karra (Jahanabad) and Kora to the Marathas,, 

or in default give them equivalent territory near Delhi, 

(iii) The Marathas undertook to escort the Emperor 
to Delhi in two months, (iv) The Emperor would pay 

ten lakhs (out of the forty) in twenty days, on receiving 

which they would. restore Delhi fort to his agent, 

and then he would come, (v) After arHving at Delfah 
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Shah Alam would grant them 15 lakhs worth of mahals, 

thus leaving a balance of 15 lakhs which was to be 

■cleared in seven months. To a memorandum containing 

these terms the Heir affixed his seal on behalf of the 

Emperor. [SPD. xxix. 89.] The terms were ratified by 

Shah Alam from Allahabad and all the Maratha 

sardars were presented (on 22 March) to the Heir and 

given khilats. A part payment niade^ Delhi fort 

was handed back to Saifuddin by the Maratha troops, 

who vacated it (2 August.) {DC. CPC. iii. 717.j 

§ 12. Siiali Alam marches from AUaliabad to 

Delhi, 1771. 

In the meantime, the Emperor had advanced from 

Allahabad (13 April) to Sarai Alamchand (20 miles to 

the west.) Here he halted for 19 days, planning his 

march on Delhi and waiting to be joined by Shuja. At 

the first talk of leaving the British protection, civilised 

comforts and regular income so long enjoyed by his 

family and entourage at Allahabad for the privations, 

danger and poverty of Delhi, a universal lamentation 

broke out in the exiled Court and among its dependants. 

But the Emperor, led by Hisam-ud-daulah, held firmly 

to his purpose, Munir-ud-daulah having entirely lost 
his hold on his master. As a last chance, the miserable 

oourtien clang to the hope that when Shuja cam^ his 

voice wonld oveibear tiiat of Hisam and the march 
on Delhi wonld be abandoned. But Shuja did not 
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object; he supplied 12 lakhs in cash^ besides carriages, 

tents and other necessary articles, and thus secured 

excuse from personal attendance in the campaign. 

He detached a body of 10,000 horse and foot of his 

own to attend the Emperor. 

Leaving Sarai Alamchand on 2nd May, Shah Alam 

marched by way of Shujaetpur and Kora to Jajmau 

(23 May), where Shuja who had borne him company so 

long took leave for his own province (3 June.) Then, by 

way of Cawnpur the imperial camp reached Bithur, where 

General Sir Robert Barker refused to proceed any 

further, bade formal farewell to the Emperor on 28 June, 

and came back with his two English battalions to 

Cawnpur and Benares. So, also did Munir-ud-daulah, 

who had persistently opposed this undertaking. The 

Emperor continued his progress to Qanauj and then to 

the neighbourhood of Farrukhabad, whose Nawab, Ahmad 

EJian Bangash, had died on 17 April. An imperial 

demand was made for escheating all his property to the 

State, but the late Nawab^s man of business Bakhshi 

Pakhruddaulah replied to it by gathering a large force of 

Buhelas from the neighbourhood and preparing for war. 

The helpless Emperor appealed to Mahadji Sindhia, who 

approached with a vast army, the report of which cowed 

Fakhruddaulah and he agreed to pay six lakhs (two lakhs 

down) on condition of Ahmad^s son Muzaffar Jang being 

recognised as Nawab of Farrukhabad and confirmed in 

his fatiber’s estates.^ This success achieved, the Emperor 
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moved on to Nabiganj, 19 miles south-west of Farrukha- 

bad, and there encamped for the rains. 
Three months later, Saifuddin Muhammad and other 

officers came from Delhi fort and interviewed the 

Emperor on 15th November, at Nabiganj, and Mahadji 

Sindhia did the same on the 18th. The royal progress 

to the capital was resumed shortly after, and the Court 

reached Surajpur (15 m. n. w. of Sikandrabad) on New 

Year’s Day, 1772. The Empress Mother, the Crown 

Prince and other princes came out of Delhi to Gharroli 

(44 miles south-east of Shahdara) and welcomed the 

Emperor in advance (3rd January.) Accompanied by 

them, he rode into his capital at a quarter past eight on 

Monday, the sixth of January, aud entered the palace 
fort by the Delhi Darwaza. The day on which the 

monarch’s exile ended happened to be exactly the 

close of the Muslim month of fasting and the eve of 

the Id rejoicings.* 

• DC. and CPC. iii 693-810 (best.) Ihrat. 196-281. G. All, 
i, 267-282. Muna Lai 109-120. Siyar, iii. 84-86 (meagre.) 
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FALL OF THE MUGHAL EMPIRE. Vol, L 
Times (London).—Sir Jadunath Sarkar has under¬ 

taken a duty of real importance. His wide scholarship, 
his deep knowledge, his independent judgment, 
admirably fit him for the task ; and his first volume 
(1739—1754) shows that the work when completed, 
will provide valuable information till now inaccessible 
to the English reader ; nowhere else will he find a more 
authoritative estimate, or more poignant detail, of the 
state of the country before the rise of the English 
Power. (17 May, 1934.) 

Times of India (Bombay)—Sir Jadunath Sarkar 
approaches his task in the scientific and impartial spirit 
which characterizes all his work . . . The learned author 
claims to have synthesized for the first time the Persian, 
Marathi, French, English, Hindi, Rajasthani and Sanskrit 
sources. Students of Maratha history will particularly 
welcome the valuable and original chapters [3 and 4j 
on the Maratha incursions into Bengal, replete with 
new material bearing upon a hitherto little-known 
chapter of Maratha history. Indeed, one of the most 
valuable features of this scholarly and erudite work is 
the light which it throws upon the Marathas in Northern 
India : Sir Jadunath Sarkar’s additions to our knoW- 
ledge in this field of investigation form a valuable 
commentary on the Maratha accounts of these events. 
(10 Feb. 1933.) 

Modern Review (January, 1933)—That Sir Jadunath 
Sarkar is fully qualified to write the history of any 
period of the Mughal Empire in India does not require 
to be pointed out afresh. In two volumes, of which 
the work under notice is the first, he has attempted to 
tell *the story of the fall of the Mughal Empire from 
the invasion of Nadir Shah in 1739 to the British 
conquest of Delhi and keepership of the puppet but 
dtiU legitimate Padishah in 1803, and his attempt has 
been entirely successful. The work is written in a 

and attractive style, and tbe interest of the stoiy 
is diroughout sustained. 



HISTORY OF AURANGZIB 
Sarkar^s History of Aurangxih is based mainly on 

original contemporary Persian Marathi and European 
sources, vix,., the Mughal State-papers^ daily bulletins 
of the Mughal Court, the records of impartial 
non-official writers (such as two Persian memoirs by 
contemporary Hindu writers), the letters of Aurangzib, 
his father, brothers, sons, grandsons, officers and vassal 
kings, and other makers of Indian history, revenue 
returns, &c. The fotirth volume gives a new and 
authentic histo7-y of the Maratha kings Shivaji db 
Shatnbhuji hitherto unknown. 

Of the letters of Aurangxib and his contemporaries, 
more than 5,000 are in the author^s possession. He has 
also used the Marathi bakhars and historical papers, the 
Assamese chronicles {Buranjis) and the French and 
Portuguese archives. 

H Beveridge.—Jaduhath Sarkar may be called Primus 
in Indis as the user of Persian authorities for the history 
of India. He might also be styled the Bengali Gibbon,* • 
It is pleasant to think that England and its Government 
have had some share in producing such a man of wide 
knowledge and untiring industry as Jadunath. ** All his 
volumes are good, and reflect the highest credit on their 
author . . . The account of Aurangzib in the 3rd and 4th 
volumes is exceptionally good. (Jlistory, 1922), 

Journal Asiatique.-—Ge xviie siecle mongol nous est 
connu par les temoignages de voyageurs europeens: mais 
les sources persanes et les documents de la chaocellerie 
imperiale n’ avaient pas ete utilises dans une etude d’ 
ensemble. C'est le grand merite de I’auteur d’ avoir 
patiemment recherche et mis a contribution toutes les 
informations persanes et indiennes-^et de nous donner 
une narration vivante et fidele. (1922). 

Vincent A. Smith.7-You are doing first cllm work *1 
repeat with all sincerity that I have the hi|i:he8t opinion of 
your learning, imparticui^ and critical abihty. 1 trust that 
you may be long sparea to oontinue your good woric of 
giving honest history. 



Awarded the Gold Medal of the Bombay Branch, 
Royal Asiatic Society. 

SHIVAJI AND HIS TIMES 
A new and fully detailed critical study of Shivaji^s 

life and character based on an exhaustive use of all the 
available original materials—Persian, Maratlii, Hindi, 
Dutch and English—most of which were unknown to 
Grant DufiF. 

It is the most comprehensive and correct narrative of 
the rise of the Marathas with minute details and exact 
dates. The complex interaction of Deccan politics has 
been clearly shown by references to the history of the 
Muslim Powers there in the 17th century. 

MUGHAL ADMINISTRATION 
Second edition, rewritten and 24 times the size of the 

first edition, 272 pages, Es. 3. 
In its present form the book supplies a complete 

treatise on the administrative system and constitution 
of the Mughal Empire, its theory and practice, its 
principles and aims, its effect on the people, and takes a 
philosophical survey of the achievements of the Mughal 
Empire, the causes of its downfall, and its influence 
upon the country. 

CHAITANyA 
Chaitanya, (1485-1538), the greatest saint of Bengal, 

caused a complete moral revolution in Eastern India 
by preaching the creed of bhakti or devotion to God as 
incarnate in Krishna. His faith conquered Bengal, 
Orissa and Assam, and also established its stronghold in 
several other places, notably Brindaban. 

C. F. Andrews.—Of surpassing value.. .gives the clearest 
picture of Aie Saint, and his teaching, and is foil of iutiiase 
huinau interest from hegiuiiing to end... The picture 
drawn of the Saint is one of extraordinary beauty; a truly 
human %ttre comes before us and attracts our own love> 
emn as it atfracted the love of bis first disciples. 
Ibdeie, Oot. 1913), 



Studies in Aurangzib's Reign 
18 Essays, 306 Pages, Rs. 2-8. 

Asiatic Quarterly Eeview.—A series of essays on 
Aurangzib and his times of the most entertaining 
description. 

Indian Antiquary.—All the essays are brightly written 
and several contain information not hitherto available in 
English. 

0. Ferrand.—Oomme les pr^edents, ces derniers volumes 
sont pleins d’ informations puisees a des sources orientales 
inedites : et c^est ce qui donne une valeur particuliere aux 
travaux de M. Sarkar. Ecrits dans un anglais clair et 
agreable, ces volumes fourniront aux historiens europeens 
la documentation qui leur manquait sur cette periode de la 
domination mongole dans Tlnde. (J. A,) 

India through the Ages 
•Re. 1-8 

Times.' An eoceeUent little compendium of the history 
of India*-under 5 main headings. Each of these is 
considered as a great culture-movement -His closing estimate 
is thoughifid and valmble. 

J. R. A. S.—Gives an interesting and clearly tvritten 
review of the successive factors which have contributed to ' 
the composite development of the India of the present day. 

Sir E. A. Gait—A wonderfully clear bird’s-eye view of 
a vast subject 

A Short History of Aurangzib 
511 Ep. 6 

J. R. A. *S.—The narra^ve is “clear and orderly, the 
characterization of individuals Js excellent, and * were is 
Uttle that could be spared, \ Tlie can to recomm^ded 
v^ith ocaifidence to any readers who ^ <^dy 
the author’s larger work, that well-known ctotsio, Th^ 
of Mrmgxib, in 5 tola, 

.I. ,■ -■ 1.— . ■■ ■ V ■ ..i.n-y./M.M- i-fnr. -n.'. 
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